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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

DALLAS DIVISION

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE     §
COMMISSION,     §

  §
Plaintiff,   §

  §  Civil Action No. 3:16-CV-1735-D
VS.   §

  §
CHRISTOPHER A. FAULKNER, et al.,   §

  §
Defendants.   §

ORDER

For the reasons set out in a memorandum opinion and order filed today, the court enters the

following order.

The court finds, based on the record in these proceedings, that the appointment of a

temporary receiver in this action is necessary and appropriate for the purposes of marshaling and

preserving all assets—in any form or of any kind whatsoever—owned, controlled, managed, or

possessed by defendants Christopher A. Faulkner, Breitling Oil & Gas Corporation (“BOG”), and

Breitling Energy Corporation (“BECC”) (collectively, the “Receivership Defendants”), directly or

indirectly (“Receivership Assets”).

The court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action and personal jurisdiction over the

Receivership Defendants.

NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED:

1. The court hereby takes exclusive jurisdiction and possession of the Receivership

Assets, of whatever kind and wherever situated.

2. Until further order of the court, Thomas L. Taylor is appointed to serve without bond

as temporary receiver (the “Receiver”) for the estates of the Receivership Defendants and the
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Receivership Assets.

I.  Asset Freeze

3. Except as otherwise specified herein, all Receivership Assets are frozen until further

order of this court.  Accordingly, all persons and entities with direct or indirect control over any

Receivership Assets, other than the Receiver, are hereby restrained and enjoined from directly or

indirectly transferring, setting off, receiving, changing, selling, pledging, assigning, liquidating, or

otherwise disposing of or withdrawing such assets.  All persons and entities with direct or indirect

control over any Receivership Assets are ordered to relinquish such control to the Receiver.  This

freeze includes, but is not limited to, Receivership Assets that are (a) in the possession or control

of oil and gas operators; or (b) on deposit with financial institutions such as banks, brokerage firms,

and mutual funds.

II.  General Powers and Duties of Receiver

4. The Receiver shall have all powers, authorities, rights, and privileges heretofore

possessed by the officers, directors, managers, and general and limited partners of the entity

Receivership Defendants under applicable state and federal law, by the governing charters, by-laws,

articles and/or agreements, in addition to all powers and authority of a receiver at equity, and all

powers conferred upon a receiver by the provisions of 28 U.S.C. §§ 754, 959, and 1692, and Fed.

R. Civ. P. 66.

5. The trustees, directors, officers, managers, employees, investment advisors,

accountants, attorneys, and other agents of the entity Receivership Defendants are hereby dismissed,

and the powers of any general partners, directors, and/or managers are hereby suspended.  Such

persons and entities shall have no authority with respect to the entity Receivership Defendants’

operations or assets, except to the extent as may hereafter be expressly granted by the Receiver.  The
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Receiver shall assume and control the operation of the entity Receivership Defendants and shall

pursue and preserve all of their claims.

6. No person holding or claiming any position of any sort with the entity Receivership

Defendants shall possess any authority to act by, or on behalf of, the entity Receivership Defendants.

7. Subject to the specific provisions in Sections III through XIV, below, the Receiver

shall have the following general powers and duties:

A. To use reasonable efforts to determine the nature, location, and value of all
Receivership Assets, including, but not limited to, monies, funds, securities,
credits, effects, goods, chattels, lands, premises, leases, claims, rights, and
other assets, together with all rents, profits, dividends, interest, or other
income attributable thereto, of whatever kind, that the Receivership
Defendants own, possess, have a beneficial interest in, or control directly or
indirectly (collectively, the “Receivership Estate”);

B. To take custody, control, and possession of all Receivership Assets and
records relevant thereto from the Receivership Defendants; to sue for and
collect, recover, receive, and take into possession from third parties all
Receivership Assets and records relevant thereto;

C. To manage, control, operate, and maintain the Receivership Estate and hold
in his possession, custody, and control all Receivership Assets, pending
further order of the court;

D. To use Receivership Assets for the benefit of the Receivership Estate,
making payments and disbursements and incurring expenses as may be
necessary or advisable in the ordinary course of business in discharging his
duties as Receiver;

E. To take any action that, prior to the entry of this order, could have been taken
by the officers, directors, partners, managers, trustees, and agents of the
entity Receivership Defendants;

F. To engage and employ persons in his discretion to assist him in carrying out
his duties and responsibilities hereunder, including, but not limited to,
accountants, attorneys, securities traders, registered representatives, financial
or business advisers, liquidating agents, real estate agents, forensic experts,
brokers, traders, or auctioneers;

G. To take such action as necessary and appropriate for the preservation of
Receivership Assets or to prevent the dissipation or concealment of
Receivership Assets;
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H. To issue subpoenas for documents and testimony consistent with the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure; 

I. To bring such legal actions based on law or equity in any state, federal, or
foreign court as the Receiver deems necessary or appropriate in discharging
his duties as Receiver;

J. To pursue, resist, and defend all suits, actions, claims, and demands that may
now be pending or that may be brought by or asserted against the
Receivership Estate; and,

K. To take such other action as may be approved by the court.

III.  Access to Information

8. Faulkner and the past and/or present officers, directors, agents, managers, general and

limited partners, trustees, attorneys, accountants, and employees of the entity Receivership

Defendants, as well as those acting in their place, are hereby ordered and directed to preserve and

turn over to the Receiver forthwith all paper and electronic information of, and/or relating to, the

Receivership Defendants and/or all Receivership Assets; such information shall include, but not be

limited to, books, records, documents, accounts, and all other instruments and papers.

9. Within fourteen (14) days of the entry of this order, the Receivership Defendants

shall file with the court, and serve upon the Receiver and the U.S. Securities and Exchange

Commission (“SEC” or “Plaintiff”) a sworn statement, listing: (a) the identity, location, and

estimated value of all Receivership Assets; (b) all employees (and job titles thereof), other

personnel, attorneys, accountants, and any other agents or contractors of the Receivership

Defendants; and (c) the names, addresses, and amounts of claims of all known creditors of the

Receivership Defendants.  

10. Within thirty (30) days of the entry of this order, the Receivership Defendants shall

file with the court and serve upon the Receiver and the SEC a sworn statement and accounting, with
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complete documentation, covering the period from January 1, 2011 to the present:

A. of all Receivership Assets, wherever located, held by, or in the name of, the
Receivership Defendants, or in which any of them, directly or indirectly, has
or had any beneficial interest, or over which any of them maintained or
maintains and/or exercised or exercises control, including, but not limited to:
(a) all securities, investments, funds, real estate, automobiles, jewelry and
other assets, stating the location of each; and (b) any and all accounts,
including all funds held in such accounts, with any oil and gas operator or
with any bank, brokerage, or other financial institution held by, in the name
of, or for the benefit of any of them, directly or indirectly, or over which any
of them maintained or maintains and/or exercised or exercises any direct or
indirect control, or in which any of them had or has a direct or indirect
beneficial interest, including the account statements from each bank,
brokerage or other financial institution;

B. identifying every account at every bank, brokerage, or other financial
institution: (a) over which Receivership Defendants has signatory authority;
and (b) opened by, in the name of, or for the benefit of, or used by, the
Receivership Defendants;

C. identifying all credit, bank, charge, debit, or other deferred payment card
issued to, or used by, each Receivership Defendants, including but not
limited to the issuing institution, the card or account number(s), all persons
or entities to which a card was issued and/or with authority to use a card, the
balance of each account and/or card as of the most recent billing statement,
and all statements for the last twelve (12) months;

D. of all assets received by any of them from any person or entity, including the
value, location, and disposition of any assets so received;

E. of all funds received by the Receivership Defendants, and each of them, in
any way related, directly or indirectly, to the conduct alleged in the SEC’s
first amended complaint (Doc. 22) or in the SEC’s brief in support of
plaintiff’s ex parte emergency motion for temporary restraining order, asset
freeze, appointment of receiver, and other ancillary relief (“Brief”) (Doc.
103).  The submission must clearly identify, among other things, all
investors, the securities they purchased, the date and amount of their
investments, and the current location of such funds;

G. of all expenditures exceeding $1,000 made by any of them, including those
made on their behalf by any person or entity; and

H. of all transfers of assets made by any of them.
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11.       Unless the court, on motion of a Receivership Defendant, orders otherwise, within

thirty (30) days of the entry of this order, the Receivership Defendants shall provide to the Receiver

and the SEC copies of the Receivership Defendants’ federal income tax returns for 2010 through

2016, with all relevant and necessary underlying documentation.

12.    Subject to any applicable rights under the Fifth Amendment to the United States

Constitution, Faulkner and the entity Receivership Defendants’ past and/or present officers,

directors, agents, attorneys, managers, shareholders, employees, accountants, debtors, creditors,

managers and general and limited partners, and other appropriate persons or entities shall answer

under oath to the Receiver all questions that the Receiver may put to them and produce all

documents as required by the Receiver regarding the business of the Receivership Defendants, or

any other matter relevant to the operation or administration of the receivership or the collection of

funds due to the Receivership Defendants.  If the Receiver deems it necessary to require the

appearance of the aforementioned persons or entities, the Receiver shall make his discovery requests

in accordance with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

13. The Receivership Defendants are required to assist the Receiver in fulfilling his

duties and obligations.  As such, subject to any applicable rights under the Fifth Amendment to the

United States Constitution, they must respond promptly and truthfully to all requests for information

and documents from the Receiver.

IV.  Access to Books, Records and Accounts

14. The Receiver is authorized to take immediate possession of all assets, bank accounts

or other financial accounts, books, and records and all other documents or instruments relating to

the Receivership Defendants.  All persons and entities having control, custody, or possession of any

Receivership Assets are hereby directed to turn over such property to the Receiver.

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 142   Filed 09/25/17    Page 6 of 19   PageID 6269

6

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 303   Filed 08/20/18    Page 9 of 289   PageID 8968



15. The Receivership Defendants, as well as their agents, servants, employees, attorneys,

any persons acting for or on behalf of the Receivership Defendants, and any persons receiving notice

of this order by personal service, facsimile transmission, or otherwise, having possession of the

property, business, books, records, accounts, or assets of the Receivership Defendants are hereby

directed to deliver the same to the Receiver, his agents, and/or employees.

16. All oil and gas operators and all banks, brokerage firms, financial institutions, and

other persons or entities that have possession, custody, or control of any assets or funds held by, in

the name of, or for the benefit of, directly or indirectly, and of the Receivership Defendants that

receive actual notice of this order by personal service, facsimile transmission, or otherwise shall:

A. not liquidate, transfer, sell, convey, or otherwise transfer any assets,
securities, funds, or accounts in the name of, or for the benefit of, the
Receivership Defendants, except upon instructions from the Receiver;

B. not exercise any form of set-off, alleged set-off, lien, or any form of self-help
whatsoever, or refuse to transfer any funds or assets to the Receiver’s control,
without the permission of the court;

C. within seven (7) days of receipt of that notice, file with the court and serve
on the Receiver and counsel for the SEC a certified statement setting forth,
with respect to each such account or other asset, the balance in the account
or description of the assets as of the close of business on the date of receipt
of the notice; and,

D. cooperate expeditiously in providing information and transferring funds,
assets, and accounts to the Receiver, or at the direction of the Receiver.

17.    Paragraph 16 notwithstanding, the Receiver shall permit XL Speciality Insurance

Company to process the Receivership Defendants’ claims under Directors and Officers Insurance

Policy Number ELU137222-14, until a further order of the court. 

V.  Access to Real and Personal Property

18. The Receiver is authorized to take immediate possession of all personal property of
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the Receivership Defendants, wherever located, including but not limited to, electronically stored

information, computers, laptops, hard drives, external storage drives, and any other such memory,

media or electronic storage devices, books, papers, data processing records, evidence of

indebtedness, bank records and accounts, savings records and accounts, brokerage records and

accounts, certificates of deposit, stocks, bonds, debentures, and other securities and investments,

contracts, mortgages, furniture, office supplies and equipment.

19. The Receiver is authorized to take immediate possession of all real property of the

Receivership Defendants, wherever located, including, but not limited to, all ownership and

leasehold interests and fixtures.  Upon receiving actual notice of this order by personal service,

facsimile transmission, or otherwise, all persons other than law enforcement officials acting within

the course and scope of their official duties, are (without the express written permission of the

Receiver) prohibited from: (a) entering such premises; (b) removing anything from such premises;

or (c) destroying, concealing, or erasing anything on such premises.

20. In order to execute the express and implied terms of this order, the Receiver is

authorized to change door locks to the premises described above.  The Receiver shall have exclusive

control of the keys.  The Receivership Defendants, or any other person acting or purporting to act

on their behalf, are ordered not to change the locks in any manner, nor to have duplicate keys made,

nor shall they have such keys in their possession during the term of the receivership.

21. The Receiver is authorized to open all mail directed to, or received by, or at the

offices or post office boxes of the Receivership Defendants, and to inspect all mail opened prior to

the entry of this order, to determine whether items or information therein fall within the mandates

of this order.

22. Upon the request of the Receiver, the United States Marshals Service, in any judicial
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district, is hereby ordered to assist the Receiver in carrying out his duties to take possession,

custody, and control of, or to identify the location of, any assets, records, or other materials

belonging to the Receivership Estate.

VI.  Notice to Third Parties

23. The Receiver shall promptly give notice of his appointment to all known officers,

directors, agents, employees, shareholders, creditors, debtors, managers, and general and limited

partners of the Receivership Defendants, as the Receiver deems necessary or advisable to effectuate

the operation of the receivership.

24. All persons and entities owing any obligation, debt, or distribution with respect to

an ownership interest to any Receivership Defendant shall, until further ordered by the court, pay

all such obligations in accordance with the terms thereof to the Receiver, and his receipt for such

payments shall have the same force and effect as if the Receivership Defendants had received such

payment.

25. In furtherance of his responsibilities in this matter, the Receiver is authorized to

communicate with, and serve this order on, any person, entity, or government office that he deems

appropriate to inform them of the status of this matter and/or the financial condition of the

Receivership Estate.   All government offices that maintain public files of security interests in real

and personal property shall, consistent with such office’s applicable procedures, record this order

upon the request of the Receiver or the SEC.

26. The Receiver is authorized to instruct the United States Postmaster to hold and/or

reroute mail that is related, directly or indirectly, to the business, operations, or activities of any of

the Receivership Defendants (the “Receiver’s Mail”), including all mail addressed to, or for the

benefit of, the Receivership Defendants.  The Postmaster shall not comply with, and shall
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immediately report to the Receiver, any change of address or other instruction given by anyone other

than the Receiver concerning the Receiver’s Mail.  The Receivership Defendants shall not open any

of the Receiver’s Mail and shall immediately turn over such mail, regardless of when received, to

the Receiver.  All personal mail of Faulkner, and/or any mail appearing to contain privileged

information related to Faulkner, and/or any mail not falling within the mandate of the Receiver, shall

be released to the named addressee by the Receiver.  The foregoing instructions shall apply to any

proprietor, whether individual or entity, of any private mail box, depository, business, or service,

or mail courier or delivery service, hired, rented, or used by the Receivership Defendants.  The

Receivership Defendants shall not open a new mailbox, or take any steps or make any arrangements

to receive mail in contravention of this order, whether through the U.S. mail, a private mail

depository, or courier service.

27. Subject to payment for services provided, any entity furnishing water, electric,

telephone, sewage, garbage or trash removal services to the Receivership Defendants shall maintain

such service and transfer any such accounts to the Receiver, unless instructed to the contrary by the

Receiver.

28. Subject to paragraph 17 of this order, the Receiver is authorized to assert, prosecute,

and/or negotiate any claim under any insurance policy held by or issued on behalf of the

Receivership Defendants, or their officers, directors, agents, employees or trustees, and to take any

and all appropriate steps in connection with such policies.
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VII.  Injunction Against Interference with Receiver

29. The Receivership Defendants and all persons receiving notice of this order by

personal service, facsimile, or otherwise, are hereby restrained and enjoined from directly or

indirectly taking any action or causing any action to be taken, without the express written agreement

of the Receiver, that would:

A. interfere with the Receiver’s efforts to take control, possession, or
management of any Receivership Assets; such prohibited actions include, but
are not limited to, using self-help or executing or issuing or causing the
execution or issuance of any court attachment, subpoena, replevin, execution,
or other process for the purpose of impounding or taking possession of, or
interfering with or creating or enforcing a lien upon, any Receivership
Assets;

B. hinder, obstruct or otherwise interfere with the Receiver in the performance
of his duties; such prohibited actions include, but are not limited to,
concealing, destroying, or altering records or information;

C. dissipate or otherwise diminish the value of any Receivership Assets; such
prohibited actions include, but are not limited to, releasing claims or
disposing, transferring, exchanging, assigning, or in any way conveying any
Receivership Assets, enforcing judgments, assessments, or claims against any
Receivership Assets or any Receivership Defendant, attempting to modify,
cancel, terminate, call, extinguish, revoke or accelerate (the due date), of any
lease, loan, mortgage, indebtedness, security agreement or other agreement
executed by any Receivership Defendant or that otherwise affects any
Receivership Assets; or,

D. interfere with or harass the Receiver, or interfere in any manner with the
exclusive jurisdiction of this court over the Receivership Estate.

30. The Receivership Defendants shall cooperate with and assist the Receiver in the

performance of his duties. 

31. The Receiver shall promptly notify the court and SEC counsel of any failure or

apparent failure of any person or entity to comply in any way with the terms of this order.

VIII.  Stay of Litigation

32. As set forth in detail below, the following proceedings, excluding the instant
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proceeding and all police or regulatory actions and actions of the SEC related to the above-captioned

enforcement action, are stayed until further order of the court:

All civil legal proceedings of any nature, including, but not limited to, bankruptcy
proceedings, arbitration proceedings, foreclosure actions, default proceedings, or other
actions of any nature involving: (a) the Receiver, in his capacity as Receiver; (b) any
Receivership Assets, wherever located; (c) the Receivership Defendants, including
subsidiaries and partnerships; or, (d) any of the Receivership Defendants’ past or present
officers, directors, managers, agents, or general or limited partners sued for, or in connection
with, any action taken by them while acting in such capacity of any nature, whether as
plaintiff, defendant, third-party plaintiff, third-party defendant, or otherwise (such
proceedings are hereinafter referred to as “Ancillary Proceedings”).

33. The parties to any and all Ancillary Proceedings are enjoined from commencing or

continuing any such legal proceeding, or from taking any action, in connection with any such

proceeding, including, but not limited to, the issuance or employment of process.

34. All Ancillary Proceedings are stayed in their entirety, and all courts having any

jurisdiction thereof are enjoined from taking or permitting any action until further order of this court. 

Further, as to a cause of action accrued or accruing in favor of one or more of the Receivership

Defendants against a third person or party, any applicable statute of limitation is tolled during the

period in which this injunction against commencement of legal proceedings is in effect as to that

cause of action.

IX.  Managing Assets

35. For the Receivership Estate, the Receiver shall establish one or more custodial

accounts at a federally insured bank to receive and hold all cash equivalent Receivership Assets (the

“Receivership Fund”).

36. The Receiver’s deposit account shall be entitled “Receiver’s Account, Estate of

Christopher A. Faulkner, Breitling Energy Corporation, and Breitling Oil & Gas Corporation,”

together with the name of the action.
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37. The Receiver may, without further order of this court, transfer, compromise, or

otherwise dispose of any Receivership Assets, other than real estate, in the ordinary course of

business, on terms and in the manner the Receiver deems most beneficial to the Receivership Estate,

and with due regard to the realization of the true and proper value of such Receivership Assets.

38. Subject to paragraph 39, immediately below, the Receiver is authorized to locate, list

for sale or lease, engage a broker for sale or lease, cause the sale or lease, and take all necessary and

reasonable actions to cause the sale or lease of all real property in the Receivership Estate, either at

public or private sale, on terms and in the manner the Receiver deems most beneficial to the

Receivership Estate, and with due regard to the realization of the true and proper value of such real

property.

39. Upon further order of this court, pursuant to such procedures as may be required by

this court and additional authority such as 28 U.S.C. §§ 2001 and 2004, the Receiver is authorized

to sell, and transfer clear title to, all real property in the Receivership Estates.

40. The Receiver is authorized to take all actions to manage, maintain, and/or wind-down

business operations of the Receivership Estate, including making legally required payments to

creditors, employees, and agents of the Receivership Estate and communicating with vendors,

investors, governmental and regulatory authorities, and others, as appropriate.

41. The Receiver shall take all necessary steps to enable the Receivership Fund to obtain

and maintain the status of a taxable “Settlement Fund,” within the meaning of section 468B of the

Internal Revenue Code and of the regulations, when applicable, whether proposed, temporary, or

final, or pronouncements thereunder, including the filing of the elections and statements

contemplated by those provisions.  The Receiver shall be designated the administrator of the

Settlement Fund, pursuant to Treas. Reg. § 1.468B-2(k)(3)(i), and shall satisfy the administrative
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requirements imposed by Treas. Reg. § 1.468B-2, including but not limited to (a) obtaining a

taxpayer identification number, (b) timely filing applicable federal, state, and local tax returns and

paying taxes reported thereon, and (c) satisfying any information, reporting, or withholding

requirements imposed on distributions from the Settlement Fund.  The Receiver shall cause the

Settlement Fund to pay taxes in a manner consistent with treatment of the Settlement Fund as a

“Qualified Settlement Fund.”  The Receivership Defendants shall cooperate with the Receiver in

fulfilling the Settlement Funds’ obligations under Treas. Reg. § 1.468B-2].

X.  Investigate and Prosecute Claims

42. Subject to the requirement, in Section VIII above, that leave of this court is required

to resume or commence certain litigation, the Receiver is authorized, empowered, and directed to

investigate, prosecute, defend, intervene in, or otherwise participate in, compromise, and/or adjust

actions in any state, federal, or foreign court or proceeding of any kind as may in his discretion, and

in consultation with SEC counsel, be advisable or proper to recover and/or conserve Receivership

Assets.

43. Subject to his obligation to expend receivership funds in a reasonable and cost-

effective manner, the Receiver is authorized, empowered, and directed to investigate the manner in

which the financial and business affairs of the Receivership Defendants were conducted and (after

obtaining leave of the court) to institute such actions and legal proceedings, for the benefit and on

behalf of the Receivership Estate, as the Receiver deems necessary and appropriate; the Receiver

may seek, among other legal and equitable relief, the imposition of constructive trusts, disgorgement

of profits, asset turnover, avoidance of fraudulent transfers, rescission and restitution, collection of

debts, and such other relief from the court as may be necessary to enforce this order.  Where

appropriate, the Receiver should provide prior notice to SEC counsel before commencing
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investigations and/or actions.

44. The Receiver hereby holds, and is therefore empowered to waive, all privileges,

including the attorney-client privilege, held by the entity Receivership Defendants.  This paragraph

does not apply to any applicable rights under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

45. The Receiver has a continuing duty to ensure that there are no conflicts of interest

between the Receiver, his Retained Personnel (as that term is defined below), and the Receivership

Estate.

XI.  Bankruptcy Filing

46. The Receiver may seek authorization of the court to file voluntary petitions for relief

under Title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) for the entity Receivership

Defendants.  If an entity Receivership Defendant is placed in bankruptcy proceedings, the Receiver

may become, and may be empowered to operate each of the Receivership Estate as, a debtor in

possession.  In such a situation, the Receiver shall have all of the powers and duties as provided a

debtor in possession under the Bankruptcy Code to the exclusion of any other person or entity. 

Pursuant to paragraph 4 above, the Receiver is vested with management authority for the entity

Receivership Defendants and may therefore file and manage a Chapter 11 petition.

47. The provisions of Section VIII above bar any person or entity, other than the

Receiver, from placing the entity Receivership Defendants in bankruptcy proceedings.

XII.  Liability of Receiver

48. Until further order of the court, the Receiver shall not be required to post bond or give

an undertaking of any type in connection with his fiduciary obligations in this matter.

49. The Receiver and his agents, acting within scope of such agency (“Retained

Personnel”) are entitled to rely on all outstanding rules of law and orders of this court and shall not
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be liable to anyone for their own good faith compliance with any order, rule, law, judgment, or

decree.  In no event shall the Receiver or Retained Personnel be liable to anyone for their good faith

compliance with their duties and responsibilities as Receiver or Retained Personnel.

50. This court shall retain jurisdiction over any action filed against the Receiver or

Retained Personnel based upon acts or omissions committed in their representative capacities.

51. In the event the Receiver decides to resign, the Receiver shall first give written notice

to the SEC’s counsel of record and the court of his intention, and the resignation shall not be

effective until the court appoints a successor.  The Receiver shall then follow such instructions as

the court may provide.

XIII.  Recommendations and Reports

52. The Receiver is authorized, empowered, and directed to develop a plan for the fair,

reasonable, and efficient recovery and liquidation of all remaining, recovered, and recoverable

Receivership Assets (the “Liquidation Plan”).

53. Within thirty (30) days of the entry date of this order, the Receiver shall file a status

report with the court.  The status report shall include a summary of receivership activities to date. 

It shall also include a proposed plan for administering the receivership going forward, as well as a

proposed deadline by which the Receiver will submit the Liquidation Plan.  The Receiver’s

fees—including all fees and costs for the Receiver and others retained to assist in the administration

and liquidation of the Receivership estate—are capped at $75,000 during the initial 30-day period. 

Further fee limitations, if any, will be set by the court after the Receiver submits the status report.

54. Within the first day of each calendar quarter, beginning January 2, 2018, the Receiver

shall file and serve a full report and accounting of each Receivership Estate (the “Quarterly Status

Report”), reflecting (to the best of the Receiver’s knowledge as of the period covered by the report)
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the existence, value, and location of all Receivership Assets, and of the extent of liabilities, both

those claimed to exist by others and those the Receiver believes to be legal obligations of the

Receivership Estate.

55. The Quarterly Status Report shall contain the following:

A. a summary of the operations of the Receiver;

B. the amount of cash on hand, the amount and nature of accrued administrative
expenses, and the amount of unencumbered funds in the estate;

C. a schedule of all the Receiver’s receipts and disbursements (attached as
Exhibit A to the Quarterly Status Report), with one column for the quarterly
period covered and a second column for the entire duration of the
receivership;

D. a description of all known Receivership Assets, including approximate or
actual valuations, anticipated or proposed dispositions, and reasons for
retaining assets where no disposition is intended;

E. a description of liquidated and unliquidated claims held by the Receivership
Estate, including the need for forensic and/or investigatory resources;
approximate valuations of claims; and anticipated or proposed methods of
enforcing such claims (including likelihood of success in: (i) reducing the
claims to judgment; and, (ii) collecting such judgments);

F. a list of all known creditors with their addresses and the amounts of their
claims;

G. the status of Creditor Claims Proceedings, after such proceedings have been
commenced; and,

H. the Receiver’s recommendations for a continuation or discontinuation of the
receivership and the reasons for the recommendations.

56. On the request of the SEC, the Receiver shall provide the SEC with any

documentation that the SEC deems necessary to meet its reporting requirements, that is mandated

by statute or Congress, or that is otherwise necessary to further the SEC’s mission.
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XIV.  Fees, Expenses and Accountings

57. Subject to paragraphs 58 through 64 immediately below, the Receiver need not obtain

court approval prior to the disbursement of cash in the Receivership Fund for expenses in the

ordinary course of the administration and operation of the receivership.  Further, prior court approval

is not required for payments of applicable federal, state, or local taxes.

58. Subject to paragraph 59 immediately below, the Receiver is authorized to solicit

persons and entities to be Retained Personnel to assist him in carrying out the duties and

responsibilities described in this Order.  The Receiver may engage Retained Personnel without

obtaining an order of the court authorizing such engagement.

59. Subject to the limitations in paragraph 53 above, the Receiver and Retained Personnel

are entitled to reasonable compensation and expense reimbursement from the Receivership Estate

as described in the “Billing Instructions for Receivers in Civil Actions Commenced by the U.S.

Securities and Exchange Commission” (the “Billing Instructions”) agreed to by the Receiver.  Such

compensation shall require the prior approval of the court.

60. Within forty-five (45) days after the end of each calendar quarter, the Receiver and

Retained Personnel shall apply to the court for compensation and expense reimbursement from the

Receivership Estate (the “Quarterly Fee Applications”).  At least thirty (30) days prior to filing each

Quarterly Fee Application with the court, the Receiver shall serve upon SEC counsel a complete copy of

the proposed Application, together with all exhibits and relevant billing information in a format to be

provided by SEC staff.

61. All Quarterly Fee Applications will be interim and will be subject to cost benefit and

final reviews at the close of the receivership.  At the close of the receivership, the Receiver shall file

a final fee application, describing in detail the costs and benefits associated with all litigation and
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other actions pursued by the Receiver during the course of the receivership.

62. Quarterly Fee Applications may be subject to a holdback in the amount of 20% of

the amount of fees and expenses for each application filed with the court.  The total amounts held

back during the course of the receivership will be paid out at the discretion of the court as part of

the final fee application submitted at the close of the receivership.

63. Each Quarterly Fee Application shall:

A. comply with the terms of the Billing Instructions agreed to by the Receiver;
and,

B. contain representations (in addition to the Certification required by the
Billing Instructions) that: (i) the fees and expenses included therein were
incurred in the best interests of the Receivership Estate; and (ii) with the
exception of the Billing Instructions, the Receiver has not entered into any
agreement, written or oral, express or implied, with any person or entity
concerning the amount of compensation paid or to be paid from the
Receivership Estate, or any sharing thereof.

64. At the close of the Receivership, the Receiver shall submit a Final Accounting, in a

format to be provided by SEC staff, as well as the Receiver’s final application for compensation and

expense reimbursement.

SO ORDERED.

September 25, 2017.

_________________________________
SIDNEY A. FITZWATER
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 142   Filed 09/25/17    Page 19 of 19   PageID 6282

19

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 303   Filed 08/20/18    Page 22 of 289   PageID 8981



EXHIBIT B

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 303   Filed 08/20/18    Page 23 of 289   PageID 8982



10-Q 1 bering10q093013.htm

U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2013

OR

o TRANSITION REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OF 15(d) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

From the transition period from ____________ to ___________.

Commission File Number 000-50541

Bering Exploration, Inc.
(Exact name of small business issuer as specified in its charter)

N/A
(Former Name if Applicable)

Nevada 88-0507007
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

(IRS Employer Identification Number)

710 North Post Oak, Suite 410, Houston, Texas 77024

(Address of principal executive offices)
(713) 780-0806

 (Issuer's telephone number)

Check whether the issuer has (1) filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act during the past 12
months (or  for  such shorter  period that  the registrant  was required to  file  such reports)  and (2)  has  been subject  to  such filing
requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes x         No ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, and accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller
reporting company.  See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2
of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer  ¨ Accelerated filer   ¨
Non-accelerated filer  ¨ Smaller reporting company  x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.  Yes  ¨   No  x

As of November 19, 2013 there were outstanding 38,680,775 shares of common stock, $0.001 par value per share.
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BERING EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
INDEX TO FORM 10-Q

September 30, 2013

Part I Financial Information  

Item 1. Financial Statements
Consolidated Balance Sheets – September 30, 2013 (unaudited) and March 31, 2013 3
Consolidated Statements of Operations (unaudited) for the Three and Six Months Ended September 30,
2013 and 2012 4 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited) for the Six Months Ended September 30, 2013 and
2012 5 
Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements 6  

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 11

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 13

Item 4. Controls and Procedures 13

Part II Other Information

Item 1. Legal Proceedings 13

Item 1A. Risk Factors 13

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 13

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities 13

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure 13

Item 5. Other Information 14

Item 6. Exhibits 14
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PART I.     FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1.     FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BERING EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September
30, 2013

March 31,
2013

(unaudited)
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 14,747 $ 1,113
Restricted cash 25,000 25,000
Accounts receivable, net 22,803 16,416
Prepaid expenses 30,000 3,850

Total current assets 92,550 46,379
Oil and gas properties, net of accumulated depletion of $262,706
    and $229,706, at September 30, 2013 and March 31, 2013, respectively,
    full cost method

Proved 367,444 400,444
Unproved 145,316 348,813

Total assets $ 605,310 $ 795,636

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 145,538 $ 134,007
Accounts payable – related parties 26,000 52,808
Accrued liabilities 25,585 340,229
Note payable 5,820 5,820

Convertible note payable – related parties, net of discount of
    $32,714 and $108,370 at September 30, 2013 and March 31, 2013,
    respectively 314,786 121,130
Derivative liability 329,959 1,017,865

Total current liabilities 847,688 1,671,859
Asset retirement obligation 8,507 8,507

Total liabilities 856,195 1,680,366

Commitments
Shareholders’ deficit
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 25,000,000 shares authorized; 0
    shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2013 and March 31, 2013 - -
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized;
    38,680,775 and 19,455,923 shares issued and outstanding as of September
    30, 2013 and March 31, 2013, respectively 38,680 19,455
Additional paid-in capital 13,531,650 11,859,619
Accumulated deficit (13,821,215) (12,763,804)
Total shareholders’ deficit (250,885) (884,730)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ deficit $ 605,310 $ 795,636

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

3
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BERING EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

 (Unaudited)

For the Three months Ended
September 30,

For the Six months Ended
September 30,

2013 2012 2013 2012
Oil and gas revenue $ 19,084 $ 25,263 $ 44,886 $ 49,340
Total revenues 19,084 25,263 44,886 49,340
Operating costs and expenses:

Lease operating expenses 9,875 114,829 55,478 150,363
Compensation and related expenses 829,685 1,274,494 1,208,251 1,443,712
Office administration 16,073 6,341 35,811 38,942
Professional fees 40,633 91,608 63,952 218,672
Investor relations 195 - 1,272 -
Depletion, depreciation and amortization 16,500 16,715 33,000 33,210
Impairment expense 203,497 – 203,497 –
Other expenses 3,499 44,971 10,927 44,971

Total operating costs and expenses 1,119,957 1,548,958 1,612,188 1,929,870
Loss from operations (1,100,873) (1,523,695) (1,567,302) (1,880,530)

Other income (expense)
Interest expense (124,097) (70,339) (203,013) (502,811)
Change in derivative liability 461,454 (215,726) 712,904 (215,726)

Total other income (expense) 337,357 (286,065) 509,891 (718,537)
Net loss $ (763,516) $ (1,809,760) $ (1,057,411) $ (2,599,067)

Net Loss Per Share – Basic and Diluted $ (0.03) $ (0.16) $ (0.05) $ (0.28)

Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding – Basic and Diluted 25,226,531 11,063,099 21,810,371 9,255,926

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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BERING EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 (Unaudited)

For the Six Months Ended
September 30,

2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss $ (1,057,411) $ (2,599,067)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depletion, depreciation and amortization 33,000 33,210
Amortization of debt discount and noncash interest expense 193,656 484,580
Share-based compensation 1,208,251 1,323,992
Impairment of oil and gas properties 203,497 -
Change in derivative liability (712,904) 215,726

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (6,387) (30,598)
Prepaid expenses 3,850 (11,550)
Accounts payable 132,531 51,531
Accounts payable – related parties (26,808) -
Accrued liabilities (75,641) 112,068

Net cash used in operating activities (104,366) (420,108)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of oil and gas properties - (389,668)

Net cash used in investing activities - (389,668)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of common stock - 500,603
Proceeds from notes payable – third parties - 9,182
Proceeds from convertible note payable – related party 118,000 308,220
Repayment of convertible note payable – related party - (32,500)

Net cash provided by financing activities 118,000 785,505

Net change in cash 13,634 (24,271) 
Cash - beginning of period 1,113 52,088
Cash - end of period $ 14,747 $ 27,817

Supplemental Disclosures
Interest paid $ – $ –

Interest taxes paid $ – $ –

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Conversion of notes payable and accrued interest to common stock $ – $ 384,883

Conversion of notes payable and accrued interest to common stock - related party $ – $ 49,869

Stock issued to settle accounts payable, bonuses and services $ 471,000 $ –

Common stock issued for prepaid asset $ 30,000 $ -

Debt discount on convertible notes $ – $ 597,500

Debt discount on convertible notes – related party $ 93,000 $ 70,570

Conversion of accounts payable and accrued expenses to convertible note payable $ – $ 33,500

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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BERING EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Note 1.  Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of Bering Exploration, Inc. (the "Company" or "Bering") have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for interim financial information
and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 8-03 of Regulation S-X related to smaller reporting companies. These consolidated
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and notes, which are included as part of the
Company's Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on July 16, 2012.  In the opinion of management,
all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, considered necessary for a fair presentation, have been included in the
accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements.  Operating results for the periods presented are not necessarily indicative of
the results that may be expected for the full year.  Notes to the consolidated financial statements which substantially duplicate the
disclosures contained in the audited consolidated financial statements for fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 as reported in the 10-K
have been omitted.

Significant accounting policies

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Bering Exploration, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Secure Voice
Communications,  Inc.  (Texas)  and  Bering  Operations,  Inc.  All  significant  inter-company  accounts  and  transactions  have  been
eliminated.

Use of Estimates

In  preparing  financial  statements  in  conformity  with  accounting  principles  generally  accepted  in  the  United  States  of  America,
management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements
and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Oil and Natural Gas Properties

We account for our oil and natural gas producing activities using the full cost method of accounting as prescribed by the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Under this method, subject to a limitation based on estimated value, all costs incurred in
the acquisition, exploration, and development of proved oil and natural gas properties, including internal costs directly associated with
acquisition, exploration, and development activities, the costs of abandoned properties, dry holes, geophysical costs, and annual lease
rentals are capitalized within a cost center on a country by country basis.  Costs of production and general and administrative corporate
costs unrelated to acquisition, exploration, and development activities are expensed as incurred.

Costs associated with unevaluated properties are capitalized as oil and natural gas properties but are excluded from the amortization
base during the evaluation period. When we determine whether the property has proved recoverable reserves or not, or if there is an
impairment, the costs are transferred into the amortization base and thereby become subject to amortization.  We evaluate unevaluated
properties for impairment at least annually.

Capitalized costs included in the amortization base are depleted using either the units of production method based on proved reserves
where the Company operates the well or the percentage depletion method when the Company does not operate the well.  Depletion is
calculated using the capitalized costs included in the amortization base, including estimated asset retirement costs, plus the estimated
future expenditures to be incurred in developing proved reserves, net of estimated salvage values.

The net book value of all capitalized oil and natural gas properties within a cost center, less related deferred income taxes, is subject to
a full cost ceiling limitation which is calculated quarterly.  Under the ceiling limitation, costs may not exceed an aggregate of the
present value of future net revenues attributable to proved oil and natural gas reserves discounted at 10 percent using current prices,
plus the lower of cost or market value of unproved properties included in the amortization base, plus the cost of unevaluated properties,
less any associated tax effects.  Any excess of the net book value, less related deferred tax benefits, over the ceiling is written off as
expense. Impairment expense recorded in one period may not be reversed in a subsequent period even though higher oil and gas prices
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may have increased the ceiling applicable to the subsequent period.
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BERING EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Sales or other dispositions of oil and natural gas properties are accounted for as adjustments to capitalized costs, with no gain or loss
recorded unless the ratio of cost to proved reserves would significantly change. During the period ended September 30, 2013, the
Company recognized an impairment of $203,497. 

Note 2.  Going Concern

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which implies the Company will continue to
realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.  The Company has not generated significant revenue
since its inception and is unlikely to generate earnings in the immediate or foreseeable future.  The continuation of the Company as a
going concern is dependent upon the continued financial support from its shareholders and the ability of the Company to obtain
necessary equity financing to continue operations and the attainment of profitable operations.  As of September 30, 2013, the Company
has  accumulated  losses  of  approximately  $13,821,000  since  inception  and  has  negative  working  capital  of  approximately
$755,000.  These factors raise substantial  doubt regarding the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. These financial
statements do not include any adjustments to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts and classification of
liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.  

Note 3. Related Party Transactions

In April 2013, the Company issued 305,000 shares of its common stock to the chief executive officer in lieu of paying him cash
compensation and for unpaid expense reimbursements. The fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $61,000.

In April 2013, the Company cancelled a previously issued stock option to its chief financial officer and issued a new option to purchase
700,000 shares of the Company's common stock at a price of $0.10 per share, vesting immediately, with a five year term.

In April 2013, a shareholder advanced the Company $75,000 in exchange for a convertible note payable due September 30, 2013,
bearing interest at 10% per annum and convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at $0.05 per share.

In June 2013, the Company issued 900,000 shares of its common stock to the chief executive officer in lieu of paying him a cash
bonus. The fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $45,000.

In June 2013, the Company issued 1,200,000 shares of its common stock to the chief financial officer for duties performed for the
Company related the Company’s recent workover,  farm-out and related oil  and gas projects which were not contemplated in his
employment contract. The fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $60,000.

In June 2013, a shareholder advanced the Company $18,000 in exchange for a convertible note payable due December 31, 2013,
bearing interest at 10% per annum and convertible into shares of the Company's common stock at $0.05 per share.

In September 2013, the Company issued 10,016,200 shares to the chief executive officer in lieu of paying him cash compensation and
for unpaid expense reimbursements. The fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $701,134.

In September 2013, the Company issued 5,500,000 shares to the chief financial officer in lieu of paying him cash compensation and for
unpaid expense reimbursements. The fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $380,000.

7
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BERING EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Note 4.  Debt

Debt as of September 30, 2013 and March 31, 2013 consists of the following:

Description
September
30, 2013

March 31,
2013

Notes payable
In June 2012, the Company financed the unpaid balance of a general liability insurance policy in
the amount of $11,404 with a premium finance company.  The financing agreement bears annual
interest at 8% and is due in April 2013 and calls for monthly principal and interest payments of
$1,193. The note is currently in default. $ 5,820  $ 5,820

Convertible note payable – related party
In August 2012, the Company entered into a convertible note agreement with Jinsun, LLC, in the
principal amount of $247,500 at an annual interest rate of 10%.  The note is due August 31,
2013.  The note is convertible into the Company’s common stock at the lesser of (i) 50% of the
average of the lowest three (3) closing bid prices for the Company’s common stock during the
ten  (10)  trading  days  prior  to  the  Conversion  Date  or  (ii)  $0.05  per  share.   The  Company
recorded a discount of $247,500 related to the derivative liability at inception.  The Company
recorded  amortization  of  $247,500  and  payments  of  $40,000  related  to  the  discount  from
inception of the loan through September 30, 2013. The note is currently in default.  $ 207,500  $ 207,500
In December 2012, the Company entered into a convertible note agreement with Jinsun, LLC, in
the principal amount of $20,000 at an annual interest rate of 10%.  The note is convertible at
$0.05 per share and is due August 31, 2013.  The Company recorded a discount related to the
beneficial conversion feature of the note of $20,000. The note is currently in default. 20,000 20,000
In January 2013, the Company entered into a convertible note agreement with Jinsun, LLC, in
the principal amount of $2,000 at an annual interest rate of 10%.  The note is convertible at $0.05
per share and is due August 31, 2013.  The Company recorded a discount related to the beneficial
conversion feature of the note of $2,000. The note is currently in default. 2,000 2,000
In April 2013, the Company entered into a convertible note agreement with Pass the Biscuits,
LLC,  in  the  principal  amount  of  $75,000  at  an  annual  interest  rate  of  10%.   The  note  is
convertible at $0.05 per share and is due September 30, 2013.  The Company recorded a discount
related to  the  beneficial  conversion feature  of  the note  of  $75,000.  The note  is  currently  in
default. 75,000 -
In June 2013, the Company entered into a convertible note agreement with Jinsun, LLC, in the
principal amount of $18,000 at an annual interest rate of 10%.  The note is convertible at $0.05
per share and is  due December  31,  2013.   The Company recorded a discount  related to the
beneficial conversion feature of the note of $18,000. 18,000 -
In September 2013, the Company entered into a convertible note agreement with Cinco NRG,
LLC,  in  the  principal  amount  of  $25,000  at  an  annual  interest  rate  of  10%.   The  note  is
convertible at the lesser of $0.04 per share or 50% of the closing price per share on the date of
conversion. The note is due October 31, 2013.  The Company recorded a discount related to the
derivative liability at inception of $25,000. 25,000 -

Less:  discounts (226,370) (269,500)
Add:  Amortization of discounts 193,656 161,130

Total convertible notes payable – related party, net of discounts 314,786 121,130
Total convertible notes payable – related party, net of discount $ 314,786 $ 121,130

8
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BERING EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Note 5.  Common Stock

In April 2013, the Company issued 305,000 shares of its common stock to the chief executive officer in lieu of paying him cash
compensation and for unpaid expense reimbursements. The fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $61,000.

In April 2013, the Company issued 395,652 shares of its common stock to the chief financial officer upon the cashless exercise of a
stock option.

In April 2013, the Company issued 300,000 shares of its common stock to an outside consultant.  The total fair market value of the
shares on the date of issuance was $69,000.

In May 2013, the Company issued a stock option to an outside consultant to purchase 400,000 shares of the Company’s common stock
at a price of $0.04 per share, vesting immediately and exercisable over a three year term, as compensation for management consulting
services. The fair market value of the option on the date of grant was $79,966 which was calculated using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model.   Variables used in the valuation include (1) discount rate of 0.19%, (2) expected life of three years,  (3) expected
volatility of 381% and (4) zero expected dividends.  The options were exercised in May 2013.

In May 2013, the Company issued 33,000 shares of its common stock to an outside consultant in lieu of paying him cash compensation
for accounting services. The fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $6,600.

In June 2013, the Company issued 900,000 shares of its common stock to the chief executive officer in lieu of paying him a cash
bonus. The fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $45,000.

In June 2013, the Company issued 1,200,000 shares of its common stock to the chief financial officer for duties performed for the
Company related the Company’s recent workover,  farm-out and related oil  and gas projects which were not contemplated in his
employment contract. The fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $60,000.

In July 2013, under a settlement agreement, the Company entered into an agreement with its former production manager and his
company whereby it will issue 150,000 shares of the Company’s common stock and a warrant to purchase 900,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock and deliver a previously issued stock certificate for 500,000 shares on the Company’s restricted common
stock.

In July 2013, the Company issued 25,000 shares of its common stock to an outside consultant in lieu of paying him cash compensation
for accounting services.  The fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $3,000.

In September 2013, the Company issued 10,016,200 shares to the chief executive officer in lieu of paying him cash compensation and
for unpaid expense reimbursements. The fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $701,134.

In September 2013, the Company issued 5,500,000 shares to the chief financial officer in lieu of paying him cash compensation and for
unpaid expense reimbursements. The fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $380,000.

Note 6. Stock Options and Warrants

In April 2012, the Company issued a stock option to its chief financial officer to purchase 700,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock at a price of $0.10 per share, vesting immediately, with a five year term. The fair market value of the option on the date of grant
was $154,000, and the Company expensed that amount related to these options in the year ended March 31, 2013.  In April 2013, the
stock option was cancelled and a new option was issued to purchase 700,000 shares of the Company’s stock at a price of $0.10 per
share, vesting immediately, with a five year term.  The fair market value of the option was $161,000 on the date of grant, and the
Company expensed the incremental increase in the period ended September 30, 2013.  The option was valued using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model.  Variables used in the valuation include (1) discount rate of 0.36%, (2) expected life of five years, (3) expected
volatility of 400% and (4) zero expected dividends. The options were exercised in April 2013.
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In July 2013, under a settlement agreement, the Company entered into an agreement with its former production manager and his
company whereby it will issue 150,000 shares of the Company’s common stock and a warrant to purchase 900,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock at a price of $0.10 per share with a three year term and deliver a previously issued stock certificate for
500,000 shares on the Company’s restricted common stock. The fair market value of the warrant was $71,921 on the date of grant. The
warrant was valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Variables used in the valuation include (1) discount rate of 0.17%,
(2) expected life of three years, (3) expected volatility of 380% and (4) zero expected dividends.
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BERING EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

The following table summarizes stock options issued and outstanding:

Options

Weighted
average
exercise

price

Aggregate
intrinsic

value

Weighted
average

remaining
contractual
life (years)

Outstanding at March 31, 2013 700,000 0.10 294,000 4.79
Granted 1,100,000 0.08 191,000 4.79
Exercised (1,100,000) 0.08 (191,000) 4.79
Forfeited or cancelled  (700,000) 0.10 (294,000) 4.66
Expired - - - -
Outstanding at September 30, 2013 - $ - $ - -

As of September 30, 2013, no options are exercisable.

The following table summarizes warrants issued and outstanding:

Warrants

Weighted
average
exercise

price

Aggregate
intrinsic

value

Weighted
average

remaining
contractual
life (years)

Outstanding at March 31, 2013 46,000 $ 7.50 $ 333,966 3.10
Granted 900,000 0.10 71,921 2.80
Exercised - - - -
Forfeited or cancelled - - - -
Expired - - - -
Outstanding at September 30, 2013 946,000 $ 0.46 $ 405,887 2.79

As of September 30, 2013, warrants to purchase 946,000 shares of common stock are exercisable.

10
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition as of September 30, 2013 and 2012, and its results of
operations  for  the  three  and  six  months  ended  September  30,  2013  and  2012,  should  be  read  in  conjunction  with  the  audited
consolidated financial statements and notes included in Bering Exploration Inc.’s Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2013, filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Overview

In July 2010, the Company determined to primarily focus its business on the exploration, acquisition, development, production and sale
of natural gas, crude oil and natural gas liquids from conventional reservoirs within the United States.  

In addition, the Company owns 25% of Intertech Bio, which is developing products to treat cancer, infectious diseases and other
medical conditions associated with compromised immune systems.  The Company is not actively involved in the management of
Intertech Bio.

A description of the Company’s oil and gas properties follows.

Chicas Locas Field,
Victoria County, Texas

In June 2011, the Company entered into a joint development agreement to co-develop an approximately 640 acre tract in Victory
County, Texas.  The Company will retain a 50% working interest in this prospect.  Our net revenue interest in this field is 75%. In
August 2011, the first well developed in this area began producing oil.  The well is currently producing 4 bbl of oil per day. The
operator of the well has determined that the well is producing more natural gas than oil and installed a gas pipeline to connect the well
to a commercial pipeline. In April 2012, the pipeline was completed and we began producing natural gas accordingly.  Our share of net
production on this well was $21,065 and $44,392, respectively, during the three and six month periods ended September 30, 2013.

Singer Prospect,
Beauregard Parish, Louisiana

In August and October 2011,  the Company leased the mineral rights on 320 gross acres in Singer,  Louisiana.   Initial  geological
assessment reveals four sands in zones from 9,600’ to 10,600’ with four potential drilling locations.  Bering retains a 90% working
interest in the prospect and a 75% net revenue interest.  In August and October 2013, the lease on the Singer Prospect expired without
being renewed and the Company transferred the cost to capitalized cost subject to amortization and evaluated for impairment under the
ceiling test.

Ashland Prospect,
Concordia Parish, Louisiana

In July 2011, the Company purchased a 10% working interest in the Ashland prospect in Concordia Parish, Louisiana.  Our net revenue
interest in this well is 7.5%.  The prospect contains 1,200 acres.  Preliminary geological analysis reveals two sands between 6,900’ and
7,100’.  In September 2011, the Sharp Heirs A No. 1 (A-1) well was successfully drilled on the prospect.  The well was completed in
November 2011 and is producing approximately 26 gross barrels of oil per day.  In November 2011, a second well was drilled on this
prospect. It was not commercially viable and was converted into a salt water disposal well.  This well will be used to off load water
produced in the first well and allow for production to increase on the first well.  This work was completed and permitted in July
2012.  A third well was drilled in May 2012 and is in the process of being completed.  In October 2012, the Company assigned its
interest in the Ashland Project to an unrelated third party in exchange for $150,000.

Gohlke Project
Texas Gulf Coast

In October 2011, the Company leased the mineral rights to 10,000 feet on 272 gross acres in South Texas.  The tract has 12 potential
drilling locations.  Preliminary geological assessment reveals 3 sands at depths of 3,800’, 5,500’ and 8,100’. Bering currently holds a
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95% working interest and a 76.5% net revenue interest.  In June 2013, Bering entered into a Letter of Intent ("LOI") to farm-out the
Gohlke Project in exchange for a 10% working interest calling to the Casiz Point.  The LOI is subject to a definitive agreement which
is currently being negotiated.  In September 2013, the Company entered into a definitive agreement for the farm-out.  The well was
drilled in October 2013.  After analysis of the information available to the Company, the Company elected not to participate in the
completion of the well.  Accordingly, the Company has no further economic interest in the Gohlke Project.

11
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North Edna Project

In May 2012, the Company acquired a 74% net revenue interest and a 100% of working interests in the North Edna Field located in
Jefferson Davis Parish, Louisiana (“N. Edna”).  N. Edna consists of 384.84 gross acres and the Lejeune No. 1 oil and gas well (Lejeune
1).  In January 2013, the Company initiated a workover of the Lejeune 1 well.  The workover was completed in February and is
currently undergoing testing.  The well is currently shut-in.

South Texas Project
Texas Gulf Coast

In September 2010, the Company obtained a 5% back in after payout working interest in a single well being drilled in South Texas,
along the Texas Gulf Coast. The well was successfully completed and is producing natural gas.  The operator of the well estimates that
payout will be achieved in twelve months, at which time the Company’s net working interest will be established.  Until such time as
payout is achieved, the Company has no rights to the production from this well and accordingly, has not recognized any oil and gas
revenues or reserves from this well.

We are currently evaluating additional mineral rights and drilling opportunities to acquire.

During the period ended September 30, 2013, the Company recognized an impairment of $203,497.
Comparison of Three Months Ended September 30, 2013 and 2012

The Company had revenue of $19,084 for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and $25,263 in revenue for the three months
ended September 30, 2012.  The decrease in revenues was due to a reduction in production of two wells completed in the calendar
quarter ending December 31, 2011.

The Company’s expenses decreased from $1,548,958 for three months ended September 30, 2012 to $1,119,957 for three months
ended September 30, 2013.  The decrease of $429,001 was primarily due to the following: decreases in compensation expense of
$444,809, oil and gas operating expenses of $104,954, professional fees of $50,975 and other expenses of $41,472, offset by the
impairment of oil and gas assets of $203,497 and an increase in office administration costs of $9,732.

Compensation expense decreased due to a decrease in expenses paid via stock grants, oil and gas operating expenses decreased due to a
workover that was completed in the prior year and not in the current year, professional fees decreased due to less utilization of geology
and drilling professionals.  The increase in impairment of oil and gas assets in the current period was due to the value of our oil and gas
properties falling below the cost pool.  The value of properties in the prior year was above the value of the accumulated costs and so no
impairment was recorded in the prior year.

Interest expense increased $53,758, from $70,339 during the three months ended September 30, 2012 to $124,097 during the three
months ended September 30, 2013, primarily due to increased debt levels during the current quarter.  During the three months ended
September 30, 2013, the Company recorded a reduction in its derivative liability of $461,454.  In the three months ended September
30, 2012, the company recorded an increase in its derivative liability of $215,726.

As a result of the foregoing, the Company’s net loss for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was $763,516 and
$1,809,760, respectively.

Comparison of Six Months Ended September 30, 2013 and 2012

The Company had revenue of $44,886 for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and $49,340 in revenue for the six months ended
September 30, 2012.  The decrease in revenues was due to a reduction in production of two wells completed in the calendar quarter
ending December 31, 2011.

The Company’s expenses decreased from $1,929,870 for six months ended September 30, 2012 to $1,612,188 for six months ended
September 30, 2013.  The decrease of $317,682 was primarily due to the following: decreases in compensation expense of $235,461,
professional fees of $154,720, oil and gas operating expenses of $94,885, and other expenses of $34,044, offset by the impairment of
oil and gas assets of $203,497.

Compensation expense decreased due to a decrease in expenses paid via stock grants, oil and gas operating expenses decreased due to a
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workover that was completed in the prior year and not in the current year, professional fees decreased due to less utilization of geology
and drilling professionals.  The increase in impairment of oil and gas assets in the current period was due to the value of our oil and gas
properties falling below the cost pool.  The value of properties in the prior year was above the value of the accumulated costs and so no
impairment was recorded in the prior year.

In addition, interest expense decreased $299,798, from $502,811 during the six months ended September 30, 2012 to $203,013 during
the six months ended September 30, 2013, primarily due to overall lower debt levels during the current year.  During the six months
ended September  30,  2013,  the  Company recorded a  reduction in  its  derivative  liability  of  $712,904.   In  the  six  months ended
September 30, 2012, the company recorded an increase in its derivative liability of $215,726.

As a result of the foregoing, the Company’s net loss for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was $1,057,411 and
$2,599,067, respectively.

12
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of September 30, 2013, the Company had $14,747 in cash and negative working capital of $755,138.  Additional capital will be
necessary to fund ongoing operating costs and planned drilling programs over the next twelve months.

Net cash used in operating activities for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was $104,366 and $420,108, respectively.

We anticipate that future liquidity requirements will arise from the need to finance our operations and continue our lease acquisition
and drilling programs. The primary sources of funding for such requirements are expected to be raising additional capital from the sale
of equity and/or debt securities. However, we can provide no assurances that we will be able to obtain additional financing on terms
satisfactory to us, if at all, to remain a going concern. Our continuation as a going concern is dependent upon our ability to generate
sufficient cash flow to meet our obligations on a timely basis and ultimately to attain profitability. The Company is attempting to obtain
cash to finance its operations through the sale of equity, debt borrowing and/or through the sale of working interests in our drilling
programs. We can provide no assurances that financing will be available to us on terms satisfactory to us, if at all, or that we will be
able to continue as a going concern. In this respect, see Note 2 - Going Concern in our financial statements for additional information
as to the possibility that we may not be able to continue as a going concern.

ITEM 3.     QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Pursuant to Item 305(e) of Regulation S-K (§ 229.305(e)), the Company is not required to provide the information required by this
Item as it is a “smaller reporting company,” as defined by Rule 229.10(f)(1).

ITEM 4.     CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a)     Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we conducted an evaluation, under the supervision and
with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on this evaluation, the
CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of September 30, 2013 due to a lack of
segregation of duties and an overreliance on consultants in the accounting and financial reporting process.

(b)     Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes that occurred during the quarter covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

PART II.  OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1.     LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Not applicable

ITEM 1A.   RISK FACTORS

Not applicable

ITEM 2.     UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Not applicable

ITEM 3.     DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

Not applicable    
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ITEM 4.     MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Not applicable

13
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ITEM 5.     OTHER INFORMATION

In September 2013, the Company issued 10,016,200 shares of the Company’s $0.001 par value Common Stock to the chief executive
officer of the Company in lieu of paying him cash compensation and for unpaid expense reimbursements.

In September 2013, the Company issued 5,500,000 shares of the Company’s $0.001 par value Common Stock to the chief financial
officer of the Company in lieu of paying him cash compensation and for unpaid expense reimbursements.

ITEM 6.     EXHIBITS

Exhibit No. Description

31.1 Certification of J. Leonard Ivins.
31.2 Certification of Steven M. Plumb
32.1 Certification for Sarbanes-Oxley Act of J. Leonard Ivins
32.2 Certification for Sarbanes-Oxley Act of Steven M. Plumb

101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

14
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized

BERING EXPLORATION, INC.

By:  /s/ J. Leonard Ivins                                        
J. Leonard Ivins, Chief Executive Officer
Date: November 19, 2013

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/J. Leonard Ivins Chief Executive Officer and November 19, 2013
J. Leonard Ivins Chairman of the Board

/s/Steven M. Plumb Principal Financial and November 19, 2013
Steven M. Plumb Accounting Officer
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Bering Exploration, Inc.
1910 Pacific Avenue, Suite 12000

Dallas, Texas 75201

Information Statement Pursuant to
Section 14(f) of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 14f-1 Thereunder

General

This Information Statement is being mailed to holders of record of shares of common stock, par value $.001 per share (“Common
Stock”) of Bering Exploration, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“Company,” “we,” “us” or “our”), as of December 9, 2013, pursuant to
the requirements of Section 14(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Rule 14f-1
promulgated thereunder, in connection with the acquisition by the Company (the “Transaction”) of substantially all of the assets of
Breitling Oil and Gas Corporation, a Texas corporation (“O&G”), and Breitling Royalties Corporation, a Texas corporation
(“Royalties,” and collectively with O&G, “Breitling”), in exchange for the issuance to Breitling of 461,863,084 shares of Common
Stock. The Transaction was effected pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) between the Company
and Breitling which was executed and closed on December 9, 2013. Stock outstanding following the closing of the Transaction (the
“Closing”). Following the Closing, there will be a change in the majority of the Company’s Board of Directors.

Specifically, J. Leonard Ivins and Steven M. Plumb will resign as our directors. Effective upon the resignations of Mr. Ivins and
Mr. Plumb, Chris R. Faulkner, Jonathan S. Huberman, Richard H. Mourglia, Jeremy S. Wagers and Chris E. Williford will be
appointed as members of our Board of Directors (collectively, the “Incoming Directors”). In addition, J. Leonard Ivins resigned his
position as Chief Executive Officer and Steven M. Plumb resigned his positions as Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer,
President and Secretary.

This Information Statement is being mailed on or about December 9, 2013 to all holders of record on such date. A stockholder vote
is not required and will not be taken with respect to the appointment of the Incoming Directors. You are not required to take any
action with respect to the appointment of the Incoming Directors.

As of December 9, 2013, there were 499,883,626 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding.

We Are Not Asking You For a Proxy and
You Are Requested Not to Send Us a Proxy

This Information Statement is required by section 14(f) of the Exchange Act and Rule 14f-1 thereunder as a result of the
appointment of new directors in connection with the Transaction. No action is required by stockholders in connection with
the resignation and appointment of any director.

Change in Control

On December 9, 2013, pursuant to the Transaction, Breitling became the owner of approximately 92.5% of the Company’s
outstanding Common Stock on a fully diluted basis. The Company acquired substantially all of the assets associated with Breitling’s
oil and gas properties, which the Company valued at approximately $25.7 million, in exchange for 461,863,084 shares of Common
Stock. Breitling is beneficially owned 33- 1⁄3% by Chris Faulkner, 33- 1⁄3% by Parker Hallam and 33- 1⁄3% by Michael Miller.

As the owners of approximately 92.5% of the Company’s outstanding shares of Common Stock, the owners of Breitling (the
“Breitling Group”) have the ability to elect all of the members of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”), and through
such directors control the appointment of the Company’s officers. Immediately upon the Closing, all of the Company’s executive
officers resigned and were replaced with officers named by the Breitling Group. In addition, ten days following the mailing of this
Schedule 14f-1, all of the Company’s current directors will appoint designees chosen by the Breitling Group as new directors and
then all of the current directors will resign, so that the designees chosen by the Breitling Group will constitute the entire
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Board. The names and biographical information of the new directors and executive officers are set forth in this document under the
heading “Directors and Executive Officers.”

O&G was founded in October 2004 in Dallas, Texas. Breitling is an independent exploration and production company with proved
reserves throughout several major basins in the United States. The Company is engaged in the acquisition, development and
production of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids, primarily in the states of Texas, Oklahoma and North Dakota.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of:

• The shares of Common Stock as of December 9, 2013, immediately prior to the Closing, based on 37,020,542 shares
outstanding; and

• The shares of Common Stock after the Transaction based on 498,883,626 shares outstanding;

by:

• each current director and executive officer of Company and each person nominated to become a director following the
Transaction;

• all current executive officers and directors of the Company as a group (including in the post-Transaction chart, only the
director nominees and not the current directors); and

• each person known by the Company to own beneficially more than 5% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock.

Beneficial ownership has been determined in accordance with applicable SEC rules, under which a person is deemed to be the
beneficial owner of securities if he or she has or shares voting power or investment power with respect to such securities or has the
right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days.

Before the Closing of the Transaction

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1)

Number of
Shares
Owned

Percentage of
Class

J. Leonard Ivins, CEO (2) 6,307,426 16.5% 
Kevan Casey (3) 13,908,420 36.5% 
Steven M. Plumb, President, COO, CFO and

Secretary (4) 3,273,510 8.6% 
Officers and Directors:
J. Leonard Ivins, Chairman of Board and CEO (2) 6,307,426 16.5% 
Steven M. Plumb, President, COO, CFO and

Secretary (4) 3,273,510 8.6% 
Total of all Officers and Directors 9,580,936 25.1%

(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the mailing address of the beneficial owner is Bering Exploration, Inc., 710 N. Post Oak Road,
Suite 410, Houston, Texas 77024.

(2) J. Leonard Ivins directly owns 6,307,426 shares of Common Stock.
(3) The business address of Kevan Casey is PO Box 27949, Houston, Texas 77227-7949. Mr. Casey owns 3,374 shares directly

and the following shares indirectly: 114,000 shares are held by Silver Star Holdings Trust, of which Mr. Casey is the trustee,
117,079 shares are held by KM Casey No 1, Ltd, of which Mr. Casey is the managing partner, 5,220,681 shares are held by
Jinsun, LLC, of which Mr. Casey is the sole member, 8,096,144 shares are held by Vertical Holdings, LLC, of which
Mr. Casey is the sole member, and 357,142 shares are held by TPH Holdings, LLC, of which Mr. Casey is the sole member.

(4) VASHB Group, LLC, a limited liability company of which Steven M. Plumb owns a 100% interest, owns 29,739 shares.
Mr. Plumb directly owns 3,243,771 shares of Common Stock.

2
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Following the Closing of the Transaction

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1)

Number of
Shares
Owned

Percentage of
Class

Breitling Oil and Gas Corporation (2)

1910 Pacific Avenue, Suite 7000
Dallas, Texas 75201 92,372,617 18.5% 

Breitling Royalties Corporation (2)

1910 Pacific Avenue, Suite 7000
Dallas, Texas 75201 369,490,467 74.0% 

Officers and Directors:
Chris R. Faulkner, CEO, President and director

nominee (2) 461,863,084 92.5% 
Jeremy S. Wagers, COO, General Counsel and director

nominee 0
Jonathan S. Huberman, director nominee 0
Richard H. Mourglia, director nominee 0
Chris E. Williford, director nominee 0 % 
Total of all Officers and Directors (2) 461,863,084 92.5% 

(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the mailing address of the beneficial owner is Bering Exploration, Inc., 1910 Pacific Avenue, Suite
7000, Dallas, Texas 75201.

(2) Each of O&G and Royalties are owned 33- 1⁄3% by Chris R. Faulkner, 33- 1⁄3% by Parker Hallam and 33- 1⁄3% by Michael
Miller, whose addresses are 1910 Pacific Avenue, Suite 7000, Dallas, Texas 75201. Messrs. Faulkner, Hallam and Miller also
constitute the board of directors of each of O&G and Royalties. Based upon the “rule of three”, where voting and investment
decisions regarding an entity’s portfolio securities are made by three or more individuals, and a voting or investment decision
requires the approval of a majority of those individuals, none of the individuals are deemed a beneficial owner of the entity’s
portfolio securities. Consequently, each of Messrs. Faulkner, Hallam and Miller disclaim beneficial ownership of these shares
of common stock. Nonetheless, the Company is reporting all of the shares owned by O&G and Royalties as being beneficially
owned by Mr. Faulkner.

Directors and Executive Officers

Identification of Directors and Executive Officers

Presently, two directors serve on the Board. Pursuant to the terms of the Transaction, Mr. Ivins and Mr. Plumb have resigned as
directors of the Company effective on the tenth day following the mailing of this Information Statement to the stockholders of the
Company. Pursuant to the terms of the Transaction, the Board is to consist of five directors. The resignation of the Company’s
current directors and appointment of the Incoming Directors will not occur until ten days after the date on which this Information
Statement is filed with the SEC and mailed to all holders of record of Common Stock of the Company as required by Rule 14f-1 of
the Exchange Act.

Prior to the Transaction

The Company’s executive officers and directors prior to the Transaction were:

Name Age Position

J. Leonard Ivins 73 Chairman of the Board and Director and Chief Executive Officer
Steven M. Plumb, CPA 53 Director, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, President and Secretary

3
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J. Leonard Ivins. Mr. Ivins has served as the Company’s Chairman of the Board since March 2012. Mr. Ivins was appointed Chief
Executive Officer and President of the Company in July 2012. He relinquished the duties as President of the Company in April
2013, upon the appointment of Mr. Plumb (see below). He previously served as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and a
director from May 2007 to March 2012. Since 1995, he has been a private investor. Previously, Mr. Ivins was a founder and
co-owner of a privately held company that was an FDIC and RTC contractor. From 1979 to 1981, Mr. Ivins was a turnaround and
workout consultant to small, publicly held oil and gas companies. From 1970 to 1975, Mr. Ivins was president of The Woodlands
Development Corporation and a director of Mitchell Energy and Development Corp.

Steven M. Plumb, CPA. Mr. Plumb was appointed the Chief Financial Officer of the Company in July 2011. In March 2012,
Mr. Plumb was appointed the Secretary of the Company. In April 2013, Mr. Plumb was appointed to the Board as well as President
and Chief Operating Officer. From September 2010 to June 2011, Mr. Plumb served as the Chief Financial Officer of Galaxy
Media & Marketing Corp (“Galaxy”) and from January 2011 to June 2011, he also served as a member of the board of directors and
chairman of the board of directors of Galaxy. From September 2009 to April 2012, Mr. Plumb served as the Chief Financial Officer
of ADB International Group, Inc. (ADBI.PK) and from June 2010 to April 2012, he also served on the board of directors of ADBI.
From March 2008 to October 2009, Mr. Plumb served as the Chief Financial Officer of Oncolin Therapeutics, Inc. (OCOL.OB) and
Striker Oil & Gas, Inc. (SOIS.OB). Mr. Plumb served as the Chief Financial Officer of HoustonPharma, Inc. from September 2006
to July 2008. Mr. Plumb served as the Chief Financial Officer of Hyperdynamics Corp. (AMEX.HDY) from November 2005 to
June 2008 and as the Chief Financial Officer of ADVENTRX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (AMEX:ANX) from January 2003 to December
2004. Since 2001, he has served as the owner and president of Clear Financial Solutions, Inc., a consulting firm that provides
interim CFO services to small public companies. Mr. Plumb has a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from the University
of Texas at Austin, Austin, Texas.

Following the Transaction

The Company’s executive officers following the Closing and directors (who will be appointed once the Waiting Period required by
the Exchange Act has expired) are and will be:

Name Age Position

Chris R. Faulkner 37 Chief Executive Officer and President, nominee for director
Jeremy S. Wagers 37 Chief Operating Officer, General Counsel and Secretary, nominee for director
Jonathan S. Huberman 48 Nominee for director
Richard H. Mourglia 52 Nominee for director
Chris E. Williford 62 Nominee for director

Chris R. Faulkner. Mr. Faulkner was appointed as Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company effective as of the
Closing. Mr. Faulkner founded O&G in 2004 and has been its President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board since
that time. He is a frequent lecturer at industry events and is a member of many industry organizations, including the Texas Alliance
of Energy Producers, the Dallas Petroleum Club, Independent Petroleum Association of America, Texas Independent Producers and
Royalty Owners Association. Mr. Faulkner writes a monthly column on oil and gas for Energy and Mining International and Oil and
Gas Monitor magazines. Mr. Faulkner was nominated to serve on the Board of Directors of the Company because of his experience
in putting together the oil and gas interests that now form the Company’s core assets.

Jeremy S. Wagers. Mr. Wagers was appointed as Chief Operating Officer and General Counsel effective as of the Closing.
Mr. Wagers joined Breitling as Chief Compliance Officer and General Counsel in December 2012. Prior to joining Breitling,
Mr. Wagers was Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary for Triangle Petroleum Corporation. From 2002
through 2005, he practiced law as a corporate finance and M&A attorney with Vinson & Elkins, LLP, in Houston, Texas and from
2005 through 2011, he practiced law as a

4

SC 14F1 https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1229089/00011931251346692...

5 of 14 7/31/2018 1:10 PM

48

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 303   Filed 08/20/18    Page 53 of 289   PageID 9012



corporate finance and M&A attorney with Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, in Houston, Texas. Mr. Wagers earned a
Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance and Economics (summa cum laude) from Baylor University and graduated from the
University of Texas School of Law with Honors. Mr. Wagers was nominated to serve on the Board of Director of the Company
because of his experience as General Counsel of a publicly traded oil and gas company and his experience as a corporate attorney.

Jonathan S. Huberman. Since July 2013, Mr. Huberman has been President and CEO of Tiburon, Inc., a software provider for the
public safety industry (“Tiburon”). From February 2012 until June 2013, he was Managing Director at the Gores Group, Tiburon’s
primary investor. From June 2008 until February 2012, Mr. Huberman was President of the Consumer and Small Business Products
Division at EMC Corporation and was also responsible for the company’s China growth initiatives. Prior to that, Mr. Huberman was
the CEO of Iomega Corporation and continued his responsibilities following EMC’s acquisition of Iomega in 2008. Before joining
Iomega, Mr. Huberman was Managing Director and co-founder of aAd Capital, a hedge fund focused on investing in small to
mid-sized public companies. Prior to aAd Capital, Mr. Huberman was a Partner at Idanta Partners, a technology focused private
equity affiliate of the Bass family. Earlier in his career, Mr. Huberman worked at the Boston Consulting Group and Cray Research.
Mr. Huberman also served as Special Advisor to the Director of DARPA. Mr. Huberman graduated with a B.A. in Computer
Science from Princeton University, and received an M.B.A. from The Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania.
Mr. Huberman was nominated to serve on the Board of Directors of the Company because of his experience in raising funds for
small to mid-sized companies.

Richard H. Mourglia. Mr. Mourglia has served as General Counsel and Senior Vice President-Land of Dune Energy, Inc. since
August 2008. From 1990 until joining Dune, Mr. Mourglia was in private practice with major national and international law firms
where his practice focused on a variety of oil and gas/energy transactional matters. Mr. Mourglia began his career in 1980 as a
petroleum landman, including heading his own petroleum land services company from 1984 to 1990. Mr. Mourglia received a BBA
in Finance in 1980 from The University of Texas at Austin and a JD (cum laude) in 1990 from South Texas College of Law.
Mr. Mourglia has been active in various professional organizations, including serving on the board and as an officer of the General
Counsel Forum and the board of the Texas Association of Bank Counsel. Mr. Mourglia was nominated to serve on the Board of
Directors of the Company because of his experience as General Counsel of a publicly traded oil and gas company.

Chris W. Williford. Mr. Williford has over 35 years’ experience in various senior financial positions in the oil and gas sector. Since
September 2013, Mr. Williford has been CFO of Silverback Exploration, LLC, a member of the EnCap financed family of portfolio
exploration and production companies (“Silverback”). Silverback will be pursuing unconventional opportunities in the United
States, utilizing horizontal drilling techniques. From September 2011 until September 2013, he was CFO of Central Montana
Resources LLC, another exploration and production company. Prior to joining Central Montana Resources LLC, he spent almost 19
years as chief financial officer/treasurer of Abraxas Petroleum Corporation, a publicly traded company (“Abraxas”). Under
Mr. Williford’s direction, Abraxas completed over $1.2 billion of both private and public debt financings and over $350 million in
private and public equity raises. Abraxas also completed A&D transactions of more than $1 billion in both the US and Canada
during Mr. Williford’s stay. Mr. Williford was nominated to serve on the Board of Directors of the Company because of his
experience in finance in publicly traded oil and gas companies.

Terms of Office

The Incoming Directors will be appointed for a one-year term to hold office until the next annual general meeting of the Company’s
stockholders or until removed from office in accordance with the Company’s Bylaws (“Bylaws”) and the provisions of the Nevada
Revised Statutes. Each of the Company’s directors will hold office after the expiration of his or her term until his or her successor is
elected and qualified, or until he or she resigns or is removed in accordance with the Bylaws and the provisions of the Nevada
Revised Statutes.

5
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The Company’s incoming officers have been appointed by the Board and will hold office until removed by the Board in accordance
with the Bylaws and the provisions of the Nevada Revised Statutes.

Certain Relationships and Transactions

There are no family relationships between any of our current directors or executive officers and the proposed Incoming Directors
and incoming officers. There has not been any transaction since the beginning of the Company’s last fiscal year, or any currently
proposed transaction, in which the Company was or is to be a participant and the amount involved exceeds the lesser of $120,000 or
one percent of the average of the Company’s total assets at year-end for the last three completed fiscal years, and in which any of
the current directors or officers or the Incoming Directors and incoming officers had or will have a direct or indirect material
interest, except as follows:

• In April 2013, the Company cancelled a previously issued stock option to Mr. Plumb and issued a new option to purchase
700,000 shares of the Common Stock at a price of $0.10 per share, vesting immediately, with a five year term.

• In June 2013, the Company issued 900,000 shares of its Common Stock to Mr. Ivins in lieu of paying him a cash bonus.
The fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $45,000.

• In June 2013, the Company issued 1,200,000 shares of its Common Stock to Mr. Plumb for duties performed for the
Company related the Company’s recent workover, farm-out and related oil and gas projects which were not contemplated
in his employment contract. The fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $60,000.

• In September 2013, the Company issued 10,016,200 shares of Common Stock to Mr. Ivins in lieu of paying him cash
compensation and for unpaid expense reimbursements. The fair market value of the shares of Common Stock on the date
of issuance was $701,134.

• In September 2013, the Company issued 5,500,000 shares of Common Stock to Mr. Plumb in lieu of paying him cash
compensation and for unpaid expense reimbursements. The fair market value of the shares of Common Stock on the date
of issuance was $380,000.

In connection with the Transaction, the Company undertook the following actions with respect to its Common Stock:

• cancelled 10,016,200 shares of Common Stock previously issued to Mr. Ivins; and

• cancelled 5,500,000 shares of Common Stock previously issued to Mr. Plumb.

The proposed Incoming Directors and incoming officers are not currently directors of the Company, do not hold any position with
the Company, and have not been involved in any material proceeding adverse to the Company or its subsidiary or have a material
interest adverse to the Company or its subsidiary, or any transactions with the Company or any of its directors, executive officers,
affiliates, or associates that are required to be disclosed pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”).

The Company does not have a written policy pertaining solely to the approval or ratification of “related party transactions.”
However, it is our policy that any material transactions between us and members of management or their affiliates, must be on terms
no less favorable than those available from unaffiliated third parties.

Director Independence

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013, we did not have any independent directors on our Board. Of our proposed Incoming
Directors, only three are expected to be independent. We evaluate independence by the standards for director independence
established by applicable laws, rules and listing standards, including, without limitation, the standards for independent directors
established by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. and the SEC.

6
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Information Concerning the Operation of the Board

The business of the Company is managed under the direction of the Board. In order to facilitate the various functions of the Board,
the Board has created an Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Corporate Governance & Compliance Committee.
Mr. Ivins is the sole member of each committee. No charters have been established for any of the committees of the Board. Since
each of the directors are also executive officers of the Company, none of the members of the Board are independent. The Common
Stock is not listed on any national securities exchange, so it is not required to have a majority of independent directors, nor is it
required to have any independent directors on any of its committees of the Board.

Our Board held a total of four meetings during fiscal 2012, either in person or by telephone. The Audit Committee met four times
during fiscal 2012, but the Compensation Committee and the Corporate Governance & Compliance Committee did not meet. Each
of our directors attended at least 75% of the total meetings of the Board and each committee on which he served during his time of
service on our Board in 2012.

Board Leadership Structure

As of the date hereof, Mr. Ivins and Mr. Plumb are our only directors. Mr. Ivins is both Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. The Company has no lead independent director since the Company has no independent directors. The
Board has determined that his leadership structure is appropriate for the Company given the Company’s size and limited resources.
Our Board recognizes that no single leadership model is right for all companies and at all times and that, depending on the
circumstances, other leadership models, such as separating the role of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, might be
appropriate. Since the executive officers and the directors of the Company have historically been the same people, there is no
separate oversight by the Board of the Company’s risk oversight.

Directors Attendance at Annual Meetings of Shareholders

All of our directors are expected to attend each annual meeting of our stockholders. A director who is unable to attend the annual
meeting, which it is understood will occur on occasion, is expected to notify the Chairman of the Board in advance of such meeting.
Last year, the Company did not have an annual meeting of stockholders.

Shareholder Communications with the Board

The Board provides a process for stockholders of the Company to send written communications to the entire Board. Shareholders of
the Company may send written communications to the Board c/o Corporate Secretary, Bering Exploration, Inc., 1910 Pacific
Avenue, Suite 12000, Dallas, Texas 75201. All communications will be compiled by the Corporate Secretary of the Company and
submitted to the Board on a periodic basis.

Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee of the Board currently consists of Mr. Ivins. The audit committee selects an independent public accounting
firm to be engaged to audit our financial statements, discusses with the independent auditors their independence, reviews and
discusses the audited financial statements with the independent auditors and management and recommends to our Board whether the
audited financials should be included in our Annual Reports to be filed with the SEC.

Mr. Ivins: (1) did not meet the criteria for independence set forth in Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Exchange Act; (2) did not
participate in the preparation of our financial statements or the financial statements of the Company; and (3) is able to read and
understand fundamental financial statements, including a balance sheet, income statement and cash flow statement. The Board has
determined that Mr. Ivins qualifies as an audit committee financial expert as defined in Item 407(d) of Regulation S-X by virtue of
his educational background in finance

7
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and earning an MBA, work experience in finance and past public company experience and responsibilities as an audit committee
member and corporate officer.

Audit Committee Report

The Audit Committee assists the Board in overseeing matters relating to the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
practices, the adequacy of its internal controls and the quality and integrity of its financial statements, and is responsible for
selecting and retaining the independent auditors. The Company’s management is responsible for preparing the Company’s financial
statements, and the independent auditors are responsible for auditing those financial statements. The Audit Committee does not
provide any expert or special assurance as to the Company’s financial statements or any professional certification as to the
independent auditors’ work. The Audit Committee met four (4) times during the year ended March 31, 2013.

In fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the Audit Committee reviewed the Company’s audited financial statements as of and for
the year ended March 31, 2013, and discussed them with management and LBB and Associates, Ltd., LLP (“LBB”), the Company’s
independent accounting firm. The Audit Committee discussed and reviewed with LBB all matters required to be discussed by the
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, as amended (AICPA, Professional Standards, Vol. 1, AU Section 380), as adopted by the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (the “PCAOB”) on Rule 3200T.

The Audit Committee has received the written disclosures and the letter from LBB required by the applicable requirements of the
PCAOB regarding communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence and has discussed with LBB its
independence from the Company and the Company’s management.

Based on the review and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board that the Company’s audited
financial statements be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10K for the year ended March 31, 2013.

Bering Exploration, Inc.
Audit Committee

/s/ J. Leonard Ivins

This report of the Audit Committee shall not be deemed “soliciting material”- or to be “filed” with the SEC or subject to Regulation
14A or 14C or to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company specifically request that
the information be treated as soliciting material or specifically incorporated by reference into a document filed under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act.

Audit Fees. The aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered by LBB and Malone Bailey, LLP for the audits of the
Company’s annual financial statements are:

2013 2012

LBB and Associates, Ltd., LLP $54,926
Malone Bailey, LLP $ 1,250 $170,950

$56,176 $ 10,950

During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, no assurance or related serviced were performed by LBB and Malone
Bailey, LLP that were reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the Company’s financial statements.

8
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Compensation Committee

Currently, the Compensation Committee consists of Mr. Ivins, who is not an independent director. The purpose of the Compensation
Committee is to award and compensate our officers and employees in a manner which provides incentives for the enhancement of
shareholder value, for the successful implementation of our business plan and for continuous improvement and personal
performance. The compensation program is based on a pay-for-performance philosophy.

The Compensation Committee will review and recommend the compensation philosophy and guidelines for all employees. It will
then make a recommendation to the Board for its consideration and approval related to annual salary, incentive policies and
programs, material new benefit programs and material changes to existing benefit programs. The Compensation Committee will not
delegate any of its authority to any other persons.

Since Mr. Ivins is the Chief Executive Officer, he has a direct role in setting compensation. The Compensation Committee did not
meet during the year ended March 31, 2013. The Compensation Committee did not engage any compensation consultants during the
year ended March 31, 2013.

Director Nominations.

The Board does not currently have a standing nominating committee nor has it adopted a nominating committee charter. The entire
Board currently operates as the nominating committee. Given the size of the Board and its limited assets, the Board does not believe
that any purpose would be served by the formation of a separate nominating committee. There is no formal process or policy that
governs the manner in which the Company identifies potential candidates for the Board. Historically, the Board has considered
several factors in evaluating candidates for nomination to the Board including, but limited to, the candidate’s knowledge of the
Company and its business, the candidate’s business experience and credentials, and whether the candidate would represent the
interests of all of the Company’s shareholders as opposed to a specific group of shareholders.

Procedures for Submitting Board Nominations.

The Company does not have a formal policy with respect to our consideration of Board nominees recommended by shareholders
since historically our shareholders have not recommended Board candidates. However, the Board will consider candidates
recommended by shareholders on a case-by-case basis. A shareholder who desires to recommend a candidate for nomination to the
Board at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held in 2014, is required to give written notice to the company at 1910 Pacific
Avenue, Suite 12000, Dallas, Texas 75201, attention Corporate Secretary.

Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers

Directors’ Compensation

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013, no directors received any compensation for serving as a director. In April 2013,
Mr. Plumb was appointed to the board of directors and to serve as the Company’s President and Chief Operating Officer, in addition
to his current duties as Chief Financial Officer and Secretary. At that time, his compensation increased from $5,000 to $12,750 per
month.
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Executive Compensation

The following Summary Compensation Table sets forth, for the years indicated, all cash compensation paid, distributed or accrued
for services, including salary and bonus amounts, rendered in all capacities by our Chief Executive Officer and all other executive
officers who received or are entitled to receive remuneration in excess of $100,000 during the stated periods.

Name and Principal Position Year Salary ($) Bonus ($)
Option

Awards ($) (1)
Other

Compensation ($) Total ($)

Frederick Huttner, Jr. (2)

Chief Executive Officer
2013 —  —  —  440,739 440,739

J. Leonard Ivins
Chief Executive Officer

2013 156,000 —  689,557 —  845,557
2012 156,000 —  —  —  156,000
2011 156,000 40,000 —  —  196,000

Steven M. Plumb, CPA (3) 2013 175,000 —  543,235 —  718,235
2012 60,000 —  —  —  60,000
2011 10,000 —  —  —  10,000

(1) The fair value of options was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Variables used in the valuation include:
(1) discount rates of 0.36%, (2) expected life of 5 years, (3) expected volatility of 309.64%, 419.16% and 414.00% and
(4) zero expected dividends.

(2) In May 2012, the Company and Mr. Huttner agreed to cancel the Warrant owned by Mr. Huttner to acquire 500,000 shares of
Common Stock and issue to Mr. Huttner a five year option to purchase 1,300,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price
of $0.10 per share, effective December 30, 2011. The fair value of this option was $440,739, calculated using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model.

(3) The Company has retained Clear Financial Solutions, Inc., a consulting firm owned by Mr. Plumb, to provide interim chief
financial officer services at the rate of $2,500 per month. Mr. Plumb’s services were retained in December 2010. In July 2011,
Mr. Plumb’s monthly compensation was increased to $5,000 per month. In February 2013, Mr. Plumb’s monthly compensation
was increased to $10,000 per month, effective April 28, 2013. As a result, in the year ended March 31, 2013, additional
compensation of $110,000 due to Mr. Plumb was accrued. In April 2013, Mr. Plumb’s monthly compensation was increased to
$12,750 per month.

In February 2013, the Company issued 2,123,000 shares of Common Stock to Mr. Ivins upon the settlement of accrued
compensation. The total fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $193,000.

In February 2013, the Company issued 1,890,935 shares of its Common Stock to Mr. Plumb in settlement for services rendered. The
total fair market value of the shares on the date of issuance was $133,027.

In May 2012, the Company issued a stock option to Mr. Ivins to purchase 500,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $0.10 per
share, vesting immediately, with a five year term. The fair market value of the option on the date of grant was $99,270. In August
2012, the stock option was cancelled and a new option was issued to the Chairman of the Board to purchase 1,300,000 shares of
Common Stock at a price of $0.10 per share, vesting immediately, with a five year term. The fair market value of the option was
$649,846 on the date of grant.

In May 2012, the Company issued a stock option to Mr. Plumb to purchase 200,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $0.10 per
share, vesting as follows: 100,000 shares vest immediately and 100,000 shares vest on January 1, 2013, with a five year term. The
fair market value of the option on the date of grant was $39,708 and will be recognized over the term of the vesting period. In
August 2012, the stock option was cancelled and a new option was issued to the Chief Financial Officer to purchase 300,000 shares
of Common Stock at a price of $0.10 per share, vesting as follows: 200,000 shares vest immediately and 100,000 shares vest on
January 1, 2013, with a five year term. The fair market value of the option was $149,965 on the date of grant.
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In January 2013, the Company issued a stock option to Mr. Plumb to purchase 700,000 shares of the Common Stock at a price of
$0.10 per share, vesting on March 1, 2013, with a five year term. The fair market value of the option was $294,000 on the date of
grant.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End Table

The table below sets forth information with respect to our named executive officers regarding the value of equity compensation as
of March 31, 2013.

Name

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Exercisable

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised

Options
(#) Exercisable

Equity
Incentive

Plan Awards:
Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised

Unearned
Options (#)

Option
Exercise
Price ($)

Option
Expiration

Date

J. Leonard Ivins -0- -0- -0- -0- n/a
Steven M. Plumb (1) 700,000 700,000 -0- $ 0.10 2018

(1) The stock option granted to Mr. Plumb vested immediately on the date of grant, January 25, 2013, and had a fair market value
of $175,000 as of March 31, 2013, based upon a closing stock price of $0.25 on the last day of the Company’s fiscal year.

Employment Agreements

Frederick A. Huttner, Jr.

On October 28, 2011, the Company and Mr. Frederick Huttner entered into an employment agreement (the “Original Agreement”)
pursuant to which Mr. Huttner would serve as the Company’s president. Pursuant to the Original Agreement, the Company agreed
to issue Mr. Huttner 500,000 shares of Common Stock for services to be rendered.

On December 30, 2011, the Company and Mr. Huttner entered into an amended and restated employment agreement (the “Restated
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue, in lieu of the 500,000 shares of Common Stock described above, a
five year warrant (the “Warrant”) to purchase up to 500,000 shares Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share (such
exercise price being the previous day’s closing price of Common Stock as reported by the Pink Sheets OTCQB). The foregoing
summary of the Restated Agreement and the Warrant are qualified in their entirety to the Restated Agreement and Warrant were
filed as attachments to Form 8-K filed on January 5, 2012, each of which are incorporated herein by reference.

In May 2012, the Company and Mr. Huttner agreed to cancel the Warrant and issue to Mr. Huttner a five year option to purchase
1,300,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.10 per share, effective December 30, 2011.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Company’s directors and officers, and persons who own more than 10% of a
registered class of the Company’s equity securities (“Section 16 Persons”), to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and
reports of changes in ownership of Common Stock and other equity securities of the Company. Section 16 Persons are required by
SEC regulation to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file. Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires
our directors, executive officers, and the persons who beneficially own more than ten percent of our common stock, to file reports of
ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC.

11
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The following is a list of each person who, at any time during the fiscal year, was a director, officer, beneficial owner of more than
ten percent of our Common Stock (each, a “reporting person”) that failed to file on a timely basis, as disclosed in the above Forms,
reports required by section 16(a) of the Exchange Act during the most recent fiscal year, and the number of late reports, the number
of transactions that were not reported on a timely basis, and any known failure to file a required Form.

Len Ivins, Director and Officer has not filed a Form 3 and was late filing the following Forms:

Form No. Late filings

5 4
4 8

Steven Plumb, Director and Officer has not filed a Form 3 and was late filing the following Forms:

Form No. Late filings

5 1
4 4

Rick Huttner, Director and Officer during the fiscal year ending March 31, 2012, did not file any required Forms.

Kevan Casey, a beneficial owner during the fiscal year, did not file a Form 4 or Form 5 in 2013.

12
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Dallas, State of Texas on December 9,
2013.

BERING EXPLORATION, INC.

By: /s/ Chris Faulkner
Chris Faulkner, CEO and President
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10-KT 1 d698391d10kt.htm FORM 10-KT

Table of Contents

Washington, D.C. 20549

¨ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended                     

Or

x TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from March 31, 2013 to December 31, 2013

Commission file number: 000-50541

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Nevada 88-0507007
State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization
I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.

1910 Pacific Ave, Suite 12000, Dallas, Texas 75201
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (214) 716-2600

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of this Act: None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: Common Stock, $.001 par value per share

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act.    Yes  ¨    No  x
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the
Act.    Yes  ¨    Nox
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such
reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every
Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (ss. 232.405 of this chapter)
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such
files).    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (ss. 229.405 of this chapter) is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller
reporting company. See definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of
the Exchange Act. (Check One).

Large accelerated filer ¨ Accelerated filer ¨

Non-accelerated filer ¨ Smaller reporting company x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).    Yes  ¨    No  x

The aggregate market value of the voting common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant at June 30, 2013 was $2,828,454.

Number of shares of the registrant’s common stock outstanding at March 15, 2014 was 498,883,626.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE:

Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement for the 2014 annual meeting of stockholders, which will be filed within 120
days after December 31, 2013, are incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K.
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Cautionary Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The information in this report includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements, other
than statements of historical fact included in this report, regarding our strategy, future operations, financial position, estimated
revenues and losses, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management are forward-looking statements. When used in
this report, the words “could”, “should”, “will”, “play”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “estimate”, “expect”, “project” and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain such
identifying words. These forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and assumptions about future events and
are based on currently available information as to the outcome and timing of future events. When considering forward-looking
statements, you should keep in mind the risk factors and other cautionary statements described under the heading “Risk Factors”
included in this report. These forward-looking statements are based on management’s current belief, based on currently available
information, as to the outcome and timing of future events.

Forward-looking statements may include statements about:

• business strategy;

• reserve quantities and the present value of our reserves;

• financial strategy, liquidity and capital required for our development program;

• future oil and natural gas prices;

• timing and amount of future production of oil and natural gas;

• hedging strategy and results, if applicable;

• future drilling plans;

• marketing of oil and natural gas;

• leasehold or business acquisitions;

• costs of developing our properties;

• liquidity and access to capital;

• future operating results; and

• plans, objectives, expectations and intentions contained in this report that are not historical.

We caution you that these forward-looking statements are subject to all of the risks and uncertainties, most of which are
difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control, incident to the exploration for and development and production of oil
and natural gas. These risks include, but are not limited to, commodity price volatility, low prices for oil and/or natural gas, global
economic conditions, inflation, increased operating costs, lack of availability of drilling and production equipment and services,
environmental risks, weather risks, drilling and other operating risks, regulatory changes, the uncertainty inherent in estimating oil
and natural gas reserves and in projecting future rates of production, reductions in cash flow, access to capital, and the other risks
described under “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in this report.

Reserve engineering is a process of estimating underground accumulations of oil and natural gas that cannot be measured in an
exact way. The accuracy of any reserve estimate depends on the quality of available data, the interpretation of such data and price
and cost assumptions made by reservoir engineers. In addition, the results of drilling, testing and production activities may justify
revisions of estimates that were made previously. If significant, such revisions would change the schedule of any further production
and development drilling. Accordingly, reserve estimates may differ significantly from the quantities of oil and natural gas that are
ultimately recovered.

Should one or more of the risks or uncertainties described in this report occur, or should underlying assumptions prove
incorrect, our actual results and plans could differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements.
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All forward-looking statements, expressed or implied, included in this report are expressly qualified in their entirety by these
cautionary statements. These cautionary statements should also be considered in connection with any subsequent written or oral
forward-looking statements that we may issue.

Except as otherwise required by applicable law, we disclaim any duty to update any forward-looking statements, all of which
are expressly qualified by the statements in this section, to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report.
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CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” “ours,” the “Company” or “Breitling” when used in this
report refer to Breitling Energy Corporation, together with our consolidated operating subsidiaries. When the context requires, we
refer to these entities separately.

We have included below the definitions for certain terms used in this report:

3-D seismic – An advanced technology method of detecting accumulation of hydrocarbons identified through a three-
dimensional picture of the subsurface created by the collection and measurement of the intensity and timing of sound waves
transmitted into the earth as they reflect back to the surface.

AFE – Authority for expenditure.

After payout – With respect to an oil or natural gas interest in a property, refers to the time period after which the costs to drill
and equip a well have been recovered.

AMI – Area of mutual interest.

Bbl – One stock tank barrel, or 42 U.S. gallons liquid volume, used herein in reference to crude oil or other liquid
hydrocarbons.

Bbls/d or BOPD – Barrels per day.

Bcf – Billion cubic feet.

Bcfe – Billion cubic feet equivalent, determined using the ratio of six thousand cubic feet (Mcf) of natural gas to one Bbl of
crude oil, condensate or natural gas liquids.

Before payout – With respect to an oil and natural gas interest in a property, refers to the time period before which the costs to
drill and equip a well have been recovered.

Behind-pipe reserves – Those reserves expected to be recovered from completion interval(s) not yet open but still behind
casing in existing wells.

BOE – Barrel of oil equivalent, determined using a ratio of six Mcf of natural gas equal to one barrel of oil equivalent.

Carried interest – A contractual arrangement whereby all or a portion of the working interest cost participation of the project
originator is paid for by another party in exchange for earning an interest in such project.

Completion – The installation of permanent equipment for the production of oil or natural gas or, in the case of a dry hole, the
reporting of abandonment to the appropriate agency.

Compression – A force that tends to shorten or squeeze, decreasing volume or increasing pressure.

DD&A – Depreciation, depletion and amortization.

Developed acreage – The number of acres which are allotted or assignable to producing wells or wells capable of production.

Development activities – Activities following exploration including the installation of facilities and the drilling and completion
of wells for production purposes.

Development well – A well drilled within the proved area of an oil or natural gas reservoir to the depth of a stratigraphic
horizon known to be productive.

Dry hole or well – A well found to be incapable of producing hydrocarbons economically.
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EUR – Expected ultimate recovery from a well, reservoir or field.

Exploitation – The act of making oil and gas property more profitable, productive or useful.

Exploratory well – A well drilled to find and produce oil or natural gas reserves not classified as proved to find a new reservoir
in a field previously found to be productive of oil or natural gas in another reservoir or to extend a known reservoir.

Farm-in or Farmout – An agreement where the owner of a working interest in an oil and natural gas lease assigns the working
interest or a portion thereof to another party who desires to drill on the leased acreage. Generally, the assignee is required to drill
one or more wells in order to earn its interest in the acreage. The assignor usually retains a royalty and/or reversionary interest in the
lease. The interest received by the assignee is a “farm-in” while the interest transferred by the assignor is a “farmout.”

FASB – The Financial Accounting Standards Board.

Field – An area consisting of a single reservoir or multiple reservoirs all grouped on or related to the same individual
geological structural feature and/or stratigraphic condition.

GAAP – Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

Gross acres or gross wells – The total acres or wells, as the case may be, in which a working interest is owned.

Horizontal drilling – A drilling technique that permits the operator to contact and intersect a larger portion of the producing
horizon than conventional vertical drilling techniques that may, depending on horizon, result in increased production rates and
greater ultimate recoveries of hydrocarbons.

Injection well – A well to inject gas, water, or liquefied petroleum gas under high pressure into a producing formation to
maintain sufficient pressure to produce the recoverable reserves.

Mineral rights – Ownership of minerals under a defined surface along with the legal right of access so the minerals can be
extracted. Mineral rights can be separated and transferred from land ownership. Also called subsurface rights.

MBbls – One thousand barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.

MBOE – One thousand barrels of oil equivalent, determined using a ratio of six Mcf of natural gas equal to one barrel of oil
equivalent.

Mbtu (Mmbtu) – Used as a standard unit of measurement for natural gas and provides a convenient basis for comparing the
energy content of various grades of natural gas and other fuels. One cubic foot of natural gas produces approximately 1,000 BTUs,
so 1,000 cubic feet of gas is comparable to 1 MBTU. MBTU is often expressed as MMBTU, which is intended to represent a
thousand BTUs.

Mcf – One thousand cubic feet.

Mcf/d – One thousand cubic feet per day.

Mcfe – One thousand cubic feet equivalent determined by using the ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one Bbl of crude oil,
condensate or natural gas liquids, which approximates the relative energy content of crude oil, condensate and natural gas liquids as
compared to natural gas. Prices have historically been higher or substantially higher for crude oil than natural gas on an energy
equivalent basis although there have been periods in which they have been lower or substantially lower.

MMcf – One million cubic feet.

MMcf/d – One million cubic feet per day.

MMcfe – One million cubic feet equivalent.
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Net acres or net wells – The product of the fractional working interests owned by gross acres or gross wells.

NGL’s – Natural gas liquids measured in barrels.

NRI or Net Revenue Interests – The share of production after satisfaction of all royalty, oil payments and other non-operating
interests.

Normally pressured reservoirs – Reservoirs with a formation-fluid pressure equivalent to 0.465 per square inch per foot of
depth from the surface. For example, if the formation pressure is 4,650 per square inch at a depth of 10,000 feet, the pressure is
considered to be normal.

Over-riding royalty interest – A royalty interest derived from the working interest, in excess of the royalty provided in the oil
and gas lease.

Over-pressured reservoirs – Reservoirs with a formation fluid pressure greater than 0.465 per square inch per foot of depth
from the surface.

Plant products – Liquids generated by a plant facility; including propane, iso-butane, normal butane, pentane and ethane.

Plugging and abandonment or P&A – Refers to the sealing off of fluids in the strata penetrated by a well so that the fluids
from one stratum will not escape into another or to the surface. Regulations of many states require plugging of abandoned wells.

PV-10 – The present value of estimated future revenues to be generated from the production of proved reserves calculated in
accordance with SEC guidelines, net of estimated lease operating expense, production taxes and future development costs, using
prices, as prescribed in the SEC rules, and costs as of the date of estimation without future escalation, without giving effect to
non-property related expenses such as general and administrative expenses, debt service, depreciation, depletion and amortization,
or Federal income taxes and discounted using and annual discount rate of 10%. PV-10 is considered a non-GAAP financial measure
as defined by the SEC.

Possible reserves – Additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than probable reserves. When deterministic
methods are used, the total quantities ultimately recovered from a project have a low probability of exceeding proved plus probable
plus possible reserves. When probabilistic methods are used, there should be at least a 10% probability that the total quantities
ultimately recovered will equal or exceed the proved plus probable plus possible reserves estimates. Possible reserves may be
assigned to areas of a reservoir adjacent to probable reserves where data control and interpretations of available data are
progressively less certain. Frequently, this will be in areas where geoscience and engineering data are unable to define clearly the
area and vertical limits of commercial production from the reservoir by a defined project. Possible reserves also include incremental
quantities associated with a greater percentage recovery of the hydrocarbons in place than the recovery quantities assumed for
probable reserves. Possible reserves may be assigned where geoscience and engineering data identify directly adjacent portions of a
reservoir within the same accumulation that may be separated from proved areas by faults with displacement less than formation
thickness or other geological discontinuities and that have not been penetrated by a wellbore, and the Company believes that such
adjacent portions are in communication with the known (proved) reservoir. Possible reserves may be assigned to areas that are
structurally higher or lower than the proved area if these areas are in communication with the proved reservoir. Where direct
observation has defined a highest known oil (“HKO”) elevation and the potential exists for an associated gas cap, proved oil
reserves should be assigned in the structurally higher portions of the reservoir above the HKO only if the higher contact can be
established with reasonable certainty through reliable technology. Portions of the reservoir that do not meet this reasonable certainty
criterion may be assigned as probable and possible oil or gas based on reservoir fluid properties and pressure gradient
interpretations.

Primary recovery – The first stage of hydrocarbon production in which natural reservoir drives are used to recover
hydrocarbons, although some form of artificial lift may be required to exploit declining reservoir drives.

Probable reserves – Additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than proved reserves but which, together with
proved reserves, are as likely as not to be recovered. When deterministic methods are used, it is as likely as not that actual remaining
quantities recovered will exceed the sum of estimated proved plus probable reserves. When probabilistic methods are used, there
should be at least a 50% probability that the actual quantities recovered will equal or exceed the proved plus probable reserves
estimates. Probable reserves may be assigned to areas of a reservoir adjacent to proved reserves where data control or interpretations
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of available data are less certain, even if the interpreted reservoir continuity of structure or productivity does not meet the reasonable
certainty criterion. Probable reserves may be assigned to areas that are structurally higher than the proved area if these areas are in
communication with the proved reservoir. Probable reserves estimates also include potential incremental quantities associated with a
greater percentage recovery of the hydrocarbons in place than assumed for proved reserves.
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Productive well – A well that is found to be capable of producing hydrocarbons in sufficient quantities such that proceeds from
the sale of such production exceed production expenses and taxes.

Proved developed nonproducing reserves or PDNP – Proved developed nonproducing reserves are proved reserves that are
either shut-in or are behind-pipe reserves.

Proved developed producing reserves or PDP – Proved developed reserves that are expected to be recovered from completion
intervals currently open in existing wells and able to produce to market.

Proved developed reserves – Proved reserves that are expected to be recovered from existing wells with existing equipment
and operating methods.

Proved oil and gas reserves – Proved oil and gas reserves are those quantities of oil and gas, which, by analysis of geoscience
and engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible from a given date forward, from
known reservoirs, and under existing economic conditions, operating methods, and government regulations prior to the time at
which contracts providing the right to operate expire, unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain, regardless of
whether deterministic or probabilistic methods are used for the estimation. The project to extract the hydrocarbons must have
commenced or the operator must be reasonably certain that it will commence the project within a reasonable time. (i) The area of
the reservoir considered as proved includes: (A) the area identified by drilling and limited by fluid contacts, if any, and (B) adjacent
undrilled portions of the reservoir that can, with reasonable certainty, be judged to be continuous with it and to contain economically
producible oil or gas on the basis of available geoscience and engineering data. (ii) In the absence of data on fluid contacts, proved
quantities in a reservoir are limited by the lowest known hydrocarbons (LKH) as seen in a well penetration unless geoscience,
engineering, or performance data and reliable technology establishes a lower contact with reasonable certainty. (iii) Where direct
observation from well penetrations has defined a highest known oil (HKO) elevation and the potential exists for an associated gas
cap, proved oil reserves may be assigned in the structurally higher portions of the reservoir only if geoscience, engineering, or
performance data and reliable technology establish the higher contact with reasonable certainty. (iv) Reserves which can be
produced economically through application of improved recovery techniques (including, but not limited to, fluid injection) are
included in the proved classification when: (A) successful testing by a pilot project in an area of the reservoir with properties no
more favorable than in the reservoir as a whole, the operation of an installed program in the reservoir or an analogous reservoir, or
other evidence using reliable technology establishes the reasonable certainty of the engineering analysis on which the project or
program was based; and (B) the project has been approved for development by all necessary parties and entities, including
governmental entities. (v) Existing economic conditions include prices and costs at which economic producibility from a reservoir is
to be determined. The price shall be the average price during the 12-month period prior to the ending date of the period covered by
the report, determined as an unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each month within such period,
unless prices are defined by contractual arrangements, excluding escalations based upon future conditions.

Proved undeveloped location – A site on which a development well can be drilled consistent with spacing rules for purposes
of recovering proved undeveloped reserves.

Proved undeveloped reserves or PUD – Proved reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage
or from existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion.

Recompletion – The completion for production of an existing wellbore in another formation from that in which the well has
been previously completed.

Re-engineering – A process involving a comprehensive review of the mechanical conditions associated with wells and
equipment in producing fields. Our re-engineering practices typically result in a capital expenditure plan, which is implemented
over time, to workover (see below) and re-complete wells and modify down-hole artificial lift equipment and surface equipment and
facilities. The programs are designed specifically for individual fields to increase and maintain production, reduce down-time and
mechanical failures, lower per-unit operating expenses, and therefore, improve field economics.

Reprocessing – Taking older seismic data and performing new mathematical techniques to refine subsurface images or to
provide additional ways of interpreting the subsurface environment.

8
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Reservoir – A porous and permeable underground formation containing a natural accumulation of producible oil and/or natural
gas that is confined by impermeable rock or water barriers and is individual and separate from other reservoirs.

Royalty – The portion of oil, gas, and minerals retained by the lessor on execution of a lease or their cash value paid by the
lessee to the lessor or to one who has acquired possession of the royalty rights, based on a percentage of the gross production from
the property free and clear of all costs except taxes.

Royalty interest – An interest in an oil and natural gas property entitling the owner to a share of oil or natural gas production
free of costs of production.

Secondary recovery – The use of water-flooding or gas injection to maintain formation pressure during primary production
and to reduce the rate of decline of the original reservoir drive.

Shut-in reserves – Those reserves expected to be recovered from completion intervals that were open at the time the reserve
was estimated but were not producing due to market conditions, mechanical difficulties or because production equipment or
pipelines were not yet installed.

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows – Present value of proved reserves, as adjusted to give effect to
estimated future abandonment costs, net of estimated salvage value of related equipment, and estimated future income taxes.

Undeveloped acreage – Lease acreage on which wells have not been drilled or completed to a point that would permit the
production of commercial quantities of oil and natural gas regardless of whether such acreage contains proved reserves.

Working interest or WI – The operating interest that gives the owner the right to drill, produce and conduct operating activities
on the property and share of production, subject to all royalties, overriding royalties and other burdens and to share in all costs of
exploration, development operations and all risks in connection therewith.

Workover – Operations on a producing well to restore or increase production.

9
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PART I

ITEM 1 – BUSINESS

Overview of Our Business

History

Breitling Energy Corporation (formerly, Bering Exploration Inc., formerly, Oncolin Therapeutics, Inc., formerly, Edgeline
Holdings, Inc., formerly, Dragon Gold Resources, Inc., formerly Folix Technologies, Inc.) (“we”, “our” or the “Company”) was
incorporated in the State of Nevada on December 13, 2000 under the name “Folix Technologies, Inc.” On August 18, 2004, the
Company changed its name to Dragon Gold Resources, Inc. On June 22, 2007, the Company changed its name to Edgeline
Holdings, Inc. and on March 11, 2008 to Oncolin Therapeutics, Inc. On September 7, 2010, the Company changed its name to
Bering Exploration, Inc. and on January 20, 2014 to Breitling Energy Corporation.

On February 12, 2012, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board of Directors”) approved a 1-for-10 reverse
stock split, which became effective on February 27, 2012. The Company has retroactively applied this reverse stock split to its
financial reporting for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011. On December 23, 2013, the stockholders of the Company voted to
approve a resolution authorizing the Board of Directors to effect a reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock at a ratio of
not less than 1-for-2 and not greater than 1-for-100, with the exact ratio to be set within such a range at the discretion of the Board
of Directors. The Board of Directors has not yet effected this reverse stock split.

On December 9, 2013, we completed an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with Breitling Oil and Gas
Corporation, a Texas corporation (“O&G”) and Breitling Royalties Corporation, a Texas corporation (“Royalties,” and collectively
with O&G, the “Predecessors”). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Company issued to the Predecessors 461,863,084 shares
of common stock, in exchange for substantially all of the oil and gas assets owned by the Predecessors (the “Transaction”). In
connection with the closing of the Transaction (the “Closing”), all of the Company’s outstanding convertible notes were converted
into common stock. The shares of common stock issued to the Predecessors represent approximately 92.5% of the shares of
common stock outstanding following the Closing. The Closing did not affect the number of shares of common stock held by our
existing public stockholders. O&G was founded in October 2004 in Dallas, Texas.

Business Strategy

We are an oil and gas exploration and production company that acquires and develops lower risk onshore oil and gas
working interests and royalty interests in proven basins in the United States, such as the Permian Basin in Texas, the Bakken / Three
Forks formations located in North Dakota and the Mississippi Lime and Hunton / Woodford / Cleveland formations located in
Oklahoma. We operate wells in the Permian Basin in Texas and Mississippi Lime in Kansas and plan to expand our operations in
the Permian Basin. As of December 31, 2013, the vast majority of our oil and gas interests were acquired as royalty interests or
non-operated working interests. Our asset base is primarily comprised of rights to the revenue interests. We are developing
infrastructure and expertise to acquire and develop our own properties after December 31, 2013.

Exploration and Production Activities

Our exploration activities are focused on adding profit generating production to existing core areas and increasing our
current operated and non-operation positions.

Our primary goal is to increase stockholder value by increasing the value of acquired properties through a combination of
exploitation, drilling and proven engineering extraction practices.

As part of our corporate strategy, we believe in the following fundamental principles:

• Expand our direct operations through the acquisition of operated working interests.

• Maximize the value of our properties by increasing production and reserves while controlling cost.

• Maintain a highly competitive team of experienced and incentivized personnel.

• Acquire properties where we believe additional value can be created through secondary and tertiary recovery operations
and a combination of other exploitation, development, exploration and marketing techniques.
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Our goal is to build long-term stockholder value by growing reserves and production revenues in a cost-efficient manner.
To accomplish our goal, we plan to carry out a balanced program of (1) developing our properties and expanding into other areas,
(2) operating as a low-cost producer, (3) pursuing strategic, complementary acquisitions and (4) maintaining financial flexibility.
The following are key elements of our strategy:

• Develop our properties. Operations and investment opportunities are focused on exploratory and developmental drilling
onshore in the U.S. in major plays such as the Permian Basin, Eagle Ford, Marcellus, Utica, Granite Wash, Cleveland,
Hunton, Mississippi Lime, Bakken, Lower Hope Lime and Three Forks unconventional liquids plays.

• Operate our properties as a low-cost producer. We strive to minimize our operating costs by concentrating our assets
within geographic areas where we can consolidate operating control and, thus, create operating efficiencies. We continue
to develop our operations in Texas, Oklahoma and Kansas.

• Acquire strategic, complementary assets. We target the acquisition of assets in oil and gas fields which display
long-lived, high-quality production, heavily weighted in oil and/or liquids rich natural gas production. We evaluate
acquisitions based on decline profiles, reserve life and seek to take advantage of any operational in-efficiencies of the
target operator. We predominantly value the target’s discounted cash flows from its proved developed producing category.

Oil and Gas Leases and Wells

As of December 31, 2013, our approximately 1,426 oil and gas properties located in seven states and 84 counties consist
of approximately 6,000 oil and gas wells, 999 proved locations, 291 probable locations and 136 possible locations, which are
primarily held by production. Our asset base is primarily comprised of rights to receive revenue interest.

Operated Acreage

On February 19, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Farmout Agreement”) with Steller Energy and
Investment Corporation (“Steller”). Steller had previously entered into an agreement with Clayton Williams Energy, Inc. for the
exploration and development of approximately 3,680 acres located in Sterling County, Texas and the Farmout Agreement provides
for the Company to perform the obligations of Steller under that existing agreement. Under the Farmout Agreement, the Company
will earn a 100% working interest in each well that the Company drills, along with surrounding acreage. If the Company elects to
drill at least eight wells, the Company will retain the interest in the entire acreage. The acreage is located in northwestern Sterling
County in an area with multiple pay zones. Wells drilled on or adjacent to this block have produced from the Lower Wolfcamp
Lime, the Canyon Sand, the Mississippian Chert and Lime, the Fusselman Lime, the Montoya Lime, and the Ellenburger Dolomite.
Using improved exploration and exploitation methods, the farmout offers the opportunity to develop significant oil and gas reserves
with low to moderate risk.

Acquisitions of Carried Interests

The Predecessors acquired their oil and gas assets in connection with their business model that differs substantially from
that of the Company or an ordinary oil and exploration and production company. The Predecessors acquired either working interests
in oil and gas properties or royalty interests in oil and gas properties. Following these acquisitions, the Predecessors offered interests
in those properties to accredited investors through a series of private placements. The interests offered in those properties were
subject to certain carried interests, and those carried interests constitute the bulk of the oil and gas assets acquired from the
Predecessors.

The Predecessors have also entered into turnkey drilling contracts with outside working interest owners to develop
leasehold acreage acquired. In these arrangements, the Predecessors acquired a working interest in a prospect pursuant to an oil and
gas lease, and then sold a portion of a well’s working interest on the acquired lease to third parties with a turnkey drilling agreement.
In each case, the working interest holders are obligated to bear the cost of drilling, testing, completing, equipping and operating the
well. The Predecessors typically sold a substantial portion of the working interests, had a third-party operate the projects and were
granted a carried interest.

In a turnkey drilling agreement, the Predecessors agreed to pay for all costs of identifying, acquiring mineral rights to,
drilling, testing, completing and equipping the well for initial production at a fixed price. If the actual costs of these activities
exceed the turnkey price, the Predecessors were obligated to pay the excess cost. If the actual costs were less than the turnkey price,
the Predecessors were entitled to retain the excess of the turnkey price over actual costs. Following completion of each producing
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We intend to continue the acquisition of working interests and royalty interests in oil and gas properties through our
subsidiaries and special purpose entities and retain carried interests relating to such properties. The Company through its
subsidiaries and special purpose entities plans to develop and operate private placement funds to various institutions (the “Funds”)
pursuant to which investors (who are not the same as the stockholders of the Company) will be offered the opportunity to invest in
certain oil and gas interests or royalties interests sourced by the Company. These Funds will generate management fees and other
fees payable to subsidiaries of the Company as well as generate the retained carried interests.

Acquisition of Other Assets and Leveraging of Assets Acquired

The Company intends to acquire additional assets of a similar type and nature as the assets it currently has including new
and existing hydrocarbon wells and oil and gas leases. In the event the Company is unable to acquire the additional assets it plans to
acquire it will take the Company significantly longer to implement profitable revenue producing activities. If the Company should
successfully acquire additional assets, the assets may or may not be in the same geographical location as the assets we currently own
as the Company reserves the right to acquire assets or operate in any geographic locations management believes, in their sole
judgment, to be in the best interest of the Company.

Once the Company acquires the oil and gas assets, the Company may leverage those assets by borrowing from a financial
source and using the assets as collateral. While this strategy will increase the available funds for Company use, it will require the
Company to pay debt service from its cash flow.

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to achieve its objectives as its plans are dependent upon a
number of factors, including but not limited to, the availability of debt and equity capital, the performance of the economy, the
availability of adequate raw materials, skilled employees and managers and the activities of our competition.

Development and Exploration Activities

Economic factors prevailing in the oil and gas industry change from time to time. The uncertain nature and trend of
economic conditions and energy policy in the oil and gas business generally make flexibility of operating policies important in
achieving desired profitability. We intend to evaluate continuously all conditions affecting our potential activities and to react to
those conditions, as we deem appropriate from time to time by engaging in businesses we believe will be the most profitable for us.
With the continued increase in oil and gas prices and the disparity of US natural gas prices compared to other places in the world,
we believe there will be continued growth for the foreseeable future.

Governmental Regulations

Both state and federal authorities regulate the extraction, production, transportation and sale of oil, gas, and minerals. The
executive and legislative branches of government at both the state and federal levels have periodically proposed and considered
proposals for establishment of controls on alternative fuels, energy conservation, environmental protection, taxation of crude oil
imports, limitation of crude oil imports, as well as various other related programs. If any proposals relating to the above subjects
were to be enacted, we cannot predict what effect, if any, implementation of such proposals would have upon our operations. A
listing of the more significant current state and federal statutory authority for regulation of our current operations and business are
provided below.

Federal Regulatory Controls

Recently a new wave of legislation and regulation at the federal level has been initiated. Our operations are subject to
numerous laws and regulations governing the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise relating to environmental
protection. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, these laws and regulations may:

• require the acquisition of a permit before drilling commences;

• restrict the types, quantities and concentration of various substances that can be released into the environment from
drilling and production activities;
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• limit or prohibit drilling activities on certain lands lying within wilderness, wetlands and other protected areas;

• require remedial measures to mitigate pollution from former operations, such as plugging abandoned wells; and

• impose substantial liabilities for pollution resulting from our operations.

Our operations use hydraulic fracturing to drill new oil and gas wells. Hydraulic fracturing is a process that is used to
release hydrocarbons from certain geological formations. The process involves the injection of water (typically mixed with
significant quantities of sand and small quantities of chemical additives) under pressure into the formation to fracture the
surrounding rock and stimulate movement of hydrocarbons through the formation. The process is typically regulated by state oil and
gas commissions and has been exempt (except when the fracturing fluids or propping agents contain diesel fuels) since 2005 from
United States federal regulation pursuant to the Safe Drinking Water Act.

The EPA is conducting a comprehensive study of the potential environmental impacts of hydraulic fracturing activities,
and a committee of the United States House of Representatives is also conducting an investigation of hydraulic fracturing practices.
The results of the EPA study and House investigation could lead to restrictions on hydraulic fracturing. The EPA is currently
working on new guidance for application of the Safe Drinking Water Act permits for drilling or completing processes that use
fracturing fluids or propping agents containing diesel fuels. In addition, the EPA proposed regulations under the federal Clean Air
Act in July 2011 regarding certain criteria and hazardous air pollutant emissions from hydraulic fracturing wells and, in October
2011, announced its intention to propose regulations by 2014 under the federal Clean Water Act to regulate wastewater discharges
from hydraulic fracturing and other gas production.

Legislation has been introduced before Congress to provide for federal regulation of hydraulic fracturing, including, for
example, requiring disclosure of chemicals used in the fracturing process or seeking to repeal the exemption from the Safe Drinking
Water Act. If adopted, such legislation would add an additional level of regulation and necessary permitting at the federal level and
could make it more difficult to complete wells using hydraulic fracturing. Similar laws and regulations with respect to chemical
disclosure also exist or are being considered by the United States Department of Interior and in several states that could restrict
hydraulic fracturing.

Future United States federal, state or local laws or regulations could significantly restrict, or increase costs associated
with hydraulic fracturing and make it more difficult or costly for producers to conduct hydraulic fracturing operations, which could
result in a decline of our exploration and production. New laws and regulations, and new enforcement policies by regulatory
agencies, could also expressly restrict the quantities, sources and methods of water use and disposal in hydraulic fracturing and
otherwise increase our costs and our customers’ cost of compliance, which could minimize water use and disposal needs even if
other limits on drilling and completing new wells were not imposed. Any decline in exploration and production or any restrictions
on water use and disposal could result in a decline in our drilling and rework activity and have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The recent trend toward stricter standards in environmental legislation and regulation is likely to continue. The enactment
of stricter legislation or the adoption of stricter regulation could have a significant impact on our operating costs, as well as on the
oil and gas industry in general.

State Regulatory Controls

In each state where we conduct or contemplate oil and gas activities, these activities are subject to various regulations.
The regulations relate to the extraction, production, transportation and sale of oil and natural gas, the issuance of drilling permits,
the methods of developing new production, the spacing and operation of wells, the conservation of oil and natural gas reservoirs and
other similar aspects of oil and gas operations. In particular, the State of Texas (where we plan to conduct a large part of our oil and
gas operations to date) regulates the rate of daily production allowable from both oil and gas wells on a market demand or
conservation basis. At the present time, no significant portion of our production has been curtailed due to reduced allowable
production. We know of no proposed regulation that will significantly impede our operations.

State Environmental Regulations

Our extraction, production and drilling operations are subject to environmental protection regulations established by
federal, state, and local agencies. To the best of our knowledge, we believe that we are in compliance with the applicable
environmental regulations established by the agencies with jurisdiction over our operations. We are acutely aware that the applicable
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Our competitors are subject to the same regulations and therefore, the existence of such regulations does not appear to
have any material effect upon our position with respect to our competitors. The Texas Legislature has mandated a regulatory
program for the management of hazardous wastes generated during crude oil and natural gas exploration and production, gas
processing, oil and gas waste reclamation and transportation operations. The disposal of these wastes, as governed by the Railroad
Commission of Texas, is becoming an increasing burden on the industry.

As discussed above the likelihood of increased level of regulations at the federal level will also have a corresponding
regulatory action at the state level.

Revenues from oil and gas production are subject to taxation by the state in which the production occurred. In Texas, the
state receives a severance tax of 4.6% for oil production and 7.5% for gas production. These high percentage state taxes can have a
significant impact upon the economic viability of marginal wells that we may produce and require plugging of wells sooner than
would be necessary in a less arduous taxing environment.

Marketing and Transportation Regulations

Sales of natural gas are affected by the availability, terms and cost of transportation. The price and terms for access to
pipeline transportation are subject to extensive federal and state regulation. From 1985 to the present, several major regulatory
changes have been implemented by Congress and the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) that affect the economics
of natural gas production, transportation and sales. In addition, FERC is continually proposing and implementing new rules
affecting segments of the natural gas industry, most notably interstate natural gas transmission companies, which remain subject to
FERC’s jurisdiction. These initiatives may also affect the intrastate transportation of gas under certain circumstances. The stated
purpose of many of these regulatory changes is to promote competition among the various sectors of the natural gas industry and
these initiatives generally reflect more light-handed regulation.

Our sales of crude oil and condensate are currently not regulated and are made at market prices. In a number of instances,
however, the ability to transport and sell such products are dependent on pipelines whose rates, terms and conditions of service are
subject to FERC jurisdiction under the Interstate Commerce Act. However, we do not believe that these regulations affect us any
differently than other crude oil producers.

Marketing

Our ability to market oil and natural gas often depends on factors beyond our control. The potential effects of
governmental regulation and market factors, including alternative domestic and imported energy sources, available pipeline
capacity, and general market conditions, are not entirely predictable.

Natural gas is generally sold pursuant to individually negotiated gas purchase contracts, which vary in length from spot
market sales of a single day to term agreements that may extend several years. Customers who purchase natural gas include
marketing affiliates of the major oil and gas companies, pipeline companies, natural gas marketing companies, and a variety of
commercial and public authorities, industrial, and institutional end-users who ultimately consume the gas. Gas purchase contracts
define the terms and conditions unique to each of these sales. The price received for natural gas sold on the spot market may vary
daily reflecting changing market conditions. The deliverability and price of natural gas are subject to both governmental regulation
and supply and demand forces.

We sell natural gas to many customers. All customers are well capitalized and regulated. We do not anticipate any
customer becoming unable to perform under their agreement.

Oil produced is sold at the prevailing field price to one or more of a number of unaffiliated purchasers in the area.
Generally, purchase contracts for the sale of oil are cancelable on 30 days’ notice. The price paid by these purchasers is an
established market or “posted” price that is offered to all producers.
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Competition

We compete with major integrated oil and natural gas companies and independent oil and natural gas companies in all
areas of our operation. In particular, we compete for property acquisitions and for the equipment and labor required to operate and
develop these properties. Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial and other resources than we have. Larger
competitors may be able to absorb the burden of any changes in federal, state and local laws and regulations more easily than we
can, which could adversely affect our competitive position. Our competitors also may be able to pay more for exploratory prospects
and may be able to define, evaluate, bid for and purchase a greater number of properties and prospects than we can. Further, our
competitors may have technological advantages and may be able to implement new technologies more rapidly than we can. Our
ability to explore for oil andnatural gas prospects and to acquire additional properties in the future will depend on our ability to
conduct operations, to evaluate and select suitable properties and to consummate transactions in this highly competitive
environment. In addition, most of our competitors have operated for a much longer time than we have and have demonstrated the
ability to operate through industry cycles.

At various times, we may experience occasional or prolonged shortages or unavailability of drilling rigs, drill pipe and
other material used in oil and natural gas drilling. Such unavailability could result in increased costs, delays in timing of anticipated
development or cause interests in undeveloped oil and natural gas leases to lapse.

Insurance

In accordance with customary industry practices, we maintain insurance coverage against some, but not all, potential
losses in order to protect against the risks we face. We do not carry business interruption insurance. We may elect not to carry
insurance if our management believes that the cost of available insurance is excessive relative to the risks presented. In addition, we
cannot insure fully against pollution and environmental risks. The occurrence of an event not fully covered by insurance could have
a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Employees

We employ ten full-time employees. The employees are assigned to the following departments: administrative,
accounting, legal and operations. We retain the services of a significant number of individuals through contract services. These
services provide operational and administrative support.

ITEM 1A - RISK FACTORS

Described below are certain risks that we believe are applicable to our business and the oil and gas industry in which we
operate. There may be additional risks that are not presently material or known. You should carefully consider each of the following
risks and all other information set forth in this annual report.

The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties, other than
those we describe below, that are not presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial, may also impair our
business operations. If any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be harmed.

We have had operating losses and limited revenues to date.

We have operated at a loss in each of the last two years. Net losses applicable to stockholders for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2013 were $5.7 million and $2.5 million, respectively. Our revenues for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2013 were $13.4 million and $26.6 million, respectively. We may not be able to generate significant
revenues in the future. In addition, we expect to incur substantial operating expenses in connection with our natural gas and oil
exploration and development activities. As a result, we may continue to experience negative cash flow for at least the foreseeable
future and cannot predict if or when we might become profitable.

We do not have a long history of operations.

Until the Company establishes centralized accounting and other administrative systems, it will rely primarily on the
separate systems developed by the Predecessors. The success of the Company will depend, in part, on the extent to which it is able
to centralize these functions and otherwise integrate the systems developed by the Predecessor and such additional businesses as it
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may hereafter acquire into a cohesive, efficient enterprise. The Company’s executive officers have only limited experience working
together, and no assurance can be given they will be able to manage the Company effectively or successfully execute the Company’s
acquisition and operating strategies.
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Our exploration appraisal and development activities are subject to many risks which may affect our ability to
profitably extract oil reserves or achieve targeted returns. In addition, continued growth requires that we acquire and
successfully develop additional oil reserves.

Oil and gas exploration may involve unprofitable efforts, not only from dry wells, but from wells that are productive but
do not produce sufficient net revenues to return a profit after drilling, operating and other costs. Completion of a well does not
assure a profit on the investment or recovery of drilling, completion and operating costs. In addition, drilling hazards or
environmental damage could greatly increase the cost of operations, and various field operating conditions may negatively affect the
production from successful wells. These conditions include delays in obtaining governmental approvals or consents, shut-ins of
connected wells resulting from extreme weather conditions, insufficient storage or transportation capacity or other geological and
mechanical conditions. While diligent well supervision and effective maintenance operations can contribute to maximizing
production rates over time, production delays and declines from normal field operating conditions cannot be eliminated and can be
expected to negatively affect revenue and cash flow levels to varying degrees.

Our future success depends upon our ability to find, develop and acquire additional oil and gas reserves that are
economically recoverable.

The rate of production from oil and natural gas properties declines as reserves are depleted. As a result, we must
continually locate and develop or acquire new oil and gas reserves to replace those being depleted by production. We must do this
even during periods of low oil and gas prices when it is difficult to raise the capital necessary to finance activities. Without
successful exploration or acquisition activities, our reserves and revenues will decline. A future increase in our reserves will depend
not only on our ability to explore and develop any properties we may have from time to time, but also on our ability to select and
acquire suitable producing properties or prospects. We cannot guaranty that we will be able to continue to locate satisfactory
properties for acquisition or participation. Moreover, if such acquisitions or participations are identified, we may determine that
current markets, terms of acquisition and participation or pricing conditions make such acquisitions or participations economically
disadvantageous. We cannot guaranty that commercial quantities of oil will be discovered or acquired by us.

The marketability of our production depends in part upon the availability, proximity and capacity of pipelines and
other factors that are beyond our control.

Our ability to market oil and gas from our wells depends upon numerous factors beyond our control. These factors
include, but are not limited to, the following:

• the level of domestic production and imports of oil and gas;

• the proximity of gas production to gas pipelines;

• the availability of pipeline capacity;

• the demand for oil and gas by utilities and other end users;

• the availability of alternate fuel sources;

• the effect of inclement weather;

• state and federal regulation of oil and gas marketing; and

• federal regulation of gas sold or transported in interstate commerce.

If these factors were to change dramatically, our ability to market oil and gas or obtain favorable prices for our oil and gas
could be adversely affected.
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The marketability of our production may be dependent upon transportation facilities over which we have no control.

The marketability of our production depends in part upon the availability, proximity and capacity of pipelines, natural gas
gathering systems and processing facilities. Any significant change in market factors affecting these infrastructure facilities could
harm our business. We deliver oil and natural gas through gathering systems and pipelines that we do not own. These facilities may
not be available to us in the future.

The nature of our business may lead to conflicts of interest.

Conflicts of interest exist and may arise in the future as a result of the relationships between the Company and its
affiliates. Approximately 92.5% of our common stock is owned by the Predecessors, which in turn are owned by our President,
CEO and Chairman, Parker Hallam and Michael Miller. Pursuant to an Administrative Services Agreement entered into between
Crude Energy, LLC and Crude Royalties, LLC (collectively, “Crude”), the Company may, from time to time, offer working interests
and royalty interests to Crude. Crude is controlled by Parker Hallam and Michael Miller.

In addition, the Company through its subsidiaries and special purpose entities plans to develop and operate private
placement funds to various institutions (the “Funds”) pursuant to which investors (who are not the same as the stockholders of the
Company) will be offered the opportunity to invest in certain oil and gas interests or royalty interests sourced by the Company. In
addition, many of the officers of the Company serve in similar capacities with the Funds, which may lead to additional conflicts of
interest. The directors and officers of the Funds have fiduciary duties to manage the Funds in a manner beneficial to its owners. At
the same time, our directors and officers have a fiduciary duty to manage the Company in a manner beneficial to us and our
stockholders.

Whenever a conflict arises between the Funds, the Predecessors and their affiliates, on the one hand, and the Company or
its stockholders on the other hand, our board of directors will resolve that conflict. We cannot assure you that the conflicts will
always be resolved in the Company’s favor.

We may be subject to liabilities arising out of the Predecessors’ business.

The Predecessors operated a business of acquiring interests in oil and gas properties, selling those interests and retaining
carried interests therein. In connection with that business, the Predecessors conducted private placements of securities.
Consequently, if the oil and gas interests sold by the Predecessors do not perform as expected by the investors therein, the
Predecessors may be subject to future claims arising out of allegations that those securities were issued in violation of the Securities
Act or State Blue Sky Laws. Any such claims, if made, could result in attorneys’ fees and other defense costs, including any
settlements or judgments rendered, that may adversely affect the financial condition of the Company.

Counterparty credit risk may negatively impact the conversion of our accounts receivables to cash.

The Company is or may be exposed to third party credit risk through its contractual arrangements with its current or
future marketers of its oil and natural gas production and other parties. In the event such entities fail to meet their contractual
obligations to the Company, such failures could have a material adverse effect on our cash flow from operations.

Recent economic conditions in the credit markets may adversely affect our financial condition.

The disruption experienced in U.S. and global credit markets since the latter half of 2008 has resulted in instability in
demand for oil and natural gas, resulting in volatile energy prices, and has affected the availability and cost of capital. In addition,
capital and credit markets have experienced unprecedented volatility and disruption and continue to be unpredictable. Given the
current levels of market volatility and disruption, the availability of funds from those markets has diminished substantially.
Prolonged negative changes in domestic and global economic conditions or disruptions of the financial or credit markets may have a
material adverse effect on our results from operations, financial condition and liquidity. At this time, it is unclear whether and to
what extent the actions taken by the U.S. government will mitigate the effects of the financial market turmoil. The impact of the
current difficult conditions on our ability to obtain, and the cost and terms of, any financing in the future is equally unclear. Any
inability to obtain adequate financing or to fund on acceptable terms could deter or prevent us from meeting our future capital needs
to finance our development program and result in a deterioration of our financial condition.
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Oil and natural gas prices are volatile. A substantial decrease in oil and natural gas prices could adversely affect our
financial results.

Our future financial condition, results of operations and the carrying value of our oil and natural gas properties depend
primarily upon the prices we receive for our oil and natural gas production. Oil and natural gas prices historically have been volatile
and likely will continue to be volatile in the future, especially given world geopolitical conditions. Our cash flow from operations is
highly dependent on the prices that we receive for oil and natural gas. This price volatility also affects the amount of our cash flow
available for capital expenditures and our ability to borrow money or raise additional capital. Oil prices are likely to affect us more
than natural gas prices because approximately 81% of our proved reserve value, or 63% of our PV-10 based on our reserve report, is
oil. The prices for oil and natural gas are subject to a variety of additional factors that are beyond our control. These factors include:

• the level of consumer demand for oil and natural gas;

• the domestic and foreign supply of oil and natural gas;

• the ability of the members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries to agree to and maintain oil
price and production controls;

• the price of foreign oil and natural gas;

• domestic governmental regulations and taxes;

• the price and availability of alternative fuel sources;

• weather conditions, including hurricanes and tropical storms in and around the Gulf of Mexico;

• market uncertainty;

• political conditions in oil and natural gas producing regions, including the Middle East; and

• worldwide economic conditions.

These factors and the volatility of the energy markets generally make it extremely difficult to predict future oil and
natural gas price movements with any certainty. Also, oil and natural gas prices do not necessarily move in tandem. Declines in oil
and natural gas prices would not only reduce revenue, but could reduce the amount of oil and natural gas that we can produce
economically and, as a result, could have a material adverse effect upon our financial condition, results of operations, oil and natural
gas reserves and the carrying values of our oil and natural gas properties. If the oil and natural gas industry experiences significant
price declines, we may, among other things, be unable to meet our financial obligations or make planned expenditures.

Competitive industry conditions may negatively affect our ability to conduct operations.

We encounter competition from other natural gas and oil companies in all areas of our operations, including the
acquisition of exploratory prospects and proved properties. There is also competition for contracting for drilling equipment and the
hiring of experienced personnel. Factors that affect our ability to compete in the marketplace include:

• our access to the capital necessary to drill wells and acquire properties;

• our ability to acquire and analyze seismic, geological and other information relating to a property;

• our ability to retain and hire the personnel necessary to properly evaluate seismic and other information relating to a
property;

• our ability to hire experienced personnel, especially for our accounting, financial reporting, tax and land departments;

• the location of, and our ability to access, platforms, pipelines and other facilities used to produce and transport oil and gas
production; and

• the standards we establish for the minimum projected return on an investment of our capital.

Our competitors include major integrated natural gas and oil companies and substantial independent energy companies,
many of which possess greater financial, technological, personnel and other resources than we do. Many of our competitors are
large, well-established companies that have been engaged in the natural gas and oil business much longer than we have and possess
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substantially larger operating staffs and greater capital resources than we do. These companies may be able to pay more for
exploratory projects and productive natural gas and oil properties and may be able to define, evaluate, bid for and purchase a greater
number of properties and prospects than our financial or human resources permit. In addition, these companies may be able to
expend greater resources on the existing and changing technologies that we believe are and will be increasingly important to
attaining success in the industry. We may not be able to conduct our operations, evaluate and select suitable properties and
consummate transactions successfully in this highly competitive environment.
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We rely on our senior management team and the loss of a single member could adversely affect our operations.

We depend to a large extent on the services of certain key management personnel, including Chris A. Faulkner, our
President and Chief Executive Officer, Jeremy S. Wagers, our Chief Operating Officer and General Counsel, Judson “Rick” F.
Hoover, our Chief Financial Officer, and our other executive officers and key employees. The loss of Mr. Faulkner, Mr. Wagers,
Mr. Hoover or other key management personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations. These individuals have experience and expertise in the oil and natural gas industry. We do not maintain key-man life
insurance with respect to any of our employees. Our success will be dependent on our ability to continue to employ and retain
skilled technical personnel.

The inability to control associated entities could adversely affect our business.

We do not operate all of the properties in which we have working interests. Accordingly, our success depends in part
upon operations on certain properties in which we may have an interest along with other business entities. In the event that an
operator experiences financial difficulties, this may negatively impact our ability to receive payments for our share of net production
to which we are entitled under our contractual arrangements with such operator. While we seek to minimize such risks, there can be
no assurances that we can do so in all situations covering our non-operated properties. Because we have no control over such
operators and entities, we are able to neither direct their operations, nor ensure that their operations on our behalf will be completed
in a timely and efficient manner. Any delay in such business entities’ operations could adversely affect our operations.

There are risks in acquiring producing properties.

We constantly evaluate opportunities to acquire oil and natural gas properties and frequently engage in bidding and
negotiating for these acquisitions. If successful in this process, we may alter or increase our capitalization through the issuance of
additional debt or equity securities, the sale of production payments or other measures. Any change in capitalization affects our risk
profile.

A change in capitalization, however, is not the only way acquisitions affect our risk profile. Acquisitions may alter the
nature of our business. This could occur when the character of acquired properties is substantially different from our existing
properties in terms of operating or geologic characteristics.

A substantial percentage of our proved reserves consist of undeveloped reserves.

As of the end of our 2013 fiscal year, approximately 57% of our proved reserves, based on PV-10, were classified as
proved undeveloped reserves. These reserves may not ultimately be developed or produced. As a result, we may not find
commercially viable quantities of oil and natural gas, which in turn may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Operating hazards may adversely affect our ability to conduct business.

Our operations are subject to risks inherent in the oil and gas industry, including but not limited to the following:

• blowouts;

• cratering;

• explosions;

• uncontrollable flows of oil, gas or well fluids;

• fires;

• pollution; and

• other environmental risks.
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These risks could result in substantial losses to us from injury and loss of life, damage to and destruction of property and
equipment, pollution and other environmental damage and suspension of operations. Governmental regulations may impose liability
for pollution damage or result in the interruption or termination of operations.

Losses and liabilities from uninsured or underinsured drilling and operating activities could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and operations.

In accordance with customary industry practices, we maintain insurance coverage against some, but not all, potential
losses in order to protect against the risks we face. We do not carry business interruption insurance. We may elect not to carry
insurance if our management believes that the cost of available insurance is excessive relative to the risks presented. In addition, we
cannot insure fully against pollution and environmental risks. The occurrence of an event not fully covered by insurance could have
a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Oil and natural gas operations are subject to particular hazards incident to the drilling and production of oil and natural
gas, such as blowouts, cratering, explosions, uncontrollable flows of oil, natural gas or well fluids, fires and pollution and other
environmental risks. These hazards can cause personal injury and loss of life, severe damage to and destruction of property and
equipment, pollution or environmental damage and suspension of operation. We do not operate all of the properties in which we
have an interest. In such non-operated properties, the operator for the prospect maintains insurance of various types to cover our
operations with policy limits and retention liability customary in the industry. We believe the coverage and types of insurance are
adequate. The occurrence of a significant adverse event that is not fully covered by insurance could result in the loss of our total
investment in a particular prospect, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Compliance with environmental and other government regulations could be costly and could negatively impact
production.

Our operations are subject to complex and constantly changing laws and regulations adopted by federal, state and local
governmental authorities governing the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise relating to environmental
protection. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, these laws and regulations may:

• require the acquisition of a permit before drilling commences;

• restrict the types, quantities and concentration of various substances that can be released into the environment
from drilling and production activities;

• limit or prohibit drilling activities on certain lands lying within wilderness, wetlands and other protected
areas;

• require remedial measures to mitigate pollution from former operations, such as plugging abandoned wells;
and

• impose substantial liabilities for pollution resulting from our operations.

The recent trend toward stricter standards in environmental legislation and regulation is likely to continue. The enactment
of stricter legislation or the adoption of stricter regulation could have a significant impact on our operating costs, as well as on the
oil and gas industry in general. We will continue to be subject to uncertainty associated with new regulatory interpretations and
inconsistent interpretations between state and federal agencies. We cannot be sure that existing environmental laws or regulations,
as currently interpreted or enforced, or as they may be interpreted, enforced or altered in the future, will not have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Our operations could result in liability for personal injuries, property damage, oil spills, discharge of hazardous materials,
remediation and clean-up costs and other environmental damages. We could also be liable for environmental damages caused by
previous property owners. As a result, substantial liabilities to third parties or governmental entities may be incurred which could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. We maintain insurance coverage for our
operations, but we do not believe that insurance coverage for environmental damages that occur over time or complete coverage for
sudden and accidental environmental damages is available at a reasonable cost. Accordingly, we may be subject to liability or may
lose the privilege to continue exploration or production activities upon substantial portions of our properties if certain environmental
damages occur.
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Cyber-attacks targeting systems and infrastructure used by the oil and gas industry may adversely impact our
operations.

Our business has become increasingly dependent on digital technologies to conduct certain exploration, development,
production and financial activities. We depend on digital technology to estimate quantities of oil and gas reserves, process and
record financial and operating data, analyze seismic and drilling information, and communicate with our employees and third party
partners. Unauthorized access to our seismic data, reserves information or other proprietary information could lead to data
corruption, communication interruption or other operational disruptions in our exploration or production operations. Also,
computers control nearly all of the oil and gas distribution systems in the United States and abroad, which are necessary to transport
our production to market. A cyber-attack directed at oil and gas distribution systems could damage critical distribution and storage
assets or the environment, delay or prevent delivery of production to markets and make it difficult or impossible to accurately
account for production and settle transactions. While we have not experienced cyber-attacks, there is no assurance that we will not
suffer such attacks and resulting losses in the future. Further, as cyber-attacks continue to evolve, we may be required to expend
significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any
vulnerability to cyber-attacks.

Our operations are subject to United States federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to health, safety,
transportation and protection of natural resources and the environment.

Natural gas and oil operations are subject to various federal, state and local government regulations that may change from
time to time. Matters subject to regulation include discharge permits for drilling operations, plug and abandonment bonds, reports
concerning operations, the spacing of wells, unitization and pooling of properties and taxation. From time to time, regulatory
agencies have imposed price controls and limitations on production by restricting the rate of flow of natural gas and oil wells below
actual production capacity in order to conserve supplies of natural gas and oil. Other federal, state and local laws and regulations
relating primarily to the protection of human health and the environment apply to the development, production, handling, storage,
transportation and disposal of natural gas and oil, by-products thereof and other substances and materials produced or used in
connection with natural gas and oil operations. We also are subject to changing and extensive tax laws, the effects of which cannot
be predicted. Compliance with existing, new or modified laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Certain U.S. federal income tax deductions currently available with respect to oil and natural gas drilling and
development may be eliminated as a result of future legislation.

In recent years, the current U.S. government’s budget proposals and other proposed legislation have included the
elimination of certain key U.S. federal income tax incentives currently available to oil and gas exploration and production. If
enacted into law, these proposals would eliminate certain tax preferences applicable to taxpayers engaged in the exploration or
production of natural resources. These changes include, but are not limited to, (i) the repeal of the percentage depletion allowance
for oil and natural gas properties, (ii) the elimination of current deductions for intangible drilling and development costs, (iii) the
elimination of the deduction for certain domestic production activities and (iv) increasing the amortization period for certain
geological and geophysical expenditures paid or incurred in connection with the exploration for or development of, oil and gas
within the United States. It is unclear whether these or similar changes will be enacted and, if enacted, how soon any such changes
could become effective. The passage of any legislation as a result of these proposals or any other similar changes in U.S. federal
income tax laws could eliminate or postpone certain tax deductions that are currently available with respect to oil and natural gas
exploration and development, and any such change could increase our tax liability and negatively impact our financial condition and
results of operations.

The adoption of derivatives legislation by the U.S. Congress could have an adverse effect on the Company’s ability to
use derivative instruments to reduce the effect of commodity price, interest rate and other risks associated with its business.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd Act”), signed into law in 2010,
establishes, among other provisions, federal oversight and regulation of the over-the-counter derivatives market and entities that
participate in that market. The Dodd Act required the Commodities Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”) and the SEC to
promulgate rules and regulations implementing the new legislation; although the CFTC and the SEC have issued final regulations in
certain areas, final rules in other areas and the scope of relevant definitions and/or exemptions still remain to be finalized. In its
rulemaking under the Dodd Act, the CFTC has issued a final rule on position limits for certain futures and option contracts in the
major energy markets and for swaps that are their economic equivalents; the CFTC’s final rule was set aside by the U.S. District
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Court for the District of Columbia on September 28, 2012 and remanded to the CFTC to resolve ambiguity as to whether statutory
requirements for such limits to be determined necessary and appropriate were satisfied. The CFTC appealed this ruling, but
subsequently withdrew its appeal. On November 5, 2013, the CFTC approved a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking to implement new
position limits regulation which would be published later in a final rule. Certain bona fide hedging transactions or positions are
exempt from these position limits. While it is not possible at this time to predict when the CFTC will finalize the position limit rule
or other related rules and regulations, depending on our classification, these
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rules and regulations may require us to comply with margin requirements and with certain clearing and trade-execution
requirements in connection with any derivative activities. The Dodd Act may also require the counterparties to derivative
instruments to spin off some of their derivatives activities to separate entities, which may not be as creditworthy as the current
counterparties. The Dodd Act and any new regulations could significantly increase the cost of derivative contracts (including
through requirements to post collateral which could adversely affect our available liquidity), materially alter the terms of derivative
contracts and reduce the availability of derivatives to protect against risks we encounter. Finally, the Dodd Act was intended, in part,
to reduce the volatility of oil and natural gas prices, which some legislators attributed to speculative trading in derivatives and
commodity instruments related to oil and natural gas. Our revenues could therefore be adversely affected if a consequence of the
Dodd Act and regulations is to lower commodity prices. Any of these consequences could have a material adverse effect on our
ability to hedge risks and on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Improvements in or new discoveries of alternative energy technologies could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations.

Because our business depends on the level of activity in the oil and natural gas industry, any improvement in or new
discoveries of alternative energy technologies (such as wind, solar, geothermal, fuel cells and biofuels) that increase the use of
alternative forms of energy and reduce the demand for oil and natural gas could have a material adverse impact on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Increased regulation of hydraulic fracturing, including regulation of the quantities, sources and methods of water use
and disposal, could result in reduction in drilling and completing new oil and natural gas wells or minimize water use or
disposal, which could adversely impact our financial condition.

Our success depends, in large part, on our level of exploration and production of oil and gas. We may use hydraulic
fracturing to drill new oil and gas wells. Hydraulic fracturing is a process that is used to release hydrocarbons from certain
geological formations. The process involves the injection of water (typically mixed with significant quantities of sand and small
quantities of chemical additives) under pressure into the formation to fracture the surrounding rock and stimulate movement of
hydrocarbons through the formation. The process is typically regulated by state oil and gas commissions and has been exempt
(except when the fracturing fluids or propping agents contain diesel fuels) since 2005 from United States federal regulation pursuant
to the Safe Drinking Water Act.

The EPA is conducting a comprehensive study of the potential environmental impacts of hydraulic fracturing activities,
and a committee of the United States House of Representatives is also conducting an investigation of hydraulic fracturing practices.
The results of the EPA study and House investigation could lead to restrictions on hydraulic fracturing. The EPA is currently
working on new guidance for application of the Safe Drinking Water Act permits for drilling or completing processes that use
fracturing fluids or propping agents containing diesel fuels. In addition, the EPA proposed regulations under the federal Clean Air
Act in July 2011 regarding certain criteria and hazardous air pollutant emissions from hydraulic fracturing wells and, in October
2011, announced its intention to propose regulations by 2014 under the federal Clean Water Act to regulate wastewater discharges
from hydraulic fracturing and other gas production. Legislation has been introduced before Congress to provide for federal
regulation of hydraulic fracturing, including, for example, requiring disclosure of chemicals used in the fracturing process or
seeking to repeal the exemption from the Safe Drinking Water Act. If adopted, such legislation would add an additional level of
regulation and necessary permitting at the federal level and could make it more difficult to complete wells using hydraulic
fracturing. Similar laws and regulations with respect to chemical disclosure also exist or are being considered by the United States
Department of Interior and in several states, including certain states in which we operate, that could restrict hydraulic fracturing.

Future United States federal, state or local laws or regulations could significantly restrict, or increase costs associated
with hydraulic fracturing and make it more difficult or costly for producers to conduct hydraulic fracturing operations, which could
result in a decline of our exploration and production. New laws and regulations, and new enforcement policies by regulatory
agencies, could also expressly restrict the quantities, sources and methods of water use and disposal in hydraulic fracturing and
otherwise increase our costs and our customers’ cost of compliance, which could minimize water use and disposal needs even if
other limits on drilling and completing new wells were not imposed. Any decline in exploration and production or any restrictions
on water use and disposal could result in a decline in our drilling and rework activity and have a resulting material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Our business is difficult to evaluate.

Our future financial results depend primarily on (1) our ability to discover commercial quantities of oil and gas; (2) the
market price for oil and gas; (3) our ability to continue to generate potential exploration prospects; and (4) our ability to fully
implement our exploration and development program. We cannot predict that our future operations will be profitable. In addition,
our operating results may vary significantly during any financial period. These variations may be caused by significant periods of
time between discovery and development of oil or gas reserves, if any, in commercial quantities.

Exploratory drilling is a high risk activity with many uncertainties that could adversely affect our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

Exploratory drilling involves numerous risks, including the risk that we will not find any commercially productive oil or
gas reservoirs. The cost of drilling, completing and operating wells is often uncertain, and a number of factors can delay or prevent
drilling operations, including:

• unexpected drilling conditions,

• pressure or irregularities in formations,

• equipment failures or accidents,

• adverse weather conditions,

• compliance with governmental requirements,

• shortages or delays in the availability of drilling rigs and the delivery of equipment, and

• shortages of trained oilfield service personnel.

Our future drilling activities may not be successful, nor can we be sure that our overall drilling success rate or our drilling
success rate for activities within a particular area will not decline. Unsuccessful drilling activities could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations and financial condition. Also, we may not be able to obtain any options or lease rights in potential
drilling locations that we identify. Although we have identified a number of potential exploration projects, we cannot be sure that we
will ever drill them or that we will produce oil or gas from them or any other potential exploration projects.

Our exploration and development activities are subject to reservoir and operational risks which may lead to increased
costs and decreased production.

Even when oil and gas is found in what is believed to be commercial quantities, reservoir risks, which may be heightened
in new discoveries, may lead to increased costs and decreased production. These risks include the inability to sustain deliverability
at commercially productive levels as a result of decreased reservoir pressures, large amounts of water, or other factors that might be
encountered. As a result of these types of risks, most lenders will not loan funds secured by reserves from newly discovered
reservoirs, which would have a negative impact on our future liquidity. Operational risks include hazards such as fires, explosions,
craterings, blowouts, uncontrollable flows of oil, gas or well fluids, pollution, releases of toxic gas and encountering formations
with abnormal pressures. In addition, we may be liable for environmental damage caused by previous owners of property we own or
lease. As a result, we may face substantial liabilities to third parties or governmental entities, which could reduce or eliminate funds
available for exploration, development or acquisitions or cause us to incur substantial losses. The occurrence of any one of these
significant events, if it is not fully insured against, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations.

Our operations require large amounts of capital and we may be unable to obtain needed capital or financing on
satisfactory terms, which could lead to a loss of properties and a decline in our natural gas and oil reserves.

Our current development plans will require us to make large capital expenditures for the exploration and development of
our oil and gas projects. Also, we must secure substantial capital to explore and develop our other potential projects. In the near
future, we may fund capital expenditures through the issuance of equity or debt. Volatility in the price of our common stock, which
may be significantly influenced by our drilling and production activity, may impede our ability to raise money quickly, if at all,
through the issuance of equity at acceptable prices. Future cash flows and the availability of financing will be subject to a number of
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• our success in locating and producing reserves in other projects;
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• the level of production from existing wells; and

• prices of oil and gas.

Any additional capital raised through the sale of equity may dilute the ownership percentage of our stockholders. Raising
any such capital could also result in a decrease in the nominal fair market value of our equity securities because our assets would be
owned by a larger pool of outstanding equity. The terms of securities we issue in future capital transactions may be more favorable
to new investors and may include preferences, superior voting rights and the issuance of other derivative securities, all of which
may have a dilutive effect to existing investors.

Our ability to obtain financing, if and when necessary, may be impaired by such factors as the capital markets (both
generally and in the oil and gas industry in particular), the location of our oil and gas properties, prices of oil and gas on the
commodities markets (which will impact the amount of asset-based financing available to us) and the departure of key employees.
Further, if oil or gas prices decline, our revenues will likely decrease and such decreased revenues may increase our requirements
for capital. If our revenues were to decrease due to lower oil and gas prices, decreased production or other reasons, and if we could
not obtain capital through a credit facility or otherwise, our ability to execute our development plans, obtain and replace reserves, or
maintain production levels could be greatly limited.

Oil and gas reserve estimates may not be accurate. Any material inaccuracies in these reserve estimates or underlying
assumptions will materially affect the quantities and present value of our reserves.

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved oil and natural gas reserves and in projecting
future rates of production and timing of development expenditures, including many factors beyond our control. Reserve engineering
is a subjective process of estimating underground accumulations of oil and natural gas that cannot be measured in any exact way,
and the accuracy of any reserve estimate is a function of the quality of available data and of engineering and geological
interpretation and judgment. As a result, estimates made by different engineers often vary from one another. In addition, results of
drilling, testing and production subsequent to the date of an estimate may justify revisions of such estimates, and such revisions, if
significant, would change the schedule of any further production and development drilling. Accordingly, reserve estimates are
generally different, and often materially so, from the quantities of oil and natural gas that are ultimately recovered. Furthermore,
estimates of quantities of proved reserves and their PV-10 value may be affected by changes in crude oil and gas prices because our
quantity estimates are based on prevailing prices at the time of their determination.

Not hedging our production may result in losses.

We currently have no hedging agreements in place. However, we may in the future enter into arrangements to reduce our
exposure to fluctuations in the market prices of oil and natural gas. We may enter into oil and gas hedging contracts in order to
increase credit availability. Hedging will expose us to risk of financial loss in some circumstances, including if:

• production is less than expected;

• the other party to the contract defaults on its obligations; or

• there is a change in the expected differential between the underlying price in the hedging agreement and
actual prices received.

In addition, hedging may limit the benefit we would otherwise receive from increases in the prices of oil and gas. Further,
if we do not engage in hedging, we may be more adversely affected by changes in oil and gas prices than our competitors who
engage in hedging.

Accounting rules may require write-downs, which may result in a charge to earnings. We may incur write-downs of
the net book values of our oil and natural gas properties that would adversely affect our equity and earnings.

We utilize the full cost method of accounting for costs related to our natural gas and oil properties. Under the full cost
method, we are subject to quarterly calculations of a “ceiling” or limitation on the amount of our oil and gas properties that can be
capitalized on our
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balance sheet. If the net capitalized costs of our oil and gas properties exceed the cost center ceiling, we are subject to a write-down
of our net oil and gas properties to the extent of such excess. A capitalized cost ceiling test impairment also reduces earnings and
impacts stockholders’ equity in the period of occurrence and results in lower amortization expense in future periods. The discounted
present value of our proved reserves is a major component of the ceiling calculation and represents the component that requires the
most subjective judgments.

The risk that we will be required to write down the carrying value of oil and natural gas properties increases when natural
gas and crude oil prices are depressed or volatile. In addition, a write-down of proved oil and natural gas properties may occur if we
experience substantial downward adjustments in our estimated proved reserves, or if purchasers cancel long-term contracts for our
natural gas production. An expense recorded in one period may not be reversed in a subsequent period even though higher natural
gas and crude oil prices may have increased the applicable ceiling in the subsequent period. This and other factors could cause us to
write down our natural gas and oil properties or other assets in the future and incur a non-cash charge against future earnings.

We face risks related to title to the leases we enter into that may result in additional costs and affect our operating
results.

It is customary in the oil and gas industry to acquire a leasehold interest in a property based upon a preliminary title
investigation. If the title to the leases acquired is defective, we could lose the money already spent on the acquisition, or incur
substantial costs to cure the title defect, including any necessary litigation. If a title defect cannot be cured, we will not have the
right to participate in the development of or production from the leased properties. In addition, it is possible that the terms of our oil
and gas leases may be interpreted differently depending on the state in which the property is located. For instance, royalty
calculations can be substantially different from state to state, depending on each state’s interpretation of lease language concerning
the costs of production. We cannot guarantee that there will be no litigation concerning the proper interpretation of the terms of our
leases. Adverse decisions in any litigation of this kind could result in material costs or the loss of one or more leases.

Our leases primary terms may expire prior to drilling.

Oil and gas leases have a primary term in which drilling or operations must commence; otherwise, the lease will expire.
As such, we may have insufficient capital to drill leases or economic conditions may change which make the leases not
commercially viable or equipment and man power may not be available to drill during the primary term. If any of this occurs, we
will have to write the value of the leases off in the current earnings period in which they expire.

Technological changes could put us at a competitive disadvantage.

The oil and gas industry is characterized by rapid and significant technological advancements and introductions of new
products and services using new technologies. As new technologies develop, we may be placed at a competitive disadvantage, and
competitive pressures may force us to implement those new technologies at a substantial cost. If other oil and gas exploration and
development companies implement new technologies before we do, those companies may be able to provide enhanced capabilities
and superior quality compared with what we are able to provide. We may not be able to respond to these competitive pressures and
implement new technologies on a timely basis or at an acceptable cost. If we are unable to utilize the most advanced commercially
available technologies, our business could be materially and adversely affected.

Our industry is heavily regulated, which increases the costs of our operations.

Federal, state and local authorities extensively regulate the oil and gas industry. Legislation and regulations affecting the
industry are under constant review for amendment or expansion, raising the possibility of changes that may affect, among other
things, the pricing or marketing of oil and gas production. State and local authorities regulate various aspects of oil and gas drilling
and production activities, including the drilling of wells (through permit and bonding requirements), the spacing of wells, the
unitization or pooling of oil and gas properties, environmental matters, safety standards, the sharing of markets, production
limitations, plugging and abandonment, and drill site restoration. The overall regulatory burden on the industry increases the cost of
doing business, which, in turn, decreases profitability.

Our business depends on transportation facilities owned by others.

The marketability of our potential oil and gas production depends in part on the availability, proximity and capacity of
pipeline systems owned or operated by third parties. Federal and state regulation of oil and gas production and transportation, tax
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and energy policies, changes in supply and demand and general economic conditions could adversely affect our ability to produce,
gather and transport oil and natural gas.
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Attempts to grow our business could have an adverse effect.

Because of our small size, we desire to grow rapidly in order to achieve certain economies of scale. Although there is no
assurance that this rapid growth will occur, to the extent that it does occur, it will place a significant strain on our financial,
technical, operational and administrative resources. As we increase our services and enlarge the number of projects we are
evaluating or in which we are participating, there will be additional demands on our financial, technical and administrative
resources. The failure to continue to upgrade our technical, administrative, operating and financial control systems or the occurrence
of unexpected expansion difficulties, including the recruitment and retention of geoscientists and engineers, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR EQUITY

We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your only opportunity to achieve a return
on your investment is if the price of our stock appreciates.

We have not historically paid a dividend on our common stock, cash or otherwise, and do not plan to declare dividends on
shares of our common stock in the foreseeable future. Consequently, your only opportunity to achieve a return on your investment in
us will be if the market price of our common stock appreciates, which may not occur, and you sell your shares at a profit.

Future sales of our common stock in the public market could lower our stock price, and any additional capital raised
by us through the sale of equity or convertible securities will dilute your ownership in us.

We may sell shares of common stock in public offerings or otherwise issue additional shares of common stock or
convertible securities. The Predecessors currently own 461,863,084 shares (approximately 92.5%) of our common stock. Although
they are currently subject to a lock-up with the Company that expires on March 9, 2015, the Company has the ability to release
these entities from the restrictions contained in that agreement. We cannot predict the size of future issuances of our common stock
or the effect, if any, that future issuances and sales of shares of our common stock will have on the market price of our common
stock. Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock (including shares issued in connection with an acquisition), or the
perception that such sales could occur, may adversely affect prevailing market prices of our common stock. Our intention is to grow
the Company which will require us to issue additional common stock should we raise additional capital through both public and
private offerings. We may also issue additional common stock in the acquisition of or merger with other companies we may acquire.
The effect of both of these activities would result in the significant dilution of the Company’s current stockholders.

Our directors and officers own a significant majority of our common stock and the ability of other stockholders to
influence the Company and its affairs is limited.

The Predecessors control approximately 92.5% of our issued and outstanding shares of our voting common stock. The
Predecessors are owned by Chris Faulkner, our President, CEO and Chairman, Parker Hallam and Michael Miller. They collectively
have the current ability to control the affairs of the Company and to determine the path the Company will take. All other
stockholders will not have sufficient voting power to override or otherwise influence any vote taken by the Predecessors in their
capacity as stockholders of the Company.

Our stock is a penny stock. Trading of our stock may be restricted by the SEC’s penny stock regulations which may
limit a stockholder’s ability to buy and sell our stock.

Our stock is a penny stock. The SEC has adopted Rule 15g-9 which generally defines “penny stock” to be any equity
security that has a market price (as defined) of less than $5.00 per share or an exercise price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to
certain exceptions. Our securities are covered by the penny stock rules, which impose additional sales practice requirements on
broker-dealers who sell to persons other than established customers and “accredited investors.” The penny stock rules require a
broker-dealer, prior to a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from the rules, to deliver a standardized risk disclosure
document in a form prepared by the SEC which provides information about penny stocks and the nature and level of risks in the
penny stock market. The broker-dealer also must provide the customer with current bid and offer quotations for the penny stock, the
compensation of the broker-dealer and its salesperson in the transaction and monthly account statements showing the market value
of each penny stock held in the customer’s account. The bid and offer quotations, and the broker-dealer and salesperson
compensation information, must be given to the customer orally or in writing
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prior to effecting the transaction and must be given to the customer in writing before or with the customer’s confirmation. In
addition, the penny stock rules require that prior to a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from these rules, the broker-
dealer must make a special written determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for the purchaser and receive the
purchaser’s written agreement to the transaction. These disclosure requirements may have the effect of reducing the level of trading
activity in the secondary market for the stock that is subject to these penny stock rules. Consequently, these penny stock rules may
affect the ability of broker-dealers to trade our securities. We believe that the penny stock rules discourage investor interest in and
limit the marketability of our common stock.

The Financial Industry Regulatory Authority sales practice requirements may also limit a stockholder’s ability to buy
and sell our stock.

In addition to the “penny stock” rules described above, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority FINRA has adopted
rules that require that in recommending an investment to a customer, a broker-dealer must have reasonable grounds for believing
that the investment is suitable for that customer. Prior to recommending speculative low-priced securities to their non-institutional
customers, broker-dealers must make reasonable efforts to obtain information about the customer’s financial status, tax status,
investment objectives and other information. Under interpretations of these rules, FINRA believes that there is a high probability
that speculative low-priced securities will not be suitable for at least some customers. FINRA requirements make it more difficult
for broker-dealers to recommend that their customers buy our common stock, which may limit your ability to buy and sell our stock
and have an adverse effect on the market for shares of our common stock.

Substantial sales of our common stock could adversely affect our stock price.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock, or the perception that such sales could occur, could adversely
affect the market price of our common stock by introducing a large number of sellers to the market. Such sales could cause the
market price of our common stock to decline. We cannot predict whether future sales of our common stock, or the availability of our
common stock for sale, will adversely affect the market price for our common stock or our ability to raise capital by offering equity
securities.

Trading of our common stock may be volatile and sporadic, which could depress the market price of our common
stock and make it difficult for our stockholders to resell their shares.

There is currently a limited market for our common stock and the volume of our common stock traded on any day may
vary significantly from one period to another. Our common stock is quoted on OTC Market’s OTCQB. Trading in stock quoted on
OTC Market’s OTCQB is often thin and characterized by wide fluctuations in trading prices, due to many factors that may have
little to do with our operations or business prospects. The availability of buyers and sellers represented by this volatility could lead
to a market price for our common stock that is unrelated to operating performance. Moreover, OTC Market’s OTCQB is not a stock
exchange, and trading of securities quoted on OTC Market’s OTCQB is often more sporadic than the trading of securities listed on a
stock exchange like NASDAQ. There is no assurance that a sufficient market will develop in the stock, in which case it could be
difficult for our stockholders to resell their stock.

Our Board of Directors can issue preferred stock with terms that are preferential to our common stock.

Pursuant to our articles of incorporation, as amended, our Board of Directors may issue preferred stock without action by
our stockholders, with in such series and classes, and with rights and preferences related thereto, determined by the Board of
Directors. Rights or preferences could include, among other things:

• the establishment of dividends which must be paid prior to declaring or paying dividends or other distributions to
our common stockholders;

• greater or preferential liquidation rights which could negatively affect the rights of common stockholders; and

• the right to convert the preferred stock at a rate or price which would have a dilutive effect on the outstanding
shares of common stock.
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We make estimates and assumptions in connection with the preparation of our financial statements, and any changes
to those estimates and assumptions could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

In connection with the preparation of our financial statements, we use certain estimates and assumptions based on
historical experience and other factors. Our most critical accounting estimates are described in “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this report. In addition, as discussed in Note 2 to the financial
statements, we make certain estimates, including decisions related to provisions for legal proceedings and other contingencies.
While we believe that these estimates and assumptions are reasonable under the circumstances, they are subject to significant
uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control. Should any of these estimates and assumptions change or prove to have been
incorrect, it could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Failure of our internal controls over financial reporting could harm its business and financial results.

Our Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal controls over financial reporting.
Internal controls over financial reporting are processes to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Internal control over financial reporting include maintaining records that
in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the Company’s transactions; providing reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary for preparation of the financial statements; providing reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures are
made in accordance with management authorization; and providing reasonable assurance that unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the Company assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements would be prevented or detected on a
timely basis. Because of its inherent limitations, internal controls over financial reporting are not intended to provide absolute
assurance that a misstatement of the Company’s financial statements would be prevented or detected. Failure to maintain an
effective system of internal controls over financial reporting could limit the Company’s ability to report its financial results
accurately and timely or to detect and prevent fraud.

ITEM 1B - UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

None.

Item 2. Properties
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Oil and Gas Properties, Wells, Operations, and Acreage

The Company’s approximately 1,426 oil and gas properties, which are primarily held by production in seven states with
approximately 6,000 oil and gas wells. The Company’s asset base is comprised of approximately 498 Mbbl of oil and approximately
1,278.51 MMcf of gas. The Predecessors acquired their oil and gas assets in connection with their business model that differs
substantially from that of the Company or an ordinary oil and exploration and production company. Through a combination of
subsidiaries, the Predecessors acquired either working interests in oil and gas properties or overriding royalty interests in oil and gas
properties. Following these acquisitions, the Predecessors offered interests in those properties to accredited investors through a
series of private placements. The interests offered in those properties were subject to certain carried interests, and those carried
interests constitute the bulk of the oil and gas assets acquired from the Predecessors.

Since the Predecessors’ interests consist primarily of carried interests, the Predecessors have historically not held a
sufficient working interest in any well necessary to give the Predecessors operating rights. Consequently, the vast majority of our
holdings represent non-operated working or royalty interests. Since the Predecessors were not the operators of these wells, all
operating decisions were made by other parties, and the Predecessors were not in charge of drilling or other operations. The well
counts listed herein represent our best estimates based on information provided to us as a non-operating working interest or royalty
interest owner. Due to the significant number of individual deeds, leases and similar instruments involved in the acquisition and
development of properties by us or the Predecessors, our data is subject to change as new information becomes available. In
addition, our access to information concerning activity and operations on the properties is limited. Most of our producing properties
are subject to old leases and other contracts pursuant to which we are not entitled to well information. Some of our newer leases
provide for access to technical data and other information or we may have limited access to public data in some areas through third
party subscription services. Consequently, the exact number of wells producing from our drilling on our royalty properties is not
determinable.

On a prospective basis, the Company intends to acquire working interests in oil and gas prospects sufficient to give the
Company the right to act as operator. Thereafter, the Company will drill and operate those leaseholds which it has the right to
operate in the ordinary course of business.

Of the Company’s approximately 606 proved producing wells, approximately 523 are held in Texas in 78 fields,
approximately 22 are held in Oklahoma in 20 fields and approximately 17 are held in Louisiana in 9 fields. The remaining
approximately 44 wells are held in Mississippi and North Dakota.

Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

Set forth below is a summary of the Company’s oil and gas reserves, as well as the PV-10 for each category of property
listed:

Gross Oil
(Mbbl)

Net Oil
(Mbbl)

Gross Gas
(Mmcf)

Net Gas
(Mmcf) PV-10(1)

Proved Producing 163,602 84.58 487,274 373.13 $ 4,873.64
Proved Non-Producing 6,567 17.16 31,008 20.41 $ 568.67
Proved Undeveloped 13,005 49.01 30,049 132.39 $ 2,668.78
Probable Undeveloped 15,457 150.04 253,940 547.32 $ 6,930.45

Probable Non-Producing 9,028 11.08 26,292 13.08 $ 408.06
Possible Undeveloped 6,638 184.31 101,571 191.95 $ 6,599.77
Possible Non-Producing 1,561 1.43 3,293 0.23 $ 24.00

Total 215,858 497.61 933,427 1,278.51 $22,073.37

(1) The total proved PV-10 value of the estimated future net revenue are not intended to represent the current market value of the
estimated oil and natural gas reserves we own. Management believes that the presentation of PV-10, while not a financial
measure in accordance with GAAP, provides useful information to investors because it is widely used by professional analysts
and sophisticated investors in evaluating oil and natural gas companies. Because many factors that are unique to each
individual company impact the amount of future income taxes estimated to be paid, the use of a pre-tax measure is valuable
when comparing companies based on reserves. PV-10 is not a measure of financial or operating performance under GAAP.
PV-10 should not be considered as an alternative to the standardized measure as defined under GAAP. PV-10 of probable or
possible reserves represent the present value of estimated future revenues to be generated from the production of probable or
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possible reserves, calculated net of estimated lease operating expenses, production taxes and future development costs, using
costs as of the date of estimation without future escalation and using 12-month average prices, without giving effect to
non-property related expenses such as general and administrative expenses, debt service, and depreciation, depletion, and
amortization, or future income taxes and discounted using an annual discount rate of 10%. With respect to pre-tax PV-10
amounts for probable or possible reserves, there do not exist any directly comparable GAAP measures, and such amounts do
not purport to present the fair value of our probable and possible reserves.
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Probable Reserves

Estimates of probable reserves are inherently imprecise. When producing an estimate of the amount of oil and natural gas
that is recoverable from a particular reservoir, an estimated quantity of probable reserves is an estimate of those additional reserves
that are less certain to be recovered than proved reserves but which, together with proved reserves, are as likely as not to be
recovered. Estimates of probable reserves are also continually subject to revisions based on production history, results of additional
exploration and development, price changes and other factors.

When deterministic methods are used, it is as likely as not that actual remaining quantities recovered will exceed the sum
of estimated proved plus probable reserves. When probabilistic methods are used, there should be at least a 50% probability that the
actual quantities recovered will equal or exceed the proved plus probable reserves estimates. Probable reserves may be assigned to
areas of a reservoir adjacent to proved reserves where data control or interpretations of available data are less certain, even if the
interpreted reservoir continuity of structure or productivity does not meet the reasonable certainty criterion. Probable reserves may
be assigned to areas that are structurally higher than the proved area if these areas are in communication with the proved reservoir.
Probable reserves estimates also include potential incremental quantities associated with a greater percentage recovery of the
hydrocarbons in place than assumed for proved reserves.

Possible Reserves

Estimates of possible reserves are also inherently imprecise. When producing an estimate of the amount of oil and natural
gas that is recoverable from a particular reservoir, an estimated quantity of possible reserves is an estimate that might be achieved,
but only under more favorable circumstances than are likely. Estimates of possible reserves are also continually subject to revisions
based on production history, results of additional exploration and development, price changes and other factors.

When deterministic methods are used, the total quantities ultimately recovered from a project have a low probability of
exceeding proved plus probable plus possible reserves. When probabilistic methods are used, there should be at least a 10%
probability that the total quantities ultimately recovered will equal or exceed the proved plus probable plus possible reserves
estimates. Possible reserves may be assigned to areas of a reservoir adjacent to probable reserves where data control and
interpretations of available data are progressively less certain. Frequently, this will be in areas where geoscience and engineering
data are unable to define clearly the area and vertical limits of commercial production from the reservoir by a defined project.
Possible reserves also include incremental quantities associated with a greater percentage recovery of the hydrocarbons in place than
the recovery quantities assumed for probable reserves.

Possible reserves may be assigned where geoscience and engineering data identify directly adjacent portions of a
reservoir within the same accumulation that may be separated from proved areas by faults with displacement less than formation
thickness or other geological discontinuities and that have not been penetrated by a wellbore, and the registrant believes that such
adjacent portions are in communication with the known (proved) reservoir. Possible reserves may be assigned to areas that are
structurally higher or lower than the proved area if these areas are in communication with the proved reservoir.

Internal Controls

Management has established, and is responsible for, a number of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance
that the estimates of proved, probable and possible reserves are computed and reported in accordance with rules and regulations
provided by the SEC as well as established industry practices used by independent engineering firms and our peers. These internal
controls consist of documented process workflows and qualified professional engineering and geological personnel with specific
reservoir experience. We also retain an outside independent engineering firm to prepare estimates of our proved, probable and
possible reserves. We work closely with this firm, and management is responsible for providing accurate operating and technical
data to it. Senior management reviews and approves our reserves estimate, whether prepared internally or by third parties.

Estimates of oil and natural gas reserves are projections based on a process involving an independent third-party
engineering firm’s collection of all required geologic, geophysical, engineering and economic data, and such firm’s complete
external preparation of all required estimates and are forward-looking in nature. These reports rely upon various assumptions,
including assumptions required by the SEC, such as constant oil and natural gas prices, operating expenses and future capital costs.
We also make assumptions relating to availability of funds and timing of capital expenditures for development of our proved
undeveloped, probable and possible reserves. These
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reports should not be construed as the current market value of our reserves. The process of estimating oil and natural gas reserves is
also dependent on geological, engineering and economic data for each reservoir. Because of the uncertainties inherent in the
interpretation of this data, we cannot ensure that the reserves will ultimately be realized. Our actual results could differ materially.

Controls Over Reserve Report Preparation

Our long term prospects for continuing to extract oil and gas are directly related to our oil and gas reserves. Estimates of
proved reserves at December 31, 2013, were prepared by Mire & Associates, Inc., independent petroleum consultants, a Texas
registered petroleum consulting firm. The technical person responsible for preparing the reserve estimates is an independent
petroleum engineer and geoscientist that meets the requirements regarding qualifications, independence, objectivity, and
confidentiality set forth in the Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil and Gas Reserves Information
promulgated by the Society of Petroleum Engineers. Specifically, our reserve report was prepared by Mr. Kurt Mire, a reservoir
engineer with over 30 years of experience. Mr. Mire has a B.S., in Petroleum Engineering from University of Southwestern
Louisiana.

The reserve report was prepared as of December 31, 2013, under SEC pricing requirements. The 2013 reserve report
summary is an exhibit to this annual report.

Proved Undeveloped Reserves

Years Ended December 31, 2013

Estimated Proved Oil and Natural Gas Reserves:
Net oil reserves (MBbls):

Proved developed 84,580
Proved undeveloped 66,170

Total 150,750

Net natural gas reserves (MMcf):
Proved developed 373,130
Proved undeveloped 152,800

Total 525,930

Estimated Present Value of Net Proved Reserves:
PV-10 value (in thousands)

Proved developed $3,240,460
Proved undeveloped 4,870,640

Total $8,111,100

Prices Used in Calculating Reserves:
Natural gas (per Mcf) $ 3.67
Oil (per Bbl) $ 96.91

The following table is a tabular representation of the estimate for our proved developed and undeveloped reserves:

Crude Oil (Bbl) Natural Gas (Mcf)

PROVED-DEVELOPED AND UNDEVELOPED
RESERVES

December 31, 2011 16,810 232,880

Revisions of previous estimates 12,178 (44,220)
Extensions and discoveries 12,618 63,801
Acquisitions of reserves 66,230 63,660
Production (1,206) (7,271) 

December 31, 2012 106,630 308,850

Revisions of previous estimates
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Extensions and discoveries
Acquisitions of reserves 55,290 272,950
Production (11,170) (55,870) 

December 31, 2013 150,750 525,930

PROVED DEVELOPED RESERVES
December 31, 2013 84,580 373,130

December 31, 2012 66,460 129,310
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Production, Price and Production Cost

The Company receives hydrocarbon production in the form of oil, natural gas and condensates which it markets to third
party purchasers. The following chart lists our net production, total sales and average price we experienced from our wells in the last
two fiscal years:

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012

Gross Production:
Oil (Bbl) 8,960,410 8,113,670
Natural Gas (Mcf) 40,067,530 21,852,740
Barrel of Oil Equivalent (Boe) 15,638,332 11,755,793

Net Production:
Oil (Bbl) 11,170 1,660
Natural Gas (Mcf) 55,870 31,510
Barrel of Oil Equivalent (Boe) 20,482 6,912

Oil and Natural Gas Sales:
Oil (in thousands) $ 934,545 $ 153,749
Natural Gas (in thousands) $ 165,375 $ 175,826

Total (thousands) $ 1,099,920 $ 329,575

Average Sales Price:
Oil ($ per Bbl) $ 96.38 $ 92.62
Natural Gas ($ per Mcf) $ 2.96 $ 5.58
Barrel of Oil Equivalent ($ per Boe) $ 53.71 $ 47.68

Drilling Activity

As of December 31, 2013, the Company has not drilled any productive or dry exploratory or developmental wells in the last three
years.

Present Activities

As of December 31, 2013, the Company was not drilling any wells.

Delivery Commitments

As of December 31, 2013, the Company has no commitments to provide a fixed quantity of oil or natural gas.

Title to Properties

In most situations, as is customary in the oil and gas industry, only a preliminary title examination is conducted at the
time we acquire oil and gas leases covering properties for possible drilling operations. Prior to the commencement of drilling
operations, a more complete title examination of the drill site tract is usually conducted by independent attorneys or landmen. Once
production from a given well is established, we prepare a division order title report indicating the proper parties and percentages for
payment of production proceeds, including royalties. The level of title examination often differs from property to property. Our
properties are subject to customary royalty interests, liens incident to operating agreements, liens for current taxes and other burdens
which we believe do not materially interfere with the use of or affect the carrying value of our properties.

32
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Company Offices

The Company currently leases office space at 1910 Pacific Ave, Suite 12000, Dallas, TX 75201. The Company entered
into a Lease Agreement on September 9, 2013, for a term of 120 months and expiring on June 30, 2024.

Available Information

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information electronically with the SEC. You
may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F. Street, NE, Washington, DC
20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The
SEC maintains an internet site (www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information
regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC, including our filings.

Our internet address is www.breitlingenergy.com. We make available free of charge on or through our internet site our
annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such
material with, or furnish it to, the SEC.

ITEM 3 - LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is from time to time involved in legal proceedings. Management of the Company believes that any liability
to the Company that may arise as a result of these proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of
the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole.

ITEM 4 - MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

33
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PART II

ITEM 5 - MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market information

Our common stock is quoted on OTCBB under the symbol “BECC.”

The following table shows the quarterly range of high and low bid information for our common stock over the fiscal
quarters for the last two fiscal years as quoted on OTCBB. We obtained the following high and low bid information from OTCBB.
These over-the-counter market quotations reflect inter-dealer prices without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission, and may not
represent actual transactions. Investors should not rely on historical prices of our common stock as an indication of its future price
performance. On March 28, 2014, the closing price of our common stock as reported by OTCBB was $.51 per share.

The Quarter Ended* HIGH LOW

March 31, 2012 $1.05 $0.05
June 30, 2012 0.75 0.20
September 30, 2012 0.50 0.15
December 31, 2012 $0.60 $0.14

The Quarter Ended* HIGH LOW

March 31, 2013 $0.60 $0.14
June 30, 2013 0.26 0.15
September 30, 2013 0.16 0.05
December 31, 2013 $0.25 $0.06

As of March 28, 2014, there were an estimated 4,200 beneficial holders of our common stock.

Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends to date, and have no intention of paying any cash dividends on our common stock in
the foreseeable future. The declaration and payment of dividends is subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and to certain
limitations imposed under Nevada law. The timing, amount and form of dividends, if any, will depend on, among other things, our
results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors.

ITEM 6 – SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Not Applicable

IT EM 7 – MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and notes thereto for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2013, included elsewhere in this annual report.

Our Business

We are an oil and gas exploration and production company. We acquire oil and gas leases from landowners, or interest in
oil and gas wells through working interest or royalty interests in geographical locations which we believe have the potential for the
success. If the wells are drilled or acquired, we may or may not operate the wells. We may or may not sell interest in those wells
through either royalty or working interests. The Predecessors acquired their oil and gas assets in connection with their business
model which differs substantially from ours and that of an ordinary oil and exploration and production company. The Predecessors
acquired either working interests in oil and gas properties or royalty interests in oil and gas properties.
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Following these acquisitions, the Predecessors offered interests in those properties to accredited investors through a series of private
placements. The interests offered in those properties were subject to certain carried interests, and those carried interests constitute
the bulk of the oil and gas assets acquired from the Predecessors.

The Predecessors also entered into turnkey drilling contracts with outside working interest owners to develop leasehold
acreage acquired. In these arrangements, the Predecessors acquired a working interest in a prospect pursuant to an oil and gas lease,
and then sold a portion of a well’s working interest on the acquired lease to third parties with a turnkey drilling agreement. In each
case, the working interest holders are obligated to bear the cost of drilling, testing, completing, equipping and operating the well.
The Predecessors typically sold a substantial portion of the working interests, had a third-party operate the projects and was granted
a carried interest.

In a turnkey drilling agreement, the Predecessors agreed to pay for all costs of identifying, acquiring mineral rights to,
drilling, testing, completing and equipping the well for initial production at a fixed price. If the actual costs of these activities
exceed the turnkey price, the Predecessors were obligated to pay the excess cost. If the actual costs were less than the turnkey price,
the Predecessors were entitled to retain the excess of the turnkey price over actual costs. Following completion of each producing
well, the Predecessors and the third-party working interest owners would bear the cost of operating the well according to each
party’s proportionate working interest percentage.

We intend to continue the acquisition of working interests and royalty interests in oil and gas properties through our
subsidiaries and special purpose entities and retaining carried interests relating such properties.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

For the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to year ended December 31, 2012:

Revenue. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company generated revenues of $26,651,288, an increase of
$13,243,167 or 99% as compared to the same period last year. The Company had increased revenues primarily through sales of
royalty interests in oil and gas properties.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we produced an additional 9,510 barrels of oil as compared to 1,660 sold in
2012 or an increase of 573%. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we produced an additional 24,360 Mcfs of gas as
compared to 31,510 sold in 2012. Our average price per barrel sold during 2013 increased by $3.76 from $92.62 in 2012. Our
average price per Mcf sold during 2013 decreased by $2.62 from $5.58 in 2012. These items increased our revenues from oil in
2013 by $846,251 and $75,826 from gas. Some revenues from commodity sales is reflected in the sale of turnkey contracts and
royalties interests.

Total Expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2013, total expenses, which are comprised of depreciation,
operating costs and general and administrative expenses, were $28,964,979 compared to $18,920,720 during the same period in
2012. This change represents an increase of $10,044,259 or 53%. The increase is primarily due to increased general and
administrative expenses, and professional fees. These increases are due primarily to additional services necessary to support our
106% increase in revenue, the preparation to transition to a public company, and direct expenses relating to the transition to a public
company.

For the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to year ended December 31, 2011:

Revenue. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company generated revenues of $13,408,121 an increase of
$4,028,457 or 43% as compared to the same period in 2011. The Company had increased revenues primarily through sales of
turnkey drilling contracts. The Company saw a decrease in sales of oil and natural gas royalty interests of $1,151,766 or 92% as
compared to the same period in the prior year as investors pursued turnkey contracts rather than royalty interests during the year
ended December 31, 2012.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we produced 1,660 barrels of oil as compared to negligible amounts in 2011.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, we produced approximately 31,510 Mcfs of gas as compared to negligible amounts in
2011. Our average price per barrel sold during 2012 was $92.62. Our average price per Mcf sold during 2012 was $5.58.

Total Expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2012, total expenses, which are comprised of depreciation,
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operating costs and general and administrative expenses, were $18,920,720 compared to $8,680,967 during the same period in 2011.
This change represents an increase of $10,239,753 or 118%. The increase is primarily due to activities relating to deferred revenues
in the turnkey drilling area. The Company had recognized the expenses associated with the generation of the revenue, but had defer
the revenue recognition until the completion of certain wells.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

For the year ended December 31, 2013:

We have increased our net working capital deficit as of December 31, 2013 to $9,545,632 an increase of $4,961,670 from
December 31, 2012. The increase is primarily due to growth in our revenues.

Net cash used in operating activities of $2,550,466 for year ended December 31, 2013 decreased from cash provided by
operations of $947,869 for the same period last year, a decrease of $3,498,335. The decrease is primarily due to the increase in
paying current expenses associated with generating future revenues.

Net cash used in investing activities of $1,511,659 was primarily utilized to develop our oil and gas assets during the year
2013. This is a decrease of $1,351,753 from the same period in 2012.

The Company was considered the acquirer for accounting purposes because it obtained effective control of Bering.
Breitling did not have a change in control since Breitling’s operations comprise the ongoing operations of the combined entity, its
senior management became the senior management of the combined entity, and its former owners own a majority voting interest in
the combined entity and are able to elect a majority of the combined entity’s board of directors. Accordingly, the Business
Combination does not constitute the acquisition of a business for purposes of Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Accounting
Standard Codification 805, “Business Combinations,” or ASC 805. As a result, the assets and liabilities of Breitling are carried at
historical cost and the Company has not recorded any step-up in basis or any intangible assets or goodwill as a result of the Business
Combination. All direct costs of the Business Combination were offset to additional paid-in capital. The historical financial
statements presented herein are that of Breitling.

The Company has incurred losses and negative cash flows from operations in recent years and expects to continue to
incur operating losses until revenues from all sources reach a level sufficient to support its on-going operations. The Company’s
liquidity will largely be determined by its ability to raise capital from debt, equity, or other forms of financing, by the success of its
product offerings, by developing additional product offerings, and by reducing expenses associated with operations. The Company’s
management believes that its cash resources at December 31, 2013, will be sufficient to meet current obligations and fund its
operating activities through December 31, 2014.

In the absence of a sufficient increase in revenues, the Company will need to do one or more of the following in the next
12 months to meet its planned level of expenditures: (a) raise additional capital; (b) reduce spending on operations; or (c) restructure
its operations. A capital raise could take any number of forms including but not limited to: additional debt, additional equity, asset
sales, or other forms of financing as dictated by its needs and its view toward its overall capital structure. However, additional
financing might not be available on acceptable terms, if at all, and such financing might only be available on terms dilutive or
otherwise detrimental to its stockholders or its business. As such, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Chris Faulkner, has
personally guaranteed his ability and financial wherewithal to ensure the Company can continue until at least January 1, 2015. This
personal guaranty may include reduction of salary, capital or debt contributions and/or other measures, as needed.

Our current working capital should be positive in the first quarter of 2014.

Future Financing

We will require additional financing to fund our planned operations, including further development of our current leases
through the drilling of additional wells and the acquiring of additional leases in geographical locations which we believe have
potential for successful exploration. We estimate that to develop our current undeveloped properties and to acquire properties to
maintain our current revenue level we will need approximately $12 million dollars. We may issue equity, debt or a combination of
the foregoing in order to raise the capital that we need. There can be no assurance that we will be able to raise financing sufficient to
fund our planned operations on terms acceptable to us.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

From time-to-time, we enter into off-balance sheet arrangements and transactions that can give rise to off-balance sheet
obligations. As of December 31, 2013, the off-balance sheet arrangements and transactions that we had entered into included
operating lease agreements and gas transportation commitments. The Company does not believe that these arrangements are
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reasonably likely to materially affect its liquidity or availability of, or requirements for, capital resources currently or in the future.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Our financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with GAAP. Preparing financial statements
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses. These estimates and assumptions are affected by management’s application of accounting policies. We believe that
understanding the basis and nature of the estimates and assumptions involved with the following aspects of our financial statements
is critical to an understanding of our financials.

We base our assumptions and estimates on historical experience and other sources that we believe to be reasonable at the
time. Actual results may vary from our estimates due to changes in circumstances, politics, global economics, general business
conditions and other factors.

There are accounting policies that we believe are significant to the presentation of our financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

The Company enters into turnkey drilling contracts with outside working interest owners to develop leasehold acreage the
Company has acquired. In these arrangements, the Company acquires a working interest in a prospect pursuant to an oil and gas
lease, and then sells a portion of a well’s working interest on the acquired lease to outside working interest owners with a turnkey
drilling agreement. Title to the lease property is not conveyed to the outside working interest owners. The outside working interest
owner purchases a working interest directly in the well bore. The working interest purchased in the turnkey drilling agreements is an
ownership interest in which the working interest holder is responsible to bear the cost of drilling, testing, completing, equipping and
operating the well. The Company typically sells a substantial portion of the working interests and has a third-party operate the
projects.

36
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In a turnkey drilling agreement, the Company agrees to sell a percentage of the well’s working interest to outside working
interest owners and to pay for all costs of identifying, acquiring mineral rights to drilling testing, completing and equipping the well
for initial production at a fixed price. If the actual costs of these activities exceed the turnkey price, the Company is obligated to pay
the excess cost. If the actual costs are less than the turnkey price, the Company retains the excess of the turnkey price over actual
costs. The Company bears 100% of the risk should actual costs exceed estimated costs of a project for both the Company’s working
interest and the working interest sold to outside working interest owners in a well. When the well is completed as a commercially
productive well, the Company and the outside working interest owners bear the cost of operating the well according to each party’s
proportionate working interest percentage.

When the Company sponsors a turnkey drilling project for sale, outsider working interest owners enter into a signed
contract with the Company. In this agreement, the outside working interest owner agrees to share in the prospect acquisition costs
and drilling costs. The prospect acquisition costs include geophysical and geographical costs, costs to lease the mineral rights, and
other costs as required so the drilling of the project can proceed. Drilling costs are those costs incurred to build the drilling location,
drill, and log the well, and if the well is successful, to complete and test the well. Once drilling begins, the well is generally
completed within 30 to 60 days.

The Company bases the price at which it sells working interests under the turnkey drilling agreement on its estimates of
the costs, described above, and is based upon the historical cost to complete those activities.

Since the outside working interest owner’s interest in the prospect is limited to the well, and not the lease, the outside
working interest owner does not have a legal right to participate in additional wells drilled within the same lease. However, it is the
Company’s policy to offer to outside working interest owners in a successful well the right to participate in subsequent wells at the
same percentage level as their working interest investment in the prior successful well with similar turnkey drilling agreement
terms.

The Company recognizes revenues associated with its turnkey contracts when development steps outlined in the contract
have been achieved on a well under development. Revenues are earned in accordance with the turnkey contracts when the following
development steps are met on the gas well under development: completion of the drilling/testing of the well and completion of the
completion/equipping phase of the well. Any cash collected under the turnkey contracts that have not met one of the development
steps is deferred and presented as deferred revenue from turnkey contracts on the balance sheet.

The turnkey revenue is recorded on a gross basis with the associated turnkey drilling costs, as agreed to in the turnkey
contract, being deferred until the associated revenue is recognized. Early recognition of loss is recorded if it is determined that the
well cost will exceed the applicable revenue received on the specific well. Total turnkey drilling revenue recognized for the year
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 was approximately $14,914,114 and $13,085,714, respectively. As of December 31, 2013 and
2012, the Company had approximately $4,609,041 and $6,562,000 in deferred turnkey drilling revenue, respectively.

The Company utilizes the accrual method of accounting for natural gas and crude oil revenues, whereby revenues are
recognized based on the Company’s net revenue interest in the wells. The Company will also enter into physical contract sale
agreements through its normal operations. Revenue from the sale of natural gas and crude oil is recognized when title to the
commodities passes.

Gas imbalances are accounted for using the sales method. Under this method, revenues are recognized based on actual
volumes of oil and gas sold to purchasers. However, the Company has no history of significant gas imbalances.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company has adopted and follows Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 820, Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures, for measurement and disclosures about fair value of its financial instruments. ASC 820 establishes a framework for
measuring fair value in GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. To increase consistency and comparability
in fair value measurements and related disclosures, ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three (3) broad levels. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. The
three (3) levels of fair value hierarchy defined by ASC 820 are:

Level 1 — Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.
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Level 2 — Inputs (other than quoted market prices included in Level 1) are either directly or indirectly observable for the
asset or liability through correlation with market data at the measurement date and for the duration of the instrument’s anticipated
life.

Level 3 — Inputs reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the valuation technique and the risk inherent in the
inputs to the model. Valuation of instruments includes unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the
measurement of fair value of assets or liabilities.

As defined by ASC 820, the fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale, which was further clarified as
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (“an exit price”) in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities, such as cash,
receivables, joint interest revenues payable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, approximate their fair values because of the
short maturity of these instruments.

Cash

The Company considers all highly-liquid debt instruments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company did not hold any cash equivalents.

The Company maintains its cash balances in financial institutions which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC”). The cash accounts maintain FDIC coverage of up to $250,000 per institution. Non-interest bearing accounts
were fully covered subject to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Act”) for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012. This provision of the Act expired on December 31, 2012. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the
Company had no amounts in excess of FDIC coverage.

Oil and Gas Natural Gas Properties

The Company uses the full-cost method of accounting for its oil and natural gas producing activities as further defined
under ASC 932, Extractive Activities -Oil and natural gas. Under these provisions, all costs incurred for both successful and
unsuccessful exploration and development activities, including salaries, benefits and other internal costs directly identified with
these activities, and oil and natural gas property acquisitions are capitalized. All costs related to production, general corporate
overhead or similar activities are expensed as incurred.

Proved properties are amortized using the units of production method (“UOP”). The UOP calculation, in its simplest
terms, multiplies the percentage of estimated proved reserves produced at year end by the cost of those reserves.

The amortization base in the UOP calculation includes the sum of proved property, net of accumulated depreciation,
depletion and amortization (“DD&A”), estimated future development costs (future costs to access and develop reserves) and asset
retirement costs that are not already included in oil and natural gas property, less related salvage value.

The cost of unproved properties and properties under development are excluded from the amortization calculation until it
is determined whether or not proved reserves can be assigned to such properties or until development projects are placed in service.
Geological and geophysical costs not associated with specific properties are recorded to proved properties. Unproved properties and
properties under development are reviewed for impairment at least quarterly. Exploratory drilling costs associated with dry holes are
transferred to proved properties immediately upon determination that a well is dry and amortized accordingly. December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011, no unproved properties or properties under development were included in the oil and natural gas properties of the
accompanying combined financial statements.
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Oil and Gas Natural Gas Properties (continued)

Proceeds from the sale or disposition of oil and natural gas properties are accounted for as a reduction to capitalized costs
unless a significant portion (greater than 25 percent) of the Company’s reserve quantities are sold, in which case a gain or loss is
recognized in income. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and, 2012, the Company recognized gains from the sale or
disposition of oil and natural gas properties and royalties due to the proceeds from the sales exceeding 100% of the capitalized
costs.

Under the full-cost method of accounting, the net book value of oil and natural gas properties, less related deferred
income taxes, may not exceed a calculated “ceiling.” The ceiling limitation is the estimated after-tax future net cash flows from
proved oil and natural gas reserves, discounted at 10 percent per annum based on industry standards and adjusted for cash flow
hedges. Estimated future net cash flows exclude future cash outflows associated with settling accrued asset retirement obligations.
Any excess of the net book value of proved oil and gas properties, less related deferred income taxes, over the ceiling is charged to
expense and reflected as additional DD&A in the combined statements of operations. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and,
2012, no impairment charge occurred.

Other Property and Equipment

Other property and equipment, which includes furniture, vehicles, software, and office equipment, is stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. Furniture and office equipment are generally depreciated over a useful life of ten years, vehicles
over a useful life of five years, and software over a useful life of three years.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses the impairment of long-lived assets when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not
be recoverable. The Company determines if impairment has occurred through adverse changes. When it is determined that the
estimated future net cash flows of an asset will not be sufficient to recover its carrying amount, an impairment loss must be recorded
to reduce the carrying amount to its estimated fair value. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and, 2012, no circumstances
indicated an unrecoverable carrying value of long-lived assets.

Equity Investment

The Company holds a 50% non-controlling interest in Breitling Royalty Funds (“BRF”). The equity investment in BRF is
carried at cost and is adjusted for the Company’s proportionate share of their undistributed earnings or losses.

Joint Interest Revenues Payables

Joint interest revenues payable are comprised of amounts owed to joint interest owners for their proportionate share of
revenues. Generally, operators of natural gas and crude oil properties have the right to offset joint interest receivables with joint
interest revenues payable. Accordingly, any joint interest owner that has a joint interest receivable and joint interest revenues
payable as of December 31, 2013 and, 2012 are shown at net in the accompanying combined balance sheets.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company follows the provisions of ASC 410-20, Asset Retirement Obligations. ASC 410-20 requires entities to
record the fair value of obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets in the period in which it is incurred.
When the liability is initially recorded, the entity capitalizes a cost by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset.
Over time, the liability is accreted to its present value each period, and the capitalized cost is depleted as part of the oil and natural
gas property. Upon settlement of the liability, an entity either settles the obligation for its recorded amount or incurs a gain or loss
upon settlement. The Company’s asset retirement obligations relate to the plugging, dismantlement, removal, site reclamation and
similar activities of its oil and natural gas properties.

Asset retirement obligations are estimated at the present value of expected future net cash flows and are discounted using
the Company’s credit adjusted risk free rate. The Company uses unobservable inputs in the estimation of asset retirement
obligations that
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include, but are not limited to, costs of labor, costs of materials, profits on costs of labor and materials, the effect of inflation on
estimated costs, and the discount rate. Accordingly, asset retirement obligations are considered a Level 3 measurement under ASC
820. Additionally, because of the subjectivity of assumptions and the relatively long lives of the Company’s wells, the costs to
ultimately retire the Company’s wells may vary significantly from prior estimates.

Lease Operating Expenses

Lease operating expenses represent field personnel salaries, saltwater disposal, ad valorem taxes, repairs and
maintenance, severance taxes, expensed workovers and other operating expenses. Lease operating expenses are expensed as
incurred.

Sales-Based Taxes

The Company incurs severance tax on the sale of its production which is generated in Texas, North Dakota, and
Oklahoma. These taxes are reported on a gross basis and are included in lease operating expense within the accompanying
combined statements of operations. Sales-based taxes for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were approximately
$71,000 and $34,000, respectively.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are recorded in accordance with FASB ASC 740, “Income Taxes”. This statement requires the recognition
of deferred tax assets and liabilities to reflect the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the financial
statements or tax returns. Measurement of the deferred items is based on enacted tax laws. In the event the future consequences of
differences between financial reporting bases and tax bases of the Company’s assets and liabilities result in a deferred tax asset,
ASC 740 requires an evaluation of the probability of being able to realize the future benefits indicated by such assets. A valuation
allowance related to a deferred tax asset is recorded when it is more likely than not that some portion or the entire deferred tax asset
will not be realized.

The Company has filed all of their tax returns. As of December 31, 2013, there is approximately $7,150,000 in
accumulated losses for tax purposes. These losses will give rise to deferred tax assets, a significant portion of which are likely to be
net operating loss carry forwards. Due to the transaction of December 9, 2013, these net operating loss deferred tax assets may be
subject to limitations. Current tax laws limit the amount of loss available to be offset against future taxable income when a
substantial change in ownership occurs. Therefore, the amount available to offset future taxable income may be limited. Because of
these potential limitations, the Company has not recognized any deferred tax asset and has placed a full valuation allowance on such
assets.

The Company may be subject to potential examination by U.S. federal, U.S. states or foreign jurisdiction authorities in
the areas of income taxes. These potential examinations may include questioning the timing and amount of deductions, the nexus of
income among various tax jurisdictions and compliance with U.S. federal, U.S. state and foreign tax laws. The Company’s
management does not expect that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will materially change over the next twelve months.

Net Income (Loss) per Common Share

Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to stockholders by
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per common share is calculated
in the same manner, but also considers the impact to net income (loss) and common shares for the potential dilution from stock
options, non-vested share appreciation rights and non-vested restricted shares. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012,
there were no potentially dilutive shares.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of combined financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the combined financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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The Company’s estimates of oil and natural gas reserves are, by necessity, projections based on geologic and engineering
data, and there are uncertainties inherent in the interpretation of such data as well as the projection of future rates of production and
the timing of development expenditures. Reserve engineering is a subjective process of estimating underground accumulations of
natural gas and oil that are difficult to measure. The accuracy of any reserve estimate is a function of the quality of available data,
engineering and geological interpretation and judgment. Estimates of economically recoverable natural gas and oil reserves and
future net cash flows necessarily depend upon a number of variable factors and assumptions, such as historical production from the
area compared with production from other producing areas, the assumed effect of regulations by governmental agencies, and
assumptions governing future natural gas and oil prices, future operating costs, severance taxes, development costs and workover
costs, all of which may in fact vary considerably from actual results. The future drilling costs associated with reserves assigned to
proved undeveloped locations may ultimately increase to the extent that these reserves are later determined to be uneconomic. For
these reasons, estimates of the economically recoverable quantities of expected natural gas and oil attributable to any particular
group of properties, classifications of such reserves based on risk of recovery, and estimates of the future net cash flows may vary
substantially. Any significant variance in the assumptions could materially affect the estimated quantity of the reserves, which could
affect the carrying value of the Company’s oil and natural gas properties and/or the rate of depletion related to the oil and natural
gas properties.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Not applicable.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information required by this item is included in Item 15, “Exhibits Financial Statements and Financial Statement
Schedules.”

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None. Previously disclosed on form 8-K and filed with the SEC on February 18, 2014.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of
December 31, 2013. Disclosure controls and procedures means controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (a) recorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms and (b) accumulated and communicated to
our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2013, our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were ineffective, due to the
material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting described below.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 based on the guidelines established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of
achieving financial reporting objectives. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and
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compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures. Internal control over financial
reporting also can be circumvented by collision or improper management override. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that
material misstatements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with established policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or a combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote
likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. As a result of
our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, we have identified the following
material weaknesses that existed as of December 31, 2013:

1. Inadequate and ineffective controls over the financial statement close process.
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In conjunction with the year-end financial close, our procedures and controls to ensure that accurate financial statements
in accordance with GAAP could be prepared and reviewed on timely basis were not operating effectively. Such ineffective
procedures and controls include (a) ineffective segregation of duties; (b) insufficient documentation of accounting policies and
procedures and retention of historical accounting portions. As a result of the above deficiencies, material and less significant
post-closing adjustments were identified by our independent registered public accounting firm, Rothstein Kass, and recorded in our
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2013.

2. Inadequate staffing within the accounting organization.

During 2013, there were numerous changes in our accounting personnel, both on staff and third party support. This has
led to our not having a sufficient number of experienced personnel in the accounting organization to provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are being recorded as necessary to ensure timely preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP,
including the preparation of this annual report. We consider this weakness to be a material weakness in the operation of entity-level
controls and operation level controls. The ineffectiveness of such controls can result in misstatement to assets, liabilities, revenues,
and expenses.

Our management concluded that, due to the material weaknesses described above, we did not maintain effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013.

3. Remedial actions

In an effort to remediate the identified deficiencies, we have commenced, and are continuing to implement, a number of
changes to our internal control over financial reporting. These following changes will be made before the end of 2014:

• We have retained an independent Board of Directors and implemented our Corporate Policies; and

• We have retained a full time Chief Financial Officer.

Additionally, in response to the identified deficiencies, we intend to implement additional remedial measures, including
but not limited to the following:

• Hiring additional accounting personnel; and

• Improving our documentation and training related to policies and procedures for the controls related to our
significant accounts and processes.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except as described above, during its assessment of our internal control over financial reporting our management
identified no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter of 2013 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B – OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10 – DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

See “Executive Officers, Board of Directors, Committees of the Board and Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” in our Proxy Statement (the “Proxy Statement”) for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with
the SEC within 120 days after the end of the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2013) which is incorporated herein by
reference.

The Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and the Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer (Code of Ethics) can be found on the Company’s internet website located at www.BreitlingEnergy.com.

ITEM 11 – EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this item will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Executive Compensation,”
and is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 12 – SECURITIES OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information required by this item will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Securities Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13 – CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this item will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Certain Transactions” and
“Corporate Governance” and is hereby incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 14 – PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this item will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Auditors’ Fees,” and is
hereby incorporated by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15 – EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

ITEM 15. Exhibits

Exhibit Description

1 The following is an index to the financial statements and financial statement schedules that are filed in Part II,
Item 8 of this report on Form 10-K.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Combined and Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012

Combined and Consolidated Statements of Operations for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2013

Combined and Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for each of the three years in the
Period Ended December 31, 2013

Combined and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2013

Notes to Combined and Consolidated Financial Statements
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2 Schedules other than those listed above are omitted because they are not required, not applicable or the required
information is included in the financial statements or notes thereto.

3 Exhibits

    3 Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws

  3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Oncolin Therapeutics, Inc.

  3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation changing name from Oncolin Therapeutics, Inc.
to Bering Exploration, Inc.
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  3.3 Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation changing the name from Bering Exploration, Inc. to
Breitling Energy Corporation.

  3.4 Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed February 5, 2014)

  10 Material contracts

10.1 Asset Purchase Agreement among the Company, Breitling Oil & Gas Corporation and Breitling Royalties
Corporation (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed December 9, 2013)

10.2 Form of Termination Agreement and Release executed by each of the Company’s exiting executive officers
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
December 9, 2013)

10.3 Form of Non-Transfer Agreement executed by certain of the Company’s existing stockholders (incorporated
by reference from Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 9, 2013)

10.4 Form of Release executed by certain of the Company’s existing stockholders (incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 9, 2013)

10.5 Form of Release executed by the Company, Kevan Casey and his affiliates. (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.5 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 9, 2013)

10.6 Non-Transfer Agreement executed by Breitling Oil & Gas Corporation and Breitling Royalties Corporation
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
December 9, 2013)

10.7 Administrative Services Agreement between the Company, Crude Energy, LLC and Crude Royalties, LLC
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.7 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
December 9, 2013)

  14 Code of Ethics

14.1 Code of Ethics for Financial Officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed February 5, 2014)

  21 Subsidiaries of the Company

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company

  31 Rule 13a-14(a) Certifications

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13(a)-14(a)

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13(a)-14(a)

  32 Section 1350 Certifications of Chief Executive and Financial Officers pursuant to Rule 13(a)-14(b)

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer

  99 Additional Exhibits

99.1 Reserve Report Summary prepared by Mire & Associates as of December 31, 2013

101 Interactive Data Files

* Not applicable to this filing
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Breitling Energy Corporation

Date: March 31, 2014 By: /s/ Chris Faulkner
Chief Executive Officer and President (Principal Executive)

Date: March 31, 2014 By: /s/ Rick Hoover
Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: March 31, 2014 By: /s/ Chris Faulkner
Chris Faulkner, Chief Executive Officer,
President and Chairman of the Board of Directors
(Principal Executive and Authorized Officer)

Date: March 31, 2014 By: /s/ Jeremy S. Wagers
Jeremy S. Wagers, Chief Operating Officer & General
Counsel

Date: March 31, 2014 By: /s/ Rick Hoover
Rick Hoover, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
and Accounting Officer)

Date: March 31, 2014 By: /s/ Jonathan S. Huberman
Jonathan S. Huberman, Independent Director

Date: March 31, 2014 By: /s/ Richard H. Mourglia
Richard H. Mourglia, Independent Director

Date: March 31, 2014 By: /s/ Chris E. Williford
Chris E. Williford, Independent Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders of Breitling Energy Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated and combined balance sheets of Breitling Energy Corporation (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 and the related consolidated and combined statements of operations, changes in
stockholders’ deficit and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2013. These consolidated and
combined financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the Company. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these consolidated and combined financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its
internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated and combined financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Breitling Energy Corporation as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2013, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Rothstein Kass

Dallas, Texas
March 31, 2014

F-2
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BREITLING ENERGY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED AND COMBINED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2013 2012

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash $ 606,715 $ 4,668,839
Other 898 1,850

Total current assets 607,613 4,670,689

Other assets
Equity investment 3,561 12,205
Other property and equipment, net of depreciation 153,621 128,258

Total other assets 157,182 140,463

Total assets $ 764,795 $ 4,811,152

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 3,119,727 $ 2,783,761
Joint interest revenues payable 151,153 51,559
Deferred revenue from turnkey contracts 4,609,041 6,562,426
Current asset retirement obligations 16,495 22,905

Total current liabilities 7,896,416 9,420,651

Long-term liabilities
Asset retirement obligations 20,842 20,842

Stockholders’ deficit
Common stock, $.001 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 498,884,626 and 461,863,084,

respectively; shares issued and outstanding 498,884 461,863
Accumulated deficit (7,651,347) (5,092,204) 

Total stockholders’ deficit (7,152,463) (4,630,341) 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit $ 764,795 $ 4,811,152

See accompanying notes to the consolidated and combined financial statements.

F-3
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BREITLING ENERGY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED AND COMBINED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012

Revenues
Turnkey drilling $ 14,914,114 $ 13,085,714
Gain on sale of oil & natural gas royalties 11,275,402 192,093
Oil, natural gas, and related product sales 461,772 130,314

Total revenues 26,651,288 13,408,121

Expenses
Turnkey drilling and completion 5,437,880 6,009,535
General and administrative 9,629,938 5,630,436
Marketing 7,681,013 5,135,122
Professional fees 6,060,103 2,083,811
Lease operating 130,072 117,459
Depreciation and amortization 143,388 14,817

Total expenses 29,082,394 18,991,180

Operating loss (2,431,106) (5,583,059) 

Income tax expense
State tax provision 91,016 101,838

Net loss $ (2,522,122) $ (5,684,897) 

Net loss per basic and diluted common share $ (0.01) $ (0.01) 

Weighted average basic and diluted common shares outstanding 462,057,484 461,863,084

See accompanying notes to the consolidated and combined financial statements.
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BREITLING ENERGY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED AND COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Common Stock

($.001 Par Value)(1) Net
Deficit TotalShares Amount

Balances, January 1, 2012 461,863,084 $461,863 $ 592,693 $ 1,054,556

Net loss (5,684,897) (5,684,897) 

Balances, December 31, 2012 461,863,084 461,863 $(5,092,204) $(4,630,341) 

Net loss (2,522,122) (2,522,122) 

Recapitalization with Bering Exploration Inc. 37,020,542 $ 37,021 (37,021) —  

Balances, December 31, 2013 498,883,626 $498,884 $(7,651,347) $(7,152,463) 

(1) Balances have been adjusted to reflected to the recapitalization with Bering Exploration Inc.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated and combined financial statements.
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BREITLING ENERGY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED AND COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $(2,522,122) $(5,684,897) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 143,388 14,817
Accretion of asset retirement obligation 2,294 3,058
Net loss from equity investment 40,394 32,164
Increase (decrease) in cash attributable to changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Related party receivable 952 (1,850) 
Accounts payable and other adjustments 335,966 1,810,332
Joint interest revenues payable 99,594 51,559
Deferred revenues (1,953,385) 4,722,686

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (3,852,919) 947,869

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of other property and equipment (177,455) (124,906) 
Investment in equity investment (31,750) (35,000) 

Net cash used by investing activities (209,205) (159,906) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash (4,062,124) 787,963

Cash, beginning of period 4,668,839 3,880,876

Cash, end of period $ 606,715 $ 4,668,839

See accompanying notes to the consolidated and combined financial statements.
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Breitling Energy Corporation
CONSOLIDATED AND COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 2012

1. Organization and nature of operations

Breitling Energy Corporation, (formerly, Bering Exploration Inc., formerly, Oncolin Therapeutics, Inc., formerly, Edgeline
Holdings, Inc., formerly, Dragon Gold Resources, Inc., formerly Folix Technologies, Inc.) (“we”, “our” or the “Company”) was
incorporated in the state of Nevada on December 13, 2000 under the name “Folix Technologies, Inc.” On August 18, 2004, the
Company changed its name to Dragon Gold Resources, Inc. On June 22, 2007, the Company changed its name to Edgeline
Holdings, Inc. and on March 11, 2008 to Oncolin Therapeutics, Inc. On September 7, 2010, the Company changed its name to
Bering Exploration, Inc. and on January 20, 2014, to Breitling Energy Corporation.

On December 9, 2013 (the “Acquisition Date”), the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase
Agreement”) with Breitling Oil and Gas Corporation, a Texas corporation (“O&G”) and Breitling Royalties Corporation, a Texas
corporation (“Royalties,” and collectively with O&G, the “Predecessors”). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Company
issued to the Predecessors 461,863,084 shares of Common Stock, in exchange for substantially all of the oil and gas assets owned
by the Predecessors (the “Transaction”). In connection with the closing of the Transaction, all of the Company’s outstanding
convertible notes were converted into Common Stock. The shares of Common Stock issued to the Predecessors represent
approximately 92.5% of the shares of Common Stock outstanding following the closing of the Transaction (the “Closing”). The
Transaction results in the owners of the Company (the “accounting acquirer”) having actual or effective operating control of Bering
after the transaction, with the shareholders of Bering (the “legal acquirer”) continuing only as passive investors. The closing of the
Transaction did not affect the number of shares of Common Stock held by the Company’s existing public stockholders.

The Company was considered the acquirer for accounting purposes because it obtained effective control of Bering.
Breitling did not have a change in control since Breitling’s operations comprise the ongoing operations of the combined entity, its
senior management became the senior management of the combined entity, and its former owners own a majority voting interest in
the combined entity and are able to elect a majority of the combined entity’s board of directors. Accordingly, the Business
Combination does not constitute the acquisition of a business for purposes of Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Accounting
Standard Codification 805, “Business Combinations,” or ASC 805. As a result, the assets and liabilities of Breitling are carried at
historical cost and the Company has not recorded any step-up in basis or any intangible assets or goodwill as a result of the Business
Combination. The historical financial statements presented herein are that of Breitling.

2. Liquidity

The Company has incurred losses and negative cash flows from operations in recent years and expects to continue to
incur operating losses until revenues from all sources reach a level sufficient to support its on-going operations. The Company’s
liquidity will largely be determined by its ability to raise capital from debt, equity, or other forms of financing, by the success of its
product offerings, by developing additional product offerings, and by reducing expenses associated with operations. The Company’s
management believes that its cash resources at December 31, 2013, will be sufficient to meet current obligations and fund its
operating activities through December 31, 2014.

In the absence of a sufficient increase in revenues, the Company will need to do one or more of the following in the next
12 months to meet its planned level of expenditures: (a) raise additional capital; (b) reduce spending on operations; or (c) restructure
its operations. A capital raise could take any number of forms including but not limited to: additional debt, additional equity, asset
sales, or other forms of financing as dictated by its needs and its view toward its overall capital structure. However, additional
financing might not be available on acceptable terms, if at all, and such financing might only be available on terms dilutive or
otherwise detrimental to its stockholders or its business. As such, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Chris Faulkner, has
personally guaranteed his ability and financial wherewithal to ensure the Company can continue until at least January 1, 2015. This
personal guaranty may include reduction of salary, capital or debt contributions and/or other measures, as needed.

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated and combined financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”).
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These consolidated and combined financial statements were approved by management and available for issuance on
March 31, 2013. Subsequent events have been evaluated through this date.

Principles of Consolidation and Combination

The consolidated and combined financial statements reflect the historical combined results of O&G and Royalties prior to
the reverse recapitalization completed on December 9, 2013, and the consolidated results of the Company thereafter. All
intercompany and interentity transactions have been eliminated in the consolidation and combination.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company has adopted and follows ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, for measurement and
disclosures about fair value of its financial instruments. ASC 820 establishes a framework for measuring fair value in GAAP, and
expands disclosures about fair value measurements. To increase consistency and comparability in fair value measurements and
related disclosures, ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value into three (3) broad levels. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. The three (3) levels of fair value hierarchy
defined by ASC 820 are:

Level 1 — Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level 2 — Inputs (other than quoted market prices included in Level 1) are either directly or indirectly observable for the asset or
liability through correlation with market data at the measurement date and for the duration of the instrument’s anticipated life.

Level 3 — Inputs reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the valuation technique and the risk inherent in the inputs to the
model. Valuation of instruments includes unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the measurement
of fair value of assets or liabilities.

As defined by ASC 820, the fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale, which was further clarified as
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (“an exit price”) in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities, such as cash
and cash equivalents, oil and natural gas sales receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, approximate their fair values
because of the short maturity of these instruments.
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Cash

The Company considers all highly-liquid debt instruments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company did not hold any cash equivalents.

The Company maintains its cash balances in financial institutions which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“FDIC”). The interest bearing cash accounts maintain FDIC coverage of up to $250,000 per institution. As of December 31, 2013
and 2012, the Company did not have any amounts in excess of its FDIC coverage.

Oil and Gas Natural Gas Properties

The Company uses the full-cost method of accounting for its oil and natural gas producing activities as further defined
under ASC 932, Extractive Activities -Oil and natural gas. Under these provisions, all costs incurred for both successful and
unsuccessful exploration and development activities, including salaries, benefits and other internal costs directly identified with
these activities, and oil and natural gas property acquisitions are capitalized. All costs related to production, general corporate
overhead or similar activities are expensed as incurred.

Proved properties are amortized using the units of production method (“UOP”). The UOP calculation, in its simplest
terms, multiplies the percentage of estimated proved reserves produced at year end by the cost of those reserves. The amortization
base in the UOP calculation includes the sum of proved property, net of accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization
(“DD&A”), estimated future development costs (future costs to access and develop reserves) and asset retirement costs that are not
already included in oil and natural gas property, less related salvage value.

The cost of unproved properties and properties under development are excluded from the amortization calculation until it
is determined whether or not proved reserves can be assigned to such properties or until development projects are placed in service.
Geological and geophysical costs not associated with specific properties are recorded to proved properties. Unproved properties and
properties under development are reviewed for impairment at least quarterly. Where proved reserves exist, exploratory drilling costs
associated with dry holes are transferred to proved properties immediately upon determination that a well is dry and amortized
accordingly. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, no unproved properties or properties under development were included in the oil
and natural gas properties of the accompanying combined financial statements.

Under the full-cost method of accounting, the net book value of oil and natural gas properties, less related deferred
income taxes, may not exceed a calculated “ceiling.” The ceiling limitation is the estimated after-tax future net cash flows from
proved oil and natural gas reserves, discounted at 10 percent per annum based on industry standards and adjusted for cash flow
hedges. Estimated future net cash flows exclude future cash outflows associated with settling accrued asset retirement obligations.
Any excess of the net book value of proved oil and gas properties, less related deferred income taxes, over the ceiling is charged to
expense and reflected as additional DD&A in the accompanying combined statements of operations. For the years ended
December 31, 2013, and 2012, no impairment charge occurred.

Other Property and Equipment

Other property and equipment, which includes furniture, vehicles, software, and office equipment, is stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. Furniture and office equipment are generally depreciated over a useful life of ten years, vehicles
over a useful life of five years, and software over a useful life of three years.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses the impairment of long-lived assets when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not
be recoverable. The Company determines if impairment has occurred through adverse changes. When it is determined that the
estimated future net cash flows of an asset will not be sufficient to recover its carrying amount, an impairment loss must be recorded
to reduce the carrying amount to its estimated fair value. For the years ended December 31, 2013, and 2012, no circumstances
indicated an unrecoverable carrying value of the long-lived assets.
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Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company follows the provisions of ASC 410-20, Asset Retirement Obligations. ASC 410-20 requires entities to
record the fair value of obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets in the period in which it is incurred.
When the liability is initially recorded, the entity capitalizes a cost by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset.
Over time, the liability is accreted to its present value each period, and the capitalized cost is depleted as part of the oil and natural
gas property. Upon settlement of the liability, an entity either settles the obligation for its recorded amount or incurs a gain or loss
upon settlement. The Company’s asset retirement obligations relate to the plugging, dismantlement, removal, site reclamation and
similar activities of its oil and natural gas properties.

Asset retirement obligations are estimated at the present value of expected future net cash flows and are discounted using
the Company’s credit adjusted risk free rate. The Company uses unobservable inputs in the estimation of asset retirement
obligations that include, but are not limited to, costs of labor, costs of materials, profits on costs of labor and materials, the effect of
inflation on estimated costs, and the discount rate. Accordingly, asset retirement obligations are considered a Level 3 measurement
under ASC 820. Additionally, because of the subjectivity of assumptions and the relatively long lives of the Company’s wells, the
costs to ultimately retire the Company’s wells may vary significantly from prior estimates.

Revenue Recognition

BOG enters into turnkey drilling contracts with outside working interest owners to develop leasehold acreage BOG has
acquired. In these arrangements, BOG acquires a working interest in a prospect pursuant to an oil and gas lease, and then sells a
portion of a well’s working interest on the acquired lease to outside working interest owners with a turnkey drilling agreement. Title
to the lease property is not conveyed to the outside working interest owners. The outside working interest owner purchases a
working interest directly in the well bore. The working interest purchased in the turnkey drilling agreements is an ownership interest
in which the working interest holder is responsible to bear the cost of drilling, testing, completing, equipping and operating the well.
BOG typically sells 100% of the working interests and has a third-party operate the projects.

In a turnkey drilling agreement, BOG agrees to sell a percentage of the well’s working interest to outside working interest
owners and to pay for all costs of identifying, acquiring mineral rights to, drilling, testing, completing and equipping the well for
initial production at a fixed price. If the actual costs of these activities exceed the turnkey price BOG charged to the outside working
interest owners, BOG is responsible to pay the excess cost. If the actual costs are less than the turnkey price, BOG retains the excess
of the turnkey price over actual costs. BOG bears 100% of the risk should actual cost exceed estimated costs of a project for both
BOG’s working interest and the working interest sold to outside working interest owners in a well. When the well is completed as a
commercially productive well, BOG and the outside working interest owners bear the cost of operating the well according to each
party’s proportionate working interest percentage.

When BOG sponsors a turnkey drilling project for sale, outsider working interest owners enter into a signed contract with
BOG. In this agreement, the outside working interest owner agrees to share in the prospect acquisition costs and drilling costs. The
prospect acquisition costs include geophysical & geographical costs, costs to lease the mineral rights, and other costs as required so
the drilling of the project can proceed. Drilling costs are those costs incurred to build the drilling location, drill, and log the well,
and if the well is successful, to complete and test the well. Once drilling begins, the well is generally completed within 30 to 60
days. BOG bases the price at which it sells working interests under the turnkey drilling agreement on its estimates of the costs
described above, and is based upon the historical cost to complete those activities. Since the outside working interest owner’s
interest in the prospect is limited to the well, and not the lease, the outside working interest owner does not have a legal right to
participate in additional wells drilled within the same lease. However it is the Company’s policy to offer to outside working interest
owners in a successful well the right to participate in subsequent wells at the same percentage level as their working interest
investment in the prior successful well with similar turnkey drilling agreement terms.

The Company recognizes revenues associated with its turnkey contracts when development steps outlined in the contract have
been achieved on a well under development. Revenues are earned in accordance with the turnkey contracts when the following
development steps are met on the respective oil and natural gas well under development: completion of the drilling/testing of the
well and completion of the completion/equipping phase of the well. Any cash collected under the turnkey contracts that have not
met one of the development steps is deferred and presented as deferred revenue from turnkey contracts on the combined balance
sheets. The turnkey revenue is recorded on a gross basis with the associated turn key drilling costs, as agreed to in the turnkey
contract, being deferred until the associated revenue is recognized. Early recognition of loss is recorded if it is determined that the
well cost will exceed the applicable revenue received on the specific well. Total turnkey drilling revenues recognized for the for

Form 10-KT https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1229089/00011931251412421...

77 of 88 8/1/2018 2:59 PM

134

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 303   Filed 08/20/18    Page 140 of 289   PageID 9099



years ended December 31, 2013 and 2013 was approximately $14,910,000 and $13,086,000 respectively. As of December 31, 2013
and 2012, the Company had approximately $4,609,000 and $6,562,000 ,in deferred turnkey drilling revenue, respectively.

The Company utilizes the accrual method of accounting for natural gas and crude oil revenues, whereby revenues are
recognized based on the Company’s net revenue interest in the wells. The Company will also enter into physical contract sale
agreements through its normal operations. Revenue from the sale of natural gas and crude oil is recognized when title to the
commodities passes.

Gas imbalances are accounted for using the sales method. Under this method, revenues are recognized based on actual
volumes of oil and gas sold to purchasers. However, the Company has no history of significant gas imbalances.

Sales-Based Taxes

The Company incurs severance tax on the sale of its production which is generated in Texas, North Dakota, and
Oklahoma. These taxes are reported on a gross basis and are included in lease operating expense within the accompanying
combined statements of operations. Sales-based taxes for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were approximately $4,000
and $34,000. respectively.

Lease Operating Expenses

Lease operating expenses represents severance and production taxes, field personnel salaries, saltwater disposal, ad
valorem taxes, repairs and maintenance, and other operating expenses. Lease operating expenses are expensed as incurred.

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expenses are reported net of recoveries from owners in properties operated by the Company
and net of amounts related to lease operating activities or capitalized pursuant to the full-cost method of accounting.
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Income Taxes

Prior to the Acquisition Date, the Company elected to be treated as an “S” corporation under Subchapter S of the Internal
Revenue Code. As such, income or loss of the Company, in general, is allocated to the shareholders for inclusion in their income tax
return. Accordingly, the Company has not provided for federal, state, or local income taxes prior to this date. Texas does have a
“margin tax” that remains with the corporate entity; therefore the Company has reflected any expense associated with the Texas
margin tax as income taxes for financial statement purposes.

Subsequent to the Acquisition Date, income taxes are recorded in accordance with FASB ASC 740, “Income Taxes”. This
statement requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities to reflect the future tax consequences of events that have been
recognized in the financial statements or tax returns. Measurement of the deferred items is based on enacted tax laws. In the event
the future consequences of differences between financial reporting bases and tax bases of the Company’s assets and liabilities result
in a deferred tax asset, ASC 740 requires an evaluation of the probability of being able to realize the future benefits indicated by
such assets. A valuation allowance related to a deferred tax asset is recorded when it is more likely than not that some portion or the
entire deferred tax asset will not be realized.

The Company has filed all of their tax returns. As of December 31, 2013, there is approximately $14 million in
accumulated losses for tax purposes. These losses will give rise to deferred tax assets, a significant portion of which are likely to be
net operating loss carry forwards. Due to the transaction of December 9, 2013, these net operating loss deferred tax assets may be
subject to limitations. Current tax laws limit the amount of loss available to be offset against future taxable income when a
substantial change in ownership occurs. Therefore, the amount available to offset future taxable income may be limited. Because of
these potential limitations, the Company has not recognized any deferred tax asset and has placed a full valuation allowance on such
assets.

In accordance with GAAP, the Company is required to determine whether a tax position of the Company is more likely
than not to be sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing authority, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation
processes, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefit to be recognized is measured as the largest amount of
benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. De-recognition of a tax benefit previously
recognized could result in the Company recording a tax liability that would reduce stockholders equity. Based on its analysis, the
Company has accrued a liability relating to uncertain tax positions for amounts totaling approximately $728,000 and $309,000 as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012 respectively. This policy also provides guidance on thresholds, measurement, de-recognition,
classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition that is intended to provide better
financial statement comparability among different entities. Management’s conclusions regarding this policy may be subject to
review and adjustment at a later date based on factors including, but not limited to, on-going analyses of and changes to tax laws,
regulations and interpretations thereof. Currently, the Company, along with that of Bering’s historical tax returns, are subject to
examination for the years ending December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011.

The Company may be subject to potential examination by U.S. federal, U.S. states or foreign jurisdiction authorities in
the areas of income taxes. These potential examinations may include questioning the timing and amount of deductions, the nexus of
income among various tax jurisdictions and compliance with U.S. federal, U.S. state and foreign tax laws. The Company’s
management does not expect that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will materially change over the next twelve months.

Net Income (Loss) per Common Share

Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to stockholders by
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per common share is calculated
in the same manner, but also considers the impact to net income (loss) and common shares for the potential dilution from stock
options, nonvested share appreciation rights and non-vested restricted shares. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012,
there were no potentially dilutive shares.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of combined financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the combined financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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                The Company’s estimates of oil and natural gas reserves are, by necessity, projections based on geologic and engineering
data, and there are uncertainties inherent in the interpretation of such data as well as the projection of future rates of production and
the timing of development expenditures. Reserve engineering is a subjective process of estimating underground accumulations of
natural gas and oil that are difficult to measure. The accuracy of any reserve estimate is a function of the quality of available data,
engineering and geological interpretation and judgment. Estimates of economically recoverable natural gas and oil reserves and
future net cash flows necessarily depend upon a number of variable factors and assumptions, such as historical production from the
area compared with production from other producing areas, the assumed effect of regulations by governmental agencies, and
assumptions governing future natural gas and oil prices, future operating costs, severance taxes, development costs and workover
costs, all of which may in fact vary considerably from actual results. The future drilling costs associated with reserves assigned to
proved undeveloped locations may ultimately increase to the extent that these reserves are later determined to be uneconomic. For
these reasons, estimates of the economically recoverable quantities of expected natural gas and oil attributable to any particular
group of properties, classifications of such reserves based on risk of recovery, and estimates of the future net cash flows may vary
substantially. Any significant variance in the assumptions could materially affect the estimated quantity of the reserves, which could
affect the carrying value of the Company’s oil and natural gas properties and/or the rate of depletion related to the oil and natural
gas properties.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASC Update No. 2013-01 (“ASC
No. 2013-01”), The objective of ASC No. 2013-01 is to clarify that the scope of Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-11 ,
Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities (“ASC No. 2011-11”), would apply to derivatives including bifurcated embedded
derivatives, repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements, and securities borrowing and securities lending transactions
that are either offset or are subject to a master netting arrangement or similar agreement. ASC No. 2011-11, issued in December
2011, requires that entities disclose both gross and net information about instruments and transactions eligible for offset in the
statement of financial position as well as instruments and transactions subject to an agreement similar to a master netting
arrangement. In addition, the standard requires disclosure of collateral received and posted in connection with master netting
agreements or similar arrangements. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1,
2013, and interim periods within those annual periods. The disclosures required by the amendments are required to be applied
retrospectively for all comparative periods presented. The Company does not believe the adoptions of this update will have a
material impact on the Company’s combined financial statements.
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3. Fair Value Measurements

As of December 31, 2013, and 2012, the Company had no assets which were measured at fair value.

The following tables present information about the Company’s liabilities measured at fair value as of December 31, 2013, and 2012

Level 1
(unaudited)

Level 2
(unaudited)

Level 3
(unaudited)

Balance as of
December 31, 2013

Liabilities (at fair value):
Asset retirement obligations $ $ $ 37,337 $ 37,337

Balance as of
    Level 1      Level 2     Level 3  December 31, 2012

Liabilities (at fair value):
Asset retirement obligations $ $ $  43,747 $ 43,747

4. Other property and equipment

The following table presents a summary of the Company’s other property and equipment:

December 31,
2013 2012

Other equipment
Furniture $ 194,275 $112,565
Vehicles 25,708 25,708
Software 21,047 6,017
Office equipment 71,627 5,434
Less: Accumulated depreciation (159,036) (21,466) 

Total other equipment, net of accumulated deprecation $ 153,621 $128,258
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5. Asset retirement obligations

The Company has recognized the fair value of its asset retirement obligations related to the future costs of plugging,
abandonment, and remediation of oil and natural gas producing properties. The present value of the estimated asset retirement
obligations has been capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related oil and natural gas properties. The liability has been
accreted to its present value as of the end of each period. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company evaluated 213 and 210
wells, and has determined a range of abandonment dates between December 2012 and December 2051. As of December 31, 2013,
and 2012, the Company realized $10,500 in Asset retirement obligations.

Year Ended December 31,
    2013        2012    

Asset retirement obligations, beginning of period $ 43,747 $ 40,689
Additions to asset retirement obligation
Liabilities settled during the period
Accretion of discount 2,294 3,058
Revision of estimate (8,704) 

Asset retirement obligations, end of period $ 37,337 $ 43,747

6. Stockholders’ Deficit

On December 9, 2013, the Company entered into the Purchase Agreement with Bering. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement,
Bering issued to the Company 461,863,084 shares of Bering’s common stock, in exchange for substantially all of the oil and gas
assets owned by the Company. In connection with the closing of the Transaction, all of the Bering’s outstanding convertible notes
were converted into Bering common stock. The shares of Bering common stock issued to the Company represent approximately
92.5% of the shares of Bering common stock on a fully diluted basis following the Closing. The Transaction results in the Company
being the accounting acquirer as the Company has actual operating control of Bering after the transaction. Accordingly, the
Consolidated and combined statement of changes in stockholder’s deficit reflects the effects of this reverse recapitalization as if it
look place effective January 1, 2012.

7. Income taxes

The Company and its subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax return.

The Company’s effective income tax rate of 34% for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 respectively differed from
the federal statutory rate due to valuation adjustments of 34% for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 respectively.

The tax accruals are reflected as follows:

For the year ended December 31, 2013 2012

Income taxes (benefit) $(866,000) $(1,933,000) 
Changes in valuation allowance 866,000 1,933,000

$ 0 $ 0

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows as of December 31:

2013 2012

Deferred tax assets relating to:
Net operating loss carryforward $ 4,764,000 $ 3,898,000
Less valuation allowance (4,764,000) (3,898,000) 

Total deferred tax asset 0 0

A valuation allowance for deferred tax assets is required when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred
tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of this deferred tax asset depends on the Company’s ability to generate
sufficient taxable income in the future. Management believes it is more likely that not that the net deferred tax asset will not be
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realized by future operating results. The valuation allowance increased by approximately $866,000, and $1.9 million for the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

At December 31, 2013, the Company had net operating loss carry-forwards for federal income tax purposes of approximately
$4.8 million, these carry-forwards will need to be reviewed further, and may be limited to the rate of application or utilization after
consideration of the recapitalization and prior history.

The Company routinely assesses potential uncertain tax positions and, if required, establishes accruals for such amounts. Only
tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are recorded.

8. Commitment and Contingencies

Legal

From time-to-time, the Company may become subject to proceedings, lawsuits and other claims in the ordinary course of business
including working interest rescissions and operator disputes. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties, and outcomes are not
predictable with assurance. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company accrued $166,000 to settle working interest
rescissions.

Oil and Natural Gas Regulations

The Company is subject to various possible contingencies that arise primarily from interpretation of federal and state laws
and regulations affecting the oil and natural gas industry. Such contingencies include differing interpretations as to the prices at
which oil and natural gas sales may be made, the prices at which royalty owners may be paid for production from their leases,
environmental issues and other matters. Although management believes that it has complied with the various laws and regulations,
administrative rulings and interpretations thereof, adjustments could be required as new interpretations and regulations are issued. In
addition, environmental matters are subject to regulation by various federal and state agencies.

Office Lease

The Company leases its primary office space under an operating lease which expires in 2020. Lease expense was
approximately $110,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013 and approximately $83,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Aggregate future minimum annual rental payments in the years subsequent to December 31, 2013 are as follows:

Year ending December 31,

2014 136,000
2015 139,000
2016 143,000
2017 147,000
Thereafter 386,000

Total future minimum rental payments $951,000
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BREITLING ENERGY CORPORATION
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

Costs Incurred

The following table summarizes costs incurred in oil and natural gas property acquisition, exploration, and development
activities. Property acquisition costs those incurred to purchase lease or otherwise acquire property, including both undeveloped
leasehold and the purchase of reserves in place. Exploration costs include costs of identifying areas that may warrant examination
and examining specific areas that are considered to have prospects containing oil and natural gas reserves, including costs of drilling
exploratory wells, geological and geophysical costs, and carrying costs on undeveloped properties. Development costs are incurred
to obtain access to proved reserves, including the cost of drilling development wells, and to provide facilities for extracting, treating,
gathering and storing oil and natural gas.

Costs incurred (capitalized and charged to expense) in oil and natural gas activities for the years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012 were as follows:

Year ended
December 31,

2013

Year ended
December 31,

2012

Acquisitions $ 3,806,516 $16,321,566
Exploration
Development 1,631,364 3,447,611

Total costs incurred $ 5,437,880 $19,769,177

Oil and Natural Gas Operating Results

Results of operations from oil and natural gas producing activities for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011,
excluding Company overhead and interest costs, were as follows:

Year ended
December 31,

2013

Year ended
December 31,

2012

Oil, natural gas and related product sales $ 461,772 $ 130,314
Lease operating costs (121,892) (83,446) 
Production taxes (8,180) (34,013) 

Results of operations from oil and natural gas producing
activities $ 331,700 $ 12,855

Proved Reserves Methodology

The Company’s estimated proved reserves, as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, are made in accordance with the SEC’s
final rule, Modernization of Oil and Gas Reporting, which amended Rule 4-10 of Regulation S-X (the “Final Rule”). As defined by
the Final Rule, proved reserves are those quantities of oil and natural gas, which, by analysis of geoscience and engineering data,
can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible in future years from known reservoirs under existing
economic conditions, operating methods, and government regulations. Projects to extract the hydrocarbons must have commenced
or an operator must be reasonably certain that it will commence the projects within a reasonable time. In addition, there must exist,
or there must be a reasonable expectation that there will exist, the legal right to produce or a revenue interest in the production,
installed means of delivering oil and gas or related substances to market, and all permits and financing required to implement the
projects. Further requirements for assignment of estimated proved reserves include the following:

The area of a reservoir considered proved includes (A) that portion delineated by drilling and defined by natural gas, oil,
and/or water contacts, if any; and (B) adjacent undrilled portions of the reservoir that can, with reasonable certainty, be judged to be
continuous with it and to contain economically producible oil or gas on the basis of available geoscience and engineering data. In
the absence of data on fluid contacts, proved quantities in a reservoir are limited by the lowest known hydrocarbons and highest
known oil seen in well penetrations unless geoscience, engineering, or performance data and reliable technology establishes a lower
or higher contact with reasonable certainty. Reliable technologies are any grouping of one or more technologies (including
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computational methods) that have been field-tested and have been demonstrated to provide reasonably certain results with
consistency and repeatability in the formation being evaluated or in an analogous formation.

Reserves which can be produced economically through applications of improved recovery techniques (including, but not
limited to fluid injections) are included in the proved classification when successful testing by a pilot project in an area of the
reservoir with properties no more favorable than in the reservoir as a whole, the operation of an installed program in the reservoir or
an analogous reservoir, and other evidence using reliable technology establishes the reasonable certainty of the engineering analysis
on which the project or program was based.

Existing economic conditions include prices and costs at which economic producibility from a reservoir is to be
determined. The prices used are the average crude oil and natural gas prices during the twelve month period prior to the ending date
of the period covered by the report, determined as an unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each
month within such period, unless prices are defined by contractual arrangements, excluding escalations based upon future
conditions.

Reserves engineering is a subjective process of estimating underground accumulations of crude oil, condensate, natural
gas, and natural gas liquids that cannot be measured in an exact manner. The accuracy of any reserves estimate is a function of the
quality of available date and of engineering and geological interpretation and judgment. The reserves actually recovered, the timing
of production of those reserves, as well as operating costs and the amount and timing of development expenditures may be
substantially different from original estimates. Revisions result primarily from new information obtained from development drilling,
production history, field tests, and data analysis and from changes in economic factors including expectation and assumptions as to
availability of financing for development projects.

Reserve Quantity Information

The following table presents the Company’s estimate of its proved oil and gas reserves all of which are located in the
United States. The estimates have been prepared with the assistance of Mire & Associates Inc., an independent petroleum
consultant. Oil reserves, which include condensate and natural gas liquids, are stated in barrels and gas reserves are stated in
thousands of cubic feet.

Crude
Oil (Bbl)

Natural
Gas (Mcf)

PROVED-DEVELOPED AND UNDEVELOPED RESERVES

December 31, 2012 106,630 308,850

Revisions of previous estimates (18,847) 4,201
Extensions and discoveries 48,080 158,100
Acquisitions of reserves 20,750 62,050

Sales of reserves
Production (5,863) (7,271) 

December 31, 2013 150,750 525,930

PROVED DEVELOPED RESERVES
December 31, 2013 84,580 373,130

December 31, 2012 66,460 129,310
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Approximately $24,000 was spent during 2013 related to proved undeveloped reserves that were transferred to proved
developed reserves. Estimated future development costs relating to the development of proved undeveloped reserves are projected
to be approximately $32,500 for 2014. All proved undeveloped drilling locations are scheduled to be drilled prior to the end of
2015. Future cash flows are computed by applying a first-day-of-the-month 12-month average price of natural gas (Henry Hub) and
oil (West Texas Intermediate) to year end quantities of proved natural gas and oil reserves. Future operating expenses and
development costs are computed primarily by the Company’s petroleum engineers by estimating the expenditures to be incurred in
developing and producing the Company’s proved natural gas and oil reserves at the end of the year, based on year end costs and
assuming continuation of existing economic conditions. For the year ended December 31, 2013, the oil and natural gas prices were
applied at $96.91/Bbl and $3.67/MMBtu, respectively, in the standardized measure. For the year ended December 31, 2012, the oil
and natural gas prices were applied at $94.71/Bbl and $2.85/MMBtu, respectively, in the standardized measure.

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flow and Changes Therein Relating to Proved Oil and Gas Reserves

The following tables, which presents a standardized measure of discounted future cash flows and changes therein relating
to proved oil and gas reserves as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, is presented
pursuant to ASC 932. In computing this data, assumptions other than those required by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
could produce different results. Accordingly, the data should not be construed as being representative of the fair market value of the
Company’s proved oil and gas reserves.

A discount factor of 10 percent was used to reflect the timing of future net cash flows. The standardized measure of
discounted future net cash flows is not intended to represent the replacement costs or fair value of the Company’s natural gas and oil
properties. An estimate of fair value would take into account, among other things, the recovery of reserves not presently classified
as proved, anticipated future changes in prices and costs, and a discount factor more representative of time value of money and the
risks inherent in reserve estimates of natural gas and oil producing operations. There have been no estimates for future plugging and
abandonment costs.

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows as of December 31, 2013

Future cash inflows $18,149,790
Less: Future production costs (2,588,090) 
Future development costs (32,500) 
Future income tax expense (5,279,928) 

Future net cash flows 10,249,272
10% discount factor (5,339,501) 

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash inflows $ 4,909,771

Estimated future development cost anticipated for following two
years on existing properties $ 32,500

Changes in Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Beginning of year $ 4,485,462
Sales of oil and natural gas, net of production costs (331,700) 
Net changes in prices and production costs (86,294) 
Development costs incurred during the year (24,000) 
Changes in future development costs 0
Extensions, discoveries, and improved recoveries 2,624,270
Revisions of previous quantity estimates (531,051) 
Accretion of discount 467,842
Net change in income taxes (3,148,534) 
Purchases and sale of mineral interests 1,104,390
Timing and other 349,386

End of year $ 4,909,771
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Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flow and Changes Therein Relating to Proved Oil and Gas Reserves
(continued)
Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows as of December 31, 2012

Future cash inflows $12,053,050
Less: Future production costs (1,561,000) 
Future development costs (56,500) 
Future income tax expense (104,355) 

Future net cash flows 10,331,195
10% discount factor (5,845,733) 

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash inflows $ 4,485,462

Estimated future development cost anticipated for following two
years on existing properties $ 56,500

Changes in Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Beginning of year $1,535,467
Sales of oil and natural gas, net of production costs (12,855) 
Net changes in prices and production costs (216,011) 
Development costs incurred during the year 42,000
Changes in future development costs (51,118) 
Extensions, discoveries, and improved recoveries
Revisions of previous quantity estimates 182,078
Accretion of discount 271,027
Net change in income taxes 22,584
Purchases and sale of mineral interests 2,954,880
Timing and other (242,590) 

End of year $4,485,462

Significant Changes in Reserves for the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Extensions, discoveries, and improved recoveries: During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company had
extensions and discoveries of 48,080 Bbl of crude oil and 158,100 Mcf of natural gas from primarily newly identified drilling
opportunities in the oil and natural gas reservoirs.

Net change in income taxes: During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company became a taxable entity under the
federal government. The future net cash flows were estimated to be taxed at a regulatory rate of 34%.

Purchases and Sale of Mineral Interests: During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company acquired 20,750 Bbl
of crude oil and 62,050 Mcf of natural gas through the purchase of undeveloped properties.

Significant Changes in Reserves for the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Net changes in Prices and Production Costs: For the year ended December 31, 2012, the oil and natural gas prices were
applied at $94.68/Bbl and $2.76/MMBtu, respectively, in the standardized measure. At December 31, 2011, the oil and natural gas
prices were applied at $95.84/Bbl and $4.15/MMBtu, respectively, in the standardized measure. The decrease in oil and natural gas
prices resulted in a significant decrease in future expected cash flows and reserves.

Purchases and Sale of Mineral Interests: During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company acquired 66,230 Bbl of
crude oil and 63,660 Mcf of natural gas through the purchase of undeveloped properties.
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PLAINTIFFS’ FIFTH AMENDED PETITION Page 1 

CAUSE NO. CC-17-06249-C 
 

JINSUN, L.L.C., SILVER STAR 
HOLDINGS TRUST, KM CASEY NO. 1 
LTD., TPH HOLDINGS, L.L.C., 
VERTICAL HOLDINGS L.L.C., 
STEVEN M. PLUMB, and J. LEONARD 
IVINS, 
 
 PLAINTIFFS, 
 
V. 
 
ROTHSTEIN, KASS & COMPANY, 
PLLC,  
 
 DEFENDANT. 

§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 

  IN THE COUNTY COURT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  AT LAW NO. 3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
OF DALLAS COUNTY, TEXAS 

   

PLAINTIFFS FIFTH AMENDED PETITION AND 
DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

 
TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE SALLY MONTGOMERY: 

Plaintiffs Jinsun, L.L.C., Silver Star Holdings Trust, KM Casey No. 1 Ltd., TPH 

Holdings, L.L.C., Vertical Holdings L.L.C., Steven M. Plumb, and J. Leonard Ivins 

(collectively, the “Plaintiffs”) file this Fifth Amended Petition against Defendant 

Rothstein, Kass & Company, PLLC (“Rothstein Kass”) and would respectfully show the 

following: 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. This litigation is a consequence of, inter alia, numerous acts of aiding and 

abetting breaches of fiduciary breaches, negligent misrepresentations and negligent 

non-disclosures made by Rothstein Kass when it incorrectly provided an unqualified 

audit opinion of the financial statements and reports of Breitling Oil & Gas Corporation 

(“BOG”) and Breitling Royalties Corporation (“BRC”) (BOG and BRC will collectively be 

referred to as “Breitling”) in connection with a potential reverse merger with Bering 

FILED
7/24/2018 9:14 AM
JOHN F. WARREN

COUNTY CLERK
DALLAS COUNTY
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Exploration, Inc. (“Bering”).   

2. Plaintiffs were shareholders of Bering and reasonably and justifiably relied 

on Breitling’s materially misleading financial statements, upon which Rothstein Kass 

improperly provided an unqualified audit opinion that was not performed in accordance 

with GAAS (Generally Accepted Auditing Standards).  Breitling’s materially misleading 

and fraudulently issued financial statements (upon which Rothstein Kass would 

ultimately provide an unqualified audit opinion), were part and parcel of the very closing 

transaction upon which Plaintiffs reasonably and justifiably relied when they executed 

the reverse merger and lockup agreements of their stock.   

3. To be clear:  the 2011 and 2012 audits performed by Rothstein Kass were 

obviously completed before Rothstein Kass could undergo the 2013 review of Breitling’s 

financial statements.  From an audit standpoint, Rothstein Kass needed the 2012 

closing balances in order to tie into the 2013 beginning balances on Breitling’s general 

ledger. Breitling’s 2011 and 2012 financial statements upon which Rothstein Kass 

provided an unqualified audit opinion were provided to Plaintiffs when they closed the 

transaction on the lock-up agreements (albeit the actual 2013 opinion may have come 

later); therefore, Plaintiffs received materially misleading financial information both 

before and after the closing transactions.  

4. Breitling’s 2012 and 2013 financial statements were materially misleading 

and Rothstein Kass authorized, approved, and/or ratified the propriety of those financial 

statements, when it gave an unqualified audit opinion. Moreover, even after the lock-up 

agreements were executed—Plaintiffs continued to rely upon Rothstein Kass’s material 

and negligent non-disclosures because, had Plaintiffs known that Breitling’s financial 
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statements were riddled with fraud sooner than they did, Plaintiffs, at the very least, 

could have sought rescission of the lock-up agreements and ultimately mitigated at least 

some of the millions of dollars in unnecessary losses, which they were wrongfully forced 

to absorb but for Rothstein Kass’s misconduct. 

5. Rothstein Kass was leading Breitling’s management to believe that it 

would receive an unqualified audit opinion (which Rothstein Kass did in fact later 

provide); and, in turn, Breitling was channeling those false representations to Bering’s 

shareholders during the relevant time period.  It is important to underscore that 

Rothstein Kass was paid approximately $350,000 for the auditing services it provided; 

needless to say, this was a massive engagement that required a meticulous 

examination of the various accounts in the trial balance.  In any event, before Rothstein 

Kass formally released its unqualified opinion, its independence had been compromised 

contrary to GAAP (Generally Accepted Accounting Principles) and GAAS, it had 

developed an improperly close relationship with Breitling’s management describing 

them as “partners”, and it knew that Breitling had numerous internal control 

delinquencies, but it did nothing that would protect the end users of the financial 

statements, even though Rothstein Kass was armed with that information.  

6. Before the unqualified opinion was formally released, Rothstein Kass 

knew Breitling was overselling interests and it also knew that it was underreporting its 

expenses, which had the combined impact of overstating assets.  Bering’s shareholders 

were entitled to the same information that Rothstein Kass had when it had it. Rothstein 

Kass was aware of Breitling’s irreconcilable problems with its internal controls long 

before it released its unqualified audit opinion of Breitling’s financial statements.   
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7. Be that as it may, Breitling’s internal controls were so fundamentally 

compromised that Rothstein Kass was in no position to issue an unqualified opinion 

under GAAS.  A competent accountant and/or auditor knows that where, as here, a 

company does not have proper internal controls—fraud is not only possible, but may 

even be probable.  Had Rothstein Kass qualified its opinion—and/or warned (in the 

notes to the financial statements) those of whom it knew or should have known would 

be relying on the financial statements in conjunction with the reverse merger—and/or 

otherwise not issued an audit opinion at all given that there was insufficient data to 

verify and tie in to vis a vis the various accounts on Breitling’s trial balance—Plaintiffs  

would not have closed and/or they could have and would have sought rescission of the 

lock-up agreements, mitigated the harm, and they certainly could have avoided or 

minimized millions of dollars in losses—had Rothstein Kass been open and transparent 

with whom it knew would be the end-users of the financial statements when Rothstein 

Kass knew or should have known that Breitling’s internal controls were far too 

inadequate and suspect to issue an unqualified audit opinion.  Rothstein Kass knew that 

Breitling’s financial statements were going to be relied upon by Bering’s shareholders 

because Rothstein Kass knew or should have known of the contemplated reverse 

merger at issue.   

8. Needless to say, it was later discovered that Breitling were cogs in the 

wheel of a massive fraud that the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) claims 

was carried out by Chris Faulkner (“Faulkner”) and others.  Rothstein Kass’s negligent 

and possibly fraudulent conduct resulted in Plaintiffs incurring at least $16 million in 

damages. 
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DISCOVERY CONTROL PLAN 
 

9. Plaintiffs intend that discovery be conducted under Level 3 of Rule 190.4 

of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure. 

PARTIES 

10. Plaintiff Jinsun, L.L.C. is a limited liability company doing business in 

Texas and can be contacted through its attorney of record, Brian P. Lauten. Jinsun, 

L.L.C. brings claims in its individual capacity. 

11. Plaintiff Silver Star Holdings Trust is a trust doing business in Texas and 

can be contacted through its attorney of record, Brian P. Lauten. Silver Star Holdings 

Trust brings claims in its individual capacity. 

12. Plaintiff KM Casey No. 1 Ltd. is a partnership doing business in Texas and 

can be contacted through its attorney of record, Brian P. Lauten. KM Casey No. 1 Ltd. 

brings claims in its individual capacity. 

13. Plaintiff TPH Holdings, L.L.C. is a limited liability company doing business 

in Texas and can be contacted through its attorney of record, Brian P. Lauten. TPH 

Holdings, L.L.C. brings claims in its individual capacity. 

14. Plaintiff Vertical Holdings L.L.C. is a limited liability company doing 

business in Texas and can be contacted through its attorney of record, Brian P. Lauten. 

Vertical Holdings L.L.C. brings claims in its individual capacity. 

15. Plaintiff Steven M. Plumb is an individual residing in Texas and can be 

contacted through his attorney of record, Brian P. Lauten.  Plumb brings claims in his 

individual capacity. 

16. Plaintiff J. Leonard Ivins is an individual residing in Texas and can be 
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contacted through his attorney of record, Brian P. Lauten. Ivins brings claims in his 

individual capacity. 

17. Defendant Rothstein, Kass & Company, PLLC is a professional limited 

liability company formed under the laws of Texas with its principal place of business in 

Texas at 2525 McKinnon Street, Suite 600, Dallas, TX 75201.  Rothstein Kass was 

previously served with citation and petition in this matter.  Rothstein Kass has agreed to 

accept service of this amended petition through its attorney Nicolas Morgan of Paul 

Hastings LLP. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

18. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this case because 

the amount in controversy exceeds this Court’s minimum jurisdictional requirements. 

Under TEX. R. CIV. P. 47(c)(5), Plaintiffs give notice that they seek damages and/or 

monetary relief over $1,000,000.00 and further hereby demand judgment for all the other 

relief to which Plaintiffs are deemed entitled. 

19. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Rothstein Kass because (1) 

Rothstein Kass is a Texas professional limited liability company, (2) Rothstein Kass 

transacts business within the State of Texas, (3) Rothstein Kass has continuous and 

systematic contacts with the State of Texas, (4) Rothstein Kass purposefully availed itself 

to the laws of the State of Texas, and (5) a substantial part of the events or omissions 

giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in Texas and involved Rothstein Kass. 

20. Venue for this case is proper in Dallas County, Texas under TEX. CIV. 

PRAC. & REM. CODE § 15.002(a)(1) because all or a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to the claim occurred in said county. 
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FACTS 
 

A. Rothstein Kass is a Repeat Offender 
 
21. Rothstein Kass has a history of failing to uncover fraud, when in fact there 

were clear red flags that should have resulted in either a withdrawal of the engagement 

or an adverse opinion.  For example, on November 21, 2008, Rothstein Kass was cited 

by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) for issuing an audit 

opinion without sufficient evidence to do so.  Specifically, the deficiencies were as 

follows: (1) “the failure, in two audits, to perform sufficient audit procedures related to 

revenue; (2) “the failure to perform sufficient audit procedures to assess the economic 

substance and accounting for a series of financial transactions; and (3) the failure to 

perform sufficient audit procedures to test the allocation of the purchase price in a 

business combination to the assets acquired.” 

22. On August 1, 2013, Rothstein Kass was cited by the PCAOB for issuing 

an audit opinion without sufficient evidence to do so.  Specifically, the deficiency was 

the failure to perform sufficient procedures to test the design and operating 

effectiveness of Internal Control Financial Reporting (ICFR) related to certain revenue. 

23. Of note, in 2012 the Bernie Madoff investment scandal eventually led to a 

California federal judge approving a 1.44 million settlement between Rothstein Kass 

and a class of investors over hedge fund investments germane to Ponzi schemes run 

by Madoff.  See Tuttle v. Sky Bell Asset Mgmt., LLC, No. C-10-03588 WHA, 2011 WL 

208060 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 21, 2011). 

B. Breitling and Bering discuss possible reverse merger in 2013. 

24. In 2012, BOG and BRC, two private Texas corporations, had discussions 

152

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 303   Filed 08/20/18    Page 159 of 289   PageID 9118



PLAINTIFFS’ FIFTH AMENDED PETITION Page 8 

with Bering, a publicly traded Texas corporation, about a possible reverse merger.  

Plaintiffs were shareholders in Bering. 

25. A reverse merger occurs when a private company merges its assets into a 

public company so that the private company can bypass the lengthy and complex 

process of going public.  Reverse mergers are notorious for being harbingers of fraud. 

In a recent SEC bulletin, the SEC explained that there have been “instances of fraud 

and other abuses involving reverse merger companies.”1 

C. Breitling retains accounting and auditing firm Rothstein Kass in 2013 in 
connection with the possible reverse merger with Bering. 

 
26. In 2013 and in response to their discussions with Bering regarding a 

possible reverse merger, Breitling hired Rothstein Kass, an accounting and auditing 

firm, to audit Breitling’s financial statements.  One of the purposes of those statements 

and reports was to present an accurate financial picture of Breitling to Bering’s officers, 

directors, and shareholders, including Plaintiffs, so they could decide whether Bering 

would pursue the reverse merger.  Rothstein Kass’s representatives, including certified 

fraud examiner Brian Matlock (“Matlock”), audited Breitling’s consolidated financial 

statements and reports.  Rothstein Kass knew or should have known that Breitling’s 

consolidated financial statements and reports would be provided to Bering in connection 

with the possible reverse merger.  After all, that was the very point of the audit. 

27. During the course and scope of the Breitling audit(s), Rothstein Kass knew 

or should have known that Breitling was overselling their projects by millions of dollars, 

even though both GAAP principles and the subscription agreements prohibited it from 

doing so.  Contrary to GAAS, Rothstein Kass issued an unqualified audit opinion, which 

                                                           
1 https://www.sec.gov/investor/alerts/reversemergers.pdf 
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it was prohibited from providing given that Breitling had concealed its relationship with 

Crude Energy LLC (“Crude”), which operated as Breitling’s undisclosed, consolidated 

subsidiary and covert sales arm—the result being wrongfully inflated assets on its 

balance sheet, painting a misleading picture of Breitling’s true financial health.   

28. Breitling’s financial statements and reports audited by Rothstein Kass 

misrepresented or failed to disclose, among other things, (1) Breitling’s relationship with 

and total financial dependence on Crude; (2) the direction and influence by Breitling 

CEO Chris Faulkner (“Faulkner”) over Crude’s operations; and (3) the personal financial 

benefits Faulkner received indirectly from Crude.  Rothstein Kass’ misrepresentations 

and nondisclosures allowed Breitling to continue to practice these fraudulent schemes. 

29. Breitling furnished the financial statements and reports that were the 

subject of Rothstein Kass’s audit to Bering’s officers, directors, and shareholders, 

including Plaintiffs, for their review. Plaintiffs reasonably and justifiably relied upon 

Breitling’s materially misleading financial statements in making the decision to move 

forward with the reverse merger and their lockup agreements.  Plaintiffs also generally 

relied on the fact that it believed that Breitling was in the process of undergoing a 

competent audit that was being performed or would be performed in accordance with 

GAAS.    Neither presumption proved to be true. 

D. Breitling and Bering execute an Asset Purchase Agreement in December 
2013. 
 
30. On December 9, 2013, Breitling and Bering finalized the reverse merger 

and executed an Asset Purchase Agreement. 

31. In January 2014, Bering announced that it was changing its name to 

Breitling Energy Corporation (“BECC”).  In connection with the name change, the 
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company also received an updated stock trading ticker symbol, BECC, with respect to 

the company’s shares of common stock. 

E. Rothstein Kass withdraws as Breitling’s accountant and auditor in June 
2014. 

 
32. On June 30, 2014, Rothstein Kass withdrew as accountant and auditor for 

Breitling. 

F. The BECC retains accounting and auditing firm Malone Bailey in March 
2015 and the new firm uncovers the fraud. 

 
33. In March 2015, BECC hired Malone Bailey LLP (“Malone Bailey”) as the 

accounting firm to succeed Rothstein Kass.  Malone Bailey immediately discovered the 

fraud Breitling had committed for years.  Malone Bailey concluded that “Crude is so 

intertwined with Breitling that it is near impossible for Crude to act as a standalone and 

separate company.”  Malone Bailey recommended that Breitling’s financial statements 

be consolidated with those of the entities being used to perpetrate the fraud. 

34. Despite its best efforts, Malone Bailey could not reconcile Breitling’s 

financial statements in a way that would make them materially accurate in compliance 

with GAAP, albeit those very financial statements had already received an unqualified 

audit opinion from Rothstein Kass, which was entirely bogus.  On September 4, 2015, 

several months after Malone Bailey stepped in to clean up the mess, BECC issued a 

Form 8-K signed by Faulkner, acknowledging that none of the financial statements and 

reports audited by Rothstein Kass on Breitling’s behalf related to the reverse merger 

with Bering should be relied upon “due to errors in the recording of oil and gas assets, 

revenue interests and drilling activities…” 
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35. After Malone Bailey stepped in, BECC disclosed that Breitling had failed to 

properly implement its internal controls over financial reporting in the years 2012, 2013, 

and 2014, and that it had ineffective disclosure controls and procedures in years 2013 

and 2014. Rothstein Kass issued an unqualified audit opinion for these very years, 

which are now hotly in dispute.  

G. The SEC files a fraud complaint against Faulkner in June 2016. 

36. On June 24, 2016, the SEC filed a complaint against Faulkner and others, 

alleging Faulkner and his co-defendants defrauded investors out of approximately $80 

million through the sale of oil-and-gas working interest investments over the course of 

five years.  A copy of the SEC’s complaint against Faulkner in the case styled SEC v. 

Faulkner et al., Civil Action No. 3:16-cv-01735-D, in the U.S. District Court for the 

Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division (the “SEC Lawsuit”) is attached hereto as 

Exhibit A (the “SEC Complaint”).  The SEC Complaint contains the following allegations: 

a. Faulkner called himself the “Frack Master” and used investor funds to 
enjoy a life of “decadence and debauchery.” See Ex. A, SEC Complaint, 
§§ 4, 43. 

 
b. Faulkner used a company card to enjoy the use of escorts, private jets, 

and a lavish lifestyle; he referred to his Amex card as his “whore card.” 
See Ex. A, SEC Complaint, §§ 13, 97. 

 
c. The fraudulent spending by Faulkner and his co-defendants eventually 

amounted to $36 million. See Ex. A, SEC Complaint, §§ 11, 83. 
 

d. The fraud by Faulkner and his co-defendants also included the creation of 
different oil and gas investment programs, offering to sell royalty interests 
in those programs, and selling those interests to the public, often times 
selling the same interest multiple times. The general purpose of these 
programs was to sell the interests in these programs all the while knowing 
the programs would not produce anywhere near the revenue represented 
to the investors. 
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37. Faulkner has since been arrested and formally indicted of numerous 

felonies. 

 

H. The SEC is Investigating Rothstein Kass including its former Principal 

Brian Matlock 

 

38. The SEC is also investigating Brian Matlock and others—former 

accountants and auditors at Rothstein Kass. In fact, it certainly appears that the SEC 

has accused Matlock of numerous professional breaches and violations in conjunction 

with the botched audit. 

CAUSES OF ACTION 
 

COUNT I 
 

AIDING AND ABETTING A BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY 
AND CONSPIRACY TO AID AND ABET A BREACH A FIDUCIARY DUTY 

 
39. Plaintiffs would show that Breitling’s officers, directors, and managers 

owed Plaintiffs a formal fiduciary duty (or, alternatively, an informal fiduciary duty) during 

the executory phase and throughout the negotiations and ultimate consummation of the 

merger transaction. Prior to the merger and certainly in the months thereafter, Rothstein 

Kass knew that Breitling was engaged in a scam; to be sure, Rothstein Kass absolutely 

knew that Breitling was overselling interests in oil and gas leases.  In fact, Rothstein 

Kass knew that Breitling’s managers had oversold millions of dollars in oil and gas 

interests that it did not own and would never own.   

40. Rather than disclosing the fraud or just withdrawing from the engagement 

without issuing an opinion (either course of action would have resulted in rescission of 

the merger or the merger not happening at all), Rothstein Kass knowingly participated 
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and encouraged the furtherance of the fraud and Breitling’s officers and management’s 

breaches of fiduciary duties to Plaintiffs by parking all of these oversold interests under 

“deferred revenues” on the income statement.  These journal entries are completely 

contrary to GAAP and were certainly dishonest.   

41. Oversold interests cannot be deferred revenues because there would 

never be a future expense to “match” with that revenue because the interests were not 

owned nor would they ever be.  Moreover, Rothstein Kass absolutely knew that Chris 

Faulkner had been charged with cocaine possession—even before the merger.  They 

also knew that he had numerous judgments against him.  Rothstein Kass also knew that 

Chris Faulkner was bilking the company out of millions of dollars—those dollars are 

right there in Rothstein Kass’s own workpapers.   

42. Yet, rather than disclose the fraud, withdraw from the engagement, or 

issue an adverse opinion (any of these courses of action would have resulted in the 

merger either not being consummated or the merger being rescinded and unwound, 

given that Breitling could not go public without an unqualified audit opinion under SEC 

rules)—Rothstein Kass masked the fraud by parking these illegal withdrawals and 

distributions to Chris Faulkner as an “advertising” expense on the income statement.  

Literally millions of dollars in stolen funds were intentionally parked as advertising 

expenses on the income statement by Rothstein Kass.  To make matters worse, 

Rothstein Kass also knew that Breitling management was conflating assets and 

revenues of Crude—a separate entity altogether—with Breitling’s financial statements. 

43. Plaintiffs would show that Rothstein Kass aided and abetted numerous 

breaches of fiduciary duty by Breitling’s management and conspired to aid and abet 
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those fiduciary breaches with Breitling’s inner circle. Indeed, Breitling management’s 

dishonesty accomplished a tortious result; Rothstein Kass knew that Breitling’s officers 

and managers were committing an on-going tort and fiduciary breaches to Plaintiffs 

during the pendency of the audit—both before and after the merger closing; Rothstein 

Kass provided substantial assistance to Breitling’s officers and managers in 

accomplishing the tortious result; Rothstein Kass’s own conduct, separate from 

Breitling’s officers and management was a breach of duty to Plaintiffs; and Rothstein 

Kass’s participation was a substantial factor in causing the tort.  

44. This audit engagement was all about billing and making money for 

Rothstein Kass.  In fact, Rothstein Kass got so many invoices out to Breitling at one 

point—that Rothstein Kass’s corporate office “locked the workpapers and the audit file” 

until some of the invoices, which were literally stacked on top of each other were made 

current.  Plaintiffs are entitled to actual damages, special damages, punitive damages, 

and equitable forfeiture and disgorgement of the $312,000+ dollars it charged for the 

bogus audit.   

45. Plaintiffs invoke the discovery rule on this claim and all claims in this 

pleading as well as all applicable tolling doctrines to extend limitations to the furthest 

possible date. 

COUNT II 

AIDING AND ABETTING VIOLATIONS OF THE TEXAS SECURITIES ACT  
AND CONSPIRACY TO AID AND ABET VIOLATIONS OF THE TEXAS  

SECURITIES ACT:  TEX. REV. CIV. STAT. ANN. ART. 581-33(F)(2) 
 

46. Plaintiffs would show that Rothstein Kass is liable for aiding and abetting 

Breitling’s officers, directors, and managers to violate the Texas Securities Act (the 
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“Act”) (and/or conspiring to accomplish same).  Under the Act, second liability is 

derivative liability for another person's securities violation; it attaches to an aider, 

defined as one “who directly or indirectly with intent to deceive or defraud or with 

reckless disregard for the truth or the law materially aids a seller, buyer, or issuer of a 

security.” See TEX. REV. CIV. STAT. ANN. ART. 581-33(F)(2) (Vernon 2017).  Aiders are 

jointly and severally liable with the primary violator “to the same extent as if [they] were” 

the primary violator.  See id.  Plaintiffs would show that Rothstein Kass aided and 

abetted Breitling’s officers, directors, and managers to violate, Art. 581-33(A)(2), and 

Breitling’s officers, directors, and managers undeniably and unquestionably violated, 

Art. 581-33(A)(2).  

47. Plaintiffs would show that Breitling’s officers, directors, and managers (1) 

committed a primary violation of the Texas Securities Act (a violation of article 581-

33(A)(2)); (2) Rothstein Kass had a general awareness of its role in the violation(s); (3) 

Rothstein Kass rendered substantial assistance in the violation(s); and (4) Rothstein 

Kass either (a) intended to deceive Plaintiffs or (b) it acted with reckless disregard for 

the truth or the law. 

COUNT III 

NEGLIGENCE: 
SHAREHOLDERS GENERAL RELIANCE ON THE 

PERFORMANCE OF A COMPETENT AUDIT 
 

48. Texas law recognizes the duty of auditors to perform a competent audit to 

third parties who could foreseeably be believed to be the end users of the financial 

statements. Plaintiffs would show that Rothstein Kass breached its duty to perform a 

competent audit, which is actionable in tort that proximately caused Plaintiffs’ damages. 
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COUNT IV 

NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION 
RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 552 (1977) 

 
49. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the factual allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

50. Rothstein Kass made representations (either by act and/or by omission) to 

Plaintiffs regarding Breitling’ financial condition during the course of Rothstein Kass’ 

business.   

51. Rothstein Kass supplied false information (either by act and/or omission) 

regarding Breitling’ financial condition for the guidance of Plaintiffs.   

52. Rothstein Kass did not exercise reasonable care or competence in 

obtaining or communicating the information (either by act and/or omission).   

53. Plaintiffs reasonably and justifiably relied on the representations (and/or 

non-disclosures) made by Breitling in the financial statements upon which Rothstein 

Kass provided an unqualified audit opinion in making the decisions to move forward with 

the reverse merger and their lockup agreements. 

54. Had Rothstein Kass retracted its unqualified audit opinion at any time 

during the relevant period in a timely manner, Plaintiffs could have immediately sought 

rescission of the lock-up agreements, and presumably avoided millions of dollars in 

unnecessary losses.  Defendants owed Plaintiffs an on-going and continuous duty to 

disclose what they knew and when they knew it both before and after the lock-up 

agreements were executed and it was that failure to make such disclosures that 

damaged Plaintiffs herein.  Stated differently, the timing of when Plaintiffs executed the 

lock-up agreements by no means absolves Rothstein Kass of its continuing and on-
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going obligations as an independent auditor to disclose what it knew and when it knew 

it—there is no get out of jail free card for accountants in this scenario. 

55. As a direct and proximate consequence of that reliance, Plaintiffs have 

suffered harm and are entitled to actual and punitive damages in an amount to be 

proven at trial. 

COUNT V 
 

COMMON LAW FRAUD AND AIDING AND ABETTING 
BREITLING’S OFFICERS AND MANAGEMENT’S FRAUD 

 
56. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the factual allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs.   

57. Rothstein Kass’s unqualified audit opinion of Breitling’s financial 

statements resulted in material and false representations (either by act and/or omission) 

being made to Plaintiffs, which they relied upon in both locking up their stock and in 

failing to seek immediate rescission of those agreements. 

58. When Rothstein Kass’s unqualified audit opinion of Breitling’s financial 

statements resulted in material and false representations (either by act and/or omission) 

being made to Plaintiffs, Rothstein Kass (1) knew or should have known the 

representations were false; or (2) by virtue of the unqualified audit opinion, it aided and 

abetted Breitling in supplying materially misleading financial statements to Plaintiffs that 

were provided recklessly, as a positive assertion, and without knowledge of their truth. 

59. Rothstein Kass made the representations (either by act and/or by 

omission) with the intent that Plaintiffs act and rely on Breitling’s materially misleading 

financial statements.   

60. Plaintiffs reasonably and justifiably relied on Breitling’s audited financial 
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statements both in making the decision to move forward with the reverse merger and 

their lockup agreements and by failing to immediately seek rescission from those 

agreements, had Rothstein Kass disclosed what it knew or should have known during 

the relevant time period. 

61. As a direct and proximate result of such reliance, Plaintiffs suffered actual 

damages, special damages, consequential damages, reliance damages, expectation 

damages, and/or incurred reasonable and necessary attorney’s fees, which are hereby 

pled singularly, collectively, and/or disjunctively.  

62. Further, due to Rothstein Kass’ failure to disclose Breitling’s fraud, and/or 

Rothstein Kass’s failure to withdraw from the engagement because it was likely there 

was in fact fraud given the lack of proper internal controls, Plaintiffs are entitled to 

exemplary damages under TEX. CIV. PRAC. & REM. CODE § 41.003. 

63. Rothstein Kass knowingly participated, assisted, and encouraged 

Breitling’s officers and management’s fraud and they conspired with management to 

accomplish same. 

COUNT VI 
 

FRAUD BY NON-DISCLOSURE 
 

64. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the factual allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

65. Rothstein Kass concealed from or failed to disclose certain material facts 

to Plaintiffs regarding Breitling’s financial condition.  Specifically, Rothstein Kass 

concealed from or failed to disclose to Plaintiffs that Breitling was overselling their 

projects by millions of dollars, providing returns to oversold projects with proceeds from 
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other newer projects, concealing Breitling’s relationship with and total financial 

dependence on Crude, the direction and influence by Faulkner over Crude’s operations, 

and the personal financial benefits Faulkner received indirectly from Crude.  Rothstein 

Kass should have either qualified or limited its opinion or simply withdrawn from the 

engagement without rendering an opinion at all. 

66. Rothstein Kass had a duty to disclose these material facts to Plaintiffs or 

withdraw from the engagement without issuing an audit opinion. 

67. Rothstein Kass knew Plaintiffs were ignorant of these facts and Plaintiffs 

did not have an equal opportunity to discover the facts. 

68. Rothstein Kass was deliberately silent when it had a duty to speak. 

69. By failing to disclose the facts, Rothstein Kass intended to induce Plaintiffs 

to take some action or refrain from acting, including but not limited to moving forward 

with the reverse merger and their lockup agreements and/or by preventing Plaintiffs 

from immediately seeking rescission from those agreements had Rothstein Kass 

disclosed that which it knew or should have known at the time 

70. Plaintiffs, to their detriment, relied on Rothstein Kass’ nondisclosure in 

moving forward with the reverse merger and their lockup agreements and their failure to 

immediately seek rescission thereafter, had they been privy to the same universe of 

information as that of Rothstein Kass 

71. Plaintiffs were injured and suffered substantial damages as a result of 

acting without the knowledge of the undisclosed facts by moving forward with the 

reverse merger and their lockup agreements and their failure to seek rescission 

thereafter, had they been privy to the same universe of information as that of Rothstein 
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Kass. 

COUNT VII 
 

STATUTORY FRAUD 
 

72. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the factual allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

73. Rothstein Kass’s unqualified audit opinion of Breitling’s financial 

statements resulted in false representations of fact being made to Plaintiffs regarding 

Breitling’s financial condition in a transaction involving stock.   

74. Rothstein Kass authorized, approved, and/or ratified Breitling’s false 

representations in the financial statements when it issued an unqualified audit opinion, it 

was done knowing that Plaintiffs would either enter into the reverse merger and lockup 

agreements or fail to seek rescission from those agreements had that information been 

made available immediately ex-post or both. 

75. Plaintiffs reasonably and justifiably relied on the materially false financial 

statements, which were audited by Rothstein Kass when they entered into the reverse 

merger and lockup agreements and when they failed to immediately seek rescission 

from those agreements, had they known what Rothstein Kass knew or should have 

known at the time that Rothstein Kass knew that Breitling’s internal controls were far too 

compromised to issue an unqualified audit opinion.  Make no mistake about it:  when 

Plaintiff executed their lock-up agreements, Rothstein Kass absolutely knew or should 

have known that Breitling’s internal controls were far too compromised to continue the 

audit engagement with an eye toward issuing an unqualified opinion, yet Rothstein Kass 

did so in any event—making its conduct independently tortious. 
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76. Such reliance caused Plaintiffs to be damaged and harmed. 

77. Further, due to Rothstein Kass’ statutory fraud, Plaintiffs are entitled to 

exemplary damages under Section 27.01(c) of the Texas Business and Commerce 

Code. 

78. Further, due to the Rothstein Kass’ statutory fraud, Plaintiffs are entitled to 

reasonable and necessary attorneys’ fees, expert witness fees, costs for copies of 

depositions, and costs of court under Section 27.01(e) of the Texas Business and 

Commerce Code. 

COUNT VIII 
 

CAP-BUSTER ON PUNITIVE DAMAGES 
 

Aiding and Abetting:  Securing the Execution of Documents  
by Deception & Conspiracy to Execute Documents by Deception 

TEX. PEN. CODE ANN. § 32.46 (Vernon 2014) 
 

79. Plaintiffs are entitled to un-capped and unlimited punitive damages 

because Rothstein Kass has committed the felony of aiding and abetting Breitling 

management and officer’s having secured the execution of documents by deception. 

See TEX. PENAL CODE § 32.46 et seq. (Vernon 2014).  (Aiding and abetting) the securing 

of the execution of documents by deception is a cap buster on punitive damages.  See 

TEX. CIV. PRAC. & REM. CODE § 41.008(c)(11) (Vernon 2014). Rothstein Kass knew the 

merger was to occur on December 9, 2013; in fact, Brian Matlock was even forwarded 

all of the merger documents by Jeremy Wagers—he had these documents in his very 

possession.  Yet armed with information that anyone would recognize to be a fraud—

Rothstein Kass furthered the fraud and aided and abetted Breitling’s management and 

officers’ ability to secure the execution of the merger documents with Plaintiffs by 
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deception; and furthermore, Rothstein Kass participated, abetted, conspired, comforted, 

approved, authorized, and certainly ratified all of these felonious acts, which result in 

uncapped and unlimited punitive damages. 

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT 
 

80. All conditions precedent to Plaintiffs’ right to recover have been 

performed, have occurred, or have been excused. 

TOLLING OF LIMITATIONS/DISCOVERY RULE 
 

81. Plaintiffs allege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations set 

forth above. 

82. Based on the facts detailed above, the applicable statute of limitations for 

the causes of action asserted by Plaintiffs are tolled by the fraudulent concealment and 

discovery rules.  Plaintiffs hereby invoke the discovery rule. 

ATTORNEYS’ FEES 

83. Plaintiffs allege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations set 

forth above. 

84. Plaintiffs seek as damages their reasonable and necessary attorneys’ fees 

pursuant to Section 27.01(e) of the Texas Business and Commerce Code. 

UNCAPPED EXEMPLARY DAMAGES 

85. Plaintiffs allege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations set 

forth above. 

86. Plaintiffs seek exemplary damages from the Defendants under Chapters 

27 and 41 of the Texas Civil Practice & Remedies Code.  
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ACTUAL, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, DISGORGEMENT OF 
AUDIT FEES AND EQUITABLE FORFEITURE 

 
87. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the factual allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

88. As a result of Defendants’ wrongful acts and omissions, Plaintiffs have 

suffered actual damages in the lost value of their shares, which are millions of dollars. 

89. As a result of Defendants’ wrongful acts or omissions, Plaintiffs seek 

actual damages, special damages, consequential damages, and exemplary damages in 

an amount not less than the maximum amount permitted by applicable law based on the 

allegation of actual damages above.  Plaintiffs seek equitable forfeiture and 

disgorgement of all fees paid to Rothstein Kass by Breitling or anyone else in 

conjunction with the bogus audit and accounting services provided by Rothstein Kass. 

90. Under general principles of equity, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover pre- 

and post-judgment interest, at the statutory rate or at such other rate as is set by this 

Court. Johnson & Higgins of Texas, Inc. v. Kenneco Energy, Inc., 962 S.W.2d 507 (Tex. 

1998). 

JURY DEMAND 

91. Pursuant to TEX. R. CIV. P. 216(a), Plaintiffs respectfully demand a trial by 

jury and submits the appropriate fee herewith.  
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WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Plaintiffs respectfully pray that 

Defendant Rothstein, Kass & Company, PLLC be cited to appear, and that Plaintiffs 

have judgment against Defendant for, inter alia:  

1. actual damages, special damages, and consequential damages; 

2. uncapped and unlimited exemplary damages; 

3. disgorgement and equitable forfeiture; 

4. attorneys’ fees; 

5. costs of suit;  

6. pre-judgment interest at the maximum rate permitted by law; 

7. post-judgment interest at the maximum rate permitted by law; and 

8. all such other and further relief, both general and special, at law or in 

equity, to which Plaintiffs may be entitled. 
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Respectfully Submitted, 
 

BRIAN LAUTEN, P.C. 
 

        
       ________________________________ 

BRIAN P. LAUTEN 
       State Bar No. 24031603 
       blauten@brianlauten.com 
       3811 Turtle Creek Blvd. 
       Ste. 1450 
       Dallas, Texas 75219 
       (214) 414-0996 telephone 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS 
       JINSUN, L.L.C., SILVER STAR 
       HOLDINGS TRUST, KM CASEY 
       NO. 1, LTD., TPH HOLDINGS, L.L.C., 
       VERTICAL HOLDINGS, L.L.C., 
       STEVEN PLUMB, AND J. LEONARD 
       IVINS 
 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 In accordance with Rule 21a of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, the 

undersigned certifies that a true and correct copy of the foregoing instrument has been 

served upon all counsel of record via the ECF case manager system and by electronic 

filing on July 24, 2018.  

        

       _______________________________ 
       BRIAN P. LAUTEN 
       COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFFS  
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

DALLAS DIVISION 
 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, § 
        § 

Plaintiff,   § 
        § 
v.        § Case No.: 3:16-cv-01735-D 

  §  
CHRISTOPHER A. FAULKNER,    § 
BREITLING ENERGY CORPORATION,  § 
JEREMY S. WAGERS,     § 
JUDSON F. (“RICK”) HOOVER,    § 
PARKER R. HALLAM,     § 
JOSEPH SIMO,      § 
DUSTIN MICHAEL MILLER RODRIGUEZ,  §  
BETH C. HANDKINS,     § Jury Trial Demanded 
GILBERT STEEDLEY,     § 
BREITLING OIL & GAS CORPORATION,  § 
CRUDE ENERGY, LLC,      § 
PATRIOT ENERGY, INC.,     § 
        § 
    Defendants,   § 
        § 
and        § 
        § 
TAMRA M. FREEDMAN and    §  
JETMIR AHMEDI,      § 
        § 
    Relief Defendants.  § 
        § 

 
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”), pursuant to FED. R. 

CIV. P. 15(a)(1)(A) and before being served with any responsive pleadings or motions under 

Rule 12(b), (e), or (f), files this First Amended Complaint against Defendants Christopher A. 

Faulkner, Breitling Energy Corporation, Jeremy S. Wagers, Esq., Judson F. “Rick” Hoover, 

Parker R. Hallam, Joseph Simo, Dustin Michael Miller Rodriguez, Beth C. Handkins, Gilbert 

Steedley, Breitling Oil & Gas Corporation, Crude Energy, LLC, and Patriot Energy, Inc. 
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(collectively “Defendants”) and Tamra M. Freedman and Jetmir Ahmedi (collectively “Relief 

Defendants”), and alleges as follows:   

INTRODUCTION 

Chris Faulkner and his co-Defendants have defrauded investors out of approximately $80 

million through the sale of oil-and-gas working interest investments over the course of at least 

the last five years.  Faulkner and his co-Defendants duped hundreds of people out of millions of 

dollars by intentionally and repeatedly lying about several aspects of the investments, including 

the relationships between and among the Defendants, Faulkner’s industry experience, the nature 

and operation of the investments, the estimated costs to drill and complete the prospects, the use 

of investor proceeds, and the projected oil and gas production that investors could expect.  Once 

in receipt of investor funds, Faulkner, assisted by his co-Defendants, brazenly misappropriated at 

least $30 million of investors’ funds for extravagant personal expenses, including lavish meals 

and entertainment, international travel, cars, jewelry, gentlemen’s clubs, and personal escorts.  

The Defendants, as a result of their conduct, violated numerous federal securities laws, including 

the antifraud, reporting, and books and records provisions.  The Commission brings this action in 

the interest of protecting the public from any further fraudulent activity and to hold Defendants 

accountable for their roles in this long-lasting and egregious fraud.   

SUMMARY 

1. Since at least 2011, Chris Faulkner has orchestrated a massive, multi-pronged, 

and fraudulent scheme that has defrauded hundreds of investors across the country out of 

approximately $80 million invested in oil-and-gas investments sold by companies he owns and 

controls (the “Faulkner Scheme”).  Faulkner – who has appeared on CNBC, CNN International, 

Fox Business News, and the BBC to discuss oil-and-gas topics, and who hosted a weekly radio 
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talk show in Dallas – has misappropriated at least $30 million in investor funds to maintain a 

lifestyle of decadence and debauchery.   

2. To perpetrate his fraudulent scheme, Faulkner used at least four entities that he 

controlled, including publicly-traded Breitling Energy Corporation (ticker: “BECC”).  He also 

enlisted scores of other individuals to help perpetuate the Faulkner Scheme, including the seven 

other individual defendants in this case that actively defrauded, or otherwise participated in 

schemes to defraud, investors.   

3. The Faulkner Scheme involved the unregistered and fraudulent offer and sale by 

Faulkner-controlled entities of working interest investments (“investments”) in more than 20 oil-

and-gas prospects in several states.  Faulkner conducted three versions of this core fraud, using 

Breitling Oil and Gas Corporation (“BOG”), Crude Energy, LLC (“Crude”), and Patriot Energy, 

Inc. (“Patriot”) to offer the investments.  Faulkner drafted confidential information memoranda 

(“CIMs”) and marketing brochures provided to prospective investors in BOG, Crude, and Patriot 

offerings that were replete with material misrepresentations and omissions.  Dustin Michael 

Miller Rodriguez (“Miller”) helped perpetrate the fraud in all three iterations, while Parker 

Hallam did so with BOG and Crude.  They directed the firms’ sales efforts.     

4. As soon as BOG began offering investments in oil-and-gas prospects, Faulkner 

misrepresented his education, experience, and background.  He claimed to have earned master’s 

and doctorate degrees from universities, which he had not.  He represented that he had extensive 

and diverse experience “in all aspects of oil and gas operations,” when he had no such 

experience.  In fact, his only exposure to the oil-and-gas industry was through website data 

hosting work he and his prior company, C I Host, performed for oil-and-gas companies.  Yet, he 

promoted himself as an expert in the oil-and-gas industry, even branding himself as the “Frack 

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 22   Filed 08/11/16    Page 3 of 65   PageID 182

173

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 303   Filed 08/20/18    Page 181 of 289   PageID 9140



SEC v. Christopher A. Faulkner, et al. 
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT               Page 4 

Master.”  He also paid a public relations firm to promote him and to book appearances on 

television and radio shows.       

5. The heart of the Faulkner Scheme, however, involved knowingly lying to 

investors about how much it would likely cost to drill and complete the wells and how much the 

investments would likely earn.  Faulkner received estimates for drilling and completion costs – 

known as Authority for Expenditures or “AFEs” – from operators that actually drilled and 

completed oil-and-gas wells for BOG, Crude, and Patriot offerings.  Instead of including these 

estimates in the offering materials, Faulkner baselessly and grossly inflated these estimates and 

included his bloated figures in the offering documents provided to investors.  BOG, Crude, and 

Patriot then tied the price of the investments to these claimed estimated costs, and sold the 

investments on a lump sum or “turnkey” basis to investors.  Because BOG, Crude, and Patriot 

kept the difference between the total amount of money they raised from investors on each 

offering and the actual costs of drilling and completing the well, this gross inflation of AFEs by 

Faulkner ensured that he and the entity Defendants would pocket millions of dollars in illicit 

profits from unwitting investors.    

6. As part of the offering materials, Faulkner included reports authored by licensed 

petroleum geologist Joseph Simo that recommended drilling wells on the prospects and often 

included oil-and-gas production projections.  Faulkner, Simo, BOG, and Crude portrayed Simo 

as an independent, unaffiliated third party, despite the fact he was associated with Faulkner and 

his various entities.  In projecting production on the prospects, Simo started with the historical 

production from the best performing wells within a certain proximity to the proposed drilling 

location and used those figures as a baseline, assuming without any basis that the BOG prospects 

would perform as well as the best performing wells during the prior decades.  Not only did 
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Faulkner, Simo, and BOG fail to disclose Simo’s affiliation with BOG or his flawed 

methodology for projecting production, but they also routinely failed to disclose Simo’s track 

record of consistently and grossly overestimating production.     

7. But even Simo’s inflated projections were not good enough for Faulkner, who on 

numerous occasions took Simo’s numbers, indiscriminately increased them, and then doctored 

Simo’s reports by including Faulkner’s indiscriminately increased projections in a report 

purportedly issued and signed by Simo.  These reports were then provided to investors in the 

offering materials.  By exaggerating these already overstated projections, Faulkner made 

investing in the prospects more enticing to investors, which consequently made selling working 

interests in the projects easier for Hallam, Miller, and the sales staff.  But investors had virtually 

no chance of ever receiving returns anywhere near these exaggerated projections, a fact 

Defendants did not disclose.            

8. After duping investors to obtain their funds, Faulkner misappropriated a 

significant portion to live extravagantly and excessively.  He repeatedly requested Beth 

Handkins, a Faulkner associate who controlled all relevant bank accounts of BOG, Crude, and 

later Patriot, to: (i) make millions of dollars in payments for charges on Faulkner’s personal 

American Express (“Amex”) cards; and (ii) cut him checks for unsupported expense 

reimbursements and phony service fees.  Throughout the various phases of the Faulkner Scheme, 

Handkins consistently diverted funds to Faulkner at his behest and without regard for the 

intended use of the funds.   

9. The Faulkner Scheme evolved in December 2013 when Faulkner obtained control 

of a public company (Bering Exploration, ticker: BRX) through a transaction he orchestrated 

with the assistance of Defendant Jeremy Wagers, a Texas attorney who joined BOG in 2012. 
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Although Faulkner, Wagers, and others portrayed BECC as an exploration and production 

(“E&P”) company that would acquire and develop prospects in Texas, Oklahoma, and North 

Dakota, neither BECC nor its officers possessed experience in traditional E&P operations.  But 

this was not Faulkner’s plan for BECC.   

10. At the same time as he created BECC, Faulkner established Crude to emulate 

BOG and act as BECC’s covert sales arm.  Faulkner inserted Hallam, Miller, and Handkins as 

Crude’s officers, and transitioned nearly all of BOG’s employees and sales staff over to Crude.  

Crude then offered and sold unregistered oil-and-gas investments based on similarly embellished 

cost estimates disguised as legitimate AFEs.  Faulkner drafted Crude’s offering materials, which 

contained similar misrepresentations to the ones in BOG’s, but failed to disclose his affiliation or 

involvement with Crude.  Instead, the representations in Crude’s offering materials were 

attributed to Miller and Hallam, who reviewed and approved the materials before they were sent 

to investors.  Moreover, Crude never disclosed to its investors that the prospects it offered were 

subject to continuous drilling provisions and interlocked obligations involving other prospects.  

As a result, Crude investors never knew they could lose their entire investment in a given 

prospect if certain payment and completion milestones with other Crude prospects were not met. 

11. From December 2013 through April 2015, Faulkner repeatedly requested 

Handkins to transfer funds from Crude to BECC.  Without asking what the funds were for or 

why Crude needed to send the money, Handkins initiated practically all of these transfers, 

ultimately sending $36 million (or 94 percent of all funds raised by Crude) to BECC.  Faulkner 

and Wagers told Handkins there were no problems with the transfers because the entities were 

“consolidated.”  Hallam approved many of these transfers, and initiated some himself.          
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12. From the time BECC went public, Faulkner asked Handkins to make more than 

$18 million in payments on his Amex cards.  As a result, Faulkner knowingly violated virtually 

every provision of BECC’s expense reimbursement policy, which was approved and initiated by 

BECC’s board of directors in December 2013.  In addition to the personal benefits he received as 

a result of payments on his Amex cards, Faulkner also obtained millions of dollars in 

reimbursements for expenses he purportedly incurred on behalf of the company.  Faulkner often 

submitted reimbursement requests without supporting documentation, and typically lied that his 

purely personal expenditures were for business purposes.  These reimbursements were approved 

indiscriminately by Wagers or Judson F. “Rick” Hoover, BECC’s Chief Financial Officer 

(“CFO”).  Sometimes Faulkner submitted reimbursement requests for charges he incurred on his 

Amex cards, allowing him to double-dip and receive payments for charges already paid for with 

company funds.  

13. To further conceal personal spending and expense reimbursements from BECC, 

Faulkner and Wagers conceived the idea of obtaining Amex cards in their names that were 

subordinated to the Amex account of Defendant Gilbert Steedley, BECC’s Vice President of 

Capital Markets.  Faulkner used this card – which he referred to as his “whore card” – to charge 

more than $1 million for personal travel, expenses for various personal escorts, gentlemen’s 

clubs, nightclubs, and associated expenditures.  Wagers used his card predominantly for 

gentlemen’s club expenses, including nearly $40,000 in charges at a Dallas gentlemen’s club 

over a four-day period in July 2014.  Faulkner requested that Handkins pay these credit card 

charges using company funds.  She complied, meaning that virtually every dollar of payment on 

the “whore card” and for Wagers’ salacious expenses was made using investor funds.     
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14. As part of the BECC phase of the Faulkner Scheme, Faulkner, Wagers, and 

Hoover signed several public reports filed with the Commission that contained materially false 

and misleading statements.  Among other things, BECC misrepresented or failed to disclose: (i) 

BECC’s relationship with, and total financial dependence on, Crude; (ii) Faulkner’s direction and 

influence over Crude’s operations, and the personal financial benefits he received directly and 

indirectly from Crude; (iii) a business model that was substantially similar to BOG’s turnkey 

model with Crude serving as the sales arm; (iv) its results of operations; and (v) that it had 

sufficient internal controls and “sound counter-balancing mechanisms to ensure the continued 

accountability of [Faulkner] to the Board.”  Faulkner, Wagers, and Hoover also made similar 

false and misleading statements to the company’s auditors.  Moreover, by virtue of the overtly 

deficient and fraudulent expense reimbursement requests and their blatant disregard for devising 

and maintaining internal controls, Faulkner, Wagers, and Hoover caused BECC’s failure to 

accurately keep and maintain its books and records. 

15. In late 2014, BECC’s stock price was negatively impacted like others in the 

industry because of a drop in oil prices.  To counteract this, Faulkner deployed the next phase of 

the Faulkner Scheme by attempting to manipulate BECC’s stock price and trading volume.  

During a three-month window from December 2014 through February 2015, Faulkner engaged 

in heavy daily trading in BECC’s stock through at least two nominee accounts in the names of 

Steedley and Range Quest Resources (a private entity Faulkner owned and controlled).  To fund 

this trading, Faulkner routed hundreds of thousands of dollars from BECC to these two nominee 

accounts.  These transfers were sourced by investor funds provided to Crude.  He “marked the 

close” on BECC’s stock by personally initiating or directing hundreds of small lot orders at or 

near the close of normal trading hours, oftentimes establishing the day’s highest trading price at 
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the end of the day.  Faulkner’s trading was done in an attempt to manipulate BECC’s stock price 

and trading volume, and helped create the false impression that investors unaffiliated with the 

company were trading in the stock.  In exchange for his role in providing assistance to Faulkner, 

Steedley received tens of thousands of dollars in payments sourced from investor proceeds. 

16. In March 2015, the Faulkner Scheme transitioned again.  This time, Faulkner 

moved his oil-and-gas sales arm from Crude to Patriot after he had a falling out with Hallam.  He 

shut down Crude’s offices, renamed another shell company he controlled (Simple Solutions) as 

Patriot, installed Miller as its President and sole director/officer, and seamlessly continued sales 

operations without Hallam.  Faulkner and Handkins set up new bank accounts styled as “Simple 

Solutions d/b/a Crude Energy” to intercept incoming checks intended for investments in Crude’s 

offerings.  Faulkner and Wagers also directed Miller to assign all of Crude’s oil-and-gas working 

interests to Patriot.  Patriot took over as BECC’s covert sales arm by engaging in unregistered 

offerings of oil-and-gas investments.  Patriot offering materials – drafted by Faulkner, and 

attributed to and signed by Miller – include substantively identical misrepresentations as Crude’s 

offering documents.  At Faulkner’s request and with Miller’s approval, Handkins transferred 

millions of dollars from Patriot’s investors to BECC and hundreds of thousands of dollars 

directly to Faulkner for personal expenses.      

17. Faulkner’s repeated and extensive misappropriation of investor funds finally 

derailed his scheme in April 2016.  Even though Patriot had raised exponentially more funds 

than needed to drill, test, and complete its prospects, Faulkner siphoned off so much money that 

Patriot could no longer fund the drilling and completion of its prospects.  This was problematic 

not only for the Patriot prospects, but also for the BOG and Crude prospects for which Patriot 

was responsible to make ongoing expense payments.  As a result, numerous prospects have been 
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shut-in or have had liens placed on them.  Moreover, because the Patriot prospects were subject 

to the same continuous drilling and interlocked obligations as Crude, at least half of the Patriot 

prospects sold to investors have reverted back to the original landowner, leaving these investors 

with no interest in the prospects in which they invested.     

18. As a result of all of this conduct, BOG, Crude, and Patriot have fraudulently sold 

approximately $80 million in oil-and-gas working interests in more than 20 oil-and-gas offerings 

to hundreds of investors across the country.  And, as a result of this fraudulent conduct, Faulkner 

has misappropriated at least $30 million in investor funds through payments made for personal 

expenses on his Amex cards and via funds paid directly to entities he owned and controlled.  

Additionally, Hallam, Miller, Handkins, Simo, Wagers, Hoover, and Steedley each received a 

significant amount of ill-gotten gains – derived from investor proceeds – as compensation for 

their respective roles at BOG, Crude, Patriot, and BECC. 

19. By engaging in this fraud, the Defendants have variously committed numerous 

violations of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. §77a et seq.] and the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. §78a et seq.], as set forth in more 

detail below.  These include violations of the: (i) antifraud provisions, (ii) securities registration 

provisions, (iii) reporting provisions, (iv) books and records and internal control provisions, (v) 

certification provisions, (vi) proxy provisions, and (vii) beneficial ownership reporting 

provisions. 

20. In the interest of protecting the public from any further fraudulent activity and 

harm, the Commission brings this action against the Defendants and the Relief Defendants 

variously seeking: (i) permanent injunctive relief; (ii) disgorgement of ill-gotten gains; (iii) 
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accrued prejudgment interest on those ill-gotten gains; (iv) civil monetary penalties; (v) officer-

and-director bars; and (vi) a penny stock bar. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

21.  This case centers around offers and sales of fractionalized working interests in 

oil-and-gas prospects to investors, as well as purchases and sales of stock in a corporation 

registered with the Commission under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78l(g)].  

Pursuant to the definitions of the term “security” in Section 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act [15 

U.S.C. § 77b] and Section 3(a)(10) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78c], interests in oil-and-

gas rights and stock are securities.  Thus, the Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 

Section 20(b) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(b)] and Sections 21(d), 21(e), and 27 of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e), and 78(aa)]. 

22. Venue is proper because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise 

to the claims occurred within the Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division.  Defendants 

BECC, BOG, Crude, and Patriot maintain[ed] their principal places of business in Dallas, Texas, 

and all individual defendants worked in the Dallas offices of one or more of these four entity 

defendants.  Further, several of the defendants reside in Dallas County.  All of these locations are 

within the Dallas Division of the Northern District of Texas. 

DEFENDANTS 

23. Christopher A. Faulkner, age 39, resides in Dallas, Texas.  He currently serves 

as the President, Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), and Chairman of the Board of Directors of 

BECC, and is the beneficial owner of more than 10 percent of BECC’s common stock.  Faulkner 

co-founded BOG with Hallam and Miller, and served as its President until December 2013.  
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Faulkner also controlled and directed the actions of Crude and Patriot.  Prior to orchestrating the 

Faulkner Scheme, Faulkner founded and ran a website data hosting company named C I Host.   

24. Breitling Energy Corporation (“BECC”) is a corporation organized in Nevada 

with its principal place of business in Dallas, Texas.  BECC was formed through a December 

2013 asset-for-stock transaction involving BOG, Breitling Royalties Corporation (“BRG”), and 

Bering Exploration (OTC ticker: BERX).  Faulkner, Hallam, and Miller beneficially own 

approximately 90 percent of BECC’s stock through their ownership in BOG and BRC.  BECC is 

registered with the Commission under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act.  On September 4, 

2015, BECC issued a Form 8-K, signed by Faulkner, acknowledging that its “financial 

statements for the annual periods ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and the interim quarterly 

periods ended September 30, 2014, June 30, 2014, and March 31, 2014 should not be relied upon 

due to errors in the recording of oil and gas assets, revenue interests and drilling activities that 

were discovered during our preparation for our audit of the financial statements for the year 

ended December 31, 2014.”  BECC has failed to: (i) file required annual and quarterly reports 

since the third quarter of 2014, (ii) amend its annual reports for 2012 and 2013, and (iii) amend 

its quarterly reports for the first three quarters of 2014.       

25. Jeremy S. Wagers, Esq., age 39, resides in Dallas, Texas.  Wagers is a licensed 

Texas attorney, and has been since 2002.  Wagers currently serves as General Counsel (“GC”) 

and Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) of BECC, and has since BECC’s inception in December 

2013.  Previously, Wagers served as GC and Chief Compliance Officer (“CCO”) of BOG from 

December 2012 to December 2013.  Before joining BOG, he spent nine years working for two 

high-profile law firms in Houston, Texas, and nine months working for another oil-and-gas 

company.   
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26. Judson F. (“Rick”) Hoover, age 58, resides in Highland Village, Texas.  Hoover 

is a Certified Public Accountant (“CPA”) licensed by the Colorado Board of Accountancy in 

1993.  He was BECC’s Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) from February 2014 to February 2015.   

27. Parker R. Hallam, age 35, resides in Dallas, Texas.  Hallam co-founded 

Defendant BOG with Faulkner and Miller, serving as its COO and co-heading its sales efforts 

with Miller from inception until December 2013.  From December 2013 through March 2015, 

Hallam served as the President and a managing member of Crude.  Hallam beneficially owns 

more than 10 percent of BECC’s common stock.   

28. Joseph Simo, age 64, resides in Plano, Texas.  Simo is the founder and sole 

owner of Simo Energy, LLC, a Dallas-based firm that purportedly provided independent, third-

party petroleum geology services to BOG, BECC, Crude, and Patriot.  During the period when 

BOG offered and sold oil-and-gas investments, Simo signed documents purporting to be BOG’s 

Vice President of Exploration.  He later served as BECC’s President for Upstream Operations.  

Simo is a petroleum geologist licensed by the Texas Board of Professional Geoscientists.   

29. Dustin Michael Miller Rodriguez (“Miller”), age 41, resides in Dallas, Texas.  

Miller co-founded BOG with Faulkner and Hallam, serving as its Chief Investment Officer 

(“CIO”) and co-heading its sales division with Hallam from inception through December 2013.  

From December 2013 through March 2015, Miller served as Chief Investment Officer (“CIO”) 

and a managing member of Crude.  In March 2015, Miller became the President and sole 

Director of Patriot.  Miller beneficially owns more than 10 percent of BECC’s common stock.  

From April 2009 to July 2009, Miller was a registered representative associated with a broker-

dealer registered with the Commission.  He is not currently registered with the Commission or 

associated with a broker-dealer registered with the Commission. 
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30. Beth C. Handkins, age 41, resides in Waxahachie, Texas.  From December 2013 

through March 2015, Handkins was identified in Crude’s offering materials and elsewhere as 

Crude’s COO.  From March 2015 through March 2016, Handkins served in the same capacity 

for Patriot.  Handkins controlled the bank accounts for BOG, Crude, Patriot, and BECC.   

31. Gilbert R. Steedley, age 51, resides in Bronxville, New York.  From December 

2013 through September 2015, Steedley served as BECC’s Vice President of Capital Markets.   

32. Breitling Oil & Gas Corporation (“BOG”) is a limited liability company that 

was originally organized in Oklahoma in 2004 under the name Southwest Energy Exploration, 

LLC.  In July 2010, Faulkner – who controlled Southwest Energy – changed the name to BOG 

when he, Hallam, and Miller co-founded oil-and-gas operations in Dallas, Texas.  BOG 

maintained its principal place of business in Dallas, Texas until December 2013 when it was part 

of the transaction that birthed BECC.  BOG remains in existence and is one of two primary 

entities through which Faulkner, Hallam, and Miller own stock in BECC.  Faulkner, Hallam, and 

Miller each own one-third of BOG.  Neither BOG nor its securities are registered with the 

Commission. 

33. Crude Energy, LLC (“Crude”) is a limited liability company organized in 

Nevada with its principal place of business in Dallas, Texas.  Faulkner originally organized the 

entity as a Wyoming limited liability company in July 2008 under the name Enhanced Funding, 

LLC.  In June 2013, Faulkner changed the name to Crude.  Hallam is Crude’s President, and 

Hallam and Miller are Crude’s managing members.  From late 2013 through April 2015, Crude 

served as the sales arm for BECC to sell working interests in oil-and-gas prospects to investors.  

Neither Crude nor its securities are registered with the Commission. 
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34. Patriot Energy, Inc. (“Patriot”) is a corporation organized in North Dakota with 

its principal place of business in Dallas, Texas.  Faulkner originally organized the entity in June 

2008 under the name Simple Solutions, Inc., but changed the name to Patriot Energy in March 

2015.  Miller is Patriot’s President and its sole Director.  From March 2015 through May 2016, 

Patriot served as the sales arm for BECC to sell working interests in oil-and-gas prospects to 

investors.  Neither Patriot nor its securities are registered with the Commission. 

RELIEF DEFENDANTS 

35. Tamra M. Freedman, age 37, resides in Sherman Oaks, California.  Freedman is 

Faulkner’s ex-wife.  During the relevant time period, Freedman received more than $1.8 million 

in funds from BOG and BECC.      

36. Jetmir Ahmedi, age 39, resides in Dallas, Texas.  Ahmedi, who is Faulkner’s 

close friend, received more than $487,000 from BOG and BECC during the relevant period.   

RELATED ENTITY 

37. Breitling Royalties Corporation (“BRC”) is a corporation organized in Texas 

with its principal place of business in Dallas.   Faulkner, Hallam, and Miller each own one-third 

of BRC.  BRC maintained its principal place of business in Dallas, Texas until December 2013 

when it was part of the transaction that birthed BECC.  BRC remains in existence and is one of 

two primary entities through which Faulkner, Hallam, and Miller own stock in BECC.  Neither 

BRC nor its securities are registered with the Commission. 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

38. Prior to 2009, Faulkner was the founder and chief executive of a variety of 

businesses, including C I Host, a website data hosting company.  Prior to 2009, he had never 

managed, run, operated, or even worked for an oil-and-gas business, and only had tangential 

exposure to the industry through his data hosting business. 

39. In or around 2009, Faulkner met with Hallam and Miller, two individuals with 

experience selling oil-and-gas investments, to discuss starting an oil-and-gas company.  In or 

around 2010, Faulkner, Hallam, and Miller started BOG in Dallas, Texas.  Faulkner took a shell 

company he controlled, which was originally organized in Oklahoma in 2004 under the name 

Southwest Energy Exploration, LLC, and changed its name to BOG.  Faulkner then appointed 

himself President of BOG, and Hallam and Miller as Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) and 

Chief Investment Officer (“CIO”), respectively.  In these roles, Hallam and Miller headed 

BOG’s sales activities.      

40. BOG started its operations at least as early as 2011 when it began offering and 

selling unregistered investments – in the form of working interests in oil and gas prospects in 

Texas, Oklahoma, and North Dakota – to investors across the country on a turnkey basis.  In this 

turnkey arrangement, investors made lump-sum payments to BOG for a fractionalized working 

interest in an oil-and-gas prospect.  BOG represented to investors that these lump-sum payments 

were directly tied to the estimated costs to drill, test, and complete the prospects.  In return, BOG 

agreed to assume the risk of any cost overruns without requiring any additional contributions 

from investors.  BOG offered and sold these turnkey investments through a combination of cold-

calling prospective investors from purchased lead lists and through general advertising of 

investment opportunities on its website.   
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41. From January 2011 through December 2013, BOG offered and sold more than 

$43 million in investments in oil-and-gas working interests in the following prospects 

(collectively the “BOG Offerings”), none of which were registered with the Commission: 

 

Offering 
Date Listed 

on CIM1 
Units Offered 

Turnkey Unit 
Price 

Total BOG 
Offering 

Woodring #1 1/1/2011 12 units $109,155 $1,319,700  
Big Tex 3 Well 5/4/2011 10 units $115,000 $1,150,000  
Buffalo Run #1H 6/20/2011 10 units $210,000 $2,100,000  
Golden Ridge 2 Well 8/25/2011 12 units $258,000 $3,096,000  
Warrior 12/1/2011 100 units $41,488 $4,148,800  
Big Caesar 2 Well 12/1/2011 10 units $410,000 $4,100,000  
Big Caesar #1H 5/1/2012 10 units $205,000 $2,050,000  
Goodbird #1H 5/1/2012 10 units $250,000 $2,500,000  
Pumpkin Ridge 2 Well 8/1/2012 10 units $410,000 $4,100,000  
Bighorn 2 Well 11/1/2012 10 units $410,000 $4,100,000  
Bison Hill #1H 3/1/2013 10 units $210,000 $2,100,000 
Leafwing #1H 3/1/2013 100 units $30,000 $3,000,000 
Arbuckle #1H 4/1/2013 10 units $250,000 $2,500,000  
Eagle Eye #1H 8/15/2013 10 units $250,000 $2,500,000  
Nighthawk 10/1/2013 10 units $200,000 $2,000,000 

 
42. For the BOG Offerings, Faulkner drafted, edited, and/or approved, and had 

authority over, all of the written offering materials that BOG provided to prospective investors, 

which included a CIM, a marketing brochure, and a subscription agreement.  

43. In offering materials for the BOG Offerings, Faulkner marketed himself as having 

a “diverse background in the oil and gas industry” with “extensive past experience in all aspects 

of oil and gas operations. . .”  He further promoted himself, through appearances on radio 

programs and television shows, as an expert in “fracking” – hydraulic fracturing, the process of 

drilling and injecting fluid into the ground at a high pressure to fracture shale rocks to release 

natural gas.  In fact, he later authored a book published in June 2014 called “The Fracking 

Truth,” touting himself as the “Frack Master.”  Faulkner also paid a public relations firm to 

                                                 
1  BOG offered and sold the offerings for months after the dates listed on the CIMs.  For example, even 
though the Buffalo Run #1H CIM was dated June 20, 2011, sales began in July 2011 and continued through at least 
October 2011.     
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promote him and to book his radio and television appearances.  As mentioned above, when he 

started BOG in 2010, Faulkner’s limited exposure to the oil-and-gas industry was through the 

web hosting work C I Host performed for oil-and-gas companies. 

44. In BOG’s offering documents and on its website, Faulkner and BOG also misled 

investors about Faulkner’s education, claiming he earned a master’s degree in information 

science from the University of North Texas and a doctorate degree from Concordia College.  

Neither representation was true. 

45. In addition to misrepresentations about Faulkner’s education, experience, and 

background, Faulkner, Hallam, and Miller operated BOG contrary to numerous representations 

in the offering documents BOG provided to investors, including: (i) BOG’s use of investor 

funds; and (ii) geological reports and production projections supplied by Simo, a purportedly 

independent and third-party geologist. 

Misrepresentations in BOG’s offering documents about use of investor funds 

46. In AFEs included in BOG’s offering materials, BOG and Faulkner provided 

detailed line-item estimates of costs that they claimed BOG reasonably expected to incur in 

drilling and completing the prospects.  BOG tied the purchase price for the working interest units 

directly to the estimated costs of the prospects.  For example, if a prospect was estimated to cost 

$5 million to drill, test, and complete, BOG would offer investments in one percent of that 

prospect for $50,000 (1% x $5 million).   

47. BOG’s offering documents repeatedly tied together and cross-referenced BOG’s 

estimated costs, the AFEs, and the purchase price of a working interest unit.  For example, 

BOG’s CIM for its Buffalo Run offering included the following representations:  
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Section of CIM Representations Regarding Estimated Costs and the AFE 
Cover Page “The purchase price for the Units represents the Units’ share of estimated Drilling 

and Testing Costs and Completion and Equipping Costs associated with the Well.” 
 

Application of 
Proceeds 
 

“This figure represents the Units’ share of the actual cost of the land leases, 
geophysical, legal, and title and the estimated [costs] for the Well…” 

Pricing  “Each Participant shall be responsible for paying his share of all estimated Drilling 
and Testing Costs and Completion and Equipping Costs incurred during 
Operations.  The Company’s estimate of the aggregate costs likely to be incurred 
can be found as part of [the AFE] attached to this Memorandum.” 
 

Compensation / 
Pricing of Units 

“The purchase price for the Units represents the Units’ share of fixed Drilling and 
Testing Costs and fixed Completion and Equipping Costs associated with the Well.  
The purchase price was established by the Company, and represents the estimated 
costs which the Company is expected to incur for Drilling and Testing Costs and 
Completion and Equipping Costs.” 
 

Definitions “AFE shall mean the estimate of expenses which are reasonably expected to be 
incurred during Operations.  The AFE is attached to the Memorandum as part of 
Exhibit B and sets forth the Company’s estimates of Drilling and Testing Costs 
and Completion and Equipping Costs.”  
  

 
48. BOG also expressly represented to investors that it would not collect any 

management fees or fees for overhead and organization costs.  As a result, the only two ways 

BOG would be compensated from its offerings were: (i) via a “Back-In After Payout” (BIAP) 

revenue sharing arrangement, and (ii) through amounts it raised in excess of the costs it 

“reasonably expected to incur.”  BOG’s BIAP revenue sharing was only triggered after investors 

received a 100-percent return of their principal investment, which never occurred on any of the 

prospects which were the subject of the BOG Offerings.  In fact, none of BOG’s prospects even 

came close to returning 100 percent of investors’ principal.  As a result, the only way BOG made 

money on any of its offerings was when the amounts it raised from investors (i.e., the costs it 

“reasonably expected to incur” as evidenced by the AFEs) exceeded the actual costs of drilling, 

testing, and completing the well.  So, Faulkner decided to rig the process. 
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49. Well operators for the BOG prospects created AFEs in preparing to drill and 

complete the wells, and provided them to BOG and Faulkner; however the operators’ AFEs were 

never included in BOG offering documents provided to prospective investors.  Instead, Faulkner 

either: (i) significantly inflated the line items in the AFEs provided by the well operators, or (ii) 

simply concocted exorbitant line “estimates” without any experience or basis to know what the 

reasonably expected costs would be for the prospects.  Faulkner and BOG then included these 

doctored and/or baseless AFEs in BOG’s offering documents, representing that they were 

estimates of costs BOG reasonably expected to incur for drilling, testing, and completing the 

wells.       

50. By grossly inflating the estimated costs in the AFEs, Faulkner ensured huge 

profits for BOG because there was no possibility that the actual costs would ever approach the 

grossly inflated estimated costs represented to investors in BOG’s CIMs.     

51. For the BOG Offerings in which Faulkner received AFEs from well operators 

before the date on the CIM, such as the Woodring #1, the Big Tex 3 Well, the Warrior, and the 

Buffalo Run #1H, Faulkner drastically marked up the operators’ estimates. 

52. For BOG offerings where Faulkner did not receive an AFE from well operators 

prior to the date on the CIMs, such as the Big Caesar #1H, the Goodbird, and the Nighthawk, a 

comparison of Faulkner’s AFEs to those provided to BOG by the well operators shortly after the 

date of the CIMs highlights the absurdity of Faulkner’s estimates.  Faulkner’s AFE for the 

Goodbird prospect, for example, was more than 18 times the operator’s actual AFE.   

53. Incredibly, Faulkner re-used AFEs from prior offerings, even though they were 

for prospects that were in different locations and for wells that were to be drilled to different 

depths.  For example, the Big Caesar, Pumpkin Ridge, and Bighorn prospects included identical 
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AFEs despite involving prospects with different operators, prospect locations, and proposed 

drilling depths. 

54. Even though BOG and Faulkner knew some or all of these actual costs before 

BOG offered a new prospect, Faulkner marked these up as well.  For example, Faulkner knew 

that the land for the Buffalo Run prospect would cost approximately $80,000 for BOG’s 12.5 

percent interest ($640,000 for the total cost of the land) before BOG ever offered the prospect to 

investors.  Ten days before the date listed on the CIM, the operator sent BOG and Faulkner an 

AFE totaling $7,194,000.  However, in the Buffalo Run CIM, Faulkner listed the “reasonably 

expected” costs for Geology, Geophysical, Acreage and Legal Title alone at $8,185,432, which 

was more than the operator’s entire AFE.  In fact, in some of BOG’s offering materials – 

including for the Warrior, Big Horn 2, and Big Caesar 2 – BOG represented that the AFEs 

included the actual cost of “land leases, geophysical, legal and title expenses.”  This was never 

the case.      

BOG sold interests it did not own 

55. On several occasions, BOG sold to investors a larger percentage of working 

interests in a prospect than BOG actually owned.  Instead of disclosing this fact to investors, 

BOG and Faulkner surreptitiously papered over the overselling by moving investors out of the 

oversold prospect and into different prospects, advising investors that BOG was exercising its 

contractual right to reassign investors to comparable prospects.  BOG often placed investors in 

substitute prospects in different states with different operators, providing materially different 

ownership interests than what investors had bargained for.  BOG’s indiscriminate reassignment 

of investors to different wells or prospects than the ones in which they had invested was not 

authorized by or disclosed in the offering materials, and was false, deceptive, and misleading.  
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56. Additionally, on multiple occasions BOG sold interests in prospects it did not 

even own.  For example, BOG offered units representing a 5-percent working interest in the 

Bison Hill prospect, even though BOG actually acquired less than 3.5 percent from the operator.  

This practice resulted in investors receiving a diluted share of working interest than what they 

had bargained for and what BOG represented they would receive. 

BOG failed to segregate investor funds 

57. In the CIMs for the BOG Offerings, BOG and Faulkner represented that investor 

funds would be deposited into segregated bank accounts in the name of the particular offering or 

prospect, and that payments for drilling, testing, and completing costs would be paid from these 

segregated bank accounts.  Keeping the funds segregated provided a level of assurance to 

investors that their funds would be available to drill, test, and complete their prospect, and not 

for something else.  However, BOG’s representations in this regard were false. Handkins – 

typically at Faulkner’s request – transferred investor funds into a commingled BOG operating 

account shortly after receipt.  Handkins then paid costs associated with multiple prospects using 

this BOG operating account.    The result was that BOG often had difficulty paying bills on its 

prospects, and later lost investors’ interests in prospects when it failed to pay bills.  This 

mismanagement is all the more egregious and shocking in light of the fact that BOG raised 

exponentially more money than it needed to drill and complete the prospects. 

58. As a result of all of these things, BOG and Faulkner misled investors about the 

expected costs of the prospects, how their funds would be safeguarded and used, and often 

provided investors with working interests in materially different prospects than the ones that 

BOG represented investors would receive.  They also failed to disclose to investors the impact of 

these things on their potential investment returns.   
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Simo’s geologist reports 

59. BOG and Faulkner represented in the CIMs that BOG “relie[d] upon the Dallas-

based firm of Simo Energy, LLC and its principal, Mr. Joe Simo, for their expertise in petroleum 

energy.”  BOG, Faulkner, and Simo conspired to make it appear that Simo was an independent 

third-party providing geology services on an objective basis, even though he was neither 

independent nor unaffiliated.  In fact, Simo signed documents on behalf of BOG as its Vice 

President of Exploration.  Nonetheless, offering documents for BOG Offerings included geology 

reports signed by Simo, on Simo Energy letterhead, recommending that BOG drill the prospects.     

60. Additionally, Simo’s reports typically included projections for oil and gas well 

production.  Faulkner and BOG took those well projections and created a table showing 

projected investment returns that they included in BOG’s offering documents.  The problem is 

that Simo’s projections for BOG prospects were calculated using a rudimentary and flawed 

methodology: he took historical production of the best performing wells within a predetermined 

proximity of the proposed drilling location and assumed those figures as the baseline for his 

projections.  Using this methodology, Simo assumed – without a reasonable basis – that BOG 

would perform as well as the best performing wells of prior decades. 

61. Faulkner, Hallam, Miller, and BOG’s sales staff also used Simo’s projections to 

entice investors to invest in BOG’s offerings.  However, they failed to disclose that Simo’s 

projections were consistently, and abysmally, overstated; actual production on the wells was 

often less than 10 percent of Simo’s projections.  

62. In spite of the fact that Simo routinely overestimated production projections, 

Faulkner was not satisfied.  He frequently and unilaterally increased Simo’s figures by 100 

percent or more on several occasions without notifying Simo or disclosing this change to 
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investors.  Faulkner included these unilateral adjustments on Simo Energy letterhead, included 

Simo’s signature, and incorporated these overinflated projections in offering materials sent to 

investors.  For example, on the Big Horn prospect, Faulkner unilaterally changed Simo’s 

production projections from a range of 1,000 to 3,000 barrels of oil per day (“BOPD”) to a range 

of 5,000 to 7,000 BOPD.     

63. Based on the activities detailed above, BOG, Faulkner, and Simo intentionally 

misled investors about various aspects of Simo’s geology reports.  And Hallam and Miller, who 

knew about the poor performance of prior prospects but continued to offer and sell newer 

prospects, were at least negligent in not disclosing the prior results to investors. 

BOG sales staff and commissions 

64. While Faulkner coordinated all of BOG’s operations and managed much of the 

business, Hallam and Miller led the sales efforts and managed BOG’s sales staff.  Hallam, 

Miller, and the salespeople disseminated BOG’s materially misleading offering materials for the 

BOG Offerings and reiterated these misrepresentations as part of their sales efforts to investors.  

According to BOG’s (and later Crude’s and Patriot’s) CIMs, only company officers (specifically 

Hallam and Miller) would offer and sell working interests to investors, and no one would receive 

transaction-based compensation.  This was a lie.   

65. Although Hallam and Miller offered and sold these investments to investors and 

obtained investor funds as a result of material misrepresentations in the offering documents, the 

sales staff also received millions of dollars in transaction-based compensation.  The salespeople 

generally cold-called investors from lead lists or followed up on investor contact in response to 

BOG’s, Crude’s, and Patriot’s public advertising of their offerings.  Contrary to representations 

in the CIMs however, the salespeople typically received up to 10-percent commissions on every 
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dollar they helped bring in the door for their integral role in the sales process, including advising 

prospective investors on the merits of particular investments using the false and misleading 

offering materials detailed above.   

66. Moreover, in connection with their sales pitches as part of the unregistered 

offerings, BOG’s (and later Crude’s and Patriot’s) salespeople failed to sufficiently determine 

the accreditation status of investors.  The salespeople relied on investors to effectively self-

accredit themselves by posing general questions about their accreditation status and by having 

investors complete a questionnaire.  At no point did the salespeople, or anyone else at BOG (and 

later Crude and Patriot), attempt to independently verify a potential investor’s accreditation 

status. 

Faulkner misappropriated BOG investor funds 

67. After investors sent funds to BOG to invest in one of its offerings, Faulkner 

misappropriated a significant portion of these funds in at least two ways: (i) direct payments to 

Amex for expenses Faulkner incurred on Amex cards he used; and (ii) checks issued to him or 

entities he controlled for unsupported expense reimbursements and phony service fees. 

68. Faulkner used his Amex cards for some BOG-related expenses such as 

advertising and lead fees, but he also used them extensively for lavish personal expenditures.  

Without segregating personal expenditures or providing any statements detailing his charges, 

Faulkner repeatedly requested Handkins to pay his Amex bills in their entirety.  As a result, 

between 2011 and 2013, BOG paid almost $8.6 million directly to Amex for charges incurred by 

Faulkner on his credit cards. 

69. In 2013 alone, Faulkner and Relief Defendant Tamra Freedman, Faulkner’s wife 

at the time, charged approximately charged approximately $7 million on Amex cards Faulkner 
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used.  Faulkner claimed that all of these charges were legitimate business expenses without 

providing documents identifying the nature of the expenditures.  Without questioning Faulkner 

about the request or asking for documentation supporting the supposed business expenses, 

Handkins paid the outstanding balances on the cards using BOG funds.  Many of the charges 

were personal, including tens of thousands of dollars in charges to his personal concierge, 

gentlemen’s clubs, and assorted high-end fashion stores.   

70. In addition to these direct payments to Amex, between 2011 and 2013, Faulkner 

sought scores of payments from BOG for personal expenses through claimed expense 

reimbursements and phony service fees.  Even though he often failed to provide any supporting 

documentation for these claimed business expenses or services, Handkins issued checks or made 

wires totaling approximately $7.8 million directly from BOG to him personally or to entities he 

controlled during this time period.   

71. Given that BOG obtained funds from investors as a result of its fraudulent 

offerings, a significant portion of the compensation that Hallam, Miller, Handkins, and Simo 

received from BOG was derived from ill-gotten gains.   

Transition from BOG to BECC and Crude 

72. In late 2012, Faulkner began the process of taking BOG and BRC public.  He 

hired Wagers, a Texas lawyer, who joined BOG as its GC and CCO.  Faulkner also hired Hoover 

to assist BOG in the transition to becoming a public company. 

73. In December 2013, BOG and BRC – two entities owned and controlled by 

Faulkner, Hallam, and Miller – acquired Bering, a company traded on the OTC Link market as 

“BRX.”  This acquisition was accomplished through an asset transfer agreement whereby BOG 

and BRC acquired 92.5% of Bering’s stock, in exchange for a portion of BOG’s and BRC’s 
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assets.  Faulkner, Hallam, and Miller became beneficial owners of 92.5 percent of BECC’s 

common stock, which they held indirectly through their ownership in BOG and BRC.   

74. Faulkner and Wagers changed the name of the public entity to Breitling Energy 

Corporation and its ticker symbol to “BECC.”  Faulkner became BECC’s President, CEO, and 

Chairman of the Board of Directors, while Wagers became its GC and COO.  In February 2014, 

Hoover formally became BECC’s CFO.  Although Hoover and Wagers had some experience in 

public companies, Faulkner had never worked for a public company before.   

75. In preparing to become public, BECC also engaged a public accounting firm to 

audit its financial statements, which included results of operations for BOG and BRC.  Faulkner, 

Wagers, and Hoover lied to the auditors with an eye towards obtaining a clean audit opinion for 

BECC.  These lies are discussed in more detail below.   

76. BECC portrayed itself in public filings, on its website, and otherwise as E&P 

company that would acquire and develop oil-and-gas prospects in Texas, Oklahoma, and North 

Dakota.  Despite these representations, none of BECC’s management had any experience 

conducting traditional E&P operations, which was material because they were competing with 

established, billion-dollar E&P companies for the right to drill and operate wells. 

Faulkner starts up Crude 

77. In 2013, in anticipation of the asset transfer transaction that formed BECC, 

Faulkner changed the name of a private Wyoming shell company he controlled from Enhanced 

Funding, LLC to Crude.  He then installed Hallam and Miller as Crude’s two managing 

members, with Hallam acting as Crude’s President and Miller as its CIO.  In November 2013, 

Hallam converted Crude into a Texas limited liability company.  And while legal documents 

identified Hallam and Miller as Crude’s managing members, Faulkner directed and controlled 
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Crude’s operations.  Faulkner signed Crude’s office lease, and owned or leased all of Crude’s 

furniture and operating assets.  Further, Faulkner transferred nearly all of BOG’s sales staff and 

employees, including Handkins, to Crude.  Handkins’ primary responsibility was to control 

Crude’s bank accounts, and she was identified in her emails and certain offering materials as 

Crude’s COO.   

78. Faulkner designed Crude to operate like BOG, offering and selling investments – 

in the form of working interest units – in unregistered turnkey offerings with one difference: 

instead of operating as a standalone entity, Crude served as BECC’s covert sales arm and 

primary funding source.  Crude also became responsible for making ongoing expense payments 

on BOG’s prospects. 

79. In February 2014, BECC agreed to pay approximately $2.4 million for the right to 

drill eight wells on 3,680 acres of land in Sterling County, Texas (the “Farmout Agreement”).  

Under the terms of this Farmout Agreement, BECC had the right to develop leases and earn 

acreage for each well drilled, but such rights were contingent upon certain continuous drilling 

and completion obligations.  BECC had to drill a well every six months, and it would not acquire 

title to the well until it drilled to sufficient depth to test for completion.  If BECC failed to 

comply with these obligations, the agreement would terminate, BECC would lose its interest in 

any prospects that were not completed in accordance with the agreement (including those drilled 

but not completed), and BECC’s rights the property would revert back to the landowner.  

80. Once Faulkner acquired rights to the properties under the Farmout Agreement on 

BECC’s behalf, Wagers drafted a series of documents that ostensibly obligated Crude to pay 

BECC millions of dollars.  First, BECC entered into an agreement with Crude (the “Crude 

ASA”), pursuant to which Crude agreed to pay BECC: (i) $100,000 per month, (ii) $150,000 per 
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prospect delivered to Crude, and (iii) a 20 percent carried interest in each prospect, regardless of 

the amount of the prospect resold by Crude to investors.  In exchange for these fees, BECC 

purported to provide Crude with access to its client lists and prospects.       

81. Wagers also created a series of assignments that obligated Crude to purchase 

certain prospects associated with the Farmout Agreement (the Red Wolf, White Wolf, and Blue 

Wolf prospects) from BECC at exorbitant premiums over what it paid for the prospects.  Wagers 

presented the assignments to Hallam, represented that signing the assignments was in Crude’s 

best interests, and instructed Hallam to sign them on Crude’s behalf – even though Wagers was 

BECC’s COO and GC.  Hallam did not read or review the assignments before signing them.  

82. This arrangement, which appeared to paper millions of dollars of undisclosed 

contractual obligations for Crude, was a sham.  In reality, these documents were attempts by 

Faulkner and Wagers to disguise the actual relationship between Crude and BECC: Crude 

operated as BECC’s undisclosed, consolidated subsidiary and covert sales arm.   

83. Between December 2013 and April 2015, Crude raised more than $38 million 

from hundreds of investors.  Most of these funds were associated with Crude’s offer and sale of 

working interests in unregistered offerings.  These working interests were the subject of the 

assignments detailed in the paragraphs above, including Crude’s Red Wolf, White Wolf, Blue 

Wolf, and Cottonwood offerings.  Handkins, as the controller of Crude’s bank accounts, 

transferred more than $36 million of these funds (more than 94%) to BECC2 at Faulkner’s 

request.  Hallam and Miller, Crude’s managing members and executives, were aware of these 

transfers and that they were not associated with specific prospect expenditures or the purported 

                                                 
2  Notably, BECC continued to use operating bank accounts in the names of BOG and BRC as its primary 
operating accounts during this time. 
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Crude ASA.  In fact, on multiple occasions, Hallam provided additional authorization for 

Handkins to make the transfers.        

84. Almost all of BECC’s incoming funds between December 2013 and March 2015 

came from Crude investors.  A significant majority of these funds were used by BECC to 

continue paying Faulkner’s personal expenses through expense reimbursements and direct 

payments to Faulkner’s Amex cards.     

85. Additionally, from time to time, Crude also made direct payments on Faulkner’s 

Amex cards.  Between January 12, 2015 and February 24, 2015 alone, Handkins made hundreds 

of thousands of dollars in payments to Amex directly out of Crude’s bank accounts for charges 

made by Faulkner.  Hallam knew about these payments and even authorized them from time to 

time. 

86. Given that Crude obtained funds from investors as a result of its fraudulent 

offerings, a significant portion of the compensation that Hallam, Miller, and Handkins received 

from Crude was ill-gotten.  Similarly, Wagers, Hoover, and Simo received compensation from 

BECC derived from the ill-gotten investor funds obtained by Crude and transferred to BECC. 

Crude’s misrepresentations to investors 

87. Similar to BOG, Crude offered and sold working interests in oil-and-gas prospects 

– via unregistered offerings – to investors on a turnkey basis.  And Faulkner drafted, edited, 

and/or approved, Crude’s offering materials – which included CIMs, marketing brochures, and 

subscription agreements – despite the fact that the CIMs omitted any mention of him or his 

affiliation with Crude.  Hallam and Miller, who led Crude’s sales efforts and managed Crude’s 

salespeople, reviewed the offering materials and were aware that the statements therein were 

attributable to them and omitted any mention of Faulkner’s involvement in the company.  
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Hallam signed marketing brochures for each offering as Crude’s CEO, and Hallam, Miller, and 

Handkins were identified in the brochures as Crude’s executives.  While the Crude offering 

materials listed BECC as the operator for the wells/prospects, it did not disclose Crude’s actual 

relationship with BECC.   

88. Moreover, Crude’s CIMs contained misrepresentations and omissions similar to 

those in BOG’s CIMs, including the use of AFEs that purported to reflect “likely” costs that 

Crude expected to incur in drilling, testing, and completing each prospect.  Crude claimed in its 

offering materials that it drafted the AFEs; however as with BOG, Faulkner actually drafted 

them.  BECC, listed as the operator of record for the prospects offered to investors, hired a 

contract operator for Crude’s projects.  Given that BECC and Crude were not actually drilling 

the wells, which they had no experience or expertise to do, they had no reasonable or informed 

basis to estimate the likely costs that would be incurred to drill and complete the wells.  None of 

these facts were disclosed to investors in Crude’s CIMs. 

89. The contract operator on Crude’s prospects provided Faulkner and Simo, serving 

as BECC’s President of Upstream Operations, with AFEs containing estimates of the costs to 

drill and complete the wells.  Faulkner again disregarded those estimates and created his own 

AFEs that he ultimately included in Crude’s offering documents.  As with BOG, Faulkner’s 

estimates were typically 3-4 times the operator’s estimates. 

90. Crude also misrepresented to investors that their funds would be deposited into a 

segregated bank account, and used to pay the costs to drill, test, and complete specific prospects.  

In reality, Handkins commingled investor funds in Crude’s operating account shortly after they 

were deposited.  Handkins then used the Crude operating account to pay expenses and, more 

often, funnel funds to BECC at Faulkner’s request.  Even though Handkins managed the Crude 
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investor lists and tracked the amount of money coming in from investors for each prospect, she 

made the transfers without regard for the intended use of the funds as represented to Crude’s 

investors. 

91. Hallam and Miller approved this practice for the duration of Crude’s operations 

without any checks or balances.  In fact, Hallam initiated some of these transfers from Crude to 

BECC, knowing that they were not tied to specific prospects.  This arrangement, like the one 

previously with BOG, gave Faulkner access to millions of dollars of investor funds.  As with 

BOG, these funds were typically diverted to pay Faulkner’s Amex bills or issue Faulkner 

millions of dollars in checks.  As a result, even though Hallam and Miller fully sold or oversold 

Crude’s prospects at levels well above the legitimate projected costs included in the well 

operators’ AFEs, Crude often struggled to provide the operators with sufficient funds to drill and 

complete the prospects.   

92. Crude’s offering materials included Simo’s geologist reports, which advocated 

drilling the various prospects.  Although Faulkner did not include specific production projections 

in Crude’s offering documents, Crude and Simo continued to represent that a third-party 

geologist (not BECC, where Simo served as its President of Upstream Operations) provided an 

independent recommendation that Crude should drill and develop the prospects. 

93. Crude also failed to disclose that properties it offered and sold to investors, which 

were part of the Farmout Agreement, were subject to ongoing obligations that could result in 

investor funds being lost (the “Farmout Agreement Provisions”).  For example, if BECC failed to 

comply with the continuous drilling provision, any well that had not yet been completed would 

revert back to the party from whom BECC bought the interest.  Since Crude was selling 

prospects subject to the Farmout Agreement, this meant that Crude’s investors were subject to an 
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undisclosed risk that their interests could disappear not only if certain milestones were not met 

on their prospect, but also entirely due to actions on a wholly unrelated prospect. 

94. Hallam, Miller, and the salespeople disseminated the materially misleading 

offering materials for the Crude Offerings and reiterated these misrepresentations as part of their 

sales efforts.  Similar to the misrepresentations in BOG’s CIMs, the Crude CIMs misstated that 

working interests would be offered and sold by company officers (specifically Hallam and 

Miller) who would not receive transaction-based compensation.  For the reasons identified in 

Paragraphs 65 and 66 above, this was false.  As with BOG, Crude generally solicited investors 

via cold calling and through internet advertisements, and received transaction-based 

compensation whenever they brought investors in the door.  Moreover, in connection with their 

sales pitches as part of the unregistered offerings, Crude’s salespeople failed to sufficiently 

determine the accreditation status of investors.  The salespeople relied on investors to effectively 

self-accredit themselves by posing general questions about their accreditation status and by 

having investors complete a questionnaire.  At no point did the salespeople, or anyone else at 

Crude, attempt to independently verify a potential investor’s accreditation status.      

Faulkner misappropriated investor funds through BECC 

95. On the same day in December 2013 that Faulkner and Wagers engineered the 

asset-for-stock transaction by and between BOG, BRC, and Bering, BECC’s board of directors 

approved a company policy for expense reimbursements that purported to apply to all BECC 

employees.  Purporting to establish standards for properly documenting and accounting for 

various expenses incurred on the company’s behalf, the policy included the following highlights:   

a. BECC will not reimburse expenses without proper documentation; 

b. Employees are expected to be “conservative” in their spending; 
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c. BECC will not reimburse for personal expenses, even on business trips; 
and 

 
d. Hotel and travel expenses are to be booked as “economical” as possible, 

with strict limits on meal ($45/day) and lodging (only those “necessary” 
consistent with IRS rates) reimbursements. 

   
Faulkner and Hoover, as CEO and CFO, were specifically identified as the only persons 

with authority to exempt BECC employees from the policy.  But this put the fox in charge of the 

hen house.   

96. Faulkner violated virtually every provision of this policy.  He pilfered $5.3 

million directly from BECC by submitting unsupported expense reimbursement requests.  

Faulkner typically submitted reimbursement requests without receipts or supporting 

documentation.  Furthermore, Faulkner falsified the reimbursement requests by claiming that his 

personal expenses were for business purposes, creatively describing the purpose for many 

expenses as simply “Business Purpose.”  Despite this lack of support, and readily apparent red 

flags associated with Faulkner’s reimbursement requests, Hoover (and later Wagers) approved 

these without any regard for the company’s reimbursement policy.  As a result of Hoover’s and 

Wagers’s blatant disregard for the company’s internal controls, BECC repeatedly made 

payments to Faulkner wholly unrelated to the company’s business.  Hoover would ultimately 

classify these Faulkner payments in BECC’s general ledger as “marketing” and “advertising” 

expenses when they were neither, and in reality served one purpose:  to sustain Faulkner’s lavish 

lifestyle. 

97. In addition to Faulkner’s expense reimbursements, Faulkner continued pilfering 

investor funds by repeatedly requesting Handkins to make payments on Amex cards Faulkner 

used.  From the time BECC went public in December 2013, Handkins made more than $18 

million in payments to Amex on these cards. 
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98. As with Faulkner’s expenditures while he was at BOG, a significant portion of 

Faulkner’s Amex card charges were personal.  In 2014 alone, Handkins made payments directly 

to Amex for overwhelming personal expenditures on cards Faulkner used, including, among 

others: (i) more than $950,000 to Status Luxury Group, Faulkner’s personal concierge company, 

for private entertainment; (ii) approximately $480,000 to In the Know Experience, a 

travel/lifestyle company; (iii) more than $220,000 for private jet carriers; (iv) approximately 

$190,000 to three New York nightclubs; and (v) more than $100,000 to Amazon.  Worse, 

numerous charges on the Amex cards were the source of Faulkner’s expense reimbursement 

requests.  This “double dipping” enabled Faulkner to receive a check as “reimbursement” and 

also have the credit card charge paid for by the company. 

99. In addition to the direct payments for Faulkner’s Amex charges, Faulkner and 

Wagers conceived a new method to use investor funds for their own personal benefit.  Faulkner 

and Wagers asked Steedley to allow them to use Amex cards that were associated with 

Steedley’s existing Amex Platinum account, promising that all charges on the card would be 

paid.  This arrangement allowed Faulkner and Wagers to use these subordinate cards for personal 

charges while concealing from company employees and auditors that they (not Steedley) were 

the reasons for the charges.  Faulkner used this card – which he referred to as his “whore card” – 

to charge more than $1 million solely for travel and expenses for various women, gentlemen’s 

clubs, nightclubs, and associated salacious expenditures.  For example, during a two-month 

period in 2014, Faulkner incurred more than $1 million in charges on lavish hotels, travel and 

entertainment expenses for assorted women and female escorts, and various other entertainment 

expenses.  Using investor funds transferred from Crude, BECC paid for virtually all of the 

transactions on Faulkner’s “whore card.”  
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100. Although Wagers charged less frequent and smaller expenditures than Faulkner, 

he still accumulated tens of thousands of dollars in personal expenditures that were ultimately 

paid by BECC.  Wagers used his card predominantly for gentlemen’s club expenses, including 

nearly $40,000 in charges at a Dallas gentlemen’s club over a four-day period in July 2014.  As 

with his own card, Faulkner instructed Handkins to make payments using investor funds on the 

Steedley-Wagers card as well.   

101. Additionally, Faulkner funneled funds to Relief Defendants Tamra Freedman and 

Jetmir Ahmedi.  Between March 2014 and June 2015, Faulkner directed the transfer of at least 

$482,000 to Ahmedi, one of Faulkner’s close friends who was a frequent participant in trips and 

parties bankrolled by Faulkner using investor funds.  Additionally, in 2014 (prior to their 

divorce), Faulkner transferred at least $2.5 million to accounts in Freedman’s name.  While some 

of these funds were ultimately returned to Faulkner’s accounts at a later date, more than $1.8 

million of these funds were never returned.  Freedman also received a personal benefit from 

many of the charges on Faulkner’s Amex cards, which were paid for by Handkins paid out of 

BOG, Crude, and Patriot bank accounts.  Freedman and Ahmedi have no legitimate claims to 

these funds they received, or from which they otherwise benefitted directly or indirectly. 

BECC’s misrepresentations 

102. Similar to the misrepresentations and omissions in BOG and Crude offering 

materials, BECC’s public filings – which were reviewed and signed by Faulkner, Hoover, and 

Wagers – are replete with misrepresentations and/or omissions on material issues. 

103. In BECC’s initial Form 8-K filed on December 9, 2013 and signed by Faulkner, 

BECC first disclosed that it entered into the Crude ASA whereby Crude would pay BECC 

certain administrative fees.  Later, in BECC’s Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2014 – signed and 
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certified by Faulkner and Hoover, and signed by Wagers – BECC claimed that “from time to 

time” it may offer working interests and royalties to Crude.  These disclosures were false.   

104. The Form 8-K and Form 10-K both treated Crude as a party that may occasionally 

transact with BECC.  Although the public reports create the impression that the arrangement 

between BECC and Crude could generate millions of dollars in fees for BECC, BECC did not 

sell prospects to Crude; it used Crude as its covert sales arm.  BECC actually consolidated 

Crude’s results of operations in its general ledger, a fact never disclosed to the public in BECC’s 

filings or to investors in Crude’s offerings.  The only disclosure BECC made about consolidation 

in its 2013 Form 10-K omitted any discussion of Crude.   

105. Moreover, BECC never revealed Faulkner’s involvement and influence over 

Crude’s operations.  In fact, BECC’s outside auditor would later conclude that “Crude is so 

intertwined with Breitling that it is near impossible for Crude to act as a standalone and separate 

company.”  BECC’s misrepresentations about its relationship with Crude were incorporated by 

reference in the subsequent Forms 10-Q that BECC filed, because they included representations 

that the financial statements “should be read in conjunction with” BECC’s most recently filed 

Form 10-K.   

106. BECC further clouded the public’s understanding of its business model in Forms 

8-K it filed on November 12, 2014 and December 4, 2014 (both signed by Faulkner).  In those 

filings, BECC claimed its “Asset Management Division” divested a portion of its working 

interests “through strategic industry relationships,” terms that Faulkner, Wagers, and BECC used 

to describe its purported agreements with Crude and later Patriot.   

107. Faulkner, Hoover, and Wagers knew or were severely reckless in not knowing 

that these reports – identified above in Paragraphs 103 to 106 – were false.  Faulkner and Wagers 
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repeatedly told Crude (and later Patriot) employees that entities were consolidated.  Furthermore, 

Hoover consolidated the entities’ results of operations in BECC’s general ledger. 

108. Additionally, BECC issued Forms 8-K dated May 15, 2014, August 13, 2014, and 

November 14, 2014, all signed by Faulkner.  In each of these reports, the company claimed 

significant financial success as the result of increased third party interest in the company’s 

working interests and royalty prospects and the company’s “de-risking” of operating positions by 

selling them to third parties.  At no point in any of these reports did BECC disclose that these 

sales were taking place via a consolidated entity (Crude) to investors through fraudulent 

offerings and with offering materials drafted by BECC’s President and CEO. 

109. Additionally in its 2013 Form 10-K, BECC specifically and emphatically 

distanced its business model from the turnkey model used by BOG, stating “[BOG] acquired 

their oil and gas assets in connection with a business model that differs substantially from that of 

[BECC] or an ordinary oil and gas exploration and production company.”  However, BOG’s 

business model was BECC’s business model with the added layer that BECC used Crude (and 

later Patriot) to sell the turnkey investments.  Faulkner, Hoover, and Wagers all knew or were 

severely reckless in not knowing that BECC was using Crude as its covert sales arm, using the 

BOG business model. 

110. Furthermore, in a February 2014 Form 8-K issued by BECC and signed by 

Faulkner, BECC disclosed its results of operations for 2011 and 2012, which actually covered 

the period before BECC existed and thus incorporated BOG’s and BRC’s results of operations.  

This report perpetuated a lie littered throughout BOG’s offering materials, stating that “BOG 

bases the price at which it sells its working interests under the turnkey drilling agreement on its 

estimates of the costs . . . and is based upon the historical cost to complete those activities.”  As 
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discussed extensively above, BOG’s cost estimates, represented to investors in AFEs in offering 

documents, were not “based on the historical cost to complete those activities,” but were based 

on fraudulently inflated figures devised by Faulkner.  Faulkner knew or was severely reckless in 

not knowing that this representation was categorically false as he was responsible for contriving 

the bloated AFEs in BOG’s offerings without any reference to historical costs. 

111. Further, each of BECC’s 2014 quarterly reports on Forms 10-Q – signed and 

certified by Faulkner and Hoover – included a brief description of BECC’s Results of 

Operations.  In these reports for the first three quarters of 2014, BECC claimed that its expenses 

increased “primarily” due to costs associated with becoming a public company, and costs 

associated with developing inventory for sales.  Although BECC may have incurred additional 

expenses in these areas, the primary reason for the increases was the uncontrolled and unchecked 

personal spending by Faulkner – BECC’s President, CEO, and Chairman – which he 

accomplished with the help of Hoover, Wagers, and Handkins.  BECC also issued Forms 8-K 

dated August 13, 2014 and November 14, 2014, signed by Faulkner, wherein it described its 

quarterly results.  In these reports, BECC reiterated its’ representations that increases in expenses 

were due to “marketing expenses,” without any mention that these expenses were almost wholly 

payments to, or for the personal benefit of, Faulkner.   

112. More than half of BECC’s increases in expenditures for the first three quarters of 

2014 ($9.6 million of $18 million) came from purported marketing expenses.  And 91 percent of 

these so-called marketing expenses during this period were actually payments to: (i) Amex for 

Faulkner’s bills, or (ii) Faulkner directly.  In total, at least $0.25 of every $1.00 that BECC spent 

during the first nine months of 2014 was for Faulkner’s personal benefit.  BECC failed to 

disclose this material information in its public filings.  Faulkner and Hoover knew or were 
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severely reckless in not knowing that these representations were false.  Hoover was responsible 

for categorizing the expenses in the company’s general ledger, enabling him access to the real 

(and undisclosed) reason BECC’s expenses continued to increase. 

113. On April 30, 2014, BECC issued a proxy statement signed by Wagers which 

included the following misrepresentations and omissions: (a) BECC reiterated its 

misrepresentations about its relationship with Crude, identifying Crude as a related party because 

of Hallam’s and Miller’s ownership but failing to mention, among others things, Faulkner’s 

influence and control over Crude or Crude’s consolidation with BECC; and (b) contrary to the 

seemingly unfettered ability that Faulkner had to pilfer company resources and investor funds, 

BECC claimed that it “has in place sound counter-balancing mechanisms to ensure the continued 

accountability of the [CEO] to the Board.”  Moreover, BECC’s proxy statement made the 

company’s only disclosure - to this day - about the compensation it paid to Faulkner: for the last 

three weeks of December 2013, BECC purportedly did not pay Faulkner any salary.  Wagers 

knew or was severely reckless in not knowing that these statements in this proxy statement were 

false and misleading or that the proxy statement contained material omissions.  Wagers was 

intimately familiar with BECC’s relationship with Crude, including Crude’s consolidation with 

BECC.  And by virtue of his approvals Faulkner’s expense reimbursement requests, Wagers 

knew that BECC did not have sound counter-balancing mechanisms to ensure the continued 

accountability of Faulkner to the Board.    

114. In addition to misrepresentations about the company’s financial performance and 

relationship with Crude, BECC also misrepresented the performance of certain prospects where 

it was involved.  On September 25, 2014, BECC issued a Form 8-K signed by Faulkner, 

attaching a press release that purported to update investors on the performance of the Parramore 
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#1 prospect, sold by Crude as the Red Wolf prospect.  The report correctly stated that initial 

production on the prospect was 85 BOPD.  However, the report failed to disclose that after the 

initial 24 hour period, production plummeted.  Without mentioning that production had fallen 

into the 18-27 BOPD range at the end of August, BECC stated that “during the last nine days, oil 

and gas production has steadily increased…A continued increase in oil and gas production is 

anticipated.”  Although oil production had increased from late August, BECC and Crude 

investors had no idea that the production had dropped so precipitously after the initial 24-hour 

period, and that current production was a fraction of the initial production mentioned in the 

release.     

115. In March 2015, BECC engaged an accounting firm to act as its outside auditor.  

As part of the new auditor’s review of BECC’s quarterly results of operations, the firm’s 

engagement partner questioned Wagers about the relationship between BECC and Crude.  The 

auditor concluded Crude should be consolidated with BECC based on the following: 

a. BECC participated in the formation of Crude to facilitate BECC’s 
business; 

 
b. BECC makes the most impactful decisions for Crude, including the 

pricing of the working interests; 
  
c. BECC benefits economically because the pricing is established in such a 

way that Crude breaks even; and 
  
d. Crude’s only source of prospects to offer to investors come from BECC.  

  
The auditor also concluded that “Crude is so intertwined with Breitling that it is near 

impossible for Crude to act as a standalone and separate company.”  None of this information 

was ever disclosed in public reports or otherwise to investors. 

116. However, on September 4, 2015, BECC issued a Form 8-K signed by Faulkner, 

acknowledging that none of the financial reports it filed after its merger with Bering Exploration 
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should be relied upon “due to errors in the recording of oil and gas assets, revenue interests and 

drilling activities . . .”  It also disclosed that it failed to properly implement its internal controls 

over financial reporting in 2012, 2013, and 2014, and that it had ineffective disclosure controls 

and procedures in 2013 and 2014.  BECC represented that it was “still in the process of 

determining the extent of the errors” and that it would file amended Forms 10-K and 10-Q for 

each of the affected periods “as soon as practicable,” acknowledging the possibility that further 

misstatements of its financial statements could occur if these failures were not remediated.  To 

date, BECC has neither amended these filings nor filed quarterly and annual reports on an on-

going basis as it is required to do.     

Misrepresentations and lies to auditors 

117. As noted in Paragraph 75 above, BOG sought and obtained a clean audit report in 

2013 as part of its efforts to become publicly-traded BECC.  In connection with the auditor’s 

work, Hoover, Wagers and Faulkner lied to the auditor about various aspects of BOG’s past and 

BECC’s future operations, including:  (i) the relationship between BECC and Crude; (ii) BECC’s 

use of turnkey deals; and (iii) representations about Faulkner’s expense reimbursements. 

Relationship between BECC and Crude 

118. During the audit of BECC’s 2011, 2012, and 2013 financial statements – which 

reflected BOG’s financials through the first week of December 2013 – BECC’s initial auditor 

discussed the Crude ASA with Hoover and Wagers, and stated that there was the potential under 

GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles) that Crude’s operations would need to be 

consolidated with BECC’s for financial reporting purposes.   

119. In response to this query from the auditors, Hoover and Wagers lied to the 

auditors about the relationship between the two entities.  Hoover told the auditors that “[t]he 
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agreements and legal work was structured early on to assure there was a clear delineation 

between” the two entities.  Wagers similarly told the auditors that Crude had very little to do 

with the future of BECC.  As detailed above, both of these statements were false, and Hoover 

and Wagers were at least negligent in making these statements. 

BECC’s use of turnkey deals 

120. In January 2014, the auditors pressed BECC about whether it was going to 

continue offering turnkey deals to investors.  The audit engagement partner stated that it was his 

understanding that BECC would not be doing turnkey deals “because it creates several large 

issues, which also creates several audit issues.” 

121. Wagers responded to the engagement partner, stating that “[t]here will be no new 

turnkey contracts.”  Wagers was at least negligent in failing to disclose that BECC used Crude to 

sell turnkey offerings to investors, based on his intimate knowledge of BECC’s relationship with 

Crude. 

Representations about Faulkner’s expense reimbursements 

122. BECC’s auditors could not find supporting documentation for a number of 

transactions, including a significant number of expense reimbursements for Faulkner.  As a 

result, the auditor determined that it needed Faulkner to represent that such expenses were for 

business expenses as part of its audit of BECC’s financial statements. 

123. Faulkner signed a letter prepared by the auditor, representing that the millions of 

dollars he received from BOG were expense reimbursements for the benefit of BECC.  As 

detailed above, Faulkner knew this representation was false and he was, at the very least, 

negligent in making this misrepresentation. 
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Faulkner manipulated the market in BECC’s stock by “marking the close” 
 

124. In late 2014, BECC’s stock price suffered like that of many legitimate oil 

companies, dropping 36.7 percent from October 1, 2014 to November 28, 2014.   

125. To counteract this drop, Faulkner initiated a scheme in December 2014 to 

manipulate BECC’s stock by executing purchase orders at or near the close of normal trading 

hours to influence the closing price – a practice known as “marking the close.”  From December 

2014 through February 2015, Faulkner heavily traded BECC through at least two nominee 

accounts: (i) a TD Ameritrade (“TDA”) account in the name of Defendant Steedley (“Steedley 

Account”); and (ii) a TDA account in the name of Range Quest Resources, an entity he owned 

and controlled (“RQ Account”).  Faulkner either executed the trades himself or gave 

intermediaries – such as Steedley – specific directions on how and when to trade in the accounts. 

126. Faulkner made a concerted effort to conceal his trading.  He convinced Steedley 

to let him trade in the Steedley Account.  Steedley complied because Faulkner promised him 

BECC stock and the trading was intended to sustain the stock and create the appearance of active 

trading.  In addition to convincing Steedley to let him use the Steedley Account, Faulkner 

opened up the RQ Account with a brokerage application that omitted his affiliation with BECC.  

In fact, on the portion of the application for his employment, Faulkner listed his position as the 

sole officer and CEO of Crude. 

127. Next, Faulkner ensured that he could trade without using his own funds.  For the 

Steedley Account, Faulkner directed the transfer of more than $200,000 into the account via a 

series of wires and transfers with funds that can be traced back to investors.  Faulkner utilized a 

similar approach for the RQ Account.   
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128. Faulkner traded every trading day during this three-month period from December 

2014 through February 2015 through thousands of limit orders, which accounted for 

approximately 25% of BECC’s trading volume during this period.  Faulkner’s trading was so 

extensive that he alone accounted for more than 25% of BECC’s trading volume on at least half 

of the days during this time period, and often accounted for more than 40%. 

129. As part of this high volume trading, Faulkner established a pattern of executing 

numerous buy orders shortly before the closing bell.  In fact, between December 4, 2014 and 

January 30, 2015, Faulkner marked the close of BECC’s stock at least 24 times, setting the 

intraday trading high on at least six occasions with his last-minute trades.     

130. Faulkner’s trades were done in an economically disadvantageous manner, plainly 

indicating his intent to manipulate the market for BECC’s stock.  For example, in December 

2014, TDA compliance personnel noted the following about the Steedley Account: “[o]ver the 

past week, the client has established a pattern of uneconomical (and possibly manipulative) 

trading in BECC.  Client paying $9.99 commission on orders up to $1000 on a low volume 

security with an average of $80K.”  Ultimately, Faulkner paid thousands of dollars in 

commissions for various small lot trades he made throughout the day and to mark the close.  

More than half of his trades were for 1,000 shares or less, and more than a quarter were for 500 

shares or less.  Faulkner’s trading artificially sustained and increased BECC’s stock price.   

131. From December 1, 2014 through March 2, 2015, BECC’s stock price increased 

$0.02/share (a 4.2% increase), even though oil dropped 28% during this time frame.  

Additionally, companies in the energy sector typically saw stock price decreases during this time 

period.  The Russell 2000 Energy Index dropped 3.07%, and legitimate oil-and-gas E&P 
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companies suffered significant price drops.  Given the magnitude, timing, and prevalence of 

Faulkner’s trades, Faulkner’s trading helped sustain and increase BECC’s stock price. 

132. In conjunction with these trades, Faulkner, as an officer of BECC, failed to file 

forms with the Commission reflecting changes in his beneficial ownership of BECC’s stock, as 

required by Section 16 of the Exchange Act. 

133. Faulkner continued this pattern of trading until TDA shut down the Steedley and 

Range Quest accounts in early March 2015 for suspicious trading in BECC’s stock.  

Subsequently, Steedley sold the remaining shares of BECC stock in his account – which had 

been purchased by Faulkner with investor funds – and received the proceeds.   

Transition from Crude to Patriot 

134. In early 2015, Hallam and Faulkner began to quarrel.  Even though Faulkner 

relied on Crude to fund BECC – and, in turn, his lavish lifestyle – Faulkner punished Hallam’s 

perceived insubordination by once again pivoting the Faulkner Scheme.  In late March 2015, 

while Hallam was out of town, Faulkner coordinated the startup of a new entity – Patriot – to 

take Crude’s place.  Faulkner changed the name of another shell company he owned (Simple 

Solutions, Inc.) to Patriot, and installed Miller as its President and its sole director, shareholder, 

and officer.  Since Faulkner controlled the Crude lease and its computers and servers, he moved 

almost all of this to a new suite he leased for Patriot’s offices and instructed the Crude 

employees that they would now work for Patriot.  Upon Hallam’s return, he saw that Crude had 

been effectively shut down. 

135. Faulkner and Handkins then set up new bank accounts styled as “Simple 

Solutions d/b/a Crude Energy” so that Patriot could intercept incoming checks from Crude 

investors who had invested in Crude offerings, and deposit them into an account that Patriot and 
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Miller – and not Hallam – controlled.  Faulkner and Wagers then directed Miller, who was an 

officer and a managing member of Crude, to assign all of Crude’s interests to Patriot to allow 

operations to continue seamlessly without Hallam.  Patriot also became responsible for making 

ongoing expense payments for BOG’s and Crude’s prospects. 

136. Patriot ultimately took over Crude’s sales staff and Miller, on behalf of Patriot, 

signed a nearly identical, but equally as illusory, Administrative Services Agreement with BECC 

as the Crude ASA, albeit with significantly increased fees ($300,000 per month and $250,000 

per prospect) (the “Patriot ASA”).   

137. Since April 2015, Patriot has played Crude’s role, serving as BECC’s covert sales 

arm by engaging in unregistered offers and sales of oil-and-gas working interests in four 

different prospects – the Blue Wolf, the Thoroughbred, the Cole, and the Black Bear.     

138. Patriot utilized offering materials drafted, edited, or approved by Faulkner – but 

signed by and attributed to Miller – which included similar misrepresentations as those in 

Crude’s offering documents.  Miller, who led Patriot’s sales efforts and managed Patriot’s sales 

staff, never reviewed or edited Patriot’s CIMs even though he knew that the statements contained 

therein were attributed solely to him.     

139. Miller and the salespeople disseminated these materially misleading, Faulkner-

drafted offering materials to investors and used them in selling the Patriot prospects.  According 

to Patriot’s CIMs, company officers (specifically Miller) would offer and sell working interests 

to investors and would not receive transaction-based compensation.  Although Miller offered and 

sold these investments to investors, the sales staff received millions of dollars in transaction-

based compensation for their roles in the sales process.   
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140. As with BOG and Crude, Patriot generally solicited investors via cold calling and 

through internet advertisements, and received transaction-based compensation whenever they 

brought investors in the door.  Additionally, Patriot employees continued the pattern and practice 

implemented at BOG and continued at Crude to not independently verify the accreditation status 

of investors.   

141. Patriot also took over Crude’s role as the primary money source for BECC and 

Faulkner.  Handkins, who Faulkner transitioned from Crude to Patriot, continued managing 

investor lists and controlled Patriot’s bank accounts.  At Faulkner’s request and with Miller’s 

knowledge, Handkins continued the pattern established at Crude and transferred millions of 

dollars of Patriot investor funds to BECC without regard for any specific prospect expenditure.  

She also made more than $500,000 in Amex payments for Faulkner’s personal Amex cards, and 

more than $365,000 in additional payments to entities controlled by Faulkner.  Handkins 

continued this conduct until her resignation in March 2016.   

142. Meanwhile, BECC doubled down on its misrepresentations about the relationship 

between BECC and Crude by regurgitating similar falsehoods about its relationship with Patriot.  

In a May 1, 2015 Form 8-K signed by Faulkner, BECC disclosed the Patriot ASA and, similar to 

its disclosure about the Crude ASA, claimed that Patriot would pay BECC hundreds of 

thousands of dollars per month and per prospect.  As with Crude, these statements were 

misleading.  Patriot replaced Crude as BECC’s sales arm in or around March 2015, and Patriot’s 

operations – like Crude’s – were consolidated with BECC.  This consolidation created the 

misleading impression that Patriot could purchase services from, and generate millions of dollars 

in fees for, BECC.  The Form 8-K also claimed that Miller “controlled” Patriot, which was at 

best misleading given Faulkner’s control over Patriot’s operations and Faulkner’s drafting of 
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Patriot’s offering materials.  And BECC affirmed its purported “strategic relationship” with 

Patriot in a June 25, 2015 Form 8-K signed by Faulkner.   

143. Remarkably, although Patriot raised millions of dollars from investors at a 

significant premium to the operator-provided AFEs, the operators for the prospects never 

received sufficient funds to put any of the Patriot prospects into production status.  For example, 

investors sent Patriot approximately $3.3 million for its Thoroughbred offering.  According to 

the operator AFE for the prospect, it would take less than $1.3 million to complete the prospect.  

However, Patriot and BECC remitted only $760,000 in payments to the operator, the bare 

minimum to drill the prospect and comply with the Farmout Agreement’s continuous drilling 

provisions.  The rest of the investor funds were commingled with other Patriot investors’ funds 

and then used for expenses completely unrelated to the Thoroughbred.  Thus, despite raising 

millions of dollars more than the actual costs, neither Patriot nor BECC provided sufficient funds 

to complete the prospect and put it into production. 

144. And, in fact, because Patriot obtained funds from investors as a result of its 

fraudulent offerings, the compensation that Miller and Handkins received from Patriot was ill-

gotten.  Similarly, Wagers and Simo received compensation from BECC derived from the ill-

gotten investor funds obtained by Patriot and transferred to BECC. 

145. In April 2016, with money running out, BECC failed to comply with the 

continuous drilling provision of the Farmout Agreement.  As a result, multiple prospects have 

reverted back to the original landowner, leaving investors without any interests in the prospects 

in which they invested.  As previously discussed above, neither Crude nor Patriot (nor Hallam 

and Miller) disclosed the Farmout Agreement, the continuous drilling provisions contained 
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therein, or the risk that investors would lose their entire interest if these provisions were not 

satisfied. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Violations of the Antifraud Provisions of the Securities Act 
Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)] 

 
[against Defendants Christopher A. Faulkner, Parker Hallam,  

Dustin Michael Miller Rodriguez, Joseph Simo, 
Beth Handkins, Breitling Oil & Gas Corporation,  

Crude Energy, LLC, and Patriot Energy, Inc.] 
 

146. The Commission repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 145 of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth herein. 

147. By engaging in the conduct described herein, Faulkner, Hallam, Miller, Simo, 

Handkins, BOG, Crude, and Patriot, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, in the offer or 

sale of securities, by use of the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce or of the mails, 

knowingly or with severe recklessness, employed devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud. 

148. By engaging in the conduct described herein, Faulkner, Hallam, Miller, Simo, 

BOG, Crude, and Patriot, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, in the offer or sale of 

securities, by use of the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce or of the mails, and at 

least negligently, obtained money or property by means of untrue statements of material fact or 

omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

149. By engaging in the conduct described above, Faulkner, Hallam, Miller, Simo, 

Handkins, BOG, Crude, and Patriot, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, in the offer or 

sale of securities, by use of the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce or of the mails, 
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and at least negligently, engaged in transactions, practices, and/or courses of business which 

operate as a fraud or deceit upon purchasers, prospective purchasers, and other persons. 

150. By engaging in this conduct, Faulkner, Hallam, Miller, Simo, BOG, Crude, and 

Patriot violated, and unless enjoined will continue to violate, Sections 17(a)(1), 17(a)(2), and 

17(a)(3) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)]. 

151. By engaging in this conduct, Handkins violated, and unless enjoined will continue 

to violate, Sections 17(a)(1) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)(1) and 

77q(a)(3)] 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Violations of Antifraud Provisions of the Exchange Act 
Section 10(b) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] 

  
[against Defendants Christopher A. Faulkner, Breitling Energy Corporation,  

Jeremy Wagers, Judson F. “Rick” Hoover, Parker Hallam,  
Dustin Michael Miller Rodriguez, Joseph Simo, Beth Handkins,  

Breitling Oil & Gas Corporation, Crude Energy, LLC, and Patriot Energy, Inc; 
aiding-and-abetting by Defendant Gilbert Steedley] 

 
152. The Commission repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 145 of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth herein. 

153. By engaging in the foregoing misconduct, Faulkner, BECC, Wagers, Hoover, 

Hallam, Miller, Simo, BOG, Crude, and Patriot, in connection with the purchase or sale of 

securities, by use of means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce or of the mails, or of any 

facility of any national securities exchange, directly or indirectly: (i) employed devices, schemes, 

or artifices to defraud; (ii) made untrue statements of material facts and omitted to state material 

facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which 

they were made, not misleading; and (iii) engaged in acts, practices, and courses of business 

which operate as a fraud or deceit upon persons, including purchasers or sellers of securities. 
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154. By engaging in the foregoing misconduct, Handkins, in connection with the 

purchase or sale of securities, by use of means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce or of 

the mails, or of any facility of any national securities exchange, directly or indirectly: (i) 

employed devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud; and (iii) engaged in acts, practices, and 

courses of business which operate as a fraud or deceit upon persons, including purchasers or 

sellers of securities. 

155. Faulkner, BECC, Wagers, Hoover, Hallam, Miller, Simo, Handkins, BOG, Crude, 

and Patriot engaged in the above-referenced conduct knowingly or with severe recklessness. 

156. By engaging in the foregoing misconduct, Steedley knowingly or recklessly aided 

and abetted, pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act, Faulkner’s fraudulent and 

manipulative purchases of BECC stock, which by use of means or instrumentalities of interstate 

commerce or of the mails, or of any facility of any national securities exchange, directly or 

indirectly: (i) employed devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud; and (iii) engaged in acts, 

practices, and courses of business which operate as a fraud or deceit upon persons, including 

purchasers or sellers of securities. 

157. By engaging in this conduct, Faulkner, BECC, Wagers, Hoover, Hallam, Miller, 

Simo, BOG, Crude, and Patriot violated, and unless enjoined will continue to violate, Section 

10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rules 10b-5(a), 10b-5(b), and 10b-5(c) 

thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5]. 

158. By engaging in this conduct, Handkins violated, and unless enjoined will continue 

to violate, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rules 10b-5(a) and 10b-

5(c) thereunder [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5(a), 240.10b-5(c)]. 
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159. By engaging in this conduct, Steedley aided and abetted, and unless enjoined will 

continue to aid-and-abet, violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] 

and Rules 10b-5(a) and 10b-5(c) thereunder [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5(a), 240.10b-5(c)].   

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violations of the Securities Registration Provisions of the Securities Act 
Section 5 [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e] 

 
[against Defendants Christopher A. Faulkner, Parker Hallam,  

Dustin Michael Miller Rodriguez, Breitling Oil & Gas Corporation,  
Crude Energy, LLC, and Patriot Energy, Inc.] 

 
160. The Commission repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 145 of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth herein. 

161. By their conduct as alleged above, Faulkner, Hallam, Miller, BOG, Crude, and 

Patriot, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, (i) made use of the means or 

instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to sell, 

through the use or medium of written contracts, offering documents, or otherwise, securities as to 

which no registration statement was in effect; (ii) for the purpose of sale or delivery after sale, 

carried or caused to be carried through the mails or in interstate commerce, by any means or 

instruments of transportation, securities as to which no registration statement was in effect; or 

(iii) made use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate 

commerce or of the mails to offer to sell, through the use or medium of written contracts, 

offering documents, or otherwise, securities as to which no registration statement had been filed. 

162. By engaging in this conduct, Faulkner, Hallam, Miller, BOG, Crude, and Patriot 

have violated, and unless enjoined will continue to violate, Section 5 of the Securities Act [15 

U.S.C. § 77e]. 
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FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Violations of Reporting Provisions of the Exchange Act 
Section 13(a), and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11, 13a-13 

 [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a) and 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a-11, and 240.13a-13 ] 
 

[against Defendant Breitling Energy Corporation; aided-and-abetted by  
Defendants Christopher Faulkner, Jeremy Wagers, and Judson F. “Rick” Hoover] 

 
163. The Commission repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 145 of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth herein. 

164. By engaging in the foregoing misconduct, BECC, whose securities are registered 

pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78l], failed to file annual, quarterly, and 

periodic reports (on Forms 10-K, 10-Q, and 8-K) with the Commission that were true and 

correct, and failed to include material information in its required statements and reports as was 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were 

made, not misleading. 

165. By engaging in the foregoing misconduct, BECC violated, and unless enjoined 

will continue to violate, Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11, and 

13a-13 thereunder [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a-11, and 240.13a-13]. 

166. Faulkner, Wagers, and Hoover, pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act, 

knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to BECC in its violations of Section 

13(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11, and 13a-13 thereunder [17 C.F.R. 

§§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a-11, and 240.13a-13]. 

167. By reason of the foregoing, Faulkner, Wagers, and Hoover aided and abetted 

BECC’s violations, and unless enjoined will continue to aid and abet such violations, of Section 

13(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11, and 13a-13 

[17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a-11, and 240.13a-13]. 
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FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Violations of the Books and Records and Internal Controls Provisions of the Exchange Act 
Section 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] 

 
[against Defendant Breitling Energy Corporation; aided-and-abetted by 

Defendants Christopher Faulkner, Jeremy Wagers, and Judson F. “Rick” Hoover] 
 

168. The Commission repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 145 of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth herein. 

169. By engaging in the foregoing misconduct, BECC, whose securities were 

registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78l]: 

a. failed to make and keep books, records, and accounts, which, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflected the transactions and 
disposition of its assets; and 

 
b. failed to devise and maintain a system of internal controls sufficient to 

provide reasonable assurances that: (i) transactions were recorded as 
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
GAAP or any other criteria applicable to such statements, and (ii) to 
maintain accountability of assets. 

 
170. By engaging in the foregoing misconduct, BECC violated and, unless enjoined, 

will continue to violate Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 

78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)]. 

171. Faulkner, Wagers, and Hoover knowingly or recklessly provided substantial 

assistance to Defendant BECC in its failure to make and keep books, records, and accounts 

which, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflected the transactions and dispositions of the 

assets of Defendant BECC. 

172. By reason of the foregoing, Faulkner, Wagers, and Hoover aided and abetted, 

pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act, BECC’s violations, and unless enjoined will 
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continue to aid and abet such violations, of Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 

§ 78m(b)(2)(A)]. 

173. Faulkner, Wagers, and Hoover knowingly or recklessly provided substantial 

assistance to Defendant BECC in its failure to devise and maintain a sufficient system of internal 

accounting controls. 

174. By reason of the foregoing, Faulkner, Wagers, and Hoover aided and abetted, 

pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act, BECC’s violations, and unless enjoined will 

continue to aid and abet such violations, of Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 

§ 78m(b)(2)(B)].   

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Circumventing or Failing to Implement Internal Controls under Exchange Act 
 

Section 13(b)(5) [15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(5)]  
[against Defendant Christopher Faulkner] 

 
Rule 13b2-1 [17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1] 

[against Defendants Christopher Faulkner, Jeremy Wagers, and Judson F. “Rick” Hoover] 
 

175. The Commission repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 145 of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth herein. 

176. By engaging in the foregoing misconduct, Faulkner violated and, unless enjoined, 

will continue to violate Section 13(b)(5) [15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(5)] of the Exchange Act by, 

directly or indirectly: (i) knowingly circumventing or knowingly failing to implement a system 

of internal accounting controls, or (ii) knowingly falsifying the books, records, or accounts of 

Defendant BECC, subject to Section 13(b)(2) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)]. 

177. By engaging in the foregoing misconduct, Faulkner, Wagers, and Hoover 

violated, and unless enjoined will continue to violate, Rule 13b2-1 of the Exchange Act [17 
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C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1] by, directly or indirectly, falsifying or causing to be falsified, the books, 

records, or accounts of Defendant BECC, subject to Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 

U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A)]. 

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Misrepresentations and Misconduct in Connection with 
the Preparation of Required Reports 

Exchange Act Rule 13b2-2 [17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-2] 
 

[against Defendants Christopher Faulkner, Jeremy Wagers, and Judson F. “Rick” Hoover] 

178. The Commission repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 145 of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth herein. 

179. By engaging in the foregoing misconduct, Faulkner, Wagers, and Hoover, officers 

of BECC, violated Exchange Act Rule 13b2-2(a) [17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-2(a)] by, directly or 

indirectly, making, or causing to be made, materially false or misleading statements, or omitting 

to state, or causing another person to omit to state, material facts necessary in order to make 

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 

misleading, to an accountant in connection with (i) an audit, review, or examination of the 

financial statements of Defendant required to be made pursuant to Commission rules, or (ii) the 

preparation or filing of documents or reports required to be filed with the Commission. 

180. By engaging in the foregoing misconduct, Faulkner, Wagers, and Hoover, officers 

of BECC, violated Exchange Act Rule 13b2-2(b) [17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-2(b)] by directly or 

indirectly taking action, or directing another to take action, to coerce, manipulate, mislead, or 

fraudulently influence an independent public or certified public accountant engaged in the 

performance of an audit or review of the financial statements of BECC required to be filed with 
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the Commission while they knew or should have known that such action(s), if successful, could 

result in rendering BECC’s financial statements materially misleading. 

181. As a result of their conduct, Faulkner, Wagers, and Hoover violated, and unless 

enjoined will continue to violate, Exchange Act Rule 13b2-2 [17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-2]. 

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Violations of Certification Rules of the Exchange Act 
Exchange Act Rule 13a-14 [17 C.F.R. § 240.13a-14] 

 
[against Defendants Christopher Faulkner and Judson F. “Rick” Hoover] 

182. The Commission repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 145 of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth herein. 

183. On the following dates, acting under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 

2002 and Exchange Act Rule 13a-14, Faulkner and Hoover certified Forms 10-K and 10-Q on 

behalf of BECC: March 31, 2014 (2013 Form 10-K), May 14, 2014 (Form 10-Q for Q1-2014), 

August 13, 2014 (10-Q for Q2-2014), and November 13, 2014 (10-Q for Q3-2014). 

184. Specifically, Faulkner and Hoover certified that they had reviewed these reports 

and that, based on their respective knowledge, the reports did not contain any untrue statements 

of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light 

of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and, based on their 

knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in the reports, fairly 

presented in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of 

BECC of, and for, the periods presented in the reports.  

185. At the time that Faulkner and Hoover issued these certifications they knew or 

were severely reckless in not knowing that the reports they certified contained untrue statements 
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of material facts and/or omitted to state material facts necessary to make the statements made 

therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

186. By reason of the foregoing, Faulkner and Hoover violated, and unless enjoined 

will continue to violate, Exchange Act Rule 13a-14 [17 C.F.R. § 240.13a-14] promulgated under 

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Proxy Violations of the Exchange Act 
Section 14(a) and Rule 14a-9 [15 U.S.C. § 78n(a) and 17 C.F.R. § 240.14a-9] 

 
[against Defendants Breitling Energy Corporation and Jeremy Wagers] 

187. The Commission repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 145 of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth herein. 

188. On April 30, 2014, BECC filed a definitive proxy statement that contained 

representations or disclosures which, at the time and in light of the circumstances in which they 

were made, were false and misleading with respect to material facts, or omitted to state material 

facts necessary in order to make the representations or disclosures not false or misleading or 

necessary to correct statements which were false or misleading.  Wagers signed the proxy 

statement and knew or should have known that the proxy statement contained representations or 

disclosures which, at the time and in light of the circumstances in which they were made, were 

false and misleading with respect to material facts, or omitted to state material facts necessary in 

order to make the representations or disclosures not false or misleading or necessary to correct 

statements which were false or misleading. 

189. By engaging in the foregoing misconduct, BECC, directly or indirectly, by use of 

the mails or the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce or of any facility of a national 

securities exchange or otherwise, solicited or permitted the use of its name to solicit proxies, 
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consents, authorizations, or notices of meetings with respect to securities issued by BECC and 

registered with the Commission, in contravention with Rule 14a-9 of the Exchange Act, which 

prohibits solicitation of proxies with proxy statements that contain any false or misleading 

statement as to any material fact, or that omit any material fact necessary to make the statements 

made not false or misleading, in violation of Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 14a-9 

thereunder.   

190. By engaging in the foregoing misconduct, Wagers, directly or indirectly, by use 

of the mails or the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce or of any facility of a 

national securities exchange or otherwise, solicited or permitted the use of his name to solicit 

proxies, consents, authorizations, or notices of meetings with respect to securities issued by 

BECC and registered with the Commission, in contravention with Rule 14a-9 of the Exchange 

Act, which prohibits solicitation of proxies with proxy statements that contain any false or 

misleading statement as to any material fact, or that omit any material fact necessary to make the 

statements made not false or misleading, in violation of Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act and 

Rule 14a-9 thereunder. 

191. By reason of the foregoing, BECC and Wagers have violated, and unless enjoined 

will continue to violate, Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78n(a)] and Rule 14a-9 

[17 C.F.R. § 240.14a-19]. 
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TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Violation of the Beneficial Ownership Reporting Requirements of the Exchange Act 
Section 16(a) and Rule 16a-3 [15 U.S.C. § 78p(a) and 17 C.F.R. § 240.16a-3] 

 
[against Defendant Christopher Faulkner] 

192. The Commission repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 145 of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth herein. 

193. The common stock of BECC is registered with the Commission under Section 

12(g) of the Exchange Act and is quoted on the OTC Link, operated by OTC Markets Group, 

Inc.   

194. During all relevant time periods, Faulkner, directly or indirectly, beneficially 

owned more than 10 percent of the issued and outstanding shares of stock in BECC, and met the 

definition of a “person” as defined in Rule 16(a)(1) of the Exchange Act [17 C.F.R. § 240.16a-1] 

as to trading in BECC securities.  

195. Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78p(a)] mandates that officers, 

directors, and persons that directly or indirectly beneficially own more than 10 percent of any 

class of any registered security periodically file statements with the Commission regarding 

changes in their ownership of that security. 

196. Faulkner, directly or indirectly, beneficially owned more than 10 percent of the 

issued and outstanding shares of stock in BECC. 

197. Faulkner was required to file Forms 4 with the Commission when there was a 

change in his beneficial ownership of BECC stock during a month.     

198. By engaging in the conduct described above, Faulkner did not file statements with 

the Commission to report changes in his direct or indirect beneficial ownership of BECC stock, 

as required by Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 16a-3 thereunder.    
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199. By engaging in the conduct described above, Faulkner violated, and unless 

enjoined will continue to violate, Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78p(a)] and 

Rule 16a-3 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.16a-3].   

ELEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Equitable claim against Relief Defendants  
[against Relief Defendants Tamra M. Freedman and Jetmir Ahmedi] 

 
200. The Commission repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 145 of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth herein. 

201. Tamra M. Freedman and Jetmir Ahmedi, directly or indirectly, received funds or 

benefitted from the use of funds, which are proceeds of the unlawful activity alleged above.  

They obtained funds and property, directly or indirectly, from Faulkner that were obtained by 

him as a result of the securities law violations described herein. 

202. Freedman and Ahmedi have no legitimate claims to such funds received, or from 

which they otherwise benefitted from, directly or indirectly. 

203. The Commission is entitled to an order, pursuant to common law equitable 

principles – such as disgorgement, unjust enrichment, and constructive trust – and pursuant to 

Section 21(d)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(5)], requiring Freedman and Ahmedi 

to disgorge all of the proceeds they received, either directly or indirectly, from Faulkner that he 

derived from the illegal activities described above. 

204. As a result of the conduct described above, Defendants Freedman and Ahmedi 

should disgorge their ill-gotten gains, plus prejudgment interest thereon. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 For these reasons, the Commission respectfully asks the Court to enter a final judgment: 

1. permanently enjoining Christopher A. Faulkner from:  
 

a. violating Sections 5 and 17(a) of the Securities Act and Sections 10(b), 
13(b)(5), and 16(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules 10b-5, 13a-14, 13b2-1, 
13b2-2, and 16a-3 thereunder, and from aiding-and-abetting violations of 
Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A), and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act and 
Rules 13a-1, 13a-11, 13a-13, and 12b-20 thereunder; and  
 

b. participating, directly or indirectly, including, but not limited to, through 
any entity owned or controlled by him, in the issuance, purchase, offer, or 
sale of any unregistered securities, provided however that such injunction 
shall not prevent him from purchasing or selling securities for his own 
personal account. 

 
2. permanently enjoining Breitling Energy Corporation from violating Sections 

10(b), 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A), 13(b)(2)(B), and 14(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules 
10b-5, 13a-1, 13a-11, 13a-13, 12b-20, and 14a-9 thereunder. 

 
3. permanently enjoining Jeremy S. Wagers from:  
 

a. violating Sections 10(b) and 14(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules 10b-5, 
13b2-1, 13b2-2, and 14a-9 thereunder, and from aiding-and-abetting 
violations of Section 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A), and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange 
Act and Rules 13a-1, 13a-11, 13a-13, and 12b-20 thereunder; and 
 

b. participating, directly or indirectly, including, but not limited to, through 
any entity owned or controlled by him, in the issuance, purchase, offer, or 
sale of any unregistered securities, provided however that such injunction 
shall not prevent him from purchasing or selling securities for his own 
personal account. 

 
4. permanently enjoining Judson F. “Rick” Hoover from violating Section 10(b) of 

the Exchange Act and Rules 10b-5, 13a-14, 13b2-1, and 13b2-2 thereunder, and 
from aiding-and-abetting violations of Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A), and 
13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act and Rules 13a-1, 13a-11, 13a-13, and 12b-20 
thereunder. 

 
5. permanently enjoining Parker R. Hallam from:  
 

a. violating Sections 5 and 17(a) of the Securities Act and Section 10(b) of 
the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder; and 
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b. participating, directly or indirectly, including, but not limited to, through 
any entity owned or controlled by him, in the issuance, purchase, offer, or 
sale of any unregistered securities, provided however that such injunction 
shall not prevent him from purchasing or selling securities for his own 
personal account. 

 
6. permanently enjoining Joseph Simo from violating Section 17(a) of the Securities 

Act and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rules 10b-5 thereunder. 
 
7. permanently enjoining Dustin Michael Miller Rodriguez from: 
 

a. violating Sections 5 and 17(a) of the Securities Act and Section 10(b) of 
the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder; and 
 

b. participating, directly or indirectly, including, but not limited to, through 
any entity owned or controlled by him, in the issuance, purchase, offer, or 
sale of any unregistered securities, provided however that such injunction 
shall not prevent him from purchasing or selling securities for his own 
personal account. 

 
8. permanently enjoining Beth Handkins from violating Sections 17(a)(1) and 

17(a)(3) of the Securities Act and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rules 
10b-5(a) and 10b-5(c) thereunder. 

 
9. permanently enjoining Gilbert Steedley from violating Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act and Rules 10b-5(a) and 10b5-(c) thereunder. 
 
10. permanently enjoining Breitling Oil & Gas Corporation from violating Sections 5 

and 17(a) of the Securities Act and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 
10b-5 thereunder. 

 
11. permanently enjoining Crude Energy, LLC from violating Sections 5 and 17(a) of 

the Securities Act and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 
thereunder. 

 
12. permanently enjoining Patriot Energy, Inc. from violating Sections 5 and 17(a) of 

the Securities Act and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 
thereunder. 

 
13. ordering all the Defendants and Relief Defendants to disgorge ill-gotten gains and 

benefits obtained or to which they were not otherwise entitled, as a result of the 
violations alleged herein, plus prejudgment interest on those amounts; 
 

14. ordering all the Defendants to pay civil penalties under Section 20(d) of the 
Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act [15 
U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)]; 

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 22   Filed 08/11/16    Page 64 of 65   PageID 243

234

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 303   Filed 08/20/18    Page 242 of 289   PageID 9201



15. ordering that Faulkner, Wagers, Hoover, Hallam, Miller, and Handkins are barred,
pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(e)] and Section
21(d)(2) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(2)], from serving as an officer
or director of any issuer that has a class of securities registered pursuant to
Section 12 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 781], or that is required to file
reports pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78o(d)];

16. ordering that Faulkner is barred, pursuant to Section 20(g)(1) of the Securities Act
[15 U.S.C. § 77t(g)(l)] and Section 21(d)(6) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §
78u(d)(6)], from participating in any offering of a penny stock; and

17. granting such additional relief as the Court deems just, appropriate, and equitable.

DATED: August 2016

SECv. Christopher A. Faulkner, et al.
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT

Respectfully submitted,

B. DAVID FRASER

Lead Attorney
Texas Bar No. 24012654

SCOTT MASCIANICA

Texas Bar No. 24072222

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Burnett Plaza, Suite 1900
801 Cherry St., Unit #18
Fort Worth, TX 76102-6882
(817)978-1409
(817) 978-4927 (fax)
FraserB@sec.gov
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From: Brian Lauten <blauten@brianlauten.com>
Sent: Tuesday, July 17, 2018 12:38 PM
To: Zaccaro, Thomas A.; Morgan, Nicolas
Cc: Michelle Logan
Subject: [EXT] Supplemental Production 1122-1203 Attached
Attachments: JINSUN 1122 - 1203 Detention Brief.pdf

Importance: High

Attached.  Thanks. 

Brian P. Lauten, Esq. 

Brian Lauten, P.C. 

3811 Turtle Creek Blvd. 

Suite 1450 

Dallas, Texas 75219 

214-414-0996 (o)

214-734-6370 (c)

blauten@brianlauten.com

www.brianlauten.com
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               IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

DALLAS DIVISION

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE   §
COMMISSION,   §

  §
Plaintiff,   §

  §  Civil Action No. 3:16-CV-1735-D
VS.   §

  §
CHRISTOPHER A. FAULKNER, et al.,   §

  §
Defendants.   §

MEMORANDUM OPINION
           AND ORDER           

The court-appointed temporary receiver (“Receiver”) moves to hold defendants

Christopher A. Faulkner (“Faulkner”), Breitling Oil & Gas Corporation (“BOG”), and

Breitling Energy Corporation (“BECC”), and nonparties Carole Faulkner, Esquire (“Carole”)

(Faulkner’s mother), Breitling Royalties Corporation (“BRC”),1 and U.S. Property

Investments, Inc. (“USPI”) in civil contempt for violating three court orders: the August 14,

2017 order appointing a temporary receiver (“August 14 Receivership Order”), the August

14, 2017 order freezing defendants’ assets (“August 14 Asset Freeze Order”) (collectively,

the “August 14 Orders”), and the September 25, 2017 order appointing a temporary receiver

(“September 25 Receivership Order”).  Following an evidentiary hearing, the court finds by

clear and convincing evidence that Faulkner violated the August 14 Orders and the

September 25 Receivership Order; that BECC and BOG violated the August 14 Orders; that

1BRC is referred to in the court’s show cause orders as “Breitling Royalty
Corporation.”
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BRC knowingly aided and abetted Faulkner in violating the August 14 Orders; and that

Carole and USPI knowingly aided and abetted Faulkner in violating the September 25

Receivership Order.  The court therefore holds Faulkner, BECC, BOG, Carole, BRC, and

USPI (collectively, “respondents,” unless the context otherwise requires) in civil contempt

to the extent set forth in this memorandum opinion and order and otherwise denies the

Receiver’s motions.

I

In 2016 the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filed this lawsuit

against Faulkner, BECC, Jeremy S. Wagers, Judson F. Hoover, Parker R. Hallam

(“Hallam”), Joseph Simo, Dustin Michael Miller Rodriguez (“Miller”), Beth C. Handkins,

Gilbert Steedley, BOG, Crude Energy, LLC (“Crude”), and Patriot Energy, Inc. (“Patriot”).2 

The SEC alleges that, since 2011, Faulkner and his codefendants have orchestrated a massive

scheme to defraud investors in Faulkner’s oil and gas companies of approximately $80

million.  According to the SEC, in carrying out this scheme, Faulkner and other defendants

violated § 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, § 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934, and SEC Rule 10b-5, promulgated thereunder.  BRC—a corporation that the SEC

alleges Faulkner, Hallam, and Miller each own one-third apiece—is designated as a “Related

Entity” in the complaint and first amended complaint.

In 2017 the SEC filed a motion for a preliminary injunction, ex parte temporary

2The SEC also sued Tamra M. Freedman and Jetmir Ahmedi as relief defendants.

- 2 -
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restraining order, asset freeze, appointment of a receiver to conserve the assets of Faulkner,

BECC, and BOG (collectively, the “Receivership Defendants”), and other ancillary relief

(including a sworn accounting, document preservation, and expedited discovery).  The SEC

alleged that, after it filed suit, the Receivership Defendants continued to defraud investors

out of an additional $110,000 in oil and gas production revenues.  On August 14, 2017 the

court entered the August 14 Orders, appointing a temporary receiver and granting a

temporary restraining order and asset freeze order.  The court allowed the parties to submit

additional briefing regarding the remaining relief that the SEC requested.

The August 14 Orders pertained to the Receivership Assets, which at the time were

limited to

all oil-and-gas related assets—in any form or of any kind
whatsoever—owned controlled, possessed, or managed, directly
or indirectly, by Defendants Christopher A. Faulkner, [BOG],
and [BECC], including all oil-and-gas related revenue from oil-
and-gas operators or others payable to any of the Receivership
Defendants, and all oil-and-gas assets held in the name of any
of the Receivership Defendants.

Aug. 14 Receivership Order at 1-2.  Under these orders, all Receivership Assets were

“frozen until further order of this Court,” and “all persons and entities with direct or indirect

control over any of the Receivership Assets, other than the Receiver, [were] hereby

restrained and enjoined from directly transferring, . . . secreting, diverting, [or] rerouting . . .

such assets.”  Id. at 2.  The August 14 Receivership Order further directed all persons and

entities with control of the Receivership Assets to turn over all such assets and related books,

- 3 -
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records, and accounts.  Id. at 4.  The August 14 Orders also allowed the Receiver to take

possession of the Receivership Defendants’ private mailbox located in Colleyville, Texas

(the “Colleyville Mailbox”), and barred the Receivership Defendants from “open[ing] a new

mailbox, or tak[ing] any steps . . . to receive mail in contravention of this Order.”  Id. at 5-6.

On September 5, 2017 the Receiver filed his first motion to show cause, seeking to

hold the Receivership Defendants and nonparties Carole and BRC in civil contempt for

violating the August 14 Orders.  The Receiver lists two groups of violations.  He first alleges

that the Receivership Defendants and Carole deliberately concealed attempts—before and

after entry of the August 14 Orders—to direct Receivership Defendants’ mail away from the

Colleyville Mailbox to a different private mailbox located in Grapevine, Texas (the

“Grapevine Mailbox”).  The Receiver alleges that this conduct violated the August 14

Orders’ asset freeze, mail, and interference provisions.  He also maintains that the

Receivership Defendants failed to turn over the oil and gas related assets of BRC, failed to

make corporate representatives available for an interview with the Receiver, and failed to

turn over mail addressed to the Receivership Defendants.  The Receiver alleges that this

conduct violated August 14 Orders’ cooperation, mail, and turn over provisions.  The court

entered a show cause order on September 6, 2017.

On September 25, 2017, after all parties had the opportunity to submit briefing on the

SEC’s additional requested relief, the court issued the September 25 Receivership Order. 

This order expands the scope of Receivership Assets from only those related to oil and gas

- 4 -
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activities to “all assets—in any form or of any kind whatsoever—owned, controlled,

managed, or possessed by [the Receivership Defendants], directly or indirectly.”  Sept. 25

Receivership Order at 1.  The Receivership Estate collectively consists of 

all Receivership Assets, including, but not limited to, monies,
funds, securities, credits, effects, goods, chattels, lands,
premises, leases, claims, rights, and other assets, together with
all rents, profits, dividends, interest, or other income attributable
thereto, of whatever kinds, that the Receivership Defendants
own, possess, have a beneficial interest in, or control directly or
indirectly.

Id. at 3.  The September 25 Receivership Order

restrained and enjoined [all persons with direct or indirect
control over any Receivership Assets receiving notice of the
order] from directly or indirectly taking any action . . . that
would . . . A. interfere with the Receiver’s efforts to take
control, possession or management of any Receivership Assets;
. . . B. hinder, obstruct or otherwise interfere with the Receiver
in the performance of his duties; . . . or, D. interfere with or
harass the Receiver . . . .

Id. at 2-3.

On October 22, 2017 the Receiver moved to amend the court’s prior order to show

cause, now alleging that Faulkner and Carole should be held in civil contempt for violating

the September 25 Receivership Order.  The Receiver contends that Faulkner and Carole have

taken numerous actions to conceal the sum of $210,000 from the Receiver.  The Receiver

maintains that this money represents part of the proceeds from Faulkner’s sale of a

technology company—RackAlley, LLC (“RackAlley”)—of which he was a partial owner.

The court entered a second show cause order on October 23, 2017.

- 5 -
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On November 30, 2017 the Receiver again moved to amend the court’s prior order

to show cause.  He alleged that, in addition to the aforementioned conduct, Carole and an

additional nonparty, USPI, filed a lawsuit against the Receiver in California state court

without leave of this court.  The Receiver contends that this violates the September 25

Receivership Order and that Carole and USPI should be held in civil contempt.

Respondents oppose the Receiver’s motion and amended motions.  The court has

conducted an evidentiary hearing and now enters its ruling.

II

To prove that Faulkner, BECC, and BOG should be held in civil contempt, the

Receiver “must establish by clear and convincing evidence that (1) a court order was in

effect, (2) the order required specified conduct by the respondent, and (3) the respondent

failed to comply with the court’s order.”  United States v. City of Jackson, Miss., 359 F.3d

727, 731 (5th Cir. 2004).  “The contemptuous actions need not be willful so long as the

contemnor actually failed to comply with the court’s order.”  Am. Airlines, Inc. v. Allied

Pilots Ass’n, 228 F.3d 574, 581 (5th Cir. 2000) (citing NLRB v. Trailways, Inc., 1013, 1017

(5th Cir. 1984)).  “‘[I]n civil contempt proceedings the question is not one of intent but

whether the alleged contemnors have complied with the court’s order.’” Jim Walter Res.,

Inc. v. Int’l Union, United Mine Workers of Am., 609 F.2d 165, 168 (5th Cir. 1980) (quoting

United States v. Ross, 243 F. Supp. 496, 499 (S.D.N.Y. 1965)).  “Good faith is not a defense

to a civil contempt; the question is whether the alleged contemnor complied with the court’s

- 6 -
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order.”  Chao v. Transocean Offshore, 276 F.3d 725, 728 (5th Cir. 2002).  These principles

of intent apply to Faulkner, BECC, and BOG, as defendants in this action, but not to Carole,

BRC, and USPI, who are nonparties.  Nonparties may also be held in civil contempt, but

they must act with actual notice of the court’s order and knowingly aid and abet another in

violating the order.  See NLRB v. Laborers’ Int’l Union of N. Am., AFL-CIO, 882 F.2d 949,

954 (5th Cir. 1989); Waffenschmidt v. Mackay, 763 F.2d 711, 714 (5th Cir. 1985). “Although

good faith is not a defense to a civil contempt order, good faith is relevant to whether a non-

party knowingly aided or abetted another in violating a court order.”  Whitcraft v. Brown,

570 F.3d 268, 272 (5th Cir. 2009) (citing Waffenschmidt, 763 F.2d at 726).

In the contempt context, “clear and convincing evidence” is 

that weight of proof which produces in the mind of the trier of
fact a firm belief or conviction as to the truth of the allegations
ought to be established, evidence so clear, direct, weighty and
convincing as to enable the fact finder to come to a clear
conviction, without hesitancy, of the truth of the precise facts of
the case.

Travelhost, Inc. v. Blandford, 68 F.3d 958, 961 (5th Cir. 1995) (internal quotation marks

omitted) (quoting In re Medrano, 956 F.2d 101, 102 (5th Cir. 1992) (adopting in contempt

context definition of clear and convincing evidence used in attorney disbarment proceeding).

- 7 -
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III

The court begins by examining the alleged conduct surrounding the Colleyville and

Grapevine mailboxes.

A

The Receiver maintains that Faulkner, BECC, BOG, and Carole deliberately

concealed the fact that, before the August 14 Orders were entered, they had effected changes

of addresses for the Receivership Defendants’ mail from the Colleyville Mailbox to the

Grapevine Mailbox; that Faulkner and BRC effected a change of address after the August

14 Orders were entered for oil and gas payments to BRC; and that Carole attempted to access

the Grapevine Mailbox and mail related to the Receivership Assets after the August 14

Orders were entered and the Receiver made multiple demands to turn over Receivership

Assets and records related to BRC.  The Receiver contends that this conduct violated the

asset freeze, mail, and interference provisions of the August 14 Orders.

Respondents contend that their conduct does not warrant holding them in contempt. 

They posit that the August 14 Orders are vague as to whether they apply to BRC and BRC’s

assets.  Faulkner maintains that because the August 14 Orders are not clear and

unambiguous, he cannot be held in contempt for diverting BRC’s mail.  Similarly, Carole

asserts that she interpreted the August 14 Orders to not apply to BRC or its assets.  She

contends that, because her interpretation was made in good faith, she cannot be held in

contempt.

- 8 -
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B

The Asset Freeze Provision of the August 14 Orders states that “all Receivership

Assets are frozen until further order of this Court.”  Aug. 14 Receivership Order at 2.3  This

provision enjoins anyone with direct or indirect control over such assets from “receiving,

changing selling, pledging, assigning, secreting, diverting, rerouting, liquidating, or

otherwise disposing of or withdrawing such assets,” and directs that they “relinquish such

possession, custody, or control to the Receiver.”  Id.  The Asset Freeze specifically includes

“oil-and-gas production revenue checks or proceeds in the possession or control of any of

the Receivership defendants.”  Id. at 2-3.

The August 14 Orders also authorize the Receiver “to take immediate possession,

custody and control of [the Colleyville Mailbox] and all other private mail boxes and post-

office boxes that have received oil-and-gas revenue in the name, on behalf, or for the benefit

of any of the Receivership Defendants since April 1, 2016.”  Id. at 5.  The Receiver is further

authorized to open all mail received by these mailboxes.  Id.  The August 14 Orders instruct

3The August 14 Orders define Receivership Assets as

all oil-and-gas related assets—in any form or of any kind
whatsoever—owned controlled, possessed, or managed, directly
or indirectly, by Defendants [Faulkner], [BOG], and [BECC],
including all oil-and-gas related revenue from oil-and-gas
operators or other payable to any of the Receivership
Defendants, and all oil-and-gas assets held in the name of any of
the Receivership Defendants.

Aug. 14 Receivership Order at 1-2. 

- 9 -
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that the “Receivership Defendants shall not open a new mailbox, or take any steps or make

any arrangements to receive mail in contravention of this Order.”  Id. at 6.

The Interference provisions of the August 14 Orders prohibit the Receivership

Defendants and all persons receiving notice of the order from “interfer[ing] with the

Receiver’s efforts to take control, possession, or management of any Receivership Assets”;

“destroying or altering records or information”; or “interfer[ing] with or harrass[ing] the

Receiver.”  Id. at 7-8.

C 

The court first addresses Faulkner’s conduct.4  The evidence presented at the hearing

establishes that, after the court entered the August 14 Orders, Faulkner attempted to change

the address at which BRC would receive oil and gas revenues.  The day after the court

entered the August 14 Orders, Faulkner emailed change of address forms to an oil and gas

producer, Chesapeake Energy (“Chesapeake”).  That same day, he also mailed these forms

to Chesapeake’s Revenue Distribution Department.  These forms changed the

“Check/Revenue Address” for BRC from the Colleyville Mailbox to the Grapevine Mailbox. 

Patrick Craine, Esquire, Chesapeake’s Deputy General Counsel and Chief Risk and

Compliance Officer, testified that Chesapeake provides these forms to its business partners

when an oil well comes into production.

4Although the Receiver also seeks to hold BOG, BECC, BRC, and USPI in contempt,
all of his allegations center around the conduct of Faulkner and Carole.  Therefore, the court
will organize its analysis throughout this memorandum and opinion accordingly.

- 10 -
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The evidence also shows that BRC, as a company, held oil and gas related assets

beyond those associated with Chesapeake.  The mail seized by the Receiver from the

Grapevine Mailbox included correspondence from oil and gas companies addressed to BRC. 

See R. Ex. 20 at 3 (letter from Texland Petroleum, L.P. addressed to “Breitling Royalties

Corp”).  Moreover, Rodney Sowards (“Sowards”) of Veritas Advisory Group testified

regarding the relationship of the companies owned or controlled by Faulkner.  According to

Sowards, his firm identified over 500 money transfers among BECC, BOG, Patriot, Crude,

and BRC.  See R. Ex. 62; Hrg. Tr. 108-09.  BECC and BOG—both of whom are

Receivership Defendants—received $42 million from BRC over this five-year period, while

BRC received $12.8 million in transfers from BECC and BOG.  R. Ex. 62.  Faulkner does

not contest that BECC and BOG represent oil and gas assets.  Faulkner does note, however,

that these records end in February 2016, and that there are no records of any such

transactions thereafter among BECC, BOG, and BRC.  Although this is true, it is of limited

significance.  The absence of records after February 2016 is in part due to Faulkner’s failure

to produce any BECC or BOG documents from April 2016 onward.5  Moreover, these

financial records demonstrate nonetheless a longstanding pattern of BRC’s control over oil

and gas revenue—a pattern corroborated by Faulkner’s attempt to redirect BRC’s oil and gas

revenue checks from Chesapeake. 

The hearing evidence further shows that BRC was controlled by Faulkner, a

5The court addresses this conduct infra at § IV.
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Receivership Defendant, and that Faulkner acted as BRC’s owner in attempting to forward

its mail to the Grapevine Mailbox.  Although not indicated on BRC’s corporate

documentation, Faulkner’s former business partner (Hallam) testified that “Faulkner was the

director” of BRC.  Hrg. Tr. 24.  He also testified that Faulkner was an owner of BOG,

BECC, and BRC.  Id. at 29-30.  Another business partner (Miller) testified that Faulkner was

a part-owner of BRC and managed the company’s operations and finances on a day-to-day

basis.  Id. at 33.  Similarly, Faulkner publicly displayed his control over BRC.  In each of his

emails to Chesapeake changing the address of BRC, Faulkner’s signature reads “Chris

Faulkner CEO Breitling Royalties.” See R. Ex. 46, 47.  The cover letter accompanying the

letter Faulkner mailed is written on BRC letterhead and signed “Chris Faulkner CEO.”  R.

Ex. 49.  Thus Faulkner controlled BRC, a company that held oil and gas related assets, and

attempted to divert these assets to a mailbox that was at the time unknown to the Receiver.

Faulkner contends, that regardless of these facts, the August 14 orders are ambiguous

as to whether they apply to BRC.6  The court disagrees.  Although Faulkner is correct that

the August 14 Orders do not name BRC specifically, the order’s language makes clear that

at least some of BRC’s assets fall within its scope.  The August 14 Orders cover “all oil and

gas related assets—in any form or of any kind whatsoever” directly or indirectly owned,

6Faulkner also argues that the September 25 Receivership Order’s expansion of scope
demonstrates that the August 14 Orders’ scope was inherently ambiguous.  This is also
incorrect.  The broad scope of the September 25 Receivership Order’s is an intentional
response to the Receivership Defendants’ alleged conduct, as set out in the Receiver’s
briefing, not merely an attempt to eliminate ambiguities in the August 14 Orders.
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controlled, or managed by Faulkner, BECC, or BOG.  Aug. 14 Receivership Order at 1-2. 

As the foregoing facts demonstrate, BRC was both controlled by Faulkner and receiving oil

and gas related assets from Chesapeake.  Therefore, these funds were Receivership Assets,

and under the clear terms of the August 14 Orders, Receiver had access to any mailbox to

which the funds were sent.  Rather than direct the proceeds to the Receiver, as the August

14 Orders require, Faulkner attempted to divert them to a mailbox that the Receiver had yet

to discover.  

The court therefore finds by clear and convincing evidence that Faulkner violated the

August 14 Orders.  Because Faulkner had notice of the August 14 Orders as a Receivership

Defendant, and was acting in his capacity as an agent of BRC, the court also finds by clear

and convincing evidence that BRC knowingly aided and abetted Faulkner in violating the

August 14 Orders.  Therefore, the court holds Faulkner and BRC in civil contempt for this

conduct. 

D

The court next turns to the evidence regarding Carole’s mailbox-related conduct.  At

the time the court entered the August 14 Orders, Carole was the attorney of record for BRC,

BECC, and BOG.  See R. Ex. 11; R. Ex. 15.  In July 2017 Carole mailed Permanent Change

of Address Orders to the U.S. Postal Service (“USPS”) for both BECC and BOG, redirecting

their mail from the Colleyville Mailbox to the Grapevine Mailbox.  The Postal Service

confirmed these changes later that month.  The Receiver testified that, on August 15, he and
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Carole spoke by telephone regarding the Colleyville Mailbox.  Carole did not mention the

Grapevine Mailbox during their conversation. 

In an email exchange on August 30, 2017—after the Receiver discovered that

Faulkner had attempted to divert BRC’s Chesapeake revenue checks to the Grapevine

Mailbox—Carole assured the Receiver that none of the Receivership Defendants’ assets had

been forwarded or transferred to the Grapevine Mailbox.  See R. Ex. 15.  She stated instead

that “only the communications and correspondence relating to [BRC] [were] transferred to

that address.”  Id.  Carole asserted that BRC was not covered by the August 14 Orders, and

that the Receiver did not have the right to seize the contents of that mailbox.  R. Ex. 15.  The

Receiver later seized from the Grapevine Mailbox multiple pieces of mail addressed to

BEC.7  Many of these letters were sent by oil and gas production companies.  And Carole

unsuccessfully attempted to access the Grapevine Mailbox on August 31, 2017.

The court finds by clear and convincing evidence that Faulkner, BECC, and BOG

violated the August 14 Orders by failing to disclose the existence of the Grapevine

Mailbox—a private mailbox receiving oil and gas assets and records.  The court therefore

holds Faulkner, BECC, and BOG in civil contempt for this conduct.

7In her briefing, Carole maintains that any Receivership Defendant’s mail delivered
to the Grapevine Mailbox was mistakenly directed there.  She acknowledges that she filed
change of address forms with the USPS for BECC and BOG in July 2017.  Carole contends,
however, that the USPS informed her orally that it would not forward mail from the
Colleyville Mailbox because it was a private commercial mail receiving agency.  This, she
avers, demonstrates that her statement that only BRC’s correspondence was forwarded to the
Grapevine Mailbox was made in good faith. 
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The court also finds, however, that the Receiver has not established by clear and

convincing evidence that Carole—a nonparty—knowingly aided and abetted Faulkner in

violating the August 14 Orders by diverting Receivership Assets.  The Receiver presented

evidence that Carole had submitted change of address forms to transfer BECC’s and BOG’s

mail from the Colleyville mailbox to the Grapevine Mailbox before the entry of the August

14 Orders.  But none of the BECC and BOG mail seized from the Grapevine Mailbox had

been addressed to the Colleyville Mailbox.  See Ex. 20 (demonstrating that all BOG and

BECC mail forwarded from “1910 Pacific Ave. Dallas, TX”).  The evidence is insufficient

to support the finding that Carole knew this mail was forwarded to the Grapevine Mailbox. 

Similarly, the fact that Carole attempted to access the Grapevine Mailbox was consistent

with her belief that it only contained mail not covered by the August 14 Orders, and

therefore could not be seized by the Receiver.  This proof does not establish under a clear

and convincing evidence standard the “knowing” state-of-mind required to hold Carole in

civil contempt.  Because the Receiver has failed to meet his burden, the court denies his

motion to hold Carole in civil contempt for this conduct.  

IV

The court now turns to the Receiver’s complaint that Faulkner, BECC, BOG, BRC,

and Carole withheld corporate documents and refused to designate corporate representatives

for the Receivership Defendants. 
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A

The Receiver maintains that Faulkner and Carole have failed to make corporate

representatives for BOG, BECC, and BRC available for interview; that Faulkner, BECC,

BOG, BRC, and Carole have failed to turn over Receivership Assets, and records and

information related to Receivership Assets (specifically for the period April 2016 to the

present); and that Faulkner, BECC, BOG, BRC, and Carole have failed to turn over all mail

in their possession that was sent either to the Colleyville Mailbox or to the Grapevine

Mailbox.  The Receiver contends that this violates the cooperation, mail, and turn over

provisions of the August 14 Orders.

Respondents contest each accusation.  Carole contends that there are no additional

records pertaining to the Receivership Defendants to turn over to the Receiver, and that all

relevant records were seized by the Internal Revenue Service and the Federal Bureau of

Investigation in April 2016.  Faulkner contends that the more than 30 boxes of documents

that he has since produced for the Receiver exhausts the relevant records in his possession. 

Regarding interview requests, Carole and Faulkner maintain that, because they are asserting

their Fifth Amendment rights against self-incrimination, the Receiver cannot hold them in

contempt for refusing to testify as corporate representatives of BOG, BECC, and BRC.

B

The August 14 Orders authorize the Receiver “to take immediate possession of all

Receivership Assets and all books, records, and accounts relating to the Receivership
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Assets.”  Aug. 14 Receivership Order at 4.  All persons and entities having control, custody,

or possession of any of the Receivership Assets are directed “to turn over such books,

records, and accounts to the Receiver, on his request.”  Id.  Moreover, the Receivership

Defendants and their agents are ordered to “cooperate with and assist the Receiver in the

performance of his duties.”  Id. at 3, 18.  

The September 25 Receivership Order requires similar conduct.  It obligates Faulkner

and past and present Receivership Defendant officers “to preserve and turn over to the

Receiver forthwith all paper and electronic information of, and/or relating to, the

Receivership Defendants and/or all Receivership Assets.”  See Sept. 25 Receivership Order

at 4.  The order also expands the definition of Receivership Assets to encompass all assets

of the Receivership Defendants.  See id. at 1. 

C

The court first addresses the alleged refusal of Faulkner, BOG, BECC, and BRC to

turn over Receivership Asset records and to designate corporate representatives.  The plain

language of the August 14 Orders (and the currently controlling September 25 Receivership

Order) requires the Receivership Defendants and their agents to cooperate in producing

documents within the scope of the orders.8 The Receiver has established that BECC, BOG,

and BRC were receiving oil and gas proceeds as late as September 2017.  Nevertheless,

neither the Receivership Defendants nor BRC has provided the Receiver with any records

8The expanded scope of the September 25 Receivership Order covers not only BOG’s
and BECC’s records, but BRC’s as well.
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related to the Receivership Assets dated after April 2016.  To the extent that Faulkner, BOG,

BECC, and BRC retain possession of these documents, they have violated the August 14

Orders and are not compliant with the September 25 Receivership Order.

In a civil contempt proceeding, after the moving party has shown that the respondent

has violated a court order, the respondent must produce evidence in support of the defense

that the respondent is unable to comply with the order.  In re Ramirez, 605 Fed. Appx. 361,

365 (5th Cir. 2015) (per curiam) (citing United States v. Rylander, 460 U.S. 752, 757

(1983)); see also United States v. Meeks, 719 F.2d 809, 812 (5th Cir. 1983) (per curiam). 

Faulkner asserts two grounds for his inability to comply.  

First, he relies upon his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination, which

he asserted at both his deposition and the evidentiary hearing on the Receiver’s contempt

motion.  He contends that he “cannot provide the identity and location of Receivership

Assets, bank account, addresses where mail has been received, or other information

requested by the Receiver . . . without waiving his rights.”  D. Resp. to Mot. Am. at 11.

The court holds that, to the extent that this information falls within Faulkner’s right

against self-incrimination, he is entitled to assert his Fifth Amendment rights as an

individual.  Neither the Receiver nor the court can force him to violate his individual Fifth

Amendment privilege against self-incrimination, either through the testimonial act of

producing certain documents or compelling certain answers.  See Bellis v. United States, 417

U.S. 85, 87 (1974) (“It has long been established . . . that the Fifth Amendment privilege
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against compulsory self-incrimination protects an individual from compelled production of

his personal papers and effects as well as compelled oral testimony.”)

To the extent, however, that Faulkner argues that the Fifth Amendment excuses

him—as an officer of BECC, BOG, and BRC—from designating representatives for BECC,

BOG, and BRC, the court disagrees.  Corporations have no Fifth Amendment privilege

against self-incrimination.  Braswell v. United States, 487 U.S. 99, 105, 108 (1988).  While

the court cannot compel individuals to speak in their corporate capacity if they can properly

invoke an individual privilege—as is the case here—corporations can be compelled to

answer questions through an agent who will not invoke the privilege.  See In re Grand Jury

No. 86-3, 816 F.2d 569, 574 (11th Cir. 1987) (abrogated on other grounds); United States

v. Barth, 745 F.2d 184, 189 (2d Cir. 1984).  If needed, the court can require a corporation

to retain a person not previously associated with the corporation to answer questions.  See

Sprint Nextel Corp. v. Ace Wholesale, Inc., 2014 WL 11930612, at *2 (N.D. Ga. Feb. 28,

2014); S.E.C. v. Mut. Benefits Corp., 2008 WL 239167, at *3 (S.D. Fla. Jan. 28, 2008); City

of Chicago v. Wolf, 1993 WL 177020, at *1-2 (N.D. Ill. May 21, 1993); Grand Jury No. 86-

3, 816 F.2d at 574; Barth, 745 F.2d at 189; In re Grand Jury Proceedings, 708 F. Supp. 492,

494-95 (E.D.N.Y. 1988) (“Grand Jury ”).

Similarly, to the extent that Faulkner maintains that the Fifth Amendment excuses

him from producing documents he holds in his official capacity as a corporate officer of

BOG, BECC, and BRC, the court also disagrees. “An individual [corporate custodian]
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cannot assert his personal privilege in order to defeat a subpoena for corporate records, even

if the records contain information incriminating him.”  In re Grand Jury Subpoenas Dated

June 27, 1991, 772 F. Supp. 326, 329 (N.D. Tex. 1991) (Sanders, J.) (citing Bellis, 417 U.S.

at 88-89; United States v. White, 322 U.S. 694, 699 (1944)); see also Braswell, 487 U.S. at

109-10 (holding that custodians of corporate documents have no act of production privilege

under Fifth Amendment regarding corporate documents).  Therefore, all documents that

Faulkner holds in a custodial capacity for BECC, BOG, and BRC must be turned over to the

Receiver under the terms of the August 14 Orders and the September 25 Receivership Order.

Faulkner also contends that he is unable to comply with the court’s orders because

he does not possess any more documents after producing the 30 additional boxes for the

Receiver.  In such circumstances, “[w]here compliance is impossible, neither the moving

party nor the court has any reason to proceed with the civil contempt action.  It is settled

however, that in raising this defense, the defendant has a burden of production.”  Rylander,

460 U.S. at 757 (citing McPhaul v. United States, 364 U.S. 372, 379 (1960)).  This means

that Faulkner must produce evidence that he has none of the documents required to be

produced.  The Receiver has proved that he has not been given documents related to the

Receivership Defendants from April 2016 onward.  At the contempt hearing, Faulkner

presented no evidence or explanation as to why no documents exist from this period,

asserting his Fifth Amendment right in response to all questions.  The assertion of the Fifth

Amendment, however, “has never been thought to be in itself a substitute for evidence that
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would assist in meeting a burden of production.”  Id. at 758; see also Meeks, 719 F.2d at 812

(“The privilege against self-incrimination cannot substitute for evidence.”).  Therefore, the

court finds that Faulkner has failed to meet his burden of production that he does not possess

Receivership Defendant-related documents from the requested time period.

The court therefore finds by clear and convincing evidence that Faulkner, BECC, and

BOG violated the court’s orders to turn over all documents related to the Receivership Assets

and to cooperate with the Receiver in the performance of his duties.  The court also finds by

clear and convincing evidence that BRC knowingly aided and abetted the Receivership

Defendants violations of the court’s orders to turn over Receivership Assets and documents

related to the Receivership Assets.  The court therefore holds Faulkner, BECC, BOG, and

BRC in civil contempt for this conduct. 

D

The court now turns to Carole’s alleged refusal to turn over BOG, BECC, and BRC

records and designate corporate representatives.  

The Receiver has failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that Carole

knowingly aided and abetted Faulkner by retaining mail, documents, or assets that should

have been turned over to the Receiver.  The court finds that Carole attempted to open the

Grapevine Mailbox once, but was unsuccessful.  The Receiver offers no additional evidence

that Carole opened and retained mail, documents, or assets from the Grapevine Mailbox. 

None of the evidence presented established that Carole has retained specific documents or
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assets related to the Receivership Defendants.  Without this evidence, the court declines to

draw such an adverse inference from Carole’s assertions of her Fifth Amendment privilege. 

The provisions of the September 25 Receivership Order remain applicable to Carole, and

should additional evidence emerge from Faulkner’s disclosures that she has retained

documents covered by the order, the Receiver can move anew to hold Carole in civil

contempt.  On the present record, however, the court declines to hold Carole in civil

contempt on this ground.

Regarding the designation of corporate representatives, Carole has since withdrawn

as counsel for BOG and BECC.  See Mot. for Withdrawal of Counsel.  Because Carole is no

longer an agent or officer of BOG or BECC, she is unable to make a corporate representative

available for an interview with the Receiver.  Civil contempt is either a coercive or remedial

sanction, and it is therefore inappropriate when the respondent’s compliance with the court’s

directive is presently impossible and the consequences of the alleged defiant conduct can be

otherwise remedied.  See Meeks, 719 F.2d at 812; Macomb v. Jacksonville Paper Co., 336

U.S. 128, 191 (1949) ( “[c]ivil . . . contempt is a sanction to enforce compliance with an

order of the court or to compensate for losses or damages sustained by reason of

noncompliance”).  Therefore, the court declines to hold Carole in civil contempt on this

basis.
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V

The court now turns to the alleged conduct concerning the sale of RackAlley and

whether it violates the September 25 Receivership Order.

A

The Receiver contends that the $210,000 produced from RackAlley’s sale

(“RackAlley Proceeds”) are Receivership Assets.  According to the Receiver, Faulkner—as

a part owner of RackAlley—was immediately entitled to a $210,000 share of the sale

proceeds.  Rather than turn this money over to the Receiver, however, Faulkner directed that

the proceeds be distributed to USPI.  The Receiver maintains that USPI is a shell entity

controlled by Faulkner and Carole to prevent the Receiver from seizing the Rack Alley

proceeds under the September 25 Receivership Order.  Although the Receiver successfully

froze two checks representing $150,000 of the proceeds, the Receiver alleges that Faulkner

and Carole deposited $60,000 of the proceeds in a USPI bank account at Bank of the West

(“Bank of the West Account”), and they have since refused to produce these funds for the

Receiver.  The Receiver maintains that Faulkner—aided and abetted by Carole—violated

the asset freeze, turn over, and the interference provisions of the September 25 Receivership

Order through this conduct.

Faulkner maintains that the RackAlley proceeds are not subject to the Receiver’s

authority due to the timing of the transactions in question.  He contends that, because the

proceeds were not oil and gas assets, they were not subject to the August 14 Orders—the

- 23 -

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 247   Filed 02/13/18    Page 23 of 43   PageID 7531

                                                                                         
 Case 3:18-mj-00407-BT   Document 7-4   Filed 07/09/18    Page 23 of 43   PageID 92

259

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 303   Filed 08/20/18    Page 269 of 289   PageID 9228



only orders in effect at the time of the sale.  Faulkner also posits that the court did not issue

the September 25 Receivership Order until after RackAlley had already issued the proceed

checks to USPI.  Faulkner asserts that he neither owns nor controls USPI, and that, as a

result, he no longer controlled the assets and they fell outside the Receivership Estate once

RackAlley issued the proceeds checks to USPI.

B 

The September 25 Receivership Order expands the scope of Receivership Assets from

only “oil-and-gas” related assets to “all assets—in any form or of any kind

whatsoever—owned, controlled, managed, or possessed by [the Receivership Defendants.]” 

Sept. 25 Receivership Order at 1.  It provides that “all Receivership Assets are frozen,” and

that anyone with control over said assets is “restrained and enjoined from directly or

indirectly transferring, setting off, receiving, changing, selling, pledging, assigning,

liquidating, or otherwise disposing of or withdrawing such assets.”  Id. at 2.  

Like the August 14 Orders, the September 25 Receivership Order contains a turn over

provision.  It states that “[a]ll persons and entities with direct or indirect control over any

Receivership Assets are ordered to relinquish and such control to the Receiver.”  Id. at 6. 

Moreover, the order requires that Faulkner and the agents of the Receivership Defendants

“preserve and turn over to the Receiver forthwith all paper and electronic information of,

and/or relating to [all Receivership Assets].”  Id. at 4.

The order also instructed all persons receiving notice of the September 25
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Receivership Order not to interfere with the Receiver as he executes his duties.  It

specifically bars all persons receiving notice of the order from “interfer[ing] with the

Receiver’s efforts to take control, possession, or management of any Receivership Assets”;

“hinder[ing], obstruct[ing], or otherwise interfer[ing] ” with the Receiver in the performance

of his duties ; or “interfer[ing] with or harrass[ing] the Receiver.”  Id. at 11.

C

The court finds by clear and convincing evidence that the RackAlley proceeds were

under Faulkner’s control as of the effective date of the September 25 Receivership Order,

and therefore are Receivership Assets.  The evidence establishes, first, that Faulkner was a

member and part-owner of RackAlley.  RackAlley is a technology company based in

California.  In early September, it was purchased by HiVelocity Hosting.  Faulkner is listed

as a member on RackAlley’s September 2011 member operating agreement.  Similarly,

Matthew Rapaport (“Rapaport”)—a member of RackAlley—testified that Faulkner had a

one-third ownership interest as a member of RackAlley and had contributed funding to the

company.  Rapaport acknowledged that Faulkner was not listed as a member of RackAlley

on state records, but he testified that the member operating agreement accurately reflected

the true RackAlley ownership structure.

Hearing testimony and other hearing evidence also illustrate that Faulkner was in

control of these funds when the court issued the September 25 Receivership Order.  Rapaport
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testified that Faulkner directed that his share of the RackAlley proceeds be sent to USPI.9 

Accordingly, the final distribution agreement indicates that $283,333.33 be paid to USPI.10 

The Receiver testified that RackAlley drafted and issued three checks of $60,000, $70,000,

and $80,000 to USPI on September 21.  The checks were mailed to Faulkner’s home address

in Venice Beach, California on the same date.  The outstanding $60,000 check was not

deposited into USPI’s bank account until September 29—after the court issued the order. 

Faulkner is correct that RackAlley proceeds are not oil and gas assets, and therefore

were not covered by the August 14 Orders.  Nevertheless, the September 25 Receivership

Order enlarged the Receivership Assets to “all assets—in any form or of any kind

whatsoever—owned, controlled, managed, or possessed by [the Receivership Defendants],

directly or indirectly.”  Sept. 25 Receivership Order at 1.  The court finds by clear and

convincing evidence that, at the time the court issued this order, these checks issuing funds

deriving from Faulkner’s ownership interest were under Faulkner’s control.  Therefore, they

are Receivership Assets.  And as Receivership Assets, they should have been turned over to

the Receiver in accordance with the September 25 Receivership Order.

The Receiver has proved by clear and convincing evidence that Faulkner violated the

9A draft agreement for the distribution of the RackAlley sale proceeds lists Faulkner
as the broker of the sale.  Rapaport testified that this was incorrect, explaining that the parties
initially used this language as a method of allowing Faulkner to receive his sale proceeds as
a RackAlley owner, despite not being listed as such on state tax forms.

10Rapaport explained that $210,000 would be paid to Faulkner immediately, while the
remainder would be transferred later.
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September 25 Receivership Order’s provisions requiring that all Receivership Assets be

frozen and turned over to the Receiver.  For this conduct, the court holds Faulkner in civil

contempt.

D

The Receiver also proved by clear and convincing evidence that Carole and Faulkner

jointly controlled USPI.  Carole established USPI as a Wyoming corporation in September

2016.  The 2017 Annual Report filed with the State of Wisconsin lists a “C A Faulkner” as

the President, Secretary, and Director of USPI.  “C A” are the first and middle initials of both

Faulkner and Carole.  The Receiver testified that Carole and Faulkner have attempted to use

this naming convention previously in fraudulently opening bank accounts to enable both to

operate accounts opened in a single name.  Carole and Faulkner also employ strikingly

indistinguishable signatures on business documents, consisting of a single elongated “C.” 

Compare R. Ex. 30 (Carole’s signature on Bank of the West Corporation Signature Card

Account) with R. Ex. 48 (Faulkner’s signature on Chesapeake change of address forms). 

While USPI’s Bank of the West Account lists Carole as the sole authorized signer, the

signature on the account paperwork is this single “C.”  See R. Ex. 30.  Moreover, the mailing

address for the Bank of the West Account is Faulkner’s Venice Beach residence.  Id.     

The timing of changes to corporate documents also supports the finding that Faulkner

and Carole jointly control USPI.  The Receiver demanded Faulkner’s share of the RackAlley

Proceeds on Friday September 29, 2017.  On October 3, 2017 USPI’s 2017 Annual Report
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was amended; “C A Faulkner” was removed and replaced by Shannon Bresnahan

(“Bresnahan”) in all positions.  At this time, Bresnahan was in a personal relationship and

living with Faulkner.  Accordingly, Bresnahan’s address on the Annual Report was

Faulkner’s Venice Beach residence address, the same address to which the RackAlley

Proceeds checks were addressed, and the same address listed for USPI’s bank account. The

Receiver testified that Bresnahan had no knowledge of this.11

Faulkner and Carole lack a persuasive alternative explanation for why USPI received

the RackAlley proceeds.  Carole asserts in her briefing that she was the broker of the

RackAlley deal, but she introduced no evidence in support of this claim.  Indeed, Faulkner’s

own text messages indicate that Carole sought out another owner of RackAlley to provide

an affidavit attesting to this.  That owner never signed the affidavit, and now Faulkner’s own

explanation for the payment—that he was the broker—contradicts Carole’s briefing.  When

asked about this conduct, both Carole and Faulkner asserted their Fifth Amendment rights. 

In a civil proceeding, the court is entitled to draw an adverse inference from a witness’

invocation of his or her Fifth Amendment rights.12  Faced with the Receiver’s corroborating

11After Carole’s and Faulkner’s counsel were served with notice of the Receiver’s
production subpoena to Bank of the West regarding any accounts related to Bresnahan,
USPI’s 2017 Annual Report was again amended to replace Bresnahan with a “Gerald Pitts.” 
See R. Ex. 36.

12

[A]lthough a jury in a criminal case is not permitted to draw
adverse inferences based on a defendant’s invocation of his Fifth
Amendment rights, it is well settled that “the Fifth Amendment
does not forbid adverse inferences against parties to civil actions
when they refuse to testify in response to probative evidence
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evidence, the court finds that such an inference is appropriate here in finding that Faulkner

and Carole exercised joint control over USPI. 

The Receiver also proved by clear and convincing evidence that Carole knowingly

prevented the Receiver from accessing the RackAlley Proceeds.  After already depositing

the $60,000 check, Carole attempted to deposit the remaining $70,000 and $80,000

RackAlley Proceed checks in the Bank of the West Account on October 11, 2017.  This

attempt failed because RackAlley—under direction of the Receiver—placed a hold on these

checks.  Two days later, Carole cashed a check drawn on the Bank of the West account for

$10,000.  She then wrote a second check for $50,000, which she used to purchase a cashier’s

check for the same amount.  The Bank of the West has since frozen the cashier’s check, but

the $10,000 remains outstanding.

The court finds by clear and convincing evidence that Carole knowingly aided and

abetted Faulkner in violating the September 25 Receivership Order through her use of USPI

and the Bank of the West Account.  Carole cannot avoid being held in contempt based on

a defense of good faith.  Both Carole, as counsel for several of the Receivership Defendants,

offered against them.” 

Hinojosa v. Butler, 547 F.3d 285, 292 (5th Cir. 2008) (quoting Baxter v. Palmigiano, 425
U.S. 308, 318 (1976)).  “[W]hile a person may refuse to testify during civil proceedings on
the ground that his testimony might incriminate him . . . his refusal may be used against him
in a civil proceeding.”  Farace v. Indep. Fire Ins. Co., 699 F.2d 204, 210 (5th Cir. 1983). 
“In general, the decision as to whether to admit a person’s invocation of the Fifth
Amendment into evidence is committed to the discretion of the district court.”  FDIC v. Fid.
& Deposit Co., 45 F.3d 969, 977 (5th Cir. 1995). 
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and her own counsel of record received notice when the court issued the September 25

Receivership Order, and therefore had notice of its contents.  Moreover, when asked about

her knowledge of the September 25 Receivership Order’s contents, Carole asserted her Fifth

Amendment rights.  Because she received direct notice of the filing of the September 25

Receivership Order, the court finds it appropriate to draw an adverse inference that Carole

was aware of the contents of the order.  Cf. Whitcraft, 570 F.3d at 273 (reversing contempt

holding related to nonparty due to absence of evidence that nonparty had knowledge of terms

of order).  Therefore, the court holds Carole in civil contempt on this basis.

VI

Finally, the court turns to whether Carole and USPI violated the September 25

Receivership Order by filing a lawsuit against the Receiver in California state court.

A

The Receiver maintains that Carole and USPI violated the September 25 Receivership

Order when they sued him in California state court; that this lawsuit was barred by the plain

language of the September 25 Receivership Order; that USPI and Carole had notice of the

September 25 Receivership Order; and that Carole and USPI intentionally filed this lawsuit

“with the purpose of impeding the Receiver’s efforts to administer the Estate.”  R. 2d Mot.

to Amend at 7.  Neither Carole nor USPI responded to this portion of the Receiver’s

allegations in their briefing.  Carole also did not address this lawsuit at the contempt hearing.
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B

The September 25 Receivership Order stays all litigation deemed to be an Ancillary

Proceeding.  Ancillary Proceedings included

[a]ll civil legal proceedings of any nature, including, but not
limited to, bankruptcy proceedings, arbitration proceedings,
foreclosure actions, default proceedings, or other actions of any
nature involving: (a) the Receiver, in his capacity as Receiver;
(b) any Receivership Assets, wherever located; (c) the
Receivership Defendants, including subsidiaries and
partnerships; or, (d) any of the Receivership Defendants’ past or
present officers, directors, managers, agents, or general or
limited partners sued for, or in connection with, any action
taken by them while acting in such capacity of any nature,
whether as plaintiff, defendant, third-party plaintiff, third-party
defendant, or otherwise[.]

 
Sept. 25 Receivership Order at 12 (emphasis added).  All parties to Ancillary Proceedings

“are enjoined from commencing or continuing any such legal proceeding, or from taking any

action, in connection with any such proceeding, including, but not limited to, the issuance

of process.”  Id.  The September 25 Receivership Order also restrains and enjoins “all

persons receiving notice of this order” from taking any action that would “interfere with or

harass the Receiver, or interfere in any manner with the exclusive jurisdiction of this court

over the Receivership Estate.”  Id.

C 

The evidence demonstrates that Carole received notice of the September 25

Receivership Order’s electronic filing as both an individual and through her counsel of

record.  Nevertheless, Carole and USPI filed a lawsuit against the Receiver on November
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14, 2017.  The Receiver was personally served with process on November 27, 2017.  The

lawsuit alleges that the Receiver intentionally interfered with Carole and USPI’s rights

related to USPI’s Bank of the West Account and USPI’s business relationship with

RackAlley.  Carole and USPI bring multiple claims, including intentional interference with

contract, intentional interference with prospective economic advantage, negligent

interference with business relationships, intentional infliction of emotional distress, invasion

of privacy, and defamation.  The lawsuit makes no mention of the instant SEC civil

enforcement action, does not disclose that the Receiver is, in fact, a receiver in such an

action, and does not specify that the Receiver’s alleged “interference” with Bank of the West

and Rack Alley is related to his duties as a court-appointed receiver.  Instead, it only refers

to him as an individual. 

The court finds by clear and convincing evidence that Carole and USPI violated the

plain terms of the September 25 Receivership Order’s stay provisions.  In doing so, they

aided and abetted Faulkner’s noncompliance with the September 25 Receivership Order’s

terms.13  The California lawsuit was a civil legal proceeding involving the Receiver in his

capacity as Receiver as well as Receivership Assets.  Therefore, it was an Ancillary

Proceeding.  All parties to such proceedings were prohibited from commencing and serving

process related to such suits.  Despite this clear language, Carole sued the Receiver over

matters related to Receivership Assets in California state court.

13Faulkner’s violations of the September 25 Receivership Order are described supra
at § V.
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Moreover, Carole and USPI cannot establish a defense of good faith.  Even if Carole

intended to contest whether the RackAlley Proceeds were Receivership Assets, the

September 25 Receivership Order made clear that this court has exclusive jurisdiction over

all matters related to the Receiver and Receivership Estate.  See Sept. 25 Receivership Order

at 11.  And as explained supra at § V(D), both Carole and her counsel of record received

notice when the court issued the September 25 Receivership Order, and therefore had notice

of its contents.  Because the Receiver has shown by clear and convincing evidence that

Carole knowingly violated the Stay Provisions of the September 25 Receivership Order, the

court holds her in civil contempt on this basis.       

VII

Having held respondents in civil contempt as to at least some of the grounds on which

the Receiver relies, the court now decides what sanctions should be imposed.

A

“Upon a finding of contempt, the district court has broad discretion in assessing

sanctions to protect the sanctity of its decrees and the legal process.”  Test Masters Educ.

Servs., Inc. v. Singh, 428 F.3d 559, 582 (5th Cir. 2005) (citing Am. Airlines, 228 F.3d at

585).  “‘Judicial sanctions in civil contempt proceedings, may in a proper case, be employed

for either or both of two purposes: to coerce the defendant into compliance with the court’s

order, and to compensate the complainant for losses sustained.’”  Am. Airlines, 228 F.3d at

585 (quoting United States v. United Mine Workers of Am., 330 U.S. 258, 303-04 (1947)). 
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“‘The imposition or denial of sanctions of necessity involves a fact-intensive inquiry into the

circumstances surrounding the activity that is the subject of sanctions.’”  Test Masters, 428

F.3d at 582 (quoting Thomas v. Capital Sec. Servs., Inc., 836 F.2d 866, 873 (5th Cir. 1988)

(en banc)).  When a contempt sanction is coercive, “the district court has broad discretion

to design a remedy that will bring about compliance.”  Perfect Fit Indus., Inc. v. Acme

Quilting Co., 673 F.2d 53, 57 (2d Cir. 1982) (citing Vuitton et Fils S.A. v. Carousel

Handbags, 592 F.2d 126, 130 (2d Cir. 1979); Powell v. Ward, 643 F.2d 924, 933 (2d Cir.

1981) (per curiam)).  The court can require that the contemnors pay reasonable attorney’s

fees incurred by the moving party in obtaining a contempt finding.  See Cook v. Ochsner

Found. Hosp., 559 F.2d 270, 272 (5th Cir. 1977) (“Courts have, and must have, the inherent

authority to enforce their judicial orders and decrees in cases of civil contempt.  Discretion,

including the discretion to award attorneys’ fees, must be left to a court in the enforcement

of its decrees.” (citing United Mine Workers, 330 U.S. at 303-04)).  The court is also

permitted to impose a conditional fine for the purpose of compelling the contemnor to

comply with the court’s order, provided the amount is reasonably designed to force

compliance, without being punitive.  In re Dinnan, 625 F.2d 1146, 1149 (5th Cir. 1980) (per

curiam) (citing United Mine Workers, 330 U.S. at 303-04).  “A coercive, nonpunitive fine

payable to the clerk of the court is an appropriate tool in civil contempt cases.”  Id. (citing

cases and treatises).

“A fixed term of imprisonment, with the proviso that the contemnor will be released
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if he complies with the court order, is a proper penalty for civil contempt and the imposition

of such penalty does not make the proceeding criminal.”  Id.  A district court may order the

civil contemnors imprisoned until they comply with the order or condition imposed by the

court.  FDIC v. LeGrand, 43 F.3d 163, 168 (5th Cir. 1995); see also Hutto v. Finney, 437

U.S. 678, 690 (1978) (“Civil contempt proceedings may yield a conditional jail term[.]”).

“Unlike criminal contempt where imprisonment and a fine cannot be combined, a finding

of civil contempt permits the coercive combination of both fine and imprisonment.”  In re

Dinnan, 625 F.2d at 1150 (citation omitted).

B

The court has held Faulkner in civil contempt for diverting Receivership Assets to the

Grapevine Mailbox; for failing to produce any Receivership Defendant-related documents

from the period of April 2016 to the present; for failing to produce a corporate representative

for BECC, BOG, and BRC; and for failing to turn over the outstanding RackAlley Proceeds

to the Receiver.  

The court orders that Faulkner account for all oil and gas assets, and the mail and

records related to those assets, taken into his possession as a corporate officer of BOG,

BECC, and BRC since April 2016.  This includes all mail and checks received since that

time by the Colleyville Mailbox, the Grapevine Mailbox, or any other mailbox that received

Receivership Assets.  The court orders that Faulkner provide the mail, documents, and

proceeds—or information accounting for their whereabouts or existence—to the Receiver
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within 28 days of the date this memorandum opinion and order is filed.

The court orders that Faulkner make corporate representatives for BECC, BOG, and

BRC  available to interview with the Receiver within 28 days of the date this memorandum

opinion and order is filed.  If Faulkner retains a person or persons previously not associated

with either BECC, BOG, or BRC for these interviews, these individuals “must be provided

with sufficient knowledge to be able to understand the documents provided by the

corporations.”  Wolf, 1993 WL 177020, at *2 (citing Grand Jury, 708 F. Supp at 494-95;

Grand Jury No. 86–3, 816 F.2d at 574) (“Hiring a new agent and pointing the agent to

documents are not privileged testimonial acts and therefore are not protected.”) Faulkner is

not required to provide information to the corporate representative that is solely contained

in Faulkner’s memory and that is not implied by a document.  This will ensure that Faulkner

is not compelled to provide protected testimony to the corporate representative and, thus,

testify indirectly.  See id.; Mut. Benefits Corp, 2008 WL 239167, at *4.

The court orders that Faulkner return the outstanding RackAlley Proceeds to the

Receiver within 28 days of the date this memorandum opinion and order is filed.  Of the

$60,000 successfully deposited in USPI’s bank account at Bank of the West, $10,000 has

been successfully withdrawn and is unaccounted for.  See R. Supp. Sub. at 2.  The remaining

$50,000 remains in USPI’s account after Bank of the West stopped payment on a cashier’s

check purchased with these funds.  Id.  The court orders that Faulkner return the $10,000,

and that Faulkner and Bank of the West allow the Receiver to seize the remaining $50,000
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in USPI’s account.

If Faulkner fails to comply with the foregoing orders within 28 days of the date this

memorandum opinion and order is filed, the court will order the United States Marshals

Service to arrest Faulkner and hold him in custody until he purges himself of the contempt. 

Additionally, for each calendar day that Faulkner is late in complying, he must pay to the

clerk of court a fine in the sum of $500.

C

The court has held Carole in civil contempt for failing to turn over the outstanding

RackAlley Proceeds to the Receiver and for commencing a lawsuit against the Receiver in

California state court without the leave of this court.

The court orders Carole to return the outstanding RackAlley Proceeds to the Receiver.

 As explained above, $10,000 remains unaccounted for, and $50,000 remains in USPI’s bank

account.  The court orders Carole to return the $10,000 that was withdrawn, and that Carole

and Bank of the West allow the Receiver to seize the remaining $50,000 in USPI’s account. 

If Carole fails to return the outstanding RackAlley Proceeds within 28 days of the date this

memorandum opinion and order is filed, the court will order the United States Marshals

Service to arrest Carole and hold her in custody until she purges herself of the contempt.14 

Additionally, for each calendar day that Carole is late in complying, Carole must pay to the

14Faulkner is also being held in contempt for withholding the RackAlley Proceeds. 
Therefore, if either Faulkner or Carole returns the RackAlley Proceeds to the Receiver, both
will be in compliance with the court’s orders. 
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clerk of court a fine in the sum of $500.

The court also orders that the California lawsuit be dismissed with prejudice.  If

Carole fails to comply with this memorandum opinion and order within 28 days of the date

it is filed, the court will order the United States Marshals Service to arrest Carole and hold

her in custody until she purges herself of the contempt.  Additionally, for each calendar day

that Carole is late in complying, Carole must pay to the clerk of court a fine in the sum of

$500.

The court orders that Carole pay, jointly and severally with USPI, the Receiver’s

reasonable and necessary attorney’s fees and costs incurred by the lawsuit she filed in

California state court.  The Receiver must follow the procedures detailed infra at § VIII to

apply for these attorney’s fees and costs. 

D

The court has held BOG in civil contempt for failing to disclose the Grapevine

Mailbox to the Receiver; for failing to produce any Receivership Defendant-related

documents from the period of April 2016 to the present; and for failing to produce a

corporate representative.

The court orders that BOG account for all oil and gas assets, and the mail and records

related to those assets, taken into its possession since April 2016.  This includes all mail and

checks received since that time by the Colleyville Mailbox, the Grapevine Mailbox, or any

other mailbox that received Receivership Assets.  The court orders that BOG provide the
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mail, documents, and proceeds—or information accounting for their whereabouts or

existence—to the Receiver within 28 days of the date this memorandum opinion and order

is filed.

The court orders that BOG make a corporate representative available to interview

with the Receiver.15  If BOG retains a person or persons previously not associated with either

BOG for these interviews, these individuals “must be provided with sufficient knowledge

to be able to understand the documents provided by the corporations.”  Wolf, 1993 WL

177020, at *2 (citing Grand Jury, 708 F. Supp at 494-95; Grand Jury No. 86–3, 816 F.2d

at 574)

If BOG fails to comply with the above orders within 28 days of the date this

memorandum opinion and order is filed, for each calendar day that BOG is late in

complying, BOG must pay to the clerk of court a fine in the sum of $500.

E

The court has held BECC in civil contempt for failing to disclose the Grapevine

Mailbox to the Receiver; for failing to produce any Receivership Defendant-related

documents from the period of April 2016 to the present; and for failing to produce a

corporate representative.

The court orders that BECC account for all oil and gas assets, and the mail and

15Faulkner is also being held in contempt for not appointing a corporate representative
for BOG.  Therefore, if either Faulkner himself or BOG appoints a corporate representative,
both will be in compliance with the court’s orders. 
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records related to those assets, taken into its possession since April 2016.  This includes all

mail and checks received since that time by the Colleyville Mailbox, the Grapevine Mailbox,

or any other mailbox that received Receivership Assets.  The court orders that BECC provide

the mail, documents, and proceeds—or information accounting for their whereabouts or

existence—to the Receiver within 28 days of the date this memorandum opinion and order

is filed.

The court orders that BECC make a corporate representative available to interview

with the Receiver.16  If BECC retains a person or persons previously not associated with

either BECC for these interviews, these individuals “must be provided with sufficient

knowledge to be able to understand the documents provided by the corporations.”  Wolf,

1993 WL 177020, at *2 (citing Grand Jury, 708 F. Supp at 494-95; Grand Jury No. 86–3,

816 F.2d at 574)

If BECC fails to comply with the above orders within 28 days of the date this

memorandum opinion and order is filed, for each calendar day that BECC is late in

complying, BECC must pay to the clerk of court a fine in the sum of $500.

F

The court has held BRC in civil contempt for diverting Receivership Assets to the

Grapevine Mailbox; for failing to produce any Receivership Defendant-related documents

16Faulkner is also being held in contempt for not appointing a corporate representative
for BECC.  Therefore, if either Faulkner himself or BECC appoints a corporate
representative, both will be in compliance with the court’s orders. 
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from the period of April 2016 to the present; and for failing to produce a corporate

representative.

The court orders that BRC account for all oil and gas assets, and the mail and records

related to those assets, taken into its possession since April 2016.  This includes all mail and

checks received since that time by the Colleyville Mailbox, the Grapevine Mailbox, or any

other mailbox that received Receivership Assets.  The court orders that BRC provide the

mail, documents, and proceeds—or information accounting for their whereabouts or

existence—to the Receiver within 28 days of the date this memorandum opinion and order

is filed.

The court orders that BRC make a corporate representative available to interview with

the Receiver.17  If BRC retains a person or persons previously not associated with either BRC

for these interviews, these individuals “must be provided with sufficient knowledge to be

able to understand the documents provided by the corporations.”  Wolf, 1993 WL 177020,

at *2 (citing Grand Jury, 708 F. Supp at 494-95; Grand Jury No. 86–3, 816 F.2d at 574)

If BRC fails to comply with the above orders within 28 days of the date this

memorandum opinion and order is filed, for each calendar day that BECC is late in

complying, BRC must pay to the clerk of court a fine in the sum of $500.

17Faulkner is also being held in contempt for not appointing a corporate representative
for BRC.  Therefore, if either Faulkner himself or BRC appoints a corporate representative,
both will be in compliance with the court’s orders. 
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G

The court has held USPI in civil contempt for commencing a lawsuit against the

Receiver in California state court without leave of this court.  If USPI fails to comply with

this memorandum opinion and order within 28 days of the date it is filed, then for each

calendar day that USPI is late in complying, USPI must pay to the clerk of court a fine in the

sum of $500.

The court orders that USPI pay, jointly and severally with Carole, the Receiver’s

reasonable and necessary attorney’s fees and costs incurred by the lawsuit it filed in

California state court.  The Receiver must follow the procedures detailed infra at § VIII to

apply for these attorney’s fees and costs.

VIII

The court also holds that the Receiver is entitled to recover his reasonable and

necessary attorney’s fees and costs incurred in prosecuting the instant contempt motion.  

Within 28 days of the date this memorandum opinion and order is filed, the Receiver

must apply for these fees and costs by filing an application, supporting brief, and supporting

evidence in the form of an appendix.  Privileged material contained in the evidence may be

redacted from the pleadings filed publicly and from the pleadings disclosed to respondents,

but complete descriptions must be filed in a separate, unredacted version that is filed with

the court under seal.  The court will decide whether any parts of the redacted materials must

be disclosed publicly or to respondents.  Opposition briefs and supporting evidence in the
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form of appendices must be filed within 21 days, and reply briefs must be filed within 14

days of the filing of the opposition response.

*     *     *

In sum, the court grants in part and denies in part the Receiver’s September 5, 2017

motion; grants the Receiver’s October 22, 2017 motion; and grants the Receiver’s November

30, 2017 motion.  The court holds Faulkner, BECC, BOG, BRC, USPI, and Carole in civil

contempt to the extent set forth in this memorandum opinion and order and orders them to

purge themselves of the contempt within 28 days of the date this memorandum opinion and

order is filed.

SO ORDERED.

February 13, 2018.

_________________________________
SIDNEY A. FITZWATER
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

- 43 -

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 247   Filed 02/13/18    Page 43 of 43   PageID 7551

                                                                                         
 Case 3:18-mj-00407-BT   Document 7-4   Filed 07/09/18    Page 43 of 43   PageID 112

279

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-01735-D   Document 303   Filed 08/20/18    Page 289 of 289   PageID 9248




